
AB
CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING INEQUALITIES 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MONDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2016
7.00 PM

Bourges/Viersen Room - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for absence

2. Declarations of Interest and Whipping Declarations

At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council. 
Members must also declare if they are subject to their party group whip in 
relation to any items under consideration.

3. Minutes 3 - 10

4. Call In of any Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Key Officer Decisions

The decision notice for each decision will bear the date on which it is published and 
will specify that the decision may then be implemented on the expiry of 3 working 
days after the publication of the decision (not including the date of publication), 
unless a request for call-in of the decision is received from any two Members of a 
Scrutiny Committee or Scrutiny Commissions.  If a request for call-in of a decision is 
received, implementation of the decision remains suspended for consideration by 
the relevant Scrutiny Committee or Commission.

5. Service Director and Portfolio Overview Report: Children & 
Safeguarding, Including an Update on the Ofsted Action Plan

11 - 44

6. Send Reforms - Update (Special Education Needs & Disability) 45 - 48

7. Draft Child Poverty Strategy 49 - 74

8. Annual Report Of The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board   
2015/16

75 - 150

9. Proposal to Develop a Permanency Service in Peterborough: 
Recommendation to Award Contract

151 - 236

10. Forward Plan of Executive Decisions 237 - 262

Public Document Pack



11. Work Programme 263 - 268

12. Date of Next Meeting

Monday, 14 November 2016

There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Karen S Dunleavy on 01733 452233 as soon as possible.

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take 
photographs and use social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the 
public. A protocol on this facility is available at: 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%
20Recording.pdf

Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

Committee Members:

Councillors: Aitken (Chair), J Peach (Vice Chairman), B Rush, Bisby, J Shearman, Iqbal and 
D Fower

Substitutes: Councillors: Ayres, Ellis and Barkham

Education Co-optees: Paul Rossi, Roman Catholic Church Representative
Miranda Robinson, Church of England Representative

Alastair Kingsley, Independent Co-opted Member

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Karen S Dunleavy on telephone 
01733 452233 or by email – paulina.ford@peterborough.gov.uk

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf


AB
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE

CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
HELD IN THE

BOURGES/VIERSEN ROOM, TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH
ON MONDAY, 18 JULY 2016 

Present: Councillors Aitken (Chairman), Peach, Rush, Bisby, Shearman, and 
Davidson .

Cabinet Member: Councillor Smith, Cabinet Member Children’s Services

Also present: Alistair Kingsley, Independent Co-opted Member

Officers in 
Attendance: Wendi Ogle Welbourn, Corporate Director People and Communities

Gary Perkins, Head of School Improvement
Nicola Curley, Assistant Director for Children's Social Care
Ian Easton, Head of Youth Offending 
Lee Miller, Head of Transformation and Commissioning (Children & 
Maternity), Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Health & Care System
Karen S Dunleavy, Democratic Services Officer 

1. Apologies for absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Iqbal and Fower, Councillor Davidson 
was in attendance as substitute on behalf of Councillor Fower. Apologies were also received 
from the Co-opted Member, Miranda Robinson.

2. Declarations of Interest and Whipping Declarations 

There were no declarations of Interests or whipping declarations.

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 14 March 2016 

The minutes of the meetings held on 14 March 2016 were approved as a true and accurate 
record of the meeting.

4. Call In of any Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Key Officer Decisions 

There were no requests for Call-in to consider.

5. Appointment Of a Co-Opted Member

The Chair introduced the report which proposed that the Committee consider retaining Alistair 
Kingsley as a Co-opted Member of the Committee with no voting rights for the municipal year 
2016/2017.   

The Committee unanimously agreed to the proposal and agreed to review the appointment at 
the end of the municipal year.

3



ACTIONS AGREED

The Committee agreed to retain Alistair Kingsley as a Co-opted Member of the Committee 
with no voting rights and that this arrangement be reviewed on an annual basis.
 

6. School Attendance Including Behaviour and Attendance Panels and Pressure on 
School Places

The Head of School Improvement introduced the report to the committee which summarised 
the current context, position regarding attendance rates at schools and the current context 
and position in regards to the planning of school places and admissions to schools.

The Head of School Improvement and Corporate Director People and Communities 
responded to comments and questions raised by members.  A summary of the responses 
included: 

 The School Attendance case studies appended to the report had been written by 
the School Improvement team. 

 When the LA received notification from schools in regards to pupil non-attendance 
a penalty notice and fine per parenting per pupil would be issued in accordance 
with the law.  Exceptional circumstances would also be considered at the time of 
consideration.

 The role of Deputy Schools Commissioner for East Anglia was uncertain in regards 
to school non-attendance. 

 The LA had no intervention powers over Academies performance, however they 
could monitor progress over attendance.  The LA had maintained a relationship 
with Academies to keep up to date with what their pupil performance levels were 
and attendance levels.  The figures would feed into an annual report, which the 
Regional Deputy School Commissioner monitored.

 The report should state individual intervention at paragraph 6.16 in regards to the 
poverty issues.  

 The poverty issues identified in schools would be approached in an holistic way 
which would involve multi-agency intervention to tackle a number of issues families 
were experiencing, such as housing, child behaviour and family finance. The 
poverty issues being experienced were usually highlighted by families at initial 
assessment or home visits.  

 The poverty issues included in the Poverty Strategy were the issues highlighted by 
schools and multi-agencies and tackled on a daily basis.

 The LA’s pupil attendance rate figures had differed between Secondary and 
Primary schools due to the fact that 75% of Secondary schools were Academy 
operated.  

 The LA was quick at noting where absence issues occurred and the reasons why.  
 It had not been the governance arrangements that were less effective in Academy 

schools, however the LA would continue to build good relationships with schools 
to improve pupil attendance figures and raise awareness with Secondary school 
Head teachers. 

 The joined up services in regards to the missing from school team and the 
attendance team would involve an initial referral being sent to the tracking officer 
who would then pass onto the LA’s school attendance monitoring officer (MO) in 
order to conduct home visits.  The MO’s visit would identify the issues being 

4



experienced and encourage children missing from education to return to school. 
Both roles had worked in different departments in the education team and the 
schools admission team, however, the arrangement had worked well.

 Transport issues had not been directly linked to poor pupil attendance rates. 
 The change in service in 2010 for school attendance had been implemented due 

to the schools requiring the change.  The role became the responsibility of the 
School Improvement team following a restructure in order to promote better 
leadership in this area.

 The statement made at paragraph 5.3 of the report in regards to deploying 
resources in a targeted fashion had related to determining where the team could 
make a difference in school attendance rates and had determined what 
improvements were required for state run schools. Academies would be charged 
by the LA for School Improvement Services and additional un-resources services 
provided would be allocated on the level of what improvement the school required 
and where the team could make an impact.

 The mean average of 2% outlined in paragraph 5.7.7 of the report related to school 
attendance figures and was regarded by the Authority as a sustained acceptable 
figure.  

 The acceptable time limit for the offer of an allocated school place for a family, 
which had moved to a new location in Peterborough, had been outlined in law. 

RECOMMENDATION

The Committee recommend that the Head of School Improvement would write to the 
Department of Education to raise Members concerns over the application of a non-
attendance fine to more than one parent for one child.  

AGREED ACTION

The Committee noted the report and:

 Considered the context and position regarding attendance rates at schools, school 
place planning and admissions to schools;

 Scrutunised People and Communities actions to promote good school attendance, 
ensure the efficient and effective supply of school places and an efficient 
admissions system; and

 Supported People and Communities leaders in supporting, challenging and 
intervening in schools where necessary if provision was less than good.

The Committee also agreed that the Head of School Improvement would:

1. Explore the number of fines issued to parents for a single child’s non-attendance 
at school and provide a report to the Committee detailing the options on how fair 
charges could be applied; 

2. Confirm what the Legal requirements were over school places offered to families 
and the time limit applicable in accepting the place; and

3. Provide Members with a briefing note in regards to when Primary Schools would 
be in place for the Paston Reserve and Norwood Development. 

5



7. Review of Progress Against Action Plan Following Ofsted Inspection of Children's 
Services, 2015

The Assistant Director for Children's Social Care introduced the report to Members, which 
summarised an update on progress being made against the action plan developed following 
the OfSTED inspection in April and May 2015. Members were advised by the Assistant 
Director for Children’s Social Care that although the Authority had been rated as ‘Requires 
Improvement’ by Ofsted, the Adoption services were rated as ‘Good’ following a recent 
assessment. Members were also informed that as part of the improvement action plan, Council 
had recently approved the Corporate Parenting Panel to function as a formal Committee and 
the Neglect Strategy had been approved by the Safeguarding Board.

Assistant Director for Children's Social Care and Corporate Director of People and 
Communities responded to comments and questions raised by members.  A summary of the 
responses included: 

 Members commented that there had been improvements shown in tracking Red, 
Amber, Green (RAG) ratings.

 The improvement action plan had not been finalised and agreed until November 
2015, which had not been year since the improvement action plan was 
implemented by the LA.  

 Focus on greater improvement and quality would need to start with resolving staff 
issues in terms of retention, followed by the service mechanics and then quality of 
practice. The quality of practice would be the hardest action to achieve and sustain, 
however, the improvement plans to increase staff levels would make an impact in 
this area. 

 Members commented that there had been transparent information provided to 
them over the last few years in regards to Children’s Services and that the 
department did not need to wait until November 2015 for the action plan to be 
agreed in order to undertake the service improvements required.

 Staff resources had improved and there had been a significant change in terms of 
the number of Children in Need and Children in Care caseloads for Social Workers, 
which was an action implemented in November 2015.  The Workforce 
Development Group had been formed to deal with the OfSTED actions.

 The issues with consistency raised in paragraph 4.19 of the report had been in 
relation to the formal audits, however discussions around changing staff mindset 
to prioritise the formal audits was currently being undertaken with Heads of Service 
and Managers.

 The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services commented that there was a fiscal 
process to follow in order to improve the quality of performance reports, which 
would be a priority for the Cabinet Member through the LA’s budget process.  

 It was anticipated that Corporate Parenting Committee would not directly improve 
dental and health checks for Children in Care however, the Committee would 
scrutinise the services provided to CiC and hold services to account.

 The conduct of timely dental assessments for CiC had been a challenge for most 
LAs, as it was difficult to encourage older children to attend appointments.  There 
had also been an issue with staff recording dental visits in a timely manner, 
however, improvements plans were in place.

 Directors, the Leader and all Members were Corporate Parents and would be held 
to account, which for services provided to CiC. 

 In relation to paragraph 4.17 of the report in regards to permanently recruited Social 
Workers, there had been a number of improvements made to increase the numbers 

6



recruited such as the offer of attractive retention and learning development 
packages, which encouraged staff to remain in permanent posts.

 Caseloads for SW staff had reduced considerably to under 20 per Social Worker 
compared to an average of 25.

 The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services commented that following her 
discussions with Children’s Services staff over the improvements made following 
the recent Ofsted inspection, that there had been positive comments made, 
however there were still improvements required in terms of recruitment and 
retention of SWs. 

 Members commented that they had been reassured in the past that the 
management audits would improve, however, the report alluded to inconsistencies 
and to date the issues had not improved. 

 Members felt that they could not conduct efficient scrutiny due to receipt of the 
action plan once a year and requested that consideration should also be given to 
improve the format of the action plan in order to focus Members attention on the 
real issues being experienced in Children’s Services.   

 There had been 18-20 newly recruited members of alternatively qualified staff, who 
had concentrated on CiN services. There had been 207 cases to date assessed 
by Alternatively Qualified Workers (AQW), which had been met with a positive 
outcome.  The AQW programme would be evaluated in the future in regards to how 
the service could be funded going forward.  

 Members commented that it had been disappointing that data surrounding CiN and 
CiC assessment referrals had not been provided to them on a regular basis, which 
caused them concern.

 A monthly performance exceptions report which highlighted the main service 
issues being experienced in Children’s Services was provided to the Authority’s 
Chief Executive, Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services.

 The OfSTED action point in regards to the recruitment of a second participation 
officer had been a permanent role.

AGREED ACTIONS

Members noted the content of this report, and in particular:

 The positive progress that had been made in areas such as improving the stability 
of the workforce and the improvements in relation to compliance issues; and

 That while there had been improvements in a number of areas of practice, overall 
PCC were not yet delivering consistently good outcomes for children and young 
people, and not yet consistently recording and evidencing the quality of all the work 
that was undertaken to support vulnerable children and their families.

Members also requested that the Assistant Director for Children's Social Care :
 

1. A further report on progress made against the OfSTED action plan in 12 months’ 
time; and

2. The Children’s Services exceptions performance report on a monthly basis.

7



8. Child And Adolescent Mental Health Transformation Programme

The Head of Transformation and Commissioning (Children & Maternity), Cambridgeshire & 
Peterborough Health & Care System introduced the report to the Committee, which outlined 
the Emotional Health and Wellbeing Services for Children and Young People. Background, 
work completed in 15/16, and the work and priorities for 16/17.

The Head of Transformation and Commissioning (Children & Maternity), Cambridgeshire & 
Peterborough Health & Care System and Corporate Director of People and Communities 
responded to comments and questions raised by members.  A summary of the responses 
included: 

 The waiting list for disorders such as ADHD ASD and Autism had reopened in 
December 2015.

 The Thrive framework was a system to explore children’s mental health difficulties 
in a more holistic way such as their provision of support with a housing situation. 

 Specialist services was a resource for children with mental health conditions to 
access medication and therapy.  Many young people may only require one 
appointment whereas some may require more and Specialists services aimed to 
expand the range of service available to young people with mental health 
conditions.

 Members commented that it was staggering that young people with conditions such 
as mental health and Autism conditions had been on a waiting list for two years to 
receive a diagnosis. 

 The £600,000 funding had been allocated to Specialists services for the financial 
year 15-16. However, there had been a further £1.6m pound investment to be 
allocated for the following financial year, which was still felt not to be enough to 
provide the service. 

 The target to provide young people with access to Specialists services had 
increased from one in four to one in three.  

 There were many issue in terms of provision of Specialists services for conditions 
such as mental health and that improvements needed to be made for the service 
to work closer with families and schools to improve the Specialists services 
provision. 

 Work with the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) had provided families with the 
support they need rather than waiting for a diagnosis through Specialists services 
for conditions such as Autism.

 The Specialist services being commissioned had been evidence based and the 
areas of focus included the number of people supported and the outcomes.  The 
Specialists services approach was to increase early intervention.

 The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services commented that the provision of 
funding for Specialists services had caused concern and that the issue would be 
raised with Cabinet at the Authority’s budget setting stage.

 A reduction to the number of children being seen at the Peterborough City 
Hospital’s Accident and Emergency would provide further funding to Specialists 
services.

 The transition of young people and adult age group which mental health issues 
had underperformed, however there was a bid currently underway to introduce an 
innovation programme to support mental health conditions and to place 
professionals into the Social Care team in order to promote a joined up approach. 

8



 The THRIVE framework would comply with the Equalities and Human rights duties 
under the relevant Acts.

AGREED ACTIONS

The Committee noted and supported the plans outlined in the Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Transformation Programme.

The Committee also requested that the Head of Transformation and Commissioning 
(Children & Maternity), Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Health & Care System provide the 
following:

1. Circulate to Members the website link for child and mental health services;
2. A briefing note outlining the number of clients waiting for Specialists services 

currently on the waiting lists; and 
3. That the Cabinet Member arrange for the circulation of the service improvement 

plans for child and adult mental health care services outlined within the Health and 
Wellbeing strategy.

9. Prevent And The Work Of The Channel Panel

The Head of Youth Offending Services introduced the report to Members which provided an 
overview on the progress in implementing the Prevent Strategy and the work of the Channel 
Panel.

The Head of Youth Offending Services and Corporate Director of People and Communities 
responded to comments and questions raised by members.  A summary of the responses 
included: 

 The Channel Panel title was a national title which had been formed as part of a 
preventing extremism statutory requirement in 2015. 

 The Head of Youth Offending Services was the Chairman of the Channel Panel.
 The Home Office had issued advice on the release of terrorists/radicalisation 

referral figures and currently these could not be disclosed at a local level.  
 Members commented that the terrorists/radicalisation referral rate out of the total 

received by the Channel Panel for Peterborough appeared to be low.  
 The Channel Panel was not just about identifying terrorists/radicalisation risks it 

had been about how well organisations such as schools understood the process 
and how the system worked.

 Counter Terrorism on Local Profile (CTLP) was a restricted document and the 
Police were currently giving consideration to its release.  

 The Prevent information and work of the Channel Panel would ordinarily feed into 
the Strong & Supportive Communities Scrutiny Committee and further information 
could be found in previous reports and minutes.

 Members commented that the sentence in paragraph 5.22 in regards to low 
radicalisation risk status seemed complacent given the recent atrocities that had 
happened in Nice, France.  

 The lorry driver that killed a number of people in Nice had not raised any previous 
suspicion to the Nice local police.

 The cohesion work throughout Cambridgeshire had been deemed adequate 
enough to monitor and identify any issues.

9



 The Communities Cohesion Manager had worked closely with the mosques and 
was a member of the Channel Panel Board.

 If a Member of the public wished to raise a terrorists/radicalisation concern about 
an individual they would need to refer their concerns through the usual routes such 
as Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH).  

ACTION AGREED

The Committee Scrutinised the Council’s approach to preventing extremism and requested 
that the CTLP document would be circulated to all Members once the Police had approved its 
release.

10. Review Of 2015/2016 And Draft Work Programme For 2016/17

The Chairman introduced the Committee with a review of the work undertaken during 2015/16 
by the Creating Opportunities and Tackling Inequalities Scrutiny Committee to Members.  
Members were also requested to approve the draft work programme for 2016/17.

ACTION AGREED

The Committee: 

1. Considered the 2015/2016 year review and requested that Officers highlight progress 
against the OfSTED action plan within their reports where relevant.

2. Approved the draft work programme for 2016/17.

11. Forward Plan of Executive Decisions 

The Committee received the latest version of the Council’s Forward Plan of Executive 
Decisions, containing key decisions that the Leader of the Council anticipated the Cabinet or 
individual Cabinet Members would make during the course of the following four months.  
Members were invited to comment on the Forward Plan and where appropriate, identify any 
relevant areas for inclusion in the Committee’s work programme.

ACTION AGREED:

The Committee: 

1. Reviewed the Forward Plan and requested that the Permanency item would be 
included on the agenda for 12 September 2016; and

2. Requested information in relation to the approval requirements for contracts valued at 
£499,000 in terms of whether the sign off would need to be undertaken by a Senior 
Officer or Cabinet Member or both.  

12. Date of Next Meeting

Monday, 12 September 2016.

7:00pm – 9.09pm

CHAIRMAN 

10



CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING 
INEQUALITIES 

Agenda Item No. 5 

12 SEPTEMBER 2016 Public Report

Report of the Corporate Director for People and Communities

Contact 
Officer

Lou Williams; Service Director for 
Children & Safeguarding

Tel: 864139

SERVICE DIRECTOR AND PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW REPORT: CHILDREN & 
SAFEGUARDING, INCLUDING AN UPDATE ON THE OfSTED ACTION PLAN
1. PURPOSE

1.1. This report provides an overview of the key activities within the portfolio of the Service 
Director for Children and Safeguarding, as well as providing a summary of key 
performance information in respect of Children’s Social Care as of the end of July, the 
most recent available performance data.

1.2. The report moves on to summarise some key developments in relation to child health 
services, as well as to other areas within the portfolio of the Service Director for Children 
and Safeguarding. 

1.3. The report also provides a brief update on progress being made in relation the action plan 
put in place following the findings of the OfSTED inspection of Children’s Services in 
Peterborough, as published in the inspection report on 18th September 2015.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. Members are asked to note the content of this report, and in particular those areas where 
good performance is being sustained, while noting continuing actions being taken to 
address areas where performance remains inconsistent;

2.2. Members are asked to support the bid for innovation funding to support the development 
of family safeguarding and motivational interviewing in children’s social care services in 
Peterborough as a means of securing sustainable improvements in outcomes for our most 
vulnerable children and families;

2.3. Members are asked to support the moves to develop a dedicated youth service to work 
with young people displaying a range of behaviours that may place them at risk of harm. 

3. LINKS TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES AND RELEVANT CABINET PORTFOLIO 

3.1. This report relates to the corporate priority to support vulnerable people.

3.2.  The report falls within the portfolio of the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services.

11



4. BACKGROUND

4.1. The Service Director for Children and Safeguarding is accountable for a number of areas 
of service delivery as follows:

 Children’s Social Care Services, with the exception of social work services to children 
and young people with disabilities, which is provided by the 0-25 Service within Adult 
Social Care services. Performance data in the sections below includes performance 
in the 0-25 Service, however;

 The Child Health and Healthy Child programme and associated commissioning 
arrangements, 

 Line management responsibility for our two short break/respite care homes [Cherry 
Lodge and The Manor] for children and young people with disabilities and associated 
outreach and community breaks that these provisions also offer, and;

 Quality Assurance functions across children’s and adult social care services. Since 
the last service director report, the previously existing adults’ and children’s social care 
quality assurance functions have been brought together under a single head of 
service, reporting through to the Service Director, Children and Safeguarding. This 
new approach is intended to enable the sharing of best practice and learning across 
both services. 

4.2. This report provides a summary of key performance information in respect of children’s 
social care services. Where performance is not yet consistently good, there is a brief 
description of actions being taken to improve performance. 

4.3. This report also outlines proposals to develop a discrete targeted youth service, to enable 
us to better respond to the needs of young people who are at risk of harm as a result of 
risk taking behaviour and other needs, including vulnerability to child sexual exploitation. 

4.4. The report provides details of a joint bid for innovation funding through the Department for 
Education with Hertfordshire, Luton, West Berkshire and Bracknell Forest to develop an 
approach here in Peterborough to working with the most vulnerable children and families, 
known as ‘family safeguarding’.

4.5. Finally, the report provides information about other activities within the portfolio of the 
Service Director, including child health, services to support children with disabilities and 
their families, and quality assurance and safeguarding functions across children’s and 
adult services. 

Children’s Social Care – summary of key performance data

4.6. In general terms, most areas of children’s social care performance has continued to show 
progress since the last report was presented to Scrutiny in February 2016. In particular, 
staff turnover and vacancy rates have continued to move in a positive direction. There 
remains a need for improvement in a number of areas, but overall the general direction of 
travel is improving. 

4.7. That said, the last few months in particular have been very challenging in terms of 
demands on the service. There has been press coverage of Operation Dunholt, which 
related to the activities of a particularly active paedophile in Peterborough – Adam Aitken 
– who has now pleaded guilty to a number of sexual offences against children and is due 
to be sentenced on 30th September 2016. This man had potentially been in contact with 
large numbers of children and young people, all of whom needed to be spoken to jointly 

12



by police and social services so they had the opportunity to describe any offences 
committed against them. Assessments of any on-going support needs that they and their 
families may have also needed to be completed. 

4.8. While the outcome of this operation has been positive in the sense that Mr Aitken pleaded 
guilty to at least one serious offence against each young person who had made allegations 
about him, avoiding the need for them to have to give evidence in court, this operation 
resulted in, and continues to result in, considerable additional demands across the service. 

4.9. At the same time, we have seen increases in the numbers of children and young people 
in care, with the current population standing at around 370 children and young people 
looked after. This is an increase from 355 as of February 2016, and from around 335 in 
the months before then. More children and young people in care leads to an increased 
requirement for social work time, increased demands on conference and reviewing chairs, 
and a risk of pressure on placement budgets. 

4.10. Because of this increase, a sample audit of the 10 children and young people most 
recently looked after was undertaken in July 2016. This found that the decision for the 
child or young person to come into care was the right one in every case, and that there 
had been limited opportunities to prevent the need for care in the lead up to the child or 
young person becoming looked after. 

4.11. Appendix 1 contains a number of charts that show performance against a number of areas 
over the last 24 months. Key messages from each area of performance is summarised in 
the following paragraphs. 

4.12. Average caseloads have increased over recent months, particularly in First Response and 
Family Support, partly as a result of Operation Dunholt, but have reduced again more 
recently. The average caseload in First Response and Family Support is 21, in children in 
care it is 17, and in leaving care they are 24. This makes an overall average of 19. 

Contacts, referrals and timeliness of assessments

4.13. In previous Service Director’s reports, I have discussed in detail the links between 
contacts, referrals and assessments. The most recent data continues to show that very 
high numbers of contacts continue to be made into the service – typically just below 1,000 
per month. In contrast to performance earlier in the year, however, a much reduced 
proportion of these are being converted to referrals. This means that we are making 
decisions about contacts more quickly [under Working Together 2015, any contact open 
for more than 24 hours is required to be treated as a referral].

4.14. Where too many contacts are opened as a referral, more work is needed to close them 
down again. This means that in essence, we spend more time than we need deciding that 
a child or young person does not meet the threshold for children’s social care, as opposed 
to working with those who do meet the threshold for a service. 

4.15. As Chart 1 shows, the proportion of contacts progressing to a referral dropped below 30% 
in July, bringing the year to date figure to just below the target of 40%. Despite this 
reduction, there is a significant level of work continuing to come into the system, and the 
rate of referrals per 10,000 population remains above target, although as is shown in Chart 
2, is also reducing. 

4.16. Chart 3 shows the proportion of referrals that move on to a full assessment of need, which 
is currently around 70% of the overall number of referrals – equivalent to just over 200 

13



children and young people per month. The challenge remains for us to continue to work 
with our partners to reduce the volume of contacts in order to enable the First Response 
Team to concentrate on those children and young people for whom there are clear 
indications that a full assessment of need is required, and spend less time filtering out 
children and young people for whom a referral is not necessary. 

4.17. We have therefore been working with the local Safeguarding Children Board to revise the 
thresholds for accessing specialist services. A number of practitioner consultation events 
took place in May 2016, at which the proposed revised threshold guidance was discussed. 
Changes were made to the proposed new thresholds following the feedback from 
practitioners, and the new guidance was signed off by the Board in July 2016. The new 
thresholds will be launched in September 2016, accompanied by a programme of training 
and support.

4.18. The aim of the revised thresholds is to support practitioners in partner agencies to make 
decisions about when a child should and should not be referred to children’s social care. 
The document emphasises the need to work in partnership with families and, except 
where there are immediate risks of significant harm, asks practitioners to discuss their 
concerns with families, and persuade them to engage with the range of early help services 
in the City, before considering referring the family to children’s social care. 

4.19. In line with best practice and statutory guidance, practitioners will also need to obtain 
consent for a referral to children’s social care to be made, again except where there is 
evidence of significant harm and the child or others may be at risk if consent is sought. 

4.20. Except where there is evidence of significant harm, children’s social care cannot 
undertake an assessment of need without the consent of the parent. Parents are much 
more likely to consent to this if a practitioner they know well asks them, rather than where 
a social worker they do not know contacts them. 

4.21. Most families experience an assessment by children’s social care as stressful. In many 
cases, it is likely that longer term outcomes will be better where families are persuaded to 
engage with early help services, even when there are indications of them having some 
quite significant support needs. Families tend to feel more in control and less fearful when 
support is provided by agencies outside of children’s social care. 

4.22. We hope that the launch of the new thresholds will help practitioners to feel more confident 
about signposting and supporting families into early help services, rather than referring 
them to children’s social care. We hope that this will mean that fewer families experience 
unnecessary assessments by children’s social care, with the associated risks of alienating 
them from other sources of support. Taken together, we hope that this will result in our 
First Response Team needing to spend less time identifying the children and young 
people who need the support of children’s social care among the large numbers referred 
to us who do not need that level of assessment and support.

4.23. There is a close connection between a successful children’s social care service and an 
effective early help and prevention offer. Chart 4 in Appendix 1 shows the rate of early 
help assessments currently active per 10,000 children and young people in the City. Early 
help assessments are completed when it is identified that there is a need for more than 
one targeted service to work with the child and their family. These assessments are always 
completed with the consent of the family. Working alongside families in this way often 
leads to better outcomes than where an assessment is completed by Children’s Social 

14



Care which then recommends that the family accesses Early Help services. Chart 4 shows 
continuing increases in numbers of children being supported in this way, which is positive. 

4.24. Where a referral into Children’s Social Care is seen to warrant a further assessment, a 
single assessment is completed. These assessments should be completed within 42 days, 
and timeliness in this area is an indicator of the pressures on the system. Performance in 
this area is shown in Chart 5 of Appendix 1. The year to date target of 95% is a stretch 
target and signifies high expectations in this area – it is usually better for children and their 
families for assessments to be completed quickly, but thoroughly. 

4.25. The most recently monthly performance has been at 90% or just below. Performance in 
this area has been impacted by increased demand arising from Operation Dunholt. There 
have also been some recent staff shortages in First Response caused by maternity and 
annual leave which has also had an impact. While timeliness is important, it is also 
important that assessments are sufficiently thorough, and a balance has to be struck when 
there are additional pressures in the system between timeliness and thoroughness. 

4.26. We have sought agency cover for help to address the impact of maternity and annual 
leave, but it is very difficult to find locum social workers looking for new assignments in 
July and August. 

4.27. It has continued to prove difficult to recruit permanent staff into First Response and we 
remain more heavily reliant on agency staff in this part of the service. This carries risks in 
relation to budget management. As noted elsewhere in this report, we will be looking at 
ways to support this part of the service to be more successful in recruiting permanent staff 
in the coming months. 

4.28. We expect performance in August to also be below where we would like it to be, but that 
this should pick up as the holiday period ends and the impact of Operation Dunholt works 
through the system, and the recruitment position for agency and non-agency staff eases 
after the summer period. 

4.29. Chart 6 shows the position regarding the percentage of referrals where a previous referral 
has been made in the last 12 months. This indicator has been a concern over recent 
months as it is considerably higher than target at 32% on a year to date basis. However, 
the monthly rate is declining and in July was 27% - higher than the target of 22%, but 
lower than months earlier in the year. This high re-referral rate relates to the much higher 
referral rate being reported earlier in the year, when much larger numbers of contacts 
moved into referrals before being closed down than should have been the case. Where 
there is a further contact about a child later in the 12 months following a child being 
previously opened as a referral, even where there was no assessment initiated, this counts 
as a re-referral.  

Safeguarding and Child Protection

4.30. Numbers of children subject to child protection plans have remained reasonably constant 
over the last few months at between 250 and 260, reducing from around 285 in February 
2016 [Chart 7]. This is quite a volatile indicator and can be affected by changes relating to 
a small number of families with large numbers of children either becoming subject to child 
protection plans, or for whom plans have come to an end. As an example, one family of 
nine children were recently all made the subject of child protection plans. 

4.31. There is very active review of children who are subject to child protection plans. The 
additional capacity of team managers in Family Support is helping to contribute to this 

15



process. Where there are indications that the plan is not achieving the changes required, 
we are escalating cases into the Public Law Outline, or initiating care proceedings. 
Equally, children are stepped down from child protection plans where risks have reduced. 

4.32. Chart 8 details the number of child protection review meetings that take place within 
timescales. The stretch target for this is 100%, and although there has been a slight 
reduction in the year to date figure to 97%, this remains very good performance. 
Performance against this indicator provides a good overall indication as to how well the 
child protection system is operating overall.  

4.33. Chart 9 shows the timeliness of visits to children subject to child protection plans. 
Performance in this area remains rather variable, but has been above 90% for the last 4 
months – still short of the stretch target of 98%, but a more consistently solid performance 
than for most of the last 18-24 months. There are a number of reasons why performance 
can drop; families do sometimes refuse visits or avoid pre-planned visits – and where this 
happens consistently, it is likely to result in us considering whether we need to move into 
legal proceedings. Families do also sometimes move out of the area or the country, but 
will remain on plans while we try to identify where they have moved to, so that we can 
alert the relevant authorities. Children will remain subject to a plan while we make these 
enquiries. 

4.34. Now that visits are taking place more regularly, the focus now needs to be on the extent 
to which these visits are ‘purposeful’ and progress the child protection plan. Audits of the 
quality of plans indicates that the majority remain ‘requiring improvement’ despite a 
number of practice workshops and other activities taking place to help practitioners 
improve practice in this area. We are considering how we can take a more targeted 
approach to improving practice in this area. 

4.35. We have also increased management capacity in this part of the service, recently 
appointing a fifth permanent team manager. This stable, permanent management team 
should have an impact on supporting the overall improvement of plans and practice more 
generally. 

Children Looked After

4.36. Chart 10 of Appendix 1 shows the rate of children and young people looked after per 
10,000. Numbers were mostly steady until around February 2016, from when they have 
been steadily increasing. 

4.37. The rate of children and young people looked after in Peterborough is currently 79 per 
10,000, which is in line with the most recently available statistical neighbour average rate. 
This is one indication that despite the recent increases, overall numbers are not widely 
out of step with similar authorities. 

4.38. Because numbers were increasing, an audit of the most recent 10 children and young 
people to come into care was carried out in July 2016. This audit found that decision 
making had been appropriate and that the children concerned needed to be looked after. 
The audit also found that there had not been any other actions available to have been 
taken in the lead up to the children becoming looked after that might have prevented them 
from coming into care. 

4.39. This is reassuring as it indicates that we are not taking children into the care system unless 
this is absolutely necessary, and when all other courses of action have been considered. 
It is also the case that around 30 young people in care at present arrived in Peterborough 

16



as unaccompanied asylum seeking young people. This number has increased significantly 
over the last two years, increasing overall numbers of children in care as a result. 

4.40. Chart 11 shows the number of children and young people in care who have had three or 
more placement moves. Performance in this area remains good, with low numbers of 
children experiencing multiple placement moves. It is clearly important that children and 
young people do not experience unnecessary moves once they have come into care.

4.41. Chart 12 shows the percentage of children looked after reviews that are completed within 
timescale. There is a stretch target of 100% against this indicator. Unfortunately there was 
a small dip in performance in March that means that we will not now achieve 100% over 
the current reporting period. Nevertheless, performance remains very good at over 99% 
for the 12 month rolling year. This is a ‘bell weather’ indicator as anything other than good 
performance indicates that there are likely to be other issues in the care planning and 
looked after systems. 

4.42. Chart 13 of Appendix 1 shows the timeliness of visits to children who are looked after. 
Performance in this area has increased significantly for most of the last 6 months, with 
performance above 95% except for the month of July, when it dropped to 92.4%. While 
this most recent performance is disappointing, it comes at the time of year when carers 
and social workers are more likely to be on holiday, and while such events should be 
planned for, there is often less flex in the system should something unexpected take place 
that interrupts a scheduled visit. 

4.43. The improved performance in this area reflects greater oversight from managers within 
the service, and this oversight will continue in order to ensure that the most recent dip in 
performance is addressed. 

4.44. The reported percentage of Initial Health Assessments completed within 20 working days 
can be found at Chart 14 of Appendix 1. Members will be aware from previous reports that 
this is a very complex indicator for the current performance management system to 
calculate accurately, and the figures in Chart 14 are not correct. 

4.45. Local performance information in relation to the timelines of Initial Health Assessments 
shows continuing fluctuating performance, although very much better than was the case 
a year ago. Performance in May 2016 was 70% of assessments taking place within 20 
working days of becoming looked after, in June 2016 this figure was 100%, but in July 
2016, it fell back to 50%. These fluctuations are partly explained by small numbers, 
meaning that percentage variations appear more significant. That said, the July figure is 
disappointing, and heads of service are looking again at how to maintain good 
performance into the future. 

4.46. Chart 15 of Appendix 1 shows a mostly more positive story in respect of health 
assessments, although performance in this area has also declined slightly over the last 
couple of months. The proportion of children looked after for 12 months who have had a 
medical assessment in the previous 12 months is currently 91%, rating as amber. There 
are a number of older young people in care who are currently refusing to attend medicals; 
social workers will continue to try to persuade them of the benefits of a health assessment, 
but their reluctance to engage has had an impact on the performance in this area. 

4.47. Performance in relation to dental checks for children and young people aged 3 to 17 in 
care can be found at Chart 16 of Appendix 1. Performance in this area is not as good as 
we would like. Just under 70% of children and young people have had a recorded dental 

17



check in the last 12 months, a rate that has been declining since March 2016. As with 
health checks, there is some reluctance among some older children to attend dental 
check-ups. The head of service for children in care is reviewing the cohort of children and 
young people who have not had a dental check and will report the findings to the children 
in care board. This will help us identify what measures we may be able to take to 
encourage attendance.

4.48. We are also exploring with health colleagues whether there is a local dental practice that 
might agree to become ‘designated dentists’ for children in care. This is not a statutory 
role, but if we can identify a practice willing to offer their support, this might enable us to 
help children visit dentists to meet them before treatment, helping to build their confidence. 

4.49. Chart 17 of Appendix 1 shows the proportion of children and young people looked after 
who have Personal Education Plans. Performance in this area remains strong, with 99.6% 
of eligible children having Personal Education Plans, above the target of 95%. 

4.50. Chart 18 of Appendix 1 shows the performance in relation to adoption in Peterborough. 
This continues to show adoptions running below target. Adoption performance in 
Peterborough compared with national performance is good overall; and what we are 
seeing here is a reflection of the national decline in the use of adoption orders by courts. 

4.51. As noted in previous scrutiny reports, adoption has been affected by the increase in the 
use of Special Guardianship Orders for very young children. Special Guardianship Orders 
were originally intended to provide legal permanence for older children and young people 
who, while not being able to live with their parents, would in all likelihood continue to have 
some contact with them, and for whom adoption, which severs all legal links with parents, 
would not therefore be appropriate. 

4.52. Over the last few years, courts have increasingly used Special Guardianship Orders to 
provide permanent homes for much younger children with relatives of birth parents. This 
has the benefit of ensuring that more children are able to remain in contact with their birth 
families, which for some at least will be very positive, but it has also meant that use of 
adoption has fallen. 

4.53. Recent revised statutory guidance has resulted in Special Guardianship Order 
assessments being required to be more thorough, which may lead to a move back towards 
adoption, but it is as yet too soon for any impact to be known. 

Concluding Remarks: CSC Performance

4.54. Although there remain a number of areas where performance remains inconsistent, the 
overall direction of travel remains positive, and most areas are showing a steady 
improvement – certainly compared with the position a year ago. 

4.55. Numbers, timeliness and other performance information only provides part of the story, 
however. The quality of the assessments, of plans, and the quality of engagement with 
families and children is also of importance. This is an area where we know we have a 
continued need to improve before we are delivering consistently good services. There are 
many examples of good quality work across the service, but much of the work in 
Peterborough is highly complex and there is very little slack in the system to respond to 
additional pressures such as those arising from Operation Dunholt. 

4.56. Despite the challenges, and as noted elsewhere in this report, we have developed a new 
approach to thresholds in the City, which we expect will help to improve the response to 

18



children and families and help practitioners in partner agencies in their work in offering 
targeted and early help support. We have also worked with partners and the Safeguarding 
Children Board to develop a Neglect Strategy. Neglect is a significant feature in a high 
proportion of the children and young people referred to children’s social care services. 
Unfortunately, once neglectful approaches to parenting has become established, it is a 
difficult issue to address successfully with families, who often struggle to maintain 
improvements once support services withdraw. 

4.57. It is particularly important therefore that early signs of neglect are identified and acted 
upon quickly. The neglect strategy aims to help practitioners in early help and universal 
services to do this. It provides a set of tools to help practitioners identify and work with 
families on the areas where most change is needed. The strategy will be launched in 
September 2016 and will be accompanied by a number of training events to support 
practitioners in their work with families where neglect is a feature. 

4.58. The pilot to employ a number of alternatively qualified workers has been very successful; 
this group of workers are now working directly with over 200 children in need cases, as 
well as supporting qualified social workers in their work with children subject to child 
protection plans. They have contributed to reducing average caseloads for qualified social 
workers, and their involvement means that children in need are receiving a better service 
than was the case when they were part of a caseload of a qualified social worker that 
included child protection and court cases. 

4.59. We have taken the decision to extend this pilot to the end of the current financial year as 
we develop other initiatives to support improved outcomes for vulnerable children and 
young people in Peterborough. There are two initiatives in particular that we believe have 
the potential to support improved services. 

4.60. The first of these is a proposal to develop a new service that we are tentatively calling the 
Targeted Youth Service. This is currently being modelled and envisages a multi-
disciplinary team that would work with young people displaying behaviours that place them 
at risk of involvement in Child Sexual Exploitation, offending behaviour, or at risk of coming 
into care. 

4.61. At present, many of this group of young people are being worked with within children’s 
social care, mostly as children in need, but a few under child protection. The statutory 
processes within which children’s social care operates, combined with the training and 
skill mix within a children’s workforce, does not necessarily offer this group of young 
people the best response. So we are looking at how we can move some resource from 
children’s social care and combine this with existing youth and youth offending services, 
to develop a team that is more responsive to the needs of this group of relatively high risk 
young people, utilising a skill set that is more primarily suited to working with young people. 

4.62. If successful, this will enable children’s social care to focus on risks to younger children 
and enabling families to make changes necessary to ensure that their children grow up in 
a safe and secure environment. 

4.63. The second initiative is the development of a joint bid to the Department for Education’s 
Innovation Fund to deliver an approach called family safeguarding here in Peterborough. 
This approach was pioneered in Hertfordshire over the last 18 months and involves the 
secondment of adult mental health, domestic abuse specialist and alcohol and substance 
misuse workers into our existing family support teams. 

19



4.64. Many of our most vulnerable children live in families affected by parental mental ill-health, 
domestic abuse and substance or alcohol misuse, or a combination of two or all of these 
issues. Children’s social workers can assess the impact of these factors on children, but 
are not always best placed to support and effect change in the behaviours of the adults in 
the family who are living with these issues. 

4.65. The multi-disciplinary teams adopt a ‘motivational interviewing’ approach to their work with 
families, and work together to a single ‘family plan’. Experience in Hertfordshire is that this 
approach has had significant benefits. It has enabled a number of families to address their 
difficulties more quickly, reducing the length of time their children have been subject to 
child protection plans as a result. On the other hand, the approach has also led to the 
much quicker identification of families where change will not happen in the timescale of 
the children, supporting swifter decision making and leading to children coming out to 
families sooner, reducing trauma. 

4.66. The approach has led to better outcomes for children and families, and numbers of 
children in care have also reduced by over 10% as a result. 

4.67. Hertfordshire have also found that the approach has meant that they have been able to 
recruit permanent staff more easily, and their retention rates have also improved. The 
training around motivational interviewing and the ‘family plan’ approach has also improved 
the quality and consistency of practice. 

4.68. We are doing everything we can to secure the innovation funding needed to pump-prime 
our systems in order to enable us to develop the same approach here. Funding from the 
Department for Education will enable us to recruit additional capacity to support the 
development of the multi-disciplinary teams, and to implement the training and support 
programme needed for the approach to become operational. 

4.69. The result of this innovation bid should be known by the end of November 2016 and if we 
are successful, we will receive funding to support the implementation of the approach over 
an 18 month period. 

OfSTED Improvement Plan

4.70. A detailed report was provided to the last Scrutiny Committee on the implementation of 
the improvement plan following the OfSTED inspection in 2015. Progress against the plan 
continues to be monitored closely, with the next formal update of the plan being due in 
November 2016. 

4.71. Members will note that we are not yet in the position of being able to report near live 
performance information. Progress continues in this area, and Business Objects is now in 
the testing phase, and a number of reporting areas are ready to ‘go live’ – at the time of 
writing this report, there had been some delays in establishing the shared area within 
which those with access rights can access the performance dashboards. SERCO is 
aiming to have this resolved by early September. 

4.72. The next stage of the Business Objects roll out is to further develop the range of 
performance reporting so that we are not only replicating what we currently report, but are 
able to develop more sophisticated reports that help us to better understand the strengths 
and weaknesses of our services. 

20



4.73. The eventual aim is to overlay business objects with Qlikview. This is newer software that 
provides more user-friendly and intuitive performance reports – although this aspect of the 
changes is unlikely to be available until early 2017.  

4.74. As noted elsewhere in this report, there is evidence of improved compliance in most areas. 
The management team remains considerably more stable than was the case in the lead 
up to the inspection. Turnover among our qualified social workers is very much improved 
in all areas of the service, although we continue to struggle to recruit permanent staff to 
First Response. Having stabilised the permanent staff team in Family Support, we will now 
focus on doing all we can to achieve the same in First Response over the coming months. 

4.75. These changes are significant, and essential as a beginning to securing consistency of 
practice. Nevertheless I have said before that Peterborough is a tough place to deliver 
consistently good outcomes when compared with other areas. The diversity of our local 
population – meaning that we often need to work through interpreters – combined with the 
high level of population mobility makes supporting families to achieve change more 
challenging than areas where there is less population mobility or diversity. 

4.76. It is also the case that in many authorities that have been assessed as ‘Good’ over recent 
months, average caseloads are significantly lower than they are in Peterborough – often 
as low as 10 -15 – where we work towards an average case load of 20. 

4.77. This is part of the reason why success in the bid for innovation funding offers a really good 
opportunity for us to establish practice that is consistently good in relation to our most 
vulnerable children and families. The additional investment in training and the 
development of a multi-disciplinary teams able to engage families means that our 
children’s social workers will be able to focus on assessing the impact of parental 
difficulties on children, while benefiting from a shared approach to engaging and working 
with adults. 

4.78. The Healthy Child Programme and associated commissioning activities

4.79. Peterborough City Council is the lead commissioner for children’s health services across 
Peterborough and Cambridgeshire. A single commissioning approach across the two local 
authority areas brings the potential for services to be commissioned more efficiently 

4.80. A significant area of focus for the Joint Commissioning Unit over the 18 months has been 
to address the unacceptably long waiting lists for specialist Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services [CAMHS] and for children waiting assessment for neurological disorders 
including Autistic Spectrum Disorders and Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorders 
that had developed by 2015. 

4.81. Following considerable additional investment from the Clinical Commissioning Group of 
£600,000 one-off funding and £900,000 recurring funding, waiting lists are coming down 
rapidly. A further £340,000 was invested as a one-off additional fund to address the waiting 
list for assessment of neurological disorders specifically at the end of 2015, as the waiting 
times for this service were not decreasing quickly enough. 

4.82. It is pleasing to be able to report that waiting times for specialist CAMH services are now 
within government targets, while progress continues to be made in relation to 
assessments for neurological disorders. In relation to the latter, the waiting list was closed 
during 2015 as there was no capacity in the service to meet need. The list was reopened 
in December 2015. All children waiting to be seen at the point that the list was closed have 
now been seen, and there is a programme in place to ensure that all remaining children 

21



are seen by the end of the year. Waiting times should then be within the national target 
timescales. 

4.83. In addition, commissioners have agreed a new pathway which means that where there is 
concern about a possible neurological disorder, families are offered places on parenting 
support courses prior to accessing a neurological assessment. This is because the 
evidence is that support to parents results in improved outcomes for the child, regardless 
of whether there is a diagnosable neurological disorder. 

4.84. A number of ‘train the trainer’ sessions have been arranged and are being offered to 
schools and other partners to enable staff to deliver the two parenting approaches we are 
supporting in Peterborough – Webster-Stratton and Triple P parenting. Both are 
established approaches with clear evidence bases. 

4.85. Widening the availability of parenting support is being funded through Government CAMH 
transformation funding, of which £1.5M is available across Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough, reflecting the current priority to improve mental and emotional health and 
resilience among children and young people. 

4.86. There is also a continuing review into the availability of speech and language therapy 
services across Peterborough and Cambridgeshire. This has identified that there is a 
shortage of resource in Peterborough and some areas of Cambridgeshire, based on child 
population and deprivation indicators. 

4.87. There is currently no single commissioning approach across the two authorities and the 
Clinical Commissioning Group. This means that, for example, in Peterborough, ad hoc 
arrangements are put in place when supporting the speech and language needs of 
individual children and young people who have Education Health and Care plans, when 
there is no capacity in mainstream services to meet the need. 

4.88. These ad hoc arrangements are more expensive than unit costs for a fully commissioned 
service. Moreover, because support is provided outside mainstream service delivery, 
there can be more frequent changes in the therapist providing the support, which is not as 
good a service as it could be for the child or young person. 

4.89. The review is therefore recommending that the Joint Commissioning Unit works with both 
local authorities and the Clinical Commissioning Group to develop a single commissioned 
service that operates across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, and avoids the use of ad 
hoc arrangements for supporting individual children and young people except where there 
is a need for a particular type of specialist provision. 

4.90. The Family Nurse Partnership [FNP] programme has also been under review both locally 
and nationally, following the national evaluation of the impact of the programme. The FNP 
programme is based on an American approach that provides intensive support to first time 
young mothers. Here in Peterborough, as nationally, the programme was available to 
around 25-30% of first time teenage mothers who were referred at the required point in 
the pregnancy. 

4.91. The outcome of the local review is that we are enabling a wider participation in the FNP 
approach than the original model. This means that we will extend the criteria for inclusion 
in the programme to enable young parents with a number of risk factors to join even if they 
do not meet the original criteria – for example because the pregnancy is not the first. Risk 
factors include the parent being in care herself, not being in education, employment or 
training, indications of parental mental or emotional health difficulties and similar. 

22



4.92. This will mean that the programme is able to become more flexible in the way that 
expectant parents are identified, which should lead to more of the most vulnerable being 
eligible for and able to benefit from what is an intensive support programme. 

Cherry Lodge, The Manor, and support to children & young people with disabilities

4.93. Peterborough City Council operates two short break residential homes offering care to 
children and young people with very complex disabilities. Both homes have current 
inspection outcomes of ‘Good’. This is a reflection of the dedication of managers and staff 
in both homes in meeting the needs of the children placed there. 

4.94. As well as providing residential care and short breaks for children with disabilities, this part 
of the service offers a range of other support services for children and young people with 
complex disabilities and their families. 

4.95. A number of families receive packages of outreach support, where in-home support is 
offered to help families to provide care to children with complex disabilities. Often this 
support is short term, helping families to acquire new skills, or put in place while more 
sustainable forms of support are developed in partnership with the family. 

4.96. One form of sustainable support that is becoming more popular with families is to offer 
direct payments, enabling families to organise their own support. This arrangement 
provides greater flexibility, which is one of the reasons why families are increasingly taking 
up direct payments to help them to meet the needs of their children. 

4.97. The service also coordinates our ‘Link’ carer’s scheme. Link carers are fully trained and 
approved foster carers who offer short breaks to children and young people with 
disabilities. These carers provide a very valuable service and often provide care for 
children for many years, becoming an important resource for the child and the family. 

4.98. We have decided to review services that support children and young people with 
disabilities. This is because the main social work team has moved to Adult Social Care 
services in terms of line management and offers a service to children and young people 
with disabilities aged between 0 and 25 years, but line management responsibility for the 
link care, short breaks and direct payment approaches have remained within children’s 
services. We now need to take the opportunity to review and tidy up reporting 
arrangements, while also ensuring that the support we provide is sustainable into the 
future. 

4.99. Sustainability is an important issue; medical advances mean that more children with 
complex disabilities are living for longer, which is a cause for celebration. This does mean, 
though, that there is an increasing demand for support services. We need to ensure that 
the support we offer also makes full use of changing practice and innovation, such as 
through the use of new technology, and this review will also consider these issues. 

Quality assurance across children’s and adult services

4.100. In the last Service Director’s report, I described how we were consulting on proposals to 
develop a single quality assurance and safeguarding service across children’s and adult 
services. 

4.101. This process has now been completed and the new combined service is fully operational. 
Benefits include the establishment of a common approach to ensuring that vulnerable 

23



adults and children are receiving a good quality service through robust quality assurance 
processes. 

4.102. This approach enables the development of shared learning across both services, and 
provides the basis for workers in the services to share experiences and identify new ways 
of supporting vulnerable people. The Principal Social Worker role for adults and children’s 
social workers is now held by the same senior manager [the head of service] and she is 
developing ideas for joint forums where social workers from both services can meet and 
discuss issues and ideas. 

4.103. These approaches are useful because it is rare for a vulnerable child to live in a family 
where there are no vulnerable adults, and many vulnerable adults live in families where 
there are children, sometimes performing caring and support roles. 

5. KEY ISSUES

5.1. Key issues arising from the above include:

 While there remain some areas of continuing inconsistency, performance indicators 
are generally improving;

 The focus needs to continue to be on the quality of practice as reflected in the quality 
of assessments, plans and direct work;

 The opportunity to develop a new approach in the event that we are successful in our 
bid for innovation funding offers real potential to significantly improve outcomes;

 Work with partners to develop new approaches to addressing neglect in the City are 
being launched in September 2016;

 Waiting times for specialist CAMH services are now in line with government targets;
 Children and young people with disabilities continue to receive a good service through 

the Manor and Cheery Lodge. 

6. IMPLICATIONS

6.1. The proposal to develop a Targeted Youth Service is not envisaged to require additional 
funding, but if it goes ahead will be likely to involve changes to some roles and the change 
in line management of some posts. Any changes that affect members of staff will be fully 
consulted upon in line with Council policies.

6.2. The Family Safeguarding bid, if successful, would mean the Council receiving up to £2.8M 
to implement the approach over an 18 month period. This funding would cover the initial 
cost of additional children’s and adult workers, along with the project and training costs 
necessary to ensure that the approach is successfully established. 

6.3. The approach is expected to be self-sustaining once established. In Peterborough, we 
have calculated that this will achieved by a small reduction in numbers of children subject 
to child protection plans, and a reduction in numbers in care. 

7. CONSULTATION

7.1. Consultation has taken place with colleagues from Finance, Legal and HR services in the 
Council. 

24



8. NEXT STEPS

8.1. The next steps relate to the proposals to develop a Targeted Youth Service and the 
application for funding from the Department for Education to support the development of 
the Family Safeguarding approach in Peterborough.

8.2. The principals of operation of the Targeted Youth Service have been agreed internally and 
with a range of key partners, including schools and colleges. The next phase is to look 
more closely at the structures that will be needed to deliver the outcomes required. 

8.3. As of the end of August, there is considerable work taking place in respect of the Family 
Safeguarding innovation fund bid. This work includes ensuring that the cost modelling is 
correct, and that the approach to evidencing long term sustainability is sufficiently robust. 

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to 
Information) Act 1985:

9.1. None

10. APPENDICES

10.1. Appendix 1: Summary of key performance data in Children’s Social Care

25



This page is intentionally left blank

26



Appendix 1
Chart 1

27



Appendix 1
Chart 2

28



Appendix 1
Chart 3

29



Appendix 1
Chart 4

30



Appendix 1
Chart 5

31



Appendix 1
Chart 6

32



Appendix 1
Chart 7

33



Appendix 1
Chart 8

34



Appendix 1
Chart 9

35



Appendix 1
Chart 10

36



Appendix 1
Chart 11

37



Appendix 1
Chart 12

38



Appendix 1
Chart 13 – Visits to Children in Care in Timescale

39



Appendix 1
Chart 14

40



Appendix 1
Chart 15

41



Appendix 1
Chart 16

42



Appendix 1
Chart 17

43



Appendix 1
Chart 18

44



CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING 
INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Agenda Item No. 6

12 SEPTEMBER 2016 Public report

 

Report of the Corporate Director of People and Communities                                       

Terry Reynolds – Interim Assistant Director (Education) Tel. 01733 863743Contact 
Officer terry.reynolds@peterborough.gov.uk

SEND REFORMS – UPDATE (SPECIAL EDUCATION NEEDS & DISABILITY)

1. PURPOSE

1.1 To update members on the progress of PCC’s implementation of the SEND reforms

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 The Committee is recommended to note the contents of the report and; 
 Agree a schedule for any further updates

3. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE PRIORITIES AND RELEVANT CABINET PORTFOLIO

3.1 The report links to the Council’s priority of to ‘Improve educational attainment and skills’.

3.2 This report falls within the portfolio of the Cabinet Member for Education, Skills and Education.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1  The Children and Families Act 2014 introduced a package of measures to reform provision for 
children with SEND

 It set a new process for determining whether children and young people had needs that were 
severe, complex and long term, and could not reasonable be met from the resources that were 
available to the setting

 It introduced a requirement for Statements of Special Needs and Learning Disability 
Assessments to be replaced with Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) in a rolling 
programme of transfers with authorities required to publish their plans for transfer by September 
2015

 All new requests for assessments were required to be considered under the new arrangement 
from September 2015 

4.2  The Act also made a requirement on local authorities to provide more tailored support to families 
to provide the assistance they need 

 The authority has responded to this by reorganising the service to add capacity in some areas 
while reducing it where demand has decreased, and by developing greater outreach provision to 
develop the capacity of settings to meet needs

45

mailto:terry.reynolds@peterborough.gov.uk


2

4.3  SEND inspections began in May 2016 and will run on a 5 yearly cycle, conducted jointly by 
OFSTED and CQC

 Inspection will be of all provision in the local area, not just the authority
 The focus will be on effectiveness in three areas:

o Identification of children and young people with SEND (including those without a plan)
o Meeting their needs and improving outcomes
o Local area impact – improving overall outcomes (using data and ‘softer’ measures such 

as family satisfaction)
 Evaluation of the success of the implementation of the reforms
 Strong focus on children and young people’s and parents’ and carers’ views

5. KEY ISSUES

5.1

5.2

CHANGES LINKED TO SEND REFORMS

Peterborough has had a growth in requests for EHCPs. National data show we have an above 
average number of EHCPs.

Data:
 We have issued 652 new EHCPs since September 2014.
 Latest monthly figures indicate that 76% (July figure) were issued within 20 week timescale.
 We have undertaken 453 transfer review conversions of statements to EHCPs.
 We have 358 transfer reviews to complete before the April 2018 deadline.
 A revised 'transfer review' timetable will be published for September 2016 in agreement with 

Family Voice.
 Transfer reviews have caused immense pressure in LAs and Peterborough is no exception.  We 

have struggled to meet conversion deadlines but our performance is average for the Eastern 
Region.  

 A dedicated transfer review team is being established to improve performance in the new 
academic year.

DEVELOPING SPECIALIST PROVISION 
  
 Headlines:
 We have developed a new 'Hub' model.  
 The model provides specialist places and arrangements to increase support to Peterborough 

schools.
 There are savings in the DSG high needs block and we propose that these will be reinvested in 

provision for children with SEN as follows (to be agreed by Schools Forum):
o Post for 16 plus specialist commissioning
o Contribution to joint Health/LA SALT contract.
o Increased contribution to funding for pupils with SEN in mainstream schools

 increase in top up rate
 adjustments to formula (potentially to benefit those schools that have a high 

number of pupils with EHCPs)
o Additional strategic post for ASD.

We have changed the way that children with HI are supported:
 increased no of specialist provisions from 2 to 3
 created HI hubs (x3)
 disbanded the central TA support service and invested in school based support.

46



3

5.3

5.4

Next steps:
 Further development of hub model
 Establishment of SENCo network through which hubs can work and promote their activity.
 Review of VI service (Spring term)
 Restructure of Inclusion Services (Autumn term)

EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGY SERVICE

 The EPS continues to struggle to recruit EPs.  There is a national shortage.
 A new 'consultation' model has been developed with schools to make the best use of 

resources.
 We are investing locally by establishing 'Assistant Psychology' posts (x1/2).  These are for 

psychology graduates who will be able to do some basic work to increase service capacity.  
The experience they gather should help them gain access to a training course and we will 
then support them as 'trainee psychologists' (3 year course).

 By recruiting locally and supporting locally, the service hopes to build capacity long term that 
should enable trading.

OFSTED/CQC LOCAL AREA INSPECTION

 Task limited group established to put together a self-evaluation framework.
 Services have used framework and we have identified strengths and weaknesses.
 An action plan has been prepared to address 'red' areas identified by the SEF.
 Progress is overseen by 0-25 SEND Transformation Board.

6. EXTERNAL MONITORING

6.1 See above for OFSTED/CQC inspection
If areas of concern are identified during the SEND inspection, it will trigger another targeted 
inspection (such as safeguarding, school or joint targeted area inspection)

7. GOVERNMENT POLICY

7.1 Government policy on SEND was et by the 2014 Children and Families Act. It is not proposed that 
new proposals to be presented to parliament in the autumn will affect this area of policy and local 
authority responsibility.

8. OTHER STATUTORY RESPONSIBILITIES

8.1 Local authorities have a range of statutory responsibilities for the provision of sufficient school places 
for the education of all children.
Provision for children with special needs is a part of that responsibility. 

9. IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Implementing SEND reforms is a statutory requirement on local authorities and will be assessed 
through the OFSTED/CQC inspection. Failure to discharge responsibilities may trigger wider 
inspections. In addition, it could bring reputational damage to the council. It would also mean not 
providing adequately for vulnerable children and young people. 

10. CONSULTATION

10.1 All SEND reforms are carried out through a process of ‘joint production’ with Family Voice, the local 
group representing the views of parents and carers.

47



4

11. NEXT STEPS
11.1 Implementation of the SEND reforms will continue through the agreed implementation plan. 

Preparation for the SEND inspection will continue with partners.

Regular update reports will be provided to the Scrutiny committee. 

12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

12.1 Children and Families Act 2014.
White Paper: Educational Excellence Everywhere 2016. 

13. APPENDICES

13.1 There are no appendices. 

48



CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING 
INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Agenda Item No. 7

12 SEPTEMBER 2016 Public Report

Report of Wendi Ogle-Welbourn, Corporate Director: People and Communities

Contact Officer(s) – Lou Williams, Service Director Children Services and Safeguarding
Contact Details - 864139

DRAFT CHILD POVERTY STRATEGY

1. PURPOSE

1.1 For the Committee to consider the final draft of the Child Poverty Strategy, note the next 
steps and make any recommendations.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 The Committee are recommended to:

1.  Endorse the Child Poverty Strategy for presentation to Cabinet for approval and;
2. Agree the plans for further development of the strategy.

 
3. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE PRIORITIES AND RELEVANT CABINET PORTFOLIO 

3.1

3.2

The draft Child Poverty strategy directly addresses priority one in the Sustainable Community 
Strategy of tackling inequalities.  The strategy outlines the work to improve health outcomes 
for families living in poverty and sets out the work the Council is undertaking to improve skills 
and education across the city.

The strategy falls within the portfolio for the Cabinet Member for Children's Services

4. BACKGROUND

4.1

4.2

4.3

The Government published its strategy to reducing child poverty (A New Approach to Child 
Poverty) in 2011.  The strategy sets out the Government's commitment to eradicating child 
poverty and its duty to minimise socio-economic disadvantage.  The strategy was developed 
against the backdrop of the Child Poverty Act 2010 sets a statutory requirement on Local 
Authorities to produce a child poverty strategy.  

The Act also prescribes the need for the Local Authority to prepare and publish a local child 
poverty needs assessment and also states that the Local Authority must consult with 
organisations representing children and parents in developing its strategy.

The Act states that the Authority must make arrangements to promote co-operation between 
each of its partner authorities and such other persons or bodies as the Authority thinks fit, 
with a view to reducing and mitigating the effects of child poverty in the area. 

The draft strategy fulfils the requirements under the Child Poverty Act and sets out the 
Council’s vision to tackle the underlying causes that can cause poverty to develop within a 
household.  

49



5. KEY ISSUES

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

Nationally, it is estimated1 that the cost of child poverty to the country annually is £25 billion 
made up of spending on services to deal with the consequences of child poverty, reduced tax 
receipts from parents, increased welfare benefits and loss of private income.  

For too many children, being born in poverty often results in poor children becoming poor 
adults.  Whilst some children born in poverty go on to thrive, the greater majority become the 
next generation of adults and subsequently parents facing lifelong poverty.

The strategy outlines the council’s commitment to ending this cycle of disadvantage and sets 
out the actions that we will take over the next four years to tackle child poverty.  The strategy 
sets out the following priorities:
 Addressing barriers to work, which includes childcare provision, skills, and using the 

Connecting Families programme to break down barriers to work for parents.  
 Improving standards of living (food poverty, affordable warmth, health etc.)
 Preventing poor children becoming poor adults through enhanced skills, education and 

citizenship. 
 Reducing family debt and preventing financial crisis by improving financial resilience 

through improved skills and employment
 Recognising the connection between relationships, income and personal well-being in 

overcoming disadvantage and living well leading to resilience.

As detailed within the strategy, there are a number of themes that detail the work the Council 
and partners will undertake to tackle child poverty.

6. IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The proposed child poverty strategy aims to ensure compliance with the statutory 
requirements of the Child Poverty Act 2010, in particular Part 2

7. CONSULTATION

7.1 Consultation on the strategy has taken place with a range of voluntary and community 
organisations who represent children and parents.  Organisations were asked for their views 
on the issues identified within the Child Poverty Needs Assessment, whether they agree with 
the proposed priorities and what actions they feel that the Council and partners should be 
taking to tackle child poverty.  Consultees agreed with the priorities and actions set out within 
the draft strategy.

8. NEXT STEPS

8.1 Subject to any comments that the Scrutiny Committee may have, the strategy will be taken to 
Cabinet later in September for final approval.  The final version of the strategy and the Needs 
Assessment will then be published.  The progress of the themes prioritised under the strategy 
will be monitored by the Health and Wellbeing and Safer Peterborough Partnership Delivery 
Board.  

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

9.1 none

10. APPENDIX

10.1  Appendix 1 Child Poverty Strategy 2016 - 2021
 Appendix 2 Child Poverty Needs Assessment

1http://www.cpag.org.uk/sites/default/files/Cost%20of%20child%20poverty%20research%20update%20(2013).pdf

50



Appendix 1

Peterborough’s Child Poverty Strategy
2016-2021

1. Introduction

Child poverty matters.  Nationally, it is estimated that the cost of child poverty to the country annually is 
£25 billion made up of spending on services to deal with the consequences of child poverty, reduced tax 
receipts from parents, increased welfare benefits and loss of private income.  

Alongside the financial cost of child poverty sits the impact of poverty upon the child and family.  Poverty 
is strongly linked to reduced physical and mental health, a greater likelihood of domestic abuse, lower 
educational attainment and generally poorer living standards.

For too many children, being born in poverty often results in poor children becoming poor adults.  Whilst 
some children born in poverty go on to thrive, the greater majority become the next generation of adults 
and subsequently parents facing lifelong poverty.

This strategy outlines Peterborough City Council’s commitment to ending this cycle of disadvantage and 
sets out the actions that we will take over the next four years to tackle child poverty.  One of the ways in 
which the council can tackle poverty both in families and across the city, is ensuring that the council 
continues to invest and support the economic development of Peterborough.  

We recognise that one of the most important ways of tackling poverty not only in families, but for all of 
our citizens, is to ensure that there is a broad range of employment opportunities in the city.  The council, 
alongside Opportunity Peterborough, is continuing to invest in Peterborough to bring growth, 
development and skills to create more jobs and ensuring that Peterborough is a high skilled economy.

2. How do we define poverty?

For the purposes of this strategy, we are taking child poverty to mean relative poverty compared to the 
financial position of families in Peterborough and across the country.  

Historically, the Government has used a measurement that compares household incomes and defines 
poverty as those households that has an income of less than 60% of the average household income. 
 Whilst this does produce a definitive number of households, the measurement only provides a narrow 
view of poverty and can mask other indicators of disadvantage.  In addition, when a family reaches a 
pound over the measurement, they are no longer defined as being in poverty, but may well still have a 
number of significant problems within the household.  

Rather than just taking this narrow approach, we have an undertaken a broad needs assessment of child 
poverty within Peterborough looking at a number of issues that contribute to poverty.  This data set looks 
at issues around health, education, parental employment, housing etc.  In addition, we have also 
consulted with a range of organisations who represent children and/or parents to understand their 
experience of child poverty in the city.  This has provided us with a comprehensive picture of child 
poverty in Peterborough.  

3. Our Approach and Vision

A life in poverty means risks to health, to life expectancy, to choices and opportunities.  We want all 
children in Peterborough to have the chance to live a life without social and economic deprivation.  To 
make this happen a collaborative approach is required: everyone must recognise it is their business to 
act to reduce child poverty.  

51



Our focus is to break the cycle of disadvantage by identifying families that are the most vulnerable and in 
need of support.  We know that there are a number of factors that can potentially increase the chances 
of families being in poverty.  These include:

 Long term worklessness 
 A history of debt
 Addiction issues
 Parents in work but earning low pay
 Low skilled parents
 Poor educational achievement
 Fuel poverty
 Disability or long term health conditions within the family therefore reducing possibilities for 

employment
 Poor money management skills
 Low quality housing
 Mental health (including low self-esteem and self-confidence)
 People with caring responsibilities
 English as a second language

Over the next four years, the council will work with our partners to reduce and mitigate the impact of child 
poverty in Peterborough.  We will support the most vulnerable families who are in poverty and focus on 
preventing families from reaching crisis situations, which can lead to poverty.

Our vision is to reduce, prevent and mitigate the effects of child poverty by:

 Breaking the cycle of disadvantage that sees poor children becoming poor parents.  
Children growing up in poverty and disadvantage are less likely to do well at school.  This can feed into 
disadvantage in later life and in turn may impact upon their own children.  To break this cycle we need 
to close the gap in education between poorer pupils and those from more affluent backgrounds, 
ensuring that we raise levels of achievement and progress.

 Reducing the reliance on crisis services.
Our focus is to work with individuals and communities to move away from crisis management to a 
preventative approach.  We will achieve this by supporting people to develop the life skills they need. 
 This will include greater access to information and guidance through our website, but also through 
community support across social networks, voluntary and community organisations.   

 Developing greater resilience amongst families so they are better equipped to manage 
challenges.

We will offer support families earlier to families in need and sustain that support until families become 
resilient and self-sufficient.  This includes raising aspirations, improving educational achievement, 
increasing skills within the family and improving health and wellbeing.

4. Measuring Success

It is important to measure the impact of this strategy on poverty in Peterborough, to assess whether the 
action we have taken is making a difference.  The combined impact of the specific actions within this 
Child Poverty Strategy is hard to quantify and poverty in Peterborough is also influenced by national and 
international circumstances.  

In order to assure that delivery is on track, as well as maintaining a focus on the overall vision, we will 
review a set of key indicators.  These indicators are identified within the detailed priority themes which 
are outlined in section 8.   

52



We will review our progress on the key actions to the Health and Wellbeing and Safer Peterborough 
Partnership Delivery Board on a six-monthly basis to ensure we are achieving our vision and manage 
any risks to the delivery of the strategy as early as possible.  

5. Consultation

We have consulted with a number of charities, faith organisations, schools, child care providers and 
voluntary organisations to ensure that we understand what it really means for parents and their children 
who live in poverty.  Consultees were also asked whether they agreed with the vision, outcomes and 
priorities outlined in the strategy, the majority of respondents confirmed that they did.    

The respondents to the consultation identified a number of key threats and risks for the future, these are 
summarised below:

 The impact of the welfare reform agenda on those who are already in poverty, particularly the 
benefit cap and Universal Credit were identified as potential risks to families. 

 Whilst getting back to work is an essential part of tackling poverty, there needs to be a 
recognition that many children in poverty live in working families with low pay.  

 The availability of good quality housing and the ability to secure tenancies.  
 The impact of low skills can affect employment opportunities and is a key area for poverty 

reduction.  Adult education, with the provision of financial literacy, can help families out of 
poverty.

 Children who live in poverty are exposed to a range of risks including debt, poor quality housing 
and low income that can have a serious impact on the family’s mental health.

Feedback from the consultation has been used to inform the development of the key themes and will 
support the delivery of activity which will be developed over the coming months.  

6. Findings from the Child Poverty Needs Assessment

A Child Poverty needs assessment was commissioned to provide a clear and detailed understanding of 
the key issues linked to child poverty in Peterborough.  The needs assessment includes analysis of a 
series of indirect factors that can potentially lead to children ending up in poverty.  The key findings of 
this assessment set out where Peterborough’s young people appear to suffer disadvantage and 
suggests areas where the wider partnership of agencies and organisations in Peterborough need to work 
together to improve the situation. 

The main issues identified by the Needs Assessment are: 

 Peterborough’s child population is increasing, by 2031 there will be 27% more 10-14 year olds living 
in the city.  A high proportion of our child population are from minority ethnic backgrounds where 
English may be a second language..

 Poverty in Peterborough is higher than the national average.  Using the Income Deprivation 
Affecting Children Index (IDACI) analysis,  25% of children in Peterborough are living in poverty, 
compared to 17% nationally.  

 Levels of deprivation are particularly high in Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) near the centre of 
Peterborough and there is a higher concentration of relatively deprived LSOAs towards the south of 
the city.  Deprivation as measured by IDACI is markedly less prevalent in Peterborough's more 
affluent, rural electoral wards.  

 There would appear to be a link between poor health outcomes and child poverty as reflected in the 
City’s child health profile.  

 Peterborough has high levels of take up of immunisations at age 2
 36.1% of children had tooth decay at age 5 –compared to 27.9% nationally.
 High rates of teenage pregnancy and teenage mothers
 Hospital admissions for young people relating to drugs and alcohol were higher than 

nationally but not significantly.

53



Children who qualify for free school meals do less well in school and are less likely to achieve 5 
or more GCSEs.  48.4% of young people achieved 5 or more GCSE’s at grade A-C including maths 
and English – for those qualifying for free school meals it was 28.8%.

To access the full Child Poverty Needs Assessment here.

7. Emerging Issues and Future Risks

Over the last few years, the Government has announced a number of significant changes to welfare 
benefits such as the Spare Room Subsidy, Benefit Cap and Universal Credit.  These changes include:

 Child Tax Credits - From April 2017, any family who has a third or subsequent child will not qualify 
for Child Tax Credits, which amounts to up to £2780 a year per child.

 In addition, from April 2016 the income threshold reduced from £6,420 to £3,850, meaning that 
fewer people will be eligible to claim Child Tax Credits.

 Previously claimants' income could also rise - the income rise disregard - by £5,000 a year. That 
disregard will now be cut to £2,500. 

 Most working age benefits will be frozen for four years from April 2016 having only been increased 
by 1% a year for the preceding 3 years.  

 From November 2017, the Welfare Benefit cap will apply to families claiming out of work benefits. 
 This will see the maximum amount of benefit that can be claimed per household at £20,000 per 
year and expected to affect around 500 families in Peterborough.  However, people on working 
tax credits and carers will be exempt.

Alongside these changes, the Government has also introduced increases in the National Living Wage 
and the personal allowance of income tax is paid.  The Government’s intention is that people should 
always be better off in work rather than relying on out of work benefits.  The introduction of Universal 
Credit makes it easier for claimants to find work or increase their hours without it affecting the benefit 
entitlements, by automatically adjusting the level of benefit paid to reflect the working income received.

The cumulative impact of these changes (which will affect families both in and out of work) will vary from 
family to family.  The changes can be complex which may lead some families struggling to understand 
the impact for their budgets.  Those families where no-one works are likely to be the most affected, 
however some people in work, particularly those on zero hour contracts could also be worse off.

Other risks
Economic migrants can be at risk of lower income both in and out of work.  For many, they may find 
employment is cyclical, low wage and variable hours.  Whilst this is true for many workers across 
Peterborough, anecdotally we know that economic migrants are more likely to be impacted.  Economic 
migrants who have English as a second language, may also find it more difficult to access information 
advice and guidance that the council and other partners provides.

8. How will we deliver our strategy – our priorities:

There are a number of priority areas which we believe are key to addressing child poverty.  These 
priorities have been reviewed following the publication of the needs assessment and consultation with 
organisations representing children and parents, they are:

 Priority 1 - Addressing barriers to work, which includes childcare provision, skills, and using the 
Connecting Families programme to break down barriers to work for parents.  

 Priority 2 - Improving standards of living (food poverty, affordable warmth, health etc.)

54



 Priority 3 - Preventing poor children from becoming poor adults through enhanced skills, education 
and  citizenship

 Priority 4 - Reducing family debt and preventing financial crisis by improving financial resilience 
through improved skills and employment

 Priority 5 - Recognising the connection between relationships, income and personal well-being in 
overcoming disadvantage and living well leading to increased resilience.

Given the cross cutting nature of these priorities, a number of themes have been identified.  These are 
set out in the diagram below:

These themes are discussed in more detail below, together with a number of key actions that we will 
take over the coming months to mitigate the impact of child poverty in Peterborough.

55



Theme 1: Helping families to better manage their money and prevent debt

Why is it a priority?

Families who are in debt can quickly reach crisis situations, which can impact on their ability to meet essential 
needs such as heating, food or housing costs.  People in debt can often turn to high credit organisations such as 
loan sharks and payday lenders which whilst providing short term assistance, leads to increased debt.  Unless 
these debts can be managed, they can rapidly lead to significant problems for all family members and in the most 
severe cases, lead to the family losing their home.

Families can enter debt for a variety of reasons, for example a change in circumstances, benefit delays/ sanctions 
or substance misuse.  However, alongside these issues there is often a lack of basic money management and 
budgeting skills within the family compounding the issue.

Supporting families to tackle their debts and helping them to develop money management skills is a key theme 
within our strategy of preventing child poverty.

How are we tackling this? How are other partners 
involved?

Where do we want to be 
by 2020?

The council has developed the Peterborough 
Community Assistance Scheme (PCAS) which 
provides families who are in crisis with the 
emergency support they need such as food, white 
goods, basic furniture etc.  In addition, the Citizens 
Advice Bureau (CAB) works with clients to provide 
debt advice and support.  As part of the scheme, the 
CAB will work with the family to develop a monthly 
budget so that families can manage their money 
and pay essential bills.

The Rainbow Savers Credit Union can also help 
families to manage their money through the use of 
their “jam jar” accounts.  The credit union provides 
an alternative to high cost credit through offering 
more affordable short term loans.

From April 2016, the council will operate a council 
tax hardship scheme.  Working with Citizens Advice 
Bureau, families who are in arrears with their council 
tax, can apply to have their liability reduced for a 
temporary period.  This will help some of the most 
vulnerable people manage their money and get 
debts under control.

A number of partners across 
the city refer clients to CAB 
for support. PCAS also 
works with voluntary sector 
organisations across the 
city.

Families are able to manage 
their budgets more 
effectively leading to fewer 
instances of debt and crisis.

Key Actions Key Milestones Key performance outputs 
April – June 2016

To continue delivery of a crisis support scheme and 
that the scheme meets the needs of the clients.

To develop services with the voluntary sector that 
can engage families to prevent family debt and 
financial crisis 

n/a  Total number of 
clients seen 

 Number of IAG 
sessions provided 

 Number of clients 
supported to gain 
entitled welfare 
benefits 

 Number of white 

56



good provided to 
clients

 Food bank vouchers 
redeemed

 Number of referrals 
to CareZone 

To create an Innovation Partnership that will bring 
together a range of Information, Advice and 
Guidance contracts in order to enable more 
streamlined delivery and ensure a greater emphasis 
on prevention and early intervention.

 Provider event 21st July 

• Expressions of Interest – 
September 2016 
• Evaluation and enhanced 
tenders 
developed – Oct/Nov 2016
• Contract awarded – 
December 2016 
• Contract commences –
 April 2017

To be developed once new 
contract awarded.

Theme 2: Supporting families with complex and multiple needs through the Connecting Families 
programme

Why is it a priority?

Families with a range of complex and multiple needs often struggle in knowing where to start to address them. 
There will often be a wide range of agencies devoting time and resources to deal with individual problems without 
getting to the route cause of them
If we are able to better support these families with a co-ordinated approach, we are more likely to improve their 
future outcomes and at the same time reduce the cost to the public purse. They are likely to need supporting 
intensively during the early stages until they build sufficient capacity and resilience to improve outcomes for 
themselves

How are we tackling this? How are other partners 
involved?

Where do we want to be by 2020?

Peterborough City Council is tackling 
this through Early Help and the 
Troubled Families Programme known 
as Connecting Families. 

The programme is designed to 
support families with a range of 
problems – all of which in their own 
right could contribute to the family 
living in poverty. The ethos of the 
programme is to ensure a co-
ordinated approach to support through 
promoting one Lead Professional / 
point of contact for the family; one 
holistic assessment (rather than 
numerous ones) and one SMART 
family action plan against which 
progress can be measured. 

All families where an Early Help 
Assessment is opened are screened 
for eligibility for the programme and 
become part of the cohort supported 
through this methodology at that point.

A wide range of partner agencies 
(which includes a number of third 
sector organisations) are signed 
up to engaging with the 
programme through information 
sharing agreements.

Lead Professionals supporting the 
families will in the  main be 
external partners, supported by 
the Local Authority Early Help 
service

Phase of the Troubled Families 
programme officially commenced in 
April 2015. It is a five year 
programme, with Peterborough 
aiming to work with and achieve 
significant and sustained progress 
with 1640 families during the five 
year programme. This will take us to 
April 2020.

Those families supported by the 
programme and on whom 
significant and sustained progress 
has been made will have improved 
outcomes in a wide range of areas 
– not all of them applicable to every 
family:
 Parents and children involved in 

crime and/or ASB
 Children who have not been 

attending school regularly
 Children who need help
 Adult & young people out of 

work or at risk of financial 
exclusion

 Families affected by Domestic 
Violence and Abuse

 Parents and Children with a 

57



range of Health Problems

Key Actions Key Milestones Key performance outputs 
April – June 2016

To continue delivery of the Connecting 
Families Programme to support 
families with a range of problems

 First Strategic Leads 
Meeting held in July with a 
nominated Lead for each 
of the 6 blocks of the 
programme

 Connecting Families 
Outcome Plan launch 
event for partners held in 
July 2016

 Setting up of a moderation 
group to look in more 
detail at cases where 
there may be blockages to 
progress

 A further 8 Information 
Sharing Agreements 
developed and signed by 
partner agencies

 Total number of Early Help 
Assessments opened in the 
period

 Total number of families 
screened and deemed 
eligible for the programme 
with 2, 3, 4, 5 or 6 
qualification criteria

 Total number of families 
making significant and 
sustained progress (SSP) 
on each aspect of the 
programme leading to a 
possible payment by results 
claim to be submitted in the 
first claim window of year 2 
of the programme

 Total number of families 
engaged in the ‘Work Star’ 
to assist in progress to work 
being delivered through 
Access to Employment 
programme

Theme 3: Supporting children with special educational needs and their families

Why is it a priority?

Children born in poverty are more likely to be born early or small and experience health problems both in early life 
and into adulthood. Ill health and disability among poor children can be a barrier to attainment not only due to low 
levels of attendance at school but possibly also as a result of difficulties in accessing the usual school curriculum. 

Poor children/young people with Special Educational Needs (SEN) do worse at school than other children/young 
people with SEN. In 2012/13 only 15% of pupils on free school meals with SEN got five good GCSEs (including 
English and Maths), slightly over half the attainment of SEN pupils not on free school meals. Children and young 
people coming to school hungry or stressed as a result of their social and economic environment may be less 
“school ready”, less socially resilient and less able to access learning. 

Ensuring children and young people with additional needs and/or special educational needs and/or a disability are 
able take full advantage of learning opportunities and that they can achieve positive outcomes in preparation for 
adult life is a key challenge. 

How are we tackling this? How are other partners 
involved?

Where do we want to be by 
2020?

The continuing implementation of the 
strategies and processes around the 
implementation of the Children and 
Families Act 2014 SEND reforms is 
providing a key vehicle through which 
this area is being addressed by the 
Council.

This has a number of main focus areas 
including: 

 effective identification and support 

A wide range of partner agencies 
(which includes the local Family 
Voice) are involved in the 
coproduction and review of 
strategic and operational 
processes and practice in relation 
to the SEND reforms.

The attainment gap between 
pupils identified as requiring SEN 
support eligible for free school 
meals and those not eligible for 
free school meals has reduced.

All children and young people 
with SEND have their needs 
effectively identified and met. 
Their families report satisfaction 
with the coordination of 
assessment and planning 

58



for children and young people in 
educational settings;

 improved multi professional 
coordination of the assessment and 
intervention strategies for those with 
additional and SEN needs;

 planning and preparation for 
adulthood that starts from a young 
age and at the latest when the 
young person is in Year 9

processes.

The work of the SEN and Inclusion 
service provides assessment, 
consultation and advice for early years 
settings, schools and colleges that 
enables:-

 consistent expectations of what is 
provided as quality first teaching 
and the differentiation and 
adjustments that should be made by 
educational settings to ensure all 
pupils have access to learning;

 the early identification of SEN needs 
and delivery of appropriate targeted 
support to ensure that that pupils 
can access education to the best of 
their ability.

A multi-disciplinary service working 
closely with other agencies and 
educational settings.

Key Actions Key Milestones Key performance outputs 
April – June 2016

To be developed

Theme 4: Improving school attainment and aspirations 

Why is it a priority?

There is a strong association between aspiration and achievement.  Many families with a history of negative 
educational experiences may not have high educational aspirations for their children.
Research evidence over many years has demonstrated a strong association between poverty and poor attainment 
outcomes for children and young people.  However, meeting benchmark attainment outcomes enables young 
people to progress in their next stage of learning and high outcomes is strongly associated with high income levels 
in adult life.

How are we tackling this? How are other partners 
involved?

Where do we want to be by 
2020?

The council is giving a strong lead on the need 
to improve attainment outcomes in all schools 
and using its statutory powers for maintained 
school to intervene where these are 
insufficient, as well as registering concerns 
with the Regional Schools Commissioner 
(RSC) where these are insufficient in 
Academies.

The council is consulting with key stakeholders 
on a reconfiguration of Education Services to 
take account of government policy to remove 
local authorities’ responsibilities for school 
improvement, while seeking agreement on 
urgent priorities for improvement,

All schools are engaged 
through regular meeting 
with head teachers and 
school governors in the 
council’s assessment of 
school performance and 
priorities for improvement.

The aspiration is for Peterborough 
to be in the top quartile of 
outcomes when compared to 
statistical neighbours and the 
local comparator group.  This 
would also make the authority in 
line with national averages in 
attainment outcomes.

59



The council is supporting the development of 
key strategies to improve attainment:

 Self-improving schools network
 EAL Academy
 Closing the Gap Strategy

The council has established a School 
Improvement Board with key partners to have 
detailed oversight of schools performance and 
to agree where support and challenge is 
necessary to accelerate the rate of 
improvement in attainment outcomes.

Schools are participating in 
a series of workshops to 
design the framework and 
priorities for the newly 
configured service.

All schools are participating 
in school to support 
activities to improve 
attainment outcomes.

The EAL Academy has 
been developing practice in 
accelerating the progress 
and attainment of EAL 
speakers;

The closing the gap strategy 
has established processes 
for improving the outcomes 
of vulnerable groups; these 
groups are strongly 
associated with poverty.

The School Improvement 
Board closely monitors 
schools’ performance and 
the progress of 
improvement plans.

Key Actions Key Milestones Key performance outputs 
April – June 2016

The Head of School Improvement to finalise 
priority schools for support from SIT in 2016-
17. High support schools to be identified from 
low attainment overall, especially where this is 
evident in data over-time. 

Priority support schools 
finalised by end of Sept 
2016. 

Letters of Concern or Formal Warning Notices 
are written and issued to schools where there 
are concerns about educational outcomes. 

Letters to be issued before 
end of October 2016. 

Members of the School Improvement Team to 
identify schools to take part in various 
programmes or to receive targeted support to 
address low attainment e.g. in Early Years 
Foundation Stage outcomes / Year 1 phonics.
Establish, implement and monitor such 
programs / support. 

Members of School Improvement Team to 
draw-up improvement plans for the relevant 
high priority schools for agreement with the 
Headteachers and approval by Head of School 
Improvement.
Ensure that these plans make some reference 
to improving outcomes / narrowing gaps for 
disadvantaged pupils. 

Plans for priority support 
schools finalised by end of 
Sept 2016.

Head of School Improvement to chair Formally reviews of 

60



Monitoring and Support Partnership meetings 
in some targeted schools to periodically review 
progress being made and impact of school 
and Local Authority actions.
Outcomes and attendance of disadvantaged 
pupils to be kept under review in such 
meetings. 

progress at least termly, but 
often half-termly Dec 16, 
April 17 and July 17. 

The School Improvement Board to hold lead 
Headteachers to account for the school 
improvement activities they are leading as part 
of the Peterborough Self Improving Schools 
Network.

This is to include some specific questioning 
around plans to raise outcomes for Free 
School Meal pupils.

Formally reviews of 
progress by SIB termly, by 
Dec 16, April 17 and July 
17.

School Improvement Advisors to promote 
inclusion of disadvantaged pupils within 
specific quality intervention programmes such 
as ‘Every Child a Reader’ and ‘Every Child 
Counts, especially in high priority schools. 

Theme 5: Tackling health inequalities and raising health aspirations for young people

Why is it a priority?

There is a social gradient in health – the lower a person’s social position, the worse his or her health. (Fair Society, 
Healthy Lives, 2010). 

Across the 18 indicators within the 2015 Local Authorities health inequalities profiles Peterborough was ranked 
significantly better than the England average in two indicators but significantly worse than the England average in 
six indicators.

Giving every child the best start in life, and addressing the close association between early disadvantage and poor 
outcomes throughout life, is of the utmost importance. Inequalities in early child development and education, 
housing and standards of living along with employment in later life are all social determinants of health that are 
associated with health inequalities.

Reducing teenage pregnancy is one of the key priorities.  Most teenage pregnancies are unplanned and around 
half end in an abortion. For many teenagers bringing up a child is extremely difficult and often results in poor 
outcomes for both the teenage parent and the child, in terms of the baby’s health, the mother’s emotional health 
and well-being and the likelihood of both the parent and child living in long-term poverty.

How are we tackling this? How are other partners involved? Where do we want to be 
by 2020?

The City Council has a focus on economic 
development and regeneration in the City, 
together with improving educational 
attainment. In the long term these 
measures should improve both socio-
economic circumstances and health. 

City Council commissioned Children’s 
Centres work closely with health visitors, 
and are located to ensure focus on the 
areas of the City with the highest levels of 
need. 

Increased investment in healthy lifestyles 
programmes will include targeted support 

Tackling Health Inequalities is a major 
theme of the new Peterborough Health 
and Wellbeing Board Strategy (2016-
19), while partners such as the NHS 
Clinical Commissioning Group have a 
statutory duty to reduce health 
inequalities and to carry out health 
inequalities impact assessments of 
any significant services

To be able to demonstrate 
a reduction in health 
inequalities across a range 
of settings, including 
children's centres and 
schools and at all stages of 
the life course. 

To have made good 
progress in implementing 
key solutions that will have 
a positive impact on local 
health inequalities such as:

 Good quality parenting 

61



for people facing health inequalities across 
the City.

Special Health and Young People Advise 
sessions (HYPAs) take place in almost all 
Peterborough secondary schools and at 
the Regional College.  Sexual health 
advice is a central component of these 
weekly events.   The specialist young 
people nurse at ICASH (Peterborough’s 
integrated sexual health service) works 
with all young people under age 19 who 
become pregnant, supporting them 
through the range of decisions they face.

programmes and the 
home to school 
transition

 Building children and 
young people’s 
resilience in schools 

 Reducing the number 
of young people not in 
employment, education 
or training (NEET)   

 Addressing fuel 
poverty and cold 
home-related health 
problems 

 Improving access to 
green spaces

Key Actions Key Milestones Key performance outputs 
April – June 2016

Theme 6: Supporting parents to get back to work 

Why is it a priority?
For parents, accessible and affordable quality childcare is essential in order for them to work.  Having poor access 
to appropriate childcare can be a barrier for some parents to access work. The council has a duty to provide 
sufficient childcare places to meet local need, and seeks to ensure a variety of childcare options including 
childminders, pre-schools, full time day nurseries, out of school and holiday care are available. 

All three and four year old children are eligible for 15 hours funded childcare term time (this can be offered over 52 
weeks at approx. 11 hours per week) from the funding period following their third birthday. Dependent on income, 
parents can also access childcare element of Working Tax Credits to support their childcare costs. 

In recent years there has been an increase in demand for childcare places due to the government introducing the 
15 hours funded entitlement for 2 year old children, for targeted families. In Peterborough this resulted in more than 
50% of two year olds able to take up the funded places, of which between 65% – 75% currently access a funded 
place each school term.  

As the Government continues to support and encourage parents to find work, we can expect this demand to 
increase over coming years particularly in relation to the Government’s introduction of the new 30 hours funded 
entitlement for working parents from 2017.  

How are we tackling this? How are other partners involved? Where do we want to be by 
2020?

The Local Authority will continue to 
undertake a Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment and produce an annual 
market position statement which will 
identify areas of need, enabling strategies 
to be put in place to address demand and 
supply for childcare. 

This will include  new initiatives, such as 
the expansion of childcare for 3 & 4 year 
olds 

Plans will be put in place for the roll out of 
the new 30 hours childcare entitlement for 
working parents. 

Families Information Service provide 

We will continue to work with the 
Private, Voluntary and Independent 
sector of childcare providers to 
address market demand and support 
place creation and expansion.

We will also work with Schools to 
look at opportunities to deliver 
childcare on school sites where 
necessary and appropriate.

Children Centres support the take up 
of two year old funded places.

Ensuring that there is 
sufficient high quality childcare 
to meet the needs of the local 
community, including all 
eligible two year olds, and all 
entitled to the new 30 hours 
entitlement.

The Family Information 
Service will be further 
developed to provide high 
quality, easy to use 
information, advice and 
guidance through the council’s 
website

62



comprehensive information to parents and 
carers in childcare choices As part of our 
Customer Experience programme we will 
look to identify ways in which we can 
improve our digital offer and help make 
our service easier to access for parents 
and carers.
Key Actions Key Milestones Key performance outputs 

April – June 2016

Development of new software to support 
the customer experience and increase 
two-year-old funding applications.

Meeting with software  Development 
manager to discuss scope of project 
 (June 2016)
Meeting with developers to 
demonstrate day-to-day processes 
(June 2016)

To be implemented once new 
service goes live.

Develop childcare places to support the 
expansion of the additional free 
entitlement for three and four-year-olds 
from September 2017

Government issues ‘Expression of 
Interest’ scheme to all local 
authorities which must be completed 
in order to later be able to submit a 
bid for capital funding.
Peterborough submits an expression 
of interest (April 2016)
Local authorities who submitted an 
expression of interest are sent 
details of the capital grant scheme. 
 (June 2016)

Submission of completed bids 
(August 2016)
Announcement of successful 
bids (December 2016).

Theme 7: Providing safe, affordable and good quality housing

Why is it a priority?

Providing affordable, warm, safe and secure housing is essential to helping communities to thrive.  The significant 
impact a person’s housing has on their health and well-being is widely recognised.  
The Peterborough Local Health Profile 2015 has indicated that deprivation levels, life expectancy, percentage of 
children living in poverty and the number of statutory homeless is worse in Peterborough when comparing to the 
England average.  

Housing is a key factor for health with worse health outcomes linked to poorer areas.  Improving housing conditions 
will enable better living conditions, reduce illness and promote better achievement in the local population, 
particularly in education and employment levels. 

A number of published studies have provided evidence that our local environments can have a positive effect on 
individual health and wellbeing as well as enabling stronger communities.  Poor housing can cause or contribute to 
many preventable diseases and is associated with injuries due to falls.  Fuel poverty can be associated with excess 
winter deaths especially among those with lower incomes.  Overcrowding has been found to adversely affect 
mental health and has been associated with the transmission of infectious diseases, particularly tuberculosis. 
 Stress is a health issue within many of the hazard profiles of the Housing Health & Safety Rating System (HHSRS) 
and is linked to bullying, truancy, under performance at school, unemployment or absence from work.

Registered providers have invested in homes to ensure that they meet the Decent Homes standard.  However the 
quality of some accommodation in the private sector does not meet necessary standards.   

How are we tackling this? How are other 
partners involved?

Where do we want to be 
by 2020?

Provision of Repairs Assistance Grants to low income 
owner occupier households through the Council’s Capital 
Programme to remedy category 1 hazards.  Example 
repairs: roof repairs, remedying damp and mould, improving 
property security, remedying electrical problems and 

Local contractors in 
the delivery of repairs 
and adaptations 

Registered providers 

Children living in safe, 
warm, secure and 
affordable housing free 
from hazards that impact 
on their health and 

63



installing new heating systems. 

The Private Sector Housing Enforcement Team aim to 
reduce the number of hazards across the private rented 
sector, to improve the management of properties, and to 
enforce general housing standards, including the issue of 
overcrowding.

The provision of disabled facilities grants funded through the 
Better Care Fund and the Council’s capital programme to 
children people to continue to live independently rather than 
moving into care, as well as helping people to move back 
home more quickly after a stay in hospital. Example use of 
grant: through floor lifts, level access showers and ground 
floor wheelchair accessible sleeping and bathing facilities.

of social housing in 
agreeing and part 
funding adaptations in 
their housing stock

wellbeing

Disabled children being 
cared for in an adapted 
home environment that 
meets their long term 
needs

Key Actions Key Milestones Key performance 
outputs 
April – June 2016

To be developed

Theme 8: Improving adult skills

Why is it a priority?
Skills are vital for our future both in terms of economic growth and wellbeing but also for us to grow individual’s 
social capital. UK Commission for Employment and Skills have undertaken analysis of projected growth for the 
proportion of the workforce in the Eastern region which shows a significant change in the need for higher level 
qualifications.  There will be a strong increase in demand for people with higher level qualifications, including those 
with postgraduate qualifications and, correspondingly, those with no or low level qualifications will find it 
increasingly difficult to find employment. 

How are we tackling this? How are other partners 
involved?

Where do we want 
to be by 2020?

By developing a cross-city post-16 targeted approach to 
skills development to help address the identified local need, 
reduce the skills gap, grow the economy, improve well-being 
and create strong, supportive and inclusive communities.
The targeted approach to consist of three strands:
a. Employment and Supporting Labour Mobility
b. Social Inclusion and Help Combat Poverty
c. Education, Skills and Lifelong Learning

By being involved in and 
members of the themed 
stands.

Delivering provision to the 
address the identified 
needs of the targeted.

To give impartial 
information, advice and 
guidance to support 
individuals support 
requirements.

To signpost  and support to 
appropriate interventions

Improving the skills 
of local residents to 
support economic 
growth and wellbeing

Key Actions Key Milestones Key performance 
outputs 
April – June 2016

64



The Skills Board

Through the already established Peterborough Skills 
Strategic Partnership Board (PSSPB), engage strategic 
partners across the city develop strategic direction for skills 
in the city, working within and beyond their individual 
organisations to sharing and harness the best resources to 
bring about improvements, influencing thinking, policy and 
practice to have a positive impact.

To develop a comprehensive data set to inform the group 
and set meaningful key performance indicators (KPIs).

Board to own, review and 
update strategy annually or 
as required.

Data suite to be developed 
and KPI’s to be identified 
and agreed.

March 2017 and 
ongoing

January 2017
Employment and Supporting Labour Mobility 

To take a sectorial approach to skills areas considered to be 
significant to Peterborough 

To provide support to local residents to enable them to meet 
labour market demands

To engage with 
appropriate agencies to 
develop this approach 

To set up appropriate task 
and finish group 

December 2016

September 2016.

Social Inclusion and Help Combat Poverty to support 
lifelong learning

To identify need and appropriate skills interventions to 
include the upskilling of local residents.

To:

 develop further high quality ESOL (English for Speakers 
of Other Languages) provision

 improve the English and Maths skills of local resident

To set up appropriate task 
and finish group 

Identify what is currently 
being delivered and 
develop targeted initiatives 
and work with the 
appropriate boards and 
communities

December 2016

September 2016.

65



This page is intentionally left blank

66



Child Poverty Needs Profile

Key  messages for 

Peterborough 

Child Poverty – Demographics  

Children and young people aged under 20 make up 26.8% of the 

population of Peterborough. 

Peterborough’s young population is growing.

24% more 5-9 year olds by 2031

27% more 10-14  year olds by 2031

In 2015 13,458 school children in Peterborough (44.8%) were from minority ethnic 

groups .

67



Child Poverty – Income Deprivation  

The percentage of children overall living in 

Poverty in Peterborough according to the IDACI 

score reduced from 27% in 2010 to 25% in 2015. 

67.9% of Peterborough LSOAs are in the most 

deprived 50% of all LSOAs in the country.

29.5% are in the most deprived 20% 

8.9% are in the least deprived 20% nationally. 

Where is Child Poverty? 
In 2010, five of the most deprived 20 LSOAs in Peterborough 

were in the Central electoral ward; in 2015, all of these LSOAs 

are outside of the most deprived 20 LSOAs

The electoral wards with the highest number of LSOAs in the 

most deprived 20% of all Peterborough LSOAs are

• Orton Longueville (4), 

• Dogsthorpe (3), 

• Paston (3) 

• Ravensthorpe (3). 

• The four LSOAs within Orton Longueville that are within the 

most deprived 20% of all Peterborough LSOAs are all ranked 

as relatively more deprived in comparison to other LSOAs in 

Peterborough than they were in 2010.

• Individual pockets of deprivation are also found within Orton 

Waterville, Stanground Central and Orton with Hampton.

68



Child Poverty – How we compare

60% of LSOAs fall within the four most 
deprived deciles

The most deprived LSOA is in Orton Waterville 

and is ranked 243rd most deprived  of  32,844 

LSOAs 

Child Poverty – Health factors
Child Health Profile March 2016

High levels of take up of immunisations at age 2

36.1% of children had tooth decay at age 5 –

compared to 27.9% nationally.

High rates of teenage pregnancy and teenage 

mothers

Hospital admissions for young people relating to 

drugs and alcohol were higher than nationally but 

not significantly.

69



Child Poverty – Health factors
Child Health Profile March 2016

12,170 A & E attendances for 0-4s proportionately higher 

rate than England average rate

Hospital admissions for children and young people.

• High rates for injuries in children 0-14 years

• High rates for injuries in young people 15-24 years

• High rates for Asthma in under 19s

• High rates for self harm 10-24 years

• Slightly lower than average mental health admissions.

Child Poverty – Education  

61.1% of children in Peterborough achieved a good level 

of development at the end of reception (66.3 nationally)

48.4% of young people achieved 5 or more GCSEs at 

grade A*-C including maths and English – for those 

qualifying for free school meals it was 28.8%

Children leaving primary school who qualified for free 

school meals were less likely to reach level 5+ for reading 

writing and maths  (11%) than other pupils (24%) 

70



Child Poverty – Wider Determinants  

Children in Care  - significantly high rate 74 per 

10,000 (nationally 60 per 10,000)

High percentage of 16-18 year olds not in 

employment, education or training – 6.1%

3.2 families per 1,000 homeless (nationally 

1.8)

Child Poverty – Health Behaviours  
What about YOUth report

24.2% of young people reported general health as excellent’ compared to 

England’s value of 29.5% 

Smoking rates were slightly above the England average, whereas the 

‘Percentage who have tried e-cigarettes’ was significantly higher at  22% -

England = 18.4%  

Only 4.7% felt  themselves to be regular drinkers, compared to 6.2% 

nationally.  

Perceptions of mental health were poorer than the national average 

Percentage who had bullied others in the past couple of months’ was 

above the national average at 14.1% compared to England Ave 10.1% 

71



Child Poverty - Work and Benefits
Peterborough’s unemployment rate is the same as England overall 5.2%.

Of those not working 30.7% are looking after a family compared with 25.1% nationally.   

18.1% of children in Peterborough are living in workless households compared to 15% 

nationally.

In April 2015 average weekly earnings in Peterborough for full time staff were £460.60 per 

week, compared to the national average of £529.60 per week

Average weekly earnings in Peterborough dropped by £7.10 per week between 2014 and 

2015.  Nationally the trend was a rise of £8.50 per week.

Children and Young Persons JSNA

3 key messages - Children and Young Persons JSNA – 2015

1. Children and young people continue to be statistically disadvantaged with 

regards to both key public health and key quality of life / aspiration metrics.

2. The City is one of the fastest growing cities in the UK, particularly in regard 

to the growth rate of the population aged under 18.

3. Poor public health outcomes were particularly significant in four of the City’s 

most central wards, Ravensthorpe, North, Park and Orton Longueville.

72



Conclusions

Peterborough’s child population is growing and poverty is a factor impacting 

on a growing number of children, a quarter of our children using the IDACI 

analysis.  A high proportion of our child population are from minority ethnic 

backgrounds which will need to be reflected within the Child Poverty Strategy.

Child poverty has decreased within Central ward but remains a significant and 

enduring factor within Orton Longueville, Dogsthorpe, Paston, Ravensthorpe

and Orton Waterville.  Our higher rates of Child Poverty could been seen to be 

relative to the poor health outcomes reflected in the City’s child health profile.

Conclusions

Poverty in childhood can be seen to significantly reduce opportunities in later 

life.  Children who qualify for free school meals do less well in school and are 

less likely to achieve 5 or more GCSEs.

Children in Peterborough are more likely to be living in workless households, 

or lower paid households.  This might also impact on aspirations and on the 

likelihood of young people from areas of high poverty breaking the cycle.  

Given the enduring nature of the poverty in the City any strategy should look 

to breaking the poverty cycle if it is to have a long term impact.

73



This page is intentionally left blank

74



CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING 
INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Agenda Item No. 8

12 SEPTEMBER  2016 Public Report

Contact Officer(s) – Jo Procter, Head of Service Adult & Children’s Safeguarding Board
Contact Details – Joanne.procter@peterborough.gov.uk 

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE PETERBOROUGH SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD   
2015/16

1. PURPOSE

1.1 There is a statutory requirement under Working Together 2015 that Local Safeguarding 
Children Boards produce an annual report and ensure it is shared with the Leader of the 
Council. The purpose of the reports being brought to Creating Opportunities and Tackling 
Inequalities Scrutiny Committee is to ensure that members are fully aware of the work and 
progress of the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board. The annual report was published in 
August 2016.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Committee members are requested to comment on and note the contents of the report and to 
consider if there are any matters they may wish to scrutinise in the future.

3. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE PRIORITIES AND RELEVANT CABINET PORTFOLIO 

3.1

3.2

The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board is fundamental to the success of the Council 
priority –“safeguarding vulnerable children and adults”.

This report falls within the portfolio of the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1

4.2

The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) is the key statutory mechanism for agreeing 
how the relevant organisations in each local area will co-operate to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children in that locality, and for ensuring the effectiveness of what they do.  

There is a statutory requirement under Working Together 2015 that Local Safeguarding 
Children Board’s produce an annual report and it is shared with the Leader of the Council. The 
purpose of the reports being brought to Creating Opportunities and Tackling Inequalities 
Scrutiny Committee is to ensure that members are fully aware of the work and progress of the 
Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board. 

5. KEY ISSUES

5.1 The annual report highlights the significant events during the last year, summarises the work of 
the sub committees, highlights areas of good practice and presents statistical information about 
safeguarding performance.
 

6. IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The PSCB is funded by the City Council, Cambridgeshire Constabulary, NHS England, 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Foundation Trust, Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals, 
NHS Foundation Trust, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group, 
National Probation Service and Children and Family Court Advisory and Support service. The 
work undertaken by partners is city wide. 

75

mailto:Joanne.procter@peterborough.gov.uk


6.2 The work of the PSCB is supported by a small Business Unit. 

7. CONSULTATION

7.1 Partner agencies including Peterborough City Council contributed to the information contained 
within the annual report. The report was approved by the Peterborough Safeguarding Children 
Board in August 2016 and was published on the Boards website 
(www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk) and shared via social media.

8. NEXT STEPS

8.1 The annual report has been published on the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board our 
web site (www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk) and circulated widely. It will also be 
presented to both the Health and Wellbeing Board and to the Police and Crime Commissioner. 
Work on the 2016/17 annual report will commence in the New Year.

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

9.1

9.2

The statistics contained within the Annual Report are from the safeguarding board datasets.

Partners provided information from their agencies which was used to formulate the annual 
report.

10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix 1 - PSCB Annual report 2015/16

76

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/
http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 1

 

 

  

Annual Report 2015/16 
Keeping Children Safe Together 

77

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/
aac536
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX 1



 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 2

 

CONTENTS 

Foreword ......................................................................................................................................... 3 
Contact Information ....................................................................................................................... 4 
Guiding Principles of our Work .................................................................................................... 5 
The Local Context .......................................................................................................................... 6 
Ofsted Inspection ........................................................................................................................... 8 
Governance and Accountability ................................................................................................... 9 

THE STATUTORY AND LEGISLATIVE CONTEXT 9 
WHO IS REPRESENTED ON THE PETERBOROUGH SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD? 10 
LINKS WITH OTHER STRATEGIC BOARDS 13 

Peterborough Health and Wellbeing Board ............................................................................ 14 

Safer Peterborough Partnership (SPP) .................................................................................. 14 

Peterborough Safeguarding Adults Board (PSAB) ................................................................ 15 

Working with Cambridgeshire LSCB ...................................................................................... 15 

BUDGET 2013 - 14 16 
PETERBOROUGH SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD SUB-GROUP STRUCTURE 17 

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) ..................................................................................... 18 

The Case Review Group ........................................................................................................ 19 

Quality and Effectiveness Group ............................................................................................ 20 

Training Sub-Group .................................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Joint Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Child Sexual Exploitation Group ........................... 25 

E-Safety Group ....................................................................................................................... 26 

Health Executive Board and Health Safeguarding Group ...................................................... 27 

Child Protection Information Network (CPIN) ......................................................................... 27 

Task and Finish Groups ......................................................................................................... 28 

Business Priorities 2015/16 ......................................................................................................... 28 
EARLY HELP AND PREVENTATIVE MEASURES ARE EFFECTIVE 29 
CHILDREN AT RISK OF SIGNIFICANT HARM ARE EFFECTIVELY IDENTIFIED AND PROTECTED 31 
EVERYONE MAKES A SIGNIFICANT AND MEANINGFUL CONTRIBUTION TO SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN 38 
WORKFORCE HAS THE RIGHT SKILLS / KNOWLEDGE AND CAPACITY TO SAFEGUARD CHILDREN 39 
UNDERSTAND THE NEEDS OF ALL SECTORS OF OUR COMMUNITY 46 
CHILDREN ARE FULLY PROTECTED FROM THE EFFECTS OF DOMESTIC ABUSE (DOMESTIC VIOLENCE) 

AND NEGLECT 50 
CHILDREN ARE FULLY PROTECTED FROM CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION 52 

Additional Groups of Children .................................................................................................... 53 
CHILDREN MISSING FROM HOME AND CARE 53 
PRIVATE FOSTERING 57 
ALLEGATIONS MANAGEMENT 58 

Communication ............................................................................................................................ 61 
The Voice Of Children, Young People and Families ................................................................. 64 
Scrutiny and Challenge ............................................................................................................... 66 
Conclusion .................................................................................................................................... 70 

The Board’s Business Priorities 2016-17 and Future Developments………….………………….71 

 

  

78

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 3

 

FOREWORD  

By Dr Russell Wate QPM, Independent Chair Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board 

It gives me great pleasure to present to you Peterborough’s Safeguarding 

Children Board annual report for the period April 2015 – March 2016.   The 

report outlines both the activity and contribution of the Board and its partners 

that has taken place during the last year. The year has been as always a very 

challenging one for all agencies. I would like to thank all of the Board members 

(in particular the Lay Members) and their organisations, especially the frontline 

staff, for the hard work they have carried out to keep children and young people 

safe from harm in Peterborough. 

 
Our overarching objectives through Working Together 2015 were to: 
 

1) Co-ordinate what is being done by each person or body represented on the board to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of children in Peterborough and 

2) Ensure the effectiveness of what is done by each such person or body for those purposes.   

However, you will see in the report that we have worked well through our priorities for the year and, 

as a result of these being correctly identified, we are now continuing with them for another 

year.  Some of these priorities we share with our partner boards, for example the priority of ensuring 

children and young people receive early help in Peterborough.  This is achieved in conjunction with 

other boards working in Peterborough and evidences clear joint agency working arrangements in 

Peterborough.  

The biggest challenge in recent times for the Board and its partners has been the continued 

investigations (Operation Erle) in the city into child sexual exploitation. These came to a conclusion 

in May 2015. Operation Erle involved five separate criminal trials, resulting in 10 men and boys 

receiving sentences totalling 114 years and nine months. We must pay tribute to the victims and 

the frontline staff that brought about these successful results. 

The Board and the Local Authority were inspected by Ofsted during the reporting period of this 

annual report. The Board was judged a ‘Good’ board. This judgement is one that only a few Boards 

in the country have received, so we should be proud of this testimony of the hard work of 

professionals in Peterborough. There is of course a lot still to be done to continue to keep children 

safe and promote their welfare in Peterborough. 

We, as a Board, feel the next year is an exciting one for us with lots of opportunities for the 

partnership to continue our work and to move to be a very good, if not outstanding, Safeguarding 

Board. We will also work on the challenge that proposed changes through the ‘Wood’ review will 

bring. 

Finally I would like to thank Jo Procter and all of her team for their unstinting commitment to the 

work of the Board and keeping children in the City safe. 

 

Dr Russell Wate QPM 

  

79

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 4

 

CONTACT INFORMATION 

 

This report has been compiled on behalf of the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board by the 

Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board Business Unit. The format and content has been 

guided by the Association of LSCB Chairs suggested model for Annual Reports (2015). The 

content is drawn from the work of the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board and its sub-

groups including; reports presented to those groups; records of meetings; multi-agency audit 

findings and the findings from Serious Case Reviews. 

The report will be published in August 2016 and will be a public document. 

For further information about the content of this report or the work of the Peterborough 

Safeguarding Children Board please contact the Business Office on 01733 863744 or by email 

pscb@peterborough.gov.uk or visit the website at  www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk. 

 

For further information or queries about Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board (PSCB) visit 

our website or contact any of the members of the staff team listed below: 

Russell Wate 

PSCB Independent Chair russell.wate@peterborough.gov.uk  

Jo Procter 

Head of Service, Safeguarding Boards joanne.procter@peterborough.gov.uk  

Hannah Campling 

Sexual Exploitation Co-ordinator hannah.campling@peterborough.gov.uk  

Andi Epton-Smith 

Safeguarding Board Officer andi.epton-smith@peterborough.gov.uk  

Jody Watts 

Safeguarding Board Coordinator  

(Communication and E-safety Lead) jody.watts@peterborough.gov.uk  

Julie Gillies 

Business Support Officer (Board)  

General Enquiries  pscbadmin@peterborough.gov.uk 

Isabel Iglesias Vizoso 

Business Support Officer (Training) isabel.iglesiasvizoso@peterborough.gov.uk  

 

Training Enquiries pscb.training@peterborough.gov.uk    

 

  

80

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/
mailto:pscb@peterborough.gov.uk
http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/
mailto:russell.wate@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:joanne.procter@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:hannah.campling@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:andi.epton-smith@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:jody.watts@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:pscbadmin@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:isabel.iglesiasvizoso@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:pscb.training@peterborough.gov.uk


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 5

 

GUIDING PRINCIPLES OF OUR WORK 

Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board is committed to safeguarding and promoting the welfare 

of children and young people and expects all staff and volunteers to share the same commitment. 

Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board believes that: 

 The welfare and safety of the child is paramount. 

 We will be more robust in safeguarding children if we all work together. This includes both 

statutory and voluntary agencies and also the wider communities. 

 Early help is a critical part of keeping children safe. 

 We will support families in bringing up their children safely, engaging with them in the wider 

agenda for safeguarding. 

 We will ensure agencies provide an equitable, quality service to all children and their 

families. 

 Services should be provided which are appropriate to race, religion, culture, language, 

gender, sexual orientation and disability. 

 We need to be accountable for our actions, open to challenge, and to learn from practice in 

order to achieve continuous improvement. 

 Procedures and processes must be open and transparent. 

 

These principles should underpin everyone’s approach to safeguarding children and promoting their 

welfare, regardless of the extent of their involvement. 

Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board will further ensure that: 

 Personal information is held confidentially and only by those who need to know. 

 Information will be shared safely and effectively, so that agencies working with children, 

young people and families know the whole story, understand the risk, and the child only has 

to tell their story once. 

 Safeguarding children is viewed in the wider context of their needs and rights. 

 

  

81

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 6

 

 

THE LOCAL CONTEXT 

Peterborough is the second fastest growing city in England. It includes a variety of inner-city and 
rural areas, the former being associated with higher density housing and a more diverse and faster 
growing population. 

Approximately 51,000 children and young people under the age of 19 live in Peterborough. This is 
26.8% of the total population in the area. There are year-on year increases in the numbers of 
children and young people attending Peterborough schools; the number of pupils increased by 4% 
between October 2013 and October 2014.  

Peterborough has an increasingly diverse population where 153 languages are spoken in 
Peterborough schools. There is a growing number of children and families moving to the city from 
central and eastern Europe.  

School children and young people from minority ethnic groups account for 44.8% of all children 
living in the area, compared with 28.9% in the country as a whole. The largest minority ethnic group 
of pupils is still Asian Pakistani, reflecting earlier patterns of migration. However, this group as a 
proportion of the school population is now relatively stable, whilst the population of Polish and 
Lithuanian children in Peterborough schools increased by 19% and 13% respectively between 
October 2013 and October 2014. 

37% of children and young people in primary schools and 28% in secondary schools have English 
as an additional language compared with the national averages of 19% and 14% respectively. 

 

This rapidly increasing and changing population is likely to place additional pressures on services 
over the coming years. An increasing population of children implies that, all things being equal, 

82

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 7

 

there will be increasing numbers of children who are in need, including those who are in need of 
protection and/or looking after. The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board will need to ensure 
that it has an awareness of safeguarding issues in all sectors of Peterborough’s communities. This 
in itself will be a challenge for the Board. 

CHILD AND FAMILY POVERTY IN PETERBOROUGH  

 
Peterborough remains a local authority with relatively high levels of deprivation, as measured by 

the Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI), which forms part of the Index of Multiple 

Deprivation (IMD).  

Deprivation in Peterborough has reduced slightly between 2010 and 2015 by approximately 2%. 

However, deprivation has not fallen in all areas of the City.  

Among Peterborough’s CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) comparator 

group of 15 socio-economic neighbours, Peterborough has moved from being the fifth-most 

deprived local authority to the fourth-most deprived.  

Levels of deprivation are particularly high in areas near the centre of Peterborough and there is a 

higher concentration of relatively deprived areas towards the south of the geographical area that 

comprises Peterborough. Deprivation, as measured by the Income Deprivation Affecting Children 

Index, is markedly less prevalent in Peterborough's more affluent, rural wards. 

The health and wellbeing of children in Peterborough is generally worse than the England average.   

The Public Health England Child Health Profile1 provides the following key findings relating to the 

health of children in the city.   Poverty is evidenced to be a key factor in health outcomes. 

 

The overarching Child Poverty measure found within the Child Health Profile indicates that the 

percentage of children living in poverty in Peterborough fell from 22.0% to 21.9% between 2012 

and 2013 but remains significantly higher than England (18.6% in 2013, was 19.2% in 2012).  This 

measure looks at the percentage of children aged under 16 years living in families in receipt of out 

of work benefits or tax credits where their reported income is less than 60% median income. The 

rate of family homelessness is worse than the England average. 

                                                                 
1 Child Health Profile – March 2016 http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=273329  

83

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/
http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=273329


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 8

 

Child Health Profile – Child Poverty (under 16s) 

 

 

OFSTED INSPECTION 
 

Ofsted's single inspection framework for inspecting local authority 

children's services includes a review of the effectiveness of the Local 

Safeguarding Children Board.  These inspections are conducted 

under Section 136 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006. They 

focus on the effectiveness of local authority services and 

arrangements to help and protect children as well as the experiences 

and progress of looked after children – including adoption, fostering, 

the use of residential care and children who return home. 

An inspection of the Local Safeguarding Children Broad was undertaken by Ofsted during its 

inspection of Peterborough City Council Children’s Services in April – May 20152. 

The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board receive an overall grading of good. 

Sample of highlights from Ofsted’s findings:  

Fulfils its statutory responsibilities and is appropriately structured with a range of effective  

sub-groups. 

Partner agencies are well represented on the Board and attendance is good. 

There are good links with the Safer Peterborough Partnership, the Health and Wellbeing Board 

and the Joint Children and Families Commissioning Board. 

Provided strong challenge and leadership to partnership agencies, leading on improvements in 

a number of areas. 

Commissioned an external audit of early services and put an action plan in place to further 

strengthen practice. 

Has been effective in promoting awareness of child sexual exploitation. 

Had a pivotal role in co-ordinating work across the partnership to disrupt the activity of and 

prosecute those responsible for child sexual exploitation. 

                                                                 
2 Single inspection of LA children's services and review of the LSCB as pdf published 18th September 2015 
http://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local_authority_reports/peterborough/053_Si
ngle%20inspection%20of%20LA%20children%27s%20services%20and%20review%20of%20the%20LSCB%
20as%20pdf.pdf  

84

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/
http://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local_authority_reports/peterborough/053_Single%20inspection%20of%20LA%20children%27s%20services%20and%20review%20of%20the%20LSCB%20as%20pdf.pdf
http://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local_authority_reports/peterborough/053_Single%20inspection%20of%20LA%20children%27s%20services%20and%20review%20of%20the%20LSCB%20as%20pdf.pdf
http://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local_authority_reports/peterborough/053_Single%20inspection%20of%20LA%20children%27s%20services%20and%20review%20of%20the%20LSCB%20as%20pdf.pdf


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 9

 

Focussed on raising awareness of female genital mutilation and produced a resource pack which 

is a significant and positive achievement. 

Learning from serious case reviews has been effectively shared and used to inform 

improvements. 

A range of good initiatives have been used to involve children and young people in safeguarding 

in Peterborough. 

The business plan is clear, detailed and regularly updated. 

Training provided by the LSCB is of a high standard. 

The LSCB is well led by the Independent Chair and supported by a tenacious Business Manager. 

The Board’s website is accessible, informative and engaging. 

Sample of recommendations and areas for further improvement: 

Update the performance management framework and enhance quarterly performance reports to 

the Board. 

Prioritise the revision of the threshold document. 

Monitor the Local Authority’s response to the findings of the Ofsted inspection relating to the 

quality of social work assessments, chronologies and plans. 

Implement the new child sexual exploitation risk assessment tool. 

Ensure the issue of neglect is given a suitably high strategic and operational profile. 

Ensure that findings and recommendations arising from the Child in Need task and finish group 

are implemented and impact monitored to help improve outcomes. 

 

GOVERNANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

THE STATUTORY AND LEGISLATIVE CONTEXT 

The Children Act 20043 places a duty on every Local Authority to establish a Local Safeguarding 

Children Board (LSCB). Regulation 5 of the Local Safeguarding Board Regulations 20064 sets 

out the functions of the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board as per section 14 of the 

Children Act which are:  

 Developing policies and procedures for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children 
in the area of the authority, including policies and procedures in relation to: 

- The action to be taken where there are concerns about a child's safety or welfare, 

including thresholds for intervention 

- Training of persons who work with children or in services affecting the safety and 

welfare of children 

- Recruitment and supervision of persons who work with children 

- Investigation of allegations concerning persons who work with children 

- Safety and welfare of children who are privately fostered 

- Cooperation with neighbouring children's services authorities and their Board 

partners 

                                                                 
3 Children Act 2004 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/14  

4 Regulation 5 of the Local Safeguarding Board Regulations 2006 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/90/pdfs/uksi_20060090_en.pdf  

85

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/14
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/90/pdfs/uksi_20060090_en.pdf


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 1

0
 

 Communicating to persons and bodies in the area of the authority the need to safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children, raising their awareness of how this can best be done 
and encouraging them to do so 

 Monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of what is done by the authority and their Board 
partners individually and collectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and 
advising them on ways to improve 

 Participating in the planning of services for children in the area of the authority 

 Undertaking reviews of serious cases and advising the authority and their Board partners 
on lessons to be learned 

 Putting in place procedures to respond to unexpected child deaths and collecting and 

analysing information about all child deaths in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. 

The Government’s Statutory Guidance, Working Together to Safeguard Children (2015) 5 
defines safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children as: 

 Protecting children from maltreatment 

 Preventing impairment of children’s health or development 

 Ensuring that children are growing up in circumstances consistent with the provision of safe 
and effective care 

 Taking action to enable all children to have the best life chances. 

Local agencies, including the police and health services, also have a duty under Section 11 of the 

Children Act to ensure that they consider the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children 

when carrying out their functions. 

The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board is independent from local agencies and provides 

the key statutory mechanism for agreeing how organisations within Peterborough cooperate to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of children and for ensuring the effectiveness of what they do. 

The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board does not commission or deliver frontline services 

or have the power to direct other organisations but does have a role in making it clear where 

improvements are needed. Each Board partner retains their own lines of accountability for 

safeguarding. 

 

WHO IS REPRESENTED ON THE PETERBOROUGH SAFEGUARDING 
CHILDREN BOARD? 

The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board has an independent chair, Russell Wate, who was 

appointed in February 2013 and is accountable to the Chief Executive of the Local Authority. The 

Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board is composed of senior representatives nominated by 

each of its member agencies and professional groups.  

                                                                 
5 Working Together to Safeguard Children (2015) 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/419595/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_
Children.pdf  

86

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/419595/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/419595/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children.pdf


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 1

1
 

 

Partner agency representatives are of sufficient seniority to make decisions around their agency’s 

resources. They are given delegated authority to make decisions to an agreed level on behalf of 

their agency and have access to those responsible for making the decisions for which they do not 

have delegated authority.  Many agencies have a specific deputy at the appropriate level who will 

step in should the board member not be able to attend. 

The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board Business Unit supports both the Adult and 

Children’s Safeguarding Boards and is made up of the following members of staff; 

 Head of Service 

 Sexual Exploitation Coordinator  

 Safeguarding Board Officers – Children’s Lead 

 Safeguarding Board Officer – Adult’s Lead 

 Safeguarding Board Coordinator (Communication and E-safety Lead) 

 Business Support Officer - Full-time 

 Business Support Officer - Part-time 

Name Agency 

Russell Wate Independent Chair 

Andy Hebb Cambridgeshire Constabulary  

Wendi Ogle-Welbourn Director for People & Communities, Peterborough City Council 

Lou Williams Service Director for Children & Safeguarding, Peterborough City Council 

Nicola Curley Assistant Director Safeguarding Families & Communities 

Cllr Andy Coles Cabinet Member for Children Services 

Poppy Reynolds Head of Sexual Health, Cambridgeshire Community Services 

Jill Houghton Director or Nursing and Quality, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG 

Emilia Wawrzkowicz Designated Doctor Safeguarding Children, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
CCG 

Sarah Hamilton Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
CCG 

Mavis Spencer Deputy Director for Nursing, NHS England 

Melanie Coombes Director of Nursing, Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Foundation Trust 

Joanne Bennis  Director of Care Quality & Chief Nurse, Peterborough & Stamford Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Angela Burrow Peterborough Healthwatch 

Stephen Segasby Locality Safeguarding Lead for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough East of 
England Ambulance Service 

Matthew Ryder Assistant Director, National Probation Service  

Jo Curphey  Operational Director, BeNCH Community Rehabilitation Company 

Issy Atkinson Service Manager, CAFCASS 

Nick Edwards Service Manager, NSPCC 

Iain Easton Head of Youth Offending Service, Peterborough City Council 

Rick Hylton Area Commander,  Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue 

Judita Grubilene  Lay Member 

Sue Hartropp Lay Member 

Professional Representatives, who provide insight from and communication with their professional 
bodies but do not represent a single agency or organisation: 

Claire George Headteacher of Pupil Referral Service; Representing Secondary Schools 

Sarah Levy Headteacher of Old Fletton Primary School; Representing Primary Schools 

Joanne Hather-Dennis Executive Director (Students), Peterborough Regional College; representing 
Further Education establishments 

87

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 1

2
 

Each member of the Board is responsible for ensuring a two-way communication between their 

agency and the Board by disseminating information between the Peterborough Safeguarding 

Children Board and their agency/professional body. They are also responsible for identifying any 

appropriate actions and highlight any issues with partners that have been identified by their agency 

which will lead to challenge by the Board. 

As detailed in the chart below, the Board has two Lay Members.  One of our Lay Members has 

been a Board member since September 2012.  The second Lay Member joined the Board in 

December 2015. The remit of the Lay member is to: 

 Support public engagement in local safeguarding issues. 

 Contribute to an improved understanding of the Peterborough Safeguarding Children 
Board’s child protection work in the wider community. 

 Challenge the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board on the accessibility by the 
public and children and young people of its plans and procedures. 

 Help to make links between the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board and 
community groups. 

Both Lay Members have safeguarding experience and play a key role in their local communities.   

The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board met six times between April 2015 to March 2016 
and there were no extraordinary meetings held.  The chart below provides information on agency 
attendance at meetings:  

 

33%

83%

33%

100%

83%

83%

0%

50%

67%

67%

67%

17%

100%

50%

100%

100%

83%

83%

83%

83%

100%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

VOLUNTARY SECTOR REPRESENTATIVE

SECONDARY SCHOOL REPRESENTATIVE

PRIMARY SCHOOL REPRESENTATIVE

PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL (INCLUDING YOS)

PETERBOROUGH AND STAMFORD HOSPITALS …

NSPCC

NHS ENGLAND

NATIONAL PROBATION SERVICE

HEALTHWATCH

FURTHER EDUCATION REPRESENTATIVE

EAST OF ENGLAND AMBULANCE SERVICE NHS TRUST

CAMBRIDGESHIRE FIRE & RESCUE 

CAMBRIDGESHIRE CONSTABULARY

CAMBRIDGESHIRE COMMUNITY SERVICES

CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH …

CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH CCG

CAFCASS

BENCH CRC

ELECTED MEMBERS

LAY MEMBERS

INDEPENDENT CHAIR

Agency Attendance 
to Board meetings   

April 2015 - March 2016

88

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 1

3
 

LINKS WITH OTHER STRATEGIC BOARDS 

For the Board to be influential in coordinating and ensuring the effectiveness of safeguarding 

arrangements, it is important that it has strong links with other groups and boards who impact on 

child services. The Board also has an integral role in being part of the planning and commissioning 

of services delivered to children in Peterborough. 

 

The Independent Chair of the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board is also the Chair of the 
Peterborough Safeguarding Adults Board, which provides consistency of services for children and 
adults across Peterborough. He is also a member of other strategic and statutory partnerships 
within Peterborough which are the Health and Wellbeing Board, the Safer Peterborough 
Partnership and the Strategic MAPP Board. This ensures that safeguarding children is represented 
and a priority of the work of these groups. Key members of the Peterborough Safeguarding Children 
Board also sit on the Safer Peterborough Partnership and Domestic Abuse Governance Board.  In 
addition, the Head of Service is a member of the Domestic Abuse Governance Board and the 
Children and Families Joint Commissioning Board.  

These links mean that safeguarding children remains on the agenda of these groups and is a 
continuing consideration for all members, widening the influence of the Peterborough Safeguarding 
Children Board across all services and activities in Peterborough. 

 

89

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 1

4
 

PETERBOROUGH HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

The Health and Wellbeing Board comprises of representatives from the Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group, alongside elected members and senior managers 

from Peterborough City Council’s Childrens and Adult Social Care Services and the Director of 

Public Health and Link/Local Health Watch representatives. 

Priority 1 
Ensure that children and young people have the best opportunities in life to 

enable them to become healthy adults and make the best of their life chances. 

 
Priority 2 

Narrow the gap between those neighbourhoods and communities with the best 

and worst health outcomes. 

 
Priority 3 

Enable older people to stay independent and safe and to enjoy the best possible 

quality of life. 

  
Priority 4 

Enable good child and adult mental health through effective, accessible health 

promotion and early intervention services. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Priority 5 
Maximise the health and wellbeing and opportunities for independent living for 

people with life-long disabilities and complex needs.  

 

SAFER PETERBOROUGH PARTNERSHIP (SPP) 

A number of statutory and voluntary organisations work together to deliver the priorities of the Safer 

Peterborough Partnership. 

The responsible organisations, by law, for the work of the partnership are: 

 Peterborough City Council 

 NHS Peterborough 

 Cambridgeshire Constabulary 

 Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 BeNCH CRC 

They work in partnership with a wide range of other services across the public and voluntary sector 

and community groups that contribute significantly to community safety. These other services are 

known as co-operating authorities. The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 makes co-operating bodies 

key partners in the setting and delivery of objectives. 

Co-operating authorities provide data and information to improve the understanding of local crime 

and disorder problems, thereby benefitting the community and contributing to the core functions of 

their respective organisations. Those organisations are listed on the Safer Partnership web site at: 

http://www2.peterborough.gov.uk/safer_peterborough/about.aspx. 

A strategic assessment of threat, risk and harm was developed in 2014, which formed the basis for 

the Safer Peterborough Partnership Plan.  The designated priorities are:- 

Priority 1 
Addressing victim based crime by reducing re-offending and protecting our 

residents and visitors from harm. 

 
Priority 2 Tackling anti-social behaviour. 

 
Priority 3 Building stronger and more supportive communities. 

 

90

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/
http://www2.peterborough.gov.uk/default.aspx
http://www.peterborough.nhs.uk/
http://www.cambs.police.uk/
http://www.cambsfire.gov.uk/
http://benchcrc.org.uk/
http://www2.peterborough.gov.uk/safer_peterborough/about.aspx


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 1

5
 

A further priority was added in 2016: 

Priority 4 Supporting high risk and vulnerable victims. 

These priorities are delivered through specific areas of work managed through the Safer 

Peterborough Partnership’s performance framework supported by the Safer Peterborough 

Partnership Delivery Group. 

PETERBOROUGH SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD (PSAB) 

The PSAB is one of the key mechanisms for ensuring effective partnership working for the 

safeguarding of adults at risk of abuse and neglect in Peterborough.  The Board is made up of 

representatives from: 

 Axiom Housing 

 BeNCH CRC 

 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust 

 Cambridgeshire Constabulary 

 Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 City College Peterborough 

 Healthwatch 

 HMP Peterborough 

 Independent Providers 

 National Probation Service  

 NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group  

 NHS England (Correspondence member) 

 Peterborough City Council (representation from Adult Social Care, Community Safety, 

Children’s Services and including the lead member for adult services) 

 Peterborough and Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

 Peterborough Regional College 

 Peterborough Voluntary Sector representatives (including Peterborough and Fenland Mind 

and Age UK Peterborough) 

 Safer Peterborough Partnership Board 

The Peterborough Safeguarding Adults Board is working to the following priorities: 

Priority 1 Partnership and Culture. 

 
Priority 2 Practice, Delivery and Outcomes. 

 
Priority 3 Prevention and Early Detection. 

WORKING WITH CAMBRIDGESHIRE LSCB 

Peterborough and Cambridgeshire both have a Local Safeguarding Children Board. There are 

strong historical links between the two areas and a number of partner agencies deliver services 

across the two areas and are members of both LSCB’s. To ensure consistency and efficiency for 

all partner agencies, where possible, both Boards have sought to co-work across the two Boards. 

The primary purpose has been to reduce duplication of work, ensure consistent expectations are 

placed on partner agencies and increase the efficiency of meetings. As a result of the co-working 

arrangements, there has been some savings in LSCB resources which has allowed other work to 

be progressed.   

91

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 1

6
 

For some years there has been a significant level of cooperation across the two Boards in relation 

to training. The Boards work to the same validation process and deliver a number of joint training 

courses across the County.  In February 2016, the two LSCBs worked together to deliver a highly 

successful joint Neglect Conference. This reflected the importance of Neglect in both 

areas.  Working together on this conference proved productive (an evaluation of the conference 

can be found in the Training section of this report) and it is anticipated that further joint conferences 

will be held in the future.  

The Boards currently have two countywide joint sub-groups, one that focuses on CSE and the other 

on e-safety. Both of these sub-groups have worked well on a countywide basis and have produced 

some positive results. In an attempt to further the joint working, this year has seen the development 

of more formal ties between the Quality and Effectiveness Groups (QEG). It has been agreed that 

two joint QEG’s will be held each year. The first joint QEG meeting held in November 2015 was to 

plan out the work that could and would be done together and what work needed to remain specific 

to each Local Authority area.  Future Section 11 audits will be jointly delivered, simplifying the 

process for partner agencies and reducing the resources required from them. However, 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough have very different demographics and not all the key agencies 

cover both areas.  For this reason there will always remain differences in some priorities that will 

need to be reflected in the audit plans.  

In addition to the above joint working, the Business Manager’s from each Board meet on a monthly 

basis to ensure that work is consistent across the county. 

 

BUDGET 2013 - 14 

The budget for the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board is made up of contributions from 

partner agencies. 

 

Peterborough City 
Council, 

£39,992.00
Peterborough City 
Council (amount 

direct to SERCO for 
2 BSOs), 

£36,919.00

Cambridgeshire & 
Peterborough 

Clinical 
Commissioning 

Group, £11,953.00
Cambridgeshire & 

Peterborough 
Clinical 

Commissioning 
Group (on behalf 
of NHS England), 

£11,953.00

Cambridgeshire & 
Peterborough 

Foundation Trust, 
£11,953.00

Peterborough & 
Stamford Hospital 
NHS Foundation 
Trust, £11,953.00

Cambridgeshire 
Constabulary, 

£37,773.00

National Probation 
Service, £9,664.00

CAFCASS, £550.00

2015/16 PARTNER CONTRIBUTIONS

92

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 1

7
 

 

PETERBOROUGH SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD SUB-GROUP 

STRUCTURE  

Reconfiguration of the Safeguarding Board’s Business Unit and Sub-Groups 

Safeguarding Children Boards have been a statutory requirement for a number of years and the 

Peterborough Board has robust, embedded processes in place to monitor and challenge agencies 

around their safeguarding practice. A well-established quality assurance function is in place that 

has demonstrable impact on practice and a comprehensive multi-agency training programme that 

is well evaluated and routinely accessed by partner agencies. 

The Adult Safeguarding Board has been a statutory requirement since 1st April 2015 and it is 

considered good practice that Peterborough already had an Adult’s Board in place before it became 

a statutory requirement. However, the work of the Board needs to ensure that it delivers on its 

statutory requirements and hold agencies in Peterborough to account for their adult safeguarding 

responsibilities. This includes the establishment of a multi-agency training programme, policies and 

procedures and the implementation of a quality assurance programme. 

The two Boards are chaired by the same Independent Chair (Dr Russell Wate) and this has 

provided a level of shared understanding across them both. A number of the statutory functions of 

the two Boards are similar and, to ensure consistency of practice and policies and efficient service 

delivery, a decision was made in summer 2015 that some of the work of the Boards should be 

combined or mirrored across the two Boards.  

A decision was made that two of the Board’s sub-groups (Training & Development and Quality and 

Effectiveness) should be combined so that the work of the groups could be looked at across 

children’s and adults and provide a holistic view of practice. As a result of this shift, training on 

Domestic abuse, drugs and alcohol and FGM are now delivered to practitioners across both the 

children’s and adults workforce. Delegates who attended the training sessions commented on the 

importance of attending training that provided a cradle to grave perspective. A city-wide dataset 

has also been developed (which will come into effect in autumn 2016). The dataset is based on 

public data and will be used to proactively highlight areas of the City that have safeguarding issues, 

be they adults or children’s. 

Serious Case 
Reviews

18%

Independent Chair
29%

Child Death 
Overview Panel 

Chair
2%

Salaries
45%

Training
3%

Office costs
3%

2015/16 BUDGET EXPENDITURE

93

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 1

8
 

To support the joint working, the posts which support the Boards were restructured to form a 

combined Adult and Children’s Safeguarding Board Business Unit.  

To enable it to fulfil its responsibilities effectively, the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board 
has the following sub-groups:- 

 Case Review  

 Strategic Learning and Development  

 Quality & Effectiveness  

 Education Child Protection Information Network (CPIN) 

 E-Safety (joint with Cambridgeshire LSCB) 

 Child Sexual Exploitation and Missing (joint with Cambridgeshire LSCB) 

 Health Executive Safeguarding Board (joint with Cambridgeshire LSCB) 

 Child Death Overview Panel (joint with Cambridgeshire LSCB) 

Each sub-group has its own terms of reference and reporting expectations. They are chaired by an 

agency representative and supported by the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board Business 

Unit. To ensure that the sub-groups are effective and progressing actions, an Executive Committee, 

which is a sub-group of the chairs, is held bi-monthly. This meeting is chaired by the Independent 

Chair of the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board and the work of the sub-groups is 

challenged and scrutinised. 

 

 

CHILD DEATH OVERVIEW PANEL (CDOP) 

The process 

The primary function of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Child Death Overview Panel 

(CDOP) is to review all child deaths in the area.  It does this through two interrelated multi-agency 

processes; a paper based review of all deaths of children under the age of 18 years by the CDOP 

Quality & Effectiveness

Training

Case Review 

Sub Committee

Serious Case

Review Panel

Child Death Overview Panel 
( Joint with Cambs LSCB)

Child Sexual Exploitation
and Missing

(Joint with Cambs LSCB)

E-Safety 
(Joint with Cambs LSCB)

Health Executive 
Safeguarding Board 

(Joint with Cambs LSCB)

Health Safeguarding Group 
(Joint with Cambs LSCB)

94

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 1

9
 

and a rapid response service, led jointly by health and police personnel, which looks in greater 

detail at the deaths of all children who die unexpectedly.  

This is a statutory process, the requirements of which are set out in chapter 5 of ‘Working Together 

to Safeguard Children 2015’. The CDOP is chaired by the Independent Chair of the LSCB. The 

CDOP annual report can be found on the LSCB website. There are two versions of the annual 

report, one for professionals and one for general publication. This second version summarises 

some information in order to prevent individual children from being identified. 

The information in this summary relates only to Peterborough children. 

Numbers of child deaths reported and reviewed 

During the period of this report, 19 children’s deaths were reported in Peterborough, which is six 

deaths more than the previous year. Of those children who died, 62% were less than a year old, 

the majority of whom never left hospital. 

Modifiable Factors & Safe Sleeping 

It is the purpose of the Child Death Overview Panel to identify any ‘modifiable’ factors for each 

death, that is, any factor which, with hindsight, might have prevented that death and might prevent 

future deaths.  

There were two cases in Peterborough where a modifiable factor was identified. In both cases the 

deaths were linked to unsafe sleeping arrangements combined with the excessive use of alcohol 

in the parents. 

The CDOP’s Safer Sleeping Campaign was launched in April 2014 with a programme of workshops 

across Peterborough and the County. It has been a success in terms of promoting awareness and 

the safeguarding messages to practitioners working with families about safer sleeping, combined 

with highlighting other impacting factors on infant death such as parental alcohol behaviours. The 

safer sleeping campaign was re-launched for 2015 and a further two workshops were held for early 

help workers, early years, locality teams and children’s centres.  

THE CASE REVIEW GROUP 

The overall purpose of the group is to consider cases and determine whether a Serious Case 

Review should be undertaken and ensure that key learning is effectively disseminated. 

The Case Review Sub-Group is held bimonthly. However, during the period of this report, only 

three meetings were held due to the number of additional Case Reviews Panels being held in order 

to progress work against the individual Case Reviews.  

Serious Case Reviews are undertaken where: 

a) abuse or neglect of a child is known or suspected; and 

b) either –  

(i)   the child has died; or  

(ii)  the child has been seriously harmed and there is cause for concern to the way in  

      which the authority, their Board partners or relevant persons have worked together to  

      safeguard the child. 

In line with Working Together (2015), all reviews of cases meeting the SCR criteria should result in 

a report which is published and readily accessible on the LSCB’s website for a minimum of 12 

months. Thereafter, the report should be made available on request. This is important to support 

national sharing of lessons learnt and good practice in writing and publishing SCRs. SCR reports 

95

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 2

0
 

should be written in such a way that publication will not be likely to harm the welfare of any children 

or vulnerable adults involved in the case. 

Summary of Published Serious Case Reviews in 2015/16 

Within the time period covered by this report, the following Serious Case Review (SCR) was 

completed and published: Child J 6  

 

At the conclusion of each SCR the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board produces a 

PowerPoint presentation and practitioner leaflet detailing the lessons learnt from the SCR and the 

implications for practice.  These are disseminated to all agencies for use within their own training 

and development programmes and Team Meetings. The Peterborough Safeguarding Children 

Board has received positive feedback from a number of agencies about the impact of this approach 

and the fact that the lessons learnt are presented in such a way that practitioners can identify how 

it effects their practice. These resources are also shared with Cambridgeshire LSCB to cascade 

through their agencies. 

QUALITY AND EFFECTIVENESS GROUP 

The aim of the Quality and Effectiveness Group (QEG) is to monitor the individual and collective 

effectiveness of the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board members as they carry out their 

duties to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in Peterborough.  The group also advises 

and supports the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board in achieving the highest standards in 

safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in Peterborough by evaluation and continuous 

improvement.  Five meetings of the group were held in the timeframe covered by this report.   

The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board has developed and implemented an annual 

themed audit programme which includes both single and multi-agency audits. All multi-agency 

audits are linked to the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board Business Priorities. 

                                                                 
6 The Overview report is available to download from the PSCB website 

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/children-board/serious-case-reviews/  

Child J involved the abuse and neglect of a 5 month old child by his father. The child’s 

parents were both known to a number of universal and specialist services throughout 

their lives. They were “not below the radar of services”. 

The mother had 2 previous children removed due to her capacity to care for them and 

was also known to have a learning disability and a significant hearing impairment. The 

father had been the victim of physical abuse as a child and had some special needs, 

suffered from ADHD, depression and suicidal thoughts. He left home at 16 and spent time 

sleeping rough and in hostels and had a number of minor convictions for burglary and 

drunken disorder. 

Child J was born in 2013 and removed at birth and placed into foster care. Father put 

himself forward as a suitable carer for J and a number of assessments were undertaken. 

The court placed Child J with his father on a full-time basis which was supported by a 

package of visits and interventions. 

Within a month of Child J residing with his father — J had sustained a number of non-

accidental injuries and was removed from his father’s care and returned to his original 

foster carers. 

Father was subsequently charged with neglect and received a community sentence. 

96

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/
http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/children-board/serious-case-reviews/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 2

1
 

During the 12 months covered by this report, the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board has 

undertaken the following multi- agency audits: 

Multi-Agency Audit of Neglect cases  

This audit arose from a recommendation in a Serious Case Review that identified issues relating 

to neglect and partner agency participation. In addition, neglect is also a business priority for the 

Board in 2015-16 and the number of open cases which are categorised under neglect have 

continued to rise. 

The audit focused on cases categorised under the heading of neglect at the level of children in 

need of protection (Section 17 of the Children Act) as a result of the hypothesis that the threshold 

for services was being inconsistently applied and some of the cases that were open as child in 

need cases may have been better dealt with through the early help route. 

The audit report detailed a number of findings, including: 

The audit found that all of the cases that were reviewed were correctly categorised under neglect 
and that appropriate threshold for intervention had been applied. It was also noted that in every 
case there was evidence of one or more of the following issues; 

 Substance misuse 

 Domestic Abuse 

 Adult mental health  

The voice of the child, including very young children had been captured in all cases and this was 
considered to be a significant improvement from previous audit findings. 

Recommendations from the audit included:  

1. When membership of the child in need Group is being decided the specific section of 
health should be identified (e.g., school nurse, health visiting, hospital) 

2. Where agencies have not completed actions that are attributed to them they should 
be challenged and held to account by Group members. This challenge must be 
recorded in the minutes. 

Work by the PSCB, which has continued into 2016-17, included the development of a Multi-agency 
Neglect Strategy and the findings of this audit were included within the development of this 
Strategy. 

Multi-Agency Audit of the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 

This audit was commenced to assure the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board (PSCB) and 
the Governance Board for the MASH that the Peterborough Hub of the MASH was robust in its 
functioning and all agencies were fulfilling their safeguarding responsibilities at the ‘front door’, i.e. 
upon receipt of concerns for children.   

The intended outcome of this audit is to identify answers to the following questions: 

1. Are the referrals that are received into the MASH appropriate and do they provide sufficient 
information to allow for a decision to be made? 

2. Is all of the appropriate information gathered within the MASH to allow an informed decision 
to be made? 

3. Are the MASH team making the correct decisions based on the information gained? 

The following findings were included within the report: 

97

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 2

2
 

1. 38% of the referrals were considered to contain all of the information required to make a 
decision. 

2. In 64% of the sample cases, an informed decision was considered to have been made 
based on agency checks having been completed. 

3. 74% of the cases were considered to have had an appropriate decision made concerning 
the progress of that referral.   

The recommendations within the report included: 

1. Consider how the link with Health might be developed to facilitate information sharing and 
increase the input from that agency into decision making.   

2. The audit has shown a need for referring agencies to more clearly identify the level of need 
and improve the analysis of risk provided by them within referrals.  Training or similar 
activity should be formulated to support this. 

Contacts received by the Peterborough MASH Hub categorised under Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE) 

In addition to these audits, three exercises, each covering a period of 4 months were completed 

which considered the detail of those concerns relating to CSE, including: 

 Age 

 Gender 

 Referring agency 

 Type of concern  

 Outcome of referral. 

The detail of these exercises are shared with partners via the Quality & Effectiveness Group.  Some 

trends through 2015-16 were: 

 For the period of May-Aug 2015, 42% of referrals were received from the Police.  This 

increased to 62% for the period Sept-Dec 2015 and continued to be a similar proportion in 

early 2016. 

 In all time periods, male subjects were under-represented.  Making up between 19% and 

23% of the total number    

 The age group for whom the greatest number of referrals were received through each of 

the periods was 14 years. 

 The number of referrals being received which concerned an incident or risk related to 

internet safety or online grooming was between 19% and 34%: again representing a 

significant proportion of the total concerns. 

Audit of the use and quality of completion of the Joint CSE Risk Management Tool 

Following the launch of the Joint CSE Risk Management Tool in August 2015, an audit exercise 

was planned for February 2016 to determine whether the tool was being used widely and 

appropriately.  Unfortunately, too few had been completed within the time frame to allow for a 

representative exercise to have been completed.  This activity has been carried forward and will be 

reported in the next annual report. 

Single Agency Quality Assurance Activity  

The Quality and Effectiveness Group also requires the sharing of learning from single agency audits 

to allow the PSCB to be better informed of frontline practice and enable scrutiny and challenge as 

appropriate.  During the year, the QEG group scrutinised the following single agency quality 

assurance activity: 

98

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 2

3
 

 Section 47 enquiries and strategy discussion (Children’s Social Care) 

 Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) (Children’s Social Care) 

 Voice of the child (Children’s Social Care) 

 Compliance (Peterborough City Hospital) 

 Compliance: Children Missing Education (Education) 

 Supervision (Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Foundation Trust (CPFT) 

 Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabularies (Cambridgeshire Constabulary). 

Multi-Agency Dataset 

An important development within the year has been the formulation of a multi-agency dataset 

provided by Public Health.  A meeting took place with Public Health representatives in December 

2015 to identify and agree what data could be used to form a dataset. It was agreed to provide 

drilled down information for self-harm, admissions, suicides, re-admissions, diabetes, childhood 

obesity, STIs, drug and alcohol and under 13 and under 16 pregnancies.  This will be underpinned 

by quarterly reports provided by individual agencies and together these will provide the 

performance management framework for the Board. The first data set is due to be collated in 

September 2016.   In the meantime, the current framework of quarterly reporting will continue.   

The dataset as provided by Public Health will be shared across the county with Cambridgeshire to 

support the joint working between the two Boards.  In respect of Peterborough data, the information 

will be drilled down by ward area to facilitate a proactive response to issues in specific areas and 

to direct agencies to focus on the hotspots.  

Section 11  

Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 places duties on a range of organisations and individuals to 

ensure their functions and any services that they contract out to others, are discharged having 

regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. 

All statutory partner agencies were requested to complete a Section 11 self-assessment audit 

during 2015.  The audit tool contained 46 statements across 7 standards: 

1. Senior management commitment to the importance of safeguarding and promoting 
children’s welfare. 

2. A clear statement of the agency’s responsibility towards children is available to all staff  

3. A clear line of accountability within the organisation for work on safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of children. 

4. Service development takes account of the need to safeguard and promote welfare and is 
informed by the views of children and families.  

5. Staff training on safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children for all staff working 
with or in contact with children & families. 

6. Recruitment, vetting procedures and allegations against staff. 

7. Information sharing. 

Agencies were asked to rate themselves against each statement with Not Met, Partly Met or Fully 

Met. Where agencies graded themselves as Partly Met or Fully Met, they were asked to provide 

evidence to support this. Where agencies graded themselves as Not Met or Partly Met, they were 

asked to provide details of actions being put into place for the agency to fully meet the standard. 

These audits were quality assured by the Safeguarding Board Business Unit and challenge was 

made to agencies to provide evidence to show how they had met the criteria.   

In March 2016, the Peterborough the Safeguarding Children Board hosted a Section 11 Challenge 

event. The purpose of this event was for agencies to have sight of each other’s Section 11 reports 

99

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 2

4
 

and to provide challenge as to how they had/had not met the criteria.  This event was well attended 

by agencies and all agreed this was a positive and worthwhile exercise. 

It was identified that most agencies had some inconsistences with embedding online safety into 

professional practice. The majority of agencies have an online safety policy in place.  However, it 

was felt that they would benefit from some further guidance from the Peterborough Safeguarding 

Children Board.  The Communications and E-Safety Officer for the Peterborough Safeguarding 

Children Board will be undertaking work with agencies to provide some support around this.  

A monitoring document has been introduced for each agency which details the sections of the audit 

that were RAG rated ‘red’ and ‘amber’.  The purpose of this is to monitor progress on a quarterly 

basis where the lead officer for each agency will need to provide an update on what has been 

undertaken to meet this standard.   

TRAINING SUB-GROUP 

In summer 2015, the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board Strategic Learning and 

Development and Safeguarding Adult Board Learning and Development Group amalgamated with 

the aim of forming an holistic view of practice across the children’s and adult’s workforce and the 

delivery of consistent messages to those who work in safeguarding.  Its name was changed to 

Training Sub-Group. As a result of this shift, training on Domestic Abuse, Drugs and Alcohol and 

Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) are now delivered to practitioners across both the children’s and 

adult’s workforce.  This approach has proved very successful to date. 

The Strategic Learning and Development Group has continued to ensure that the Peterborough 

Safeguarding Children Board Training Strategy has been effectively implemented.  The aim of the 

strategy is for all workers in Peterborough in contact with children/young people and/or their parents 

and carers to receive appropriate and relevant training in safeguarding children. 

The group was also responsible for agreeing effective quality assurance processes in order to 

ensure that the safeguarding children training provided by all member agencies meets agreed 

standards. It made changes in the light of any identified gaps in training or resulting from national 

and local findings of serious case reviews/case reviews, research, new or revised legislation and 

guidance.  

The work undertaken by the Training Group during 2015/16 included: 

 Oversight of the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board Multi-agency Workforce 
Development Programme of which 921 professionals from across the city attended. 

 Updates to the CSE Resource Pack and FGM Resource Pack.  The aim of these resources 
is to aid agencies in delivering single agency briefings to ensure basic awareness raising 
is delivered in as many agencies as possible. 

 Organising and delivering a conference on Neglect, jointly with Cambridgeshire LSCB 
colleagues. 

 Organising and delivering two conferences for the adult’s workforce.  The subjects of these 
were: Self-neglect and Messages from Safeguarding Adult Reviews. 

 Considering the impact of training delivered by the Peterborough Safeguarding Children 
Board: details can also be found later in this report. 

 Validation of single agency safeguarding training. 

The work of the group continues to be informed by the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board 

business priorities and in response to learning arising from serious case reviews and other national 

and local concerns.   

 

100

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 2

5
 

JOINT CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH CHILD SEXUAL 

EXPLOITATION  GROUP  

 

Ensuring that children and young people are fully protected from CSE has, once again, remained 

a business priority for the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board and activity and awareness 

raising has continued throughout this period. 

During the period of this report, the Joint CSE and Missing Strategic Group completed the following: 

 April 2015: the referral pathway for child sexual exploitation was streamlined with all child 

protection concerns and the CSE specific checklist was added to the Joint LSCBs Referral 

Form.  This was considered to be a positive step following feedback from agencies who 

considered that a single pathway was both simpler and safer.   

 August 2015: the Joint CSE Risk Management Tool was launched for all agencies across 

the county with guidance on the intended function of the tool. 

 Communication strategy was designed with a view to being able to pull all of the strands of 

awareness raising and communication under CSE and Missing together into one place.  

Work under the strategy continues and is a continuing agenda item for discussion at each 

meeting of the group.   

 Leaflets for business on their duties to safeguard children and young people from sexual 

exploitation were created and translated into 7 additional languages. 

 An updated CSE Strategy which reconfigured the membership of the Strategic Group was 

approved by both Peterborough and Cambridgeshire Boards. 

 Immediately following the sign off of the updated strategy, the Joint CSE and Missing Action 

Plan was updated. 

 Guidance on the pathway for submitting intelligence information to the specialist Police 
CSE Team was created and promoted with all agencies.  

 And finally, a trial of MASE (Missing and Sexual Exploitation) meetings began in December 
2015 for a term lasting six months.  These meetings were to feed directly into the Strategic 
Group and it would be that group that evaluated the effectiveness of the meeting and its 
format. 

More information can be found under the Board’s priority “Children are fully protected from Child 

Sexual Exploitation” on page 51.  

 

 

101

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 2

6
 

 

E-SAFETY GROUP   

This is a group shared with the Cambridgeshire Local Safeguarding Children Board and this area 

continues to be a focus for the Board.  The group has a work plan which is structured under five 

priorities. 

1. To support agencies in the safer use of Information Communication Technology. 

2. Develop procedures for dealing with E-safety incidents which also identify trends. 

3. Promote the awareness and understanding of E-safety issues. 

4. Develop standards by which agencies can self-audit. 

5. To support children and young people’s participation in developing information for parents, 
carers and others. 

The group changed its frequency of meetings from bi-monthly to quarterly but maintained 

reasonably good attendance. It aims to respond to ever-changing trends in the use of technologies. 

Over the last year, the group has learnt more about the work of the Internet Watch Foundation 

which is based within Cambridgeshire and updated its Organisation’s E-Safety Self-audit tool and 

Guidance for Professionals, Parents/Carers and Children/Young People on the LSCB websites. 

A new ‘Sexting’ page on the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board website and leaflet was 

produced by the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board to raise awareness of the dangers to 

children/young people. 

The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board also participated in the Safer Internet Day on 9 

February 2016 by circulating lesson plans and resources for Primary and Secondary Schools from 

the UK Safer Internet Centre via the Education Safeguarding Lead.  Guidance relating to ‘Personal 

and Professional Boundaries in relation to your personal internet use and social networking online’, 

Internet Safety, Safe Use of Skype and Safe Use of Emails leaflets were circulated to Board 

partners and professionals and shared via social media.  

 

Future developments of the group 

During 2016/17, the E-safety group will update its Strategy and Action plan to include new 

objectives and areas of focus, undertake a training needs analysis in order to develop an  

E-safety resource pack for agencies and participate in an awareness raising campaign with 

partners. 

 

102

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 2

7
 

HEALTH EXECUTIVE BOARD AND HEALTH SAFEGUARDING GROUP 

The aim of the Health Executive Board is to strengthen and provide direction for the health 

community as well as agree the work plan for the Health Safeguarding Group.  This group was 

established in 2013 and, throughout 2015/16, provided two-way communication between the 

Safeguarding Children and Adults Boards in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough: sharing the key 

messages from the Boards to health partners and providing updates on relevant activity.  

In addition, the group focused on the following: 

 Child Protection Information System  

 Domestic Violence Review of Providers 

 Complex Case Management Process 

 Learning from the Verita Report into Dr Miles Bradbury at Cambridge University Hospitals 

 Safeguarding within Primary Care 

 Monitoring of the Health Safeguarding Group work plan. 

The Health Safeguarding Group (HSG) continues to provide a forum for nurses and doctors to 

discuss such issues as CQC inspections and CSE as well as challenging and complex individual 

issues. The benefits of these meetings for peer support has been noted by the group.   

Meetings of the Health Safety Group in 2015/16 were used to focus on specific areas of the work 

plan, as well as encouraging the sharing and good practice and discussion concerning specific 

issues.  Areas covered by the group in the last year included: 

 Strengthening the reporting from the Health Economy to the LSCB around Safeguarding 
activity 

 Strengthening the relationship between Primary Care and Community Providers 

 How to support professionals in hearing the voice of the child 

 How to promote professional curiosity and be aware of disguised compliance. 

The work plan for 2016/17 has been agreed and will focus on the following areas: 

 Neglect 

 Transition 

 CQC Action Plan.  

It is believed to be good practice that these groups continue to operate as they provide the 

Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board with a clear communication pathway with the many 

sectors of Health.  This pathway ensures that information is received by the Board regarding 

safeguarding matters within the health sector, as well as reassuring the Board that messages and 

information are passed down to practitioner level.  

CHILD PROTECTION INFORMATION NETWORK (CPIN)  

The sub-group has continued to meet each half term, offering an opportunity for Designated 

Safeguarding Leads from educational establishments to share good practice and access reliable 

information relating to national and local safeguarding activity. There is regular attendance from 

primary and secondary colleagues, from early years and from further education. Although not as 

effective as hearing information ‘first hand’, non-attending schools receive regular electronic 

communication. 

103

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 2

8
 

2015 saw two further revisions of Keeping Children Safe in Education. Changes to this DfE 

guidance, along with the updated Working Together and What to do if you are worried a child being 

abused regularly featured in discussions to ensure compliance with statutory duties. 

Frequent attendance by a member of the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board has been 

extremely useful in terms of sharing information and building relationships. There were also 

presentations made by members of the Children’s Social Care Team, which attendees found 

particularly beneficial both for ‘putting a face to the name’ and having an opportunity to raise 

questions and have frank discussions. The sessions have also seen continued, very welcome, 

support from Safer Schools Police. 

To coincide with a Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board initiative, the focus of the session in 

September was cultural diversity. Schools were given the opportunity to discuss concerns and 

share good practice and resources in support of this ever challenging area. 

Neglect has remained a hot topic of discussion. Several schools and settings were disappointed to 

miss the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board conference, but information from this excellent 

day was shared as widely as possible. 

A number of schools participated in the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board Domestic 

Abuse survey, which highlighted the extent of the problem locally. The group was therefore, most 

appreciative of the presentation by Bryonie Swift from Specialist Abuse Services Peterborough 

(SASP) who shared the experiences of some of the children affected by domestic abuse and 

discussed how schools could further support these children in their care. 

During the year, it became apparent that some schools were not entirely clear about the process 

for addressing allegations against staff. The LADO agreed to facilitate one of the sessions in order 

to clarify expectations and it was repeated for governors. Governor briefings, to mirror information 

shared at CPINs, are now held twice per year. 

Challenges for the next year include dealing with further changes from the DfE and the anticipated 

increase in Early Help Assessments. Continued support from the Peterborough Safeguarding 

Children Board will be welcomed. 

TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 

In addition to the work undertaken by the Sub-Groups as outlined above, there has been specific 

activity undertaken by Task and Finish Groups as standalone pieces of work for the Board. 

Thresholds Task and Finish Group 

It was recognised that the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board Threshold Document 

needed to be revised to ensure that it accurately reflected changes to the early help/prevention 

agenda and practice in Peterborough. 

A multi-agency task and finish group was established to look at rewriting a draft document and 

ensuring it was fit for purpose. The outcomes of this group fall outside of the timescale of this report 

and will be included in the 2016/17 report. 

BUSINESS PRIORITIES 2015/16 

Partner agencies were in agreement that the business priorities from 2014/15 remained relevant 

and, as they were based upon the views of agencies and children and young people, it was decided 

that they remain the same for 2015/16. 

104

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 2

9
 

The priorities for the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board in 2015/16 were: 

 Early help and preventative measures are effective. 

 Children at risk of significant harm are effectively identified and protected. 

 Everyone makes a significant and meaningful contribution to safeguarding children. 

 Workforce has the right skills/knowledge and capacity to safeguard children. 

 Understand the needs of all sectors of our community. 

 Children are fully protected from the effects of domestic abuse (domestic violence) and 
neglect. 

 Children are fully protected from child sexual exploitation. 

It is the aim of the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board that these priorities will primarily be 

achieved and monitored by undertaking the following: 

 Monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of safeguarding activities by partner agencies 

individually and collectively and advising and supporting them to make improvements. 

 Undertaking reviews of serious cases and disseminating identified learning to partner 

agencies. 

 Collecting and analysing information about all child deaths across Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough to increase the learning opportunity. 

 Developing and updating policies and procedures to ensure consistency and transparency 

between partner agencies. 

 Communicating the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children amongst 

professionals, parents and carers and children and young people, raising awareness of 

how this can best be done and encouraging it to happen. 

 Publishing an Annual Report on the effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements for 

services for children in Peterborough. 

EARLY HELP AND PREVENTATIVE MEASURES ARE EFFECTIVE 

Some families need help – this may be help in relation to housing, how to parent, behaviour/ anger 

management, how to budget and attendance at school. By helping these families it is hoped that 

the situation will improve and the family/ children will not need to have intervention by children’s 

social care. 

Early Help Services 

The focus on Early Help in Peterborough is about ensuring that children and families receive the 

support they need at the right time. We aim to provide help for children and families when problems 

start to emerge or when there is a strong likelihood that problems will emerge in the future. Early 

help services also play a key role in supporting the stepping down of families from specialist support 

services.   

There has been significant investment in early help services by all partners, supported by a shared 

commitment to prevent difficulties escalating and resulting in the need for specialist services. In the 

last year, Peterborough has: 

 Committed to driving phase 2 of the national Troubled Families agenda (known as 

Connecting Families in Peterborough) through early help.  

105

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 3

0
 

 Supported the transformation and re-design of the 0-19 emotional health and well-being 

pathway, as led by the Joint Commissioning Unit and Emotional Health and Wellbeing 

Board under an iTHRIVE model. 

 Working with health partners, we are implementing a new pathway for ASD/ADHD referrals 

that emphasises a holistic support plan for the family. 

The approach in Peterborough has been to enable and empower local partners to develop the 

confidence to support the holistic assessment of needs through the early help assessment and take 

on lead professional responsibilities. This model means that children and families are supported by 

key professionals who they know well (teachers, health visitors and so on) rather than being 

referred on to a separate service.  This approach is supported by the Early Help Team, which offers 

support, training, coaching and mentoring to the workforce.  

The greatest number of Early Help Assessments are completed by schools. However, it is 

encouraging that there has recently been a significant increase in the number of Early Help 

Assessments completed by Health Visitors.  

 

We are currently exploring the use of a further simplified CAF/Early Help Assessment for GP’s 

across Peterborough and Cambridgeshire which we hope will assist access to the benefits that this 

approach can bring to children and families who have sought support from their local doctor.  

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

Early Yrs Pri Scl Sec Scl Health L. A. 3rd
Sector

Adult
Serv

Misc De-esc

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
EH

A
's

Who Completed 

WHO COMPLETED EHA'S 
(Annual Total 2015/16)

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160
EARLY HELP ASSESMENT INITIATED 2012-15

2012 2013 2014 2015

106

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 3

1
 

All Early Help Assessments, once finalised on the Liquid Logic system, come through the Early 

Help Gateway at which point every assessment is read by a member of the Early Help Team and 

checked primarily for any safeguarding concerns and also for quality assurance. This is the point 

at which a dialogue will automatically commence between the Early Help Team and the Lead 

Professional and the point at which suggestions for taking the case forward are made.  

Some families have a level of need that means that they are likely to require support over and 

above that available to practitioners in universal and targeted services. To address this issue, we 

have established a number of panels including:  

Multi-Agency Support Group (MASG) Panels - There are three locality-based MASG panels 

operating across the city in South Locality, Central & East Locality and North West & Rural Locality. 

Each panel meets every two weeks and consists of a multi-agency group of professionals that use 

their skills, knowledge and experience to consider multi-agency interventions that will best meet 

the assessed needs of a child/family. Cases heard at the MASG panels are kept open to the panel 

for a minimum period of 12 weeks. 

Early Support is a national program established to improve the way that services for children with 

disabilities work with families and together. The service is a pre-school age service for families with 

a child who has significant disabilities. Professional referrals are received through an Early Help 

assessment to ensure a robust assessment of the child and family’s needs.  

Behaviour Panels - There are two Behaviour Panels; one for Primary aged children, and one for 

Secondary. Each panel meets every two weeks. They have been set up specifically to support 

children and young people at risk of permanent exclusion; children/young people who have 

received fixed term exclusions in school; and children and young people whose behaviour in school 

is not improving even though support mechanisms have been put in place.  

Ofsted Findings 2015 

The Early Help Services in Peterborough were inspected during 2015 as part of the Ofsted 

inspection of services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and care 

leavers and review of the effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children Board. Inspection date: 

13 April 2015 – 8 May 2015. Report published: 18 September 20157 

 ‘Early help services are well established and offer a range of evidence-based programmes for 

families. In early help, robust service planning arrangements, strong management oversight and a 

clear focus on outcomes, allied to effective monitoring and evaluation systems, mean that 

resources are used to best effect to support children and their families’ (page 29). 

‘The local authority has commissioned a wide range of early help services which are effective in 

reducing the need for statutory intervention. Early help to families is well-coordinated and partners 

have worked well together to improve the quality and effectiveness of services’ (page 12). 

CHILDREN AT RISK OF SIGNIFICANT HARM ARE EFFECTIVELY 

IDENTIFIED AND PROTECTED 

Significant harm within this priority means children who are the victims of child abuse. This could 

be emotional abuse, physical abuse, neglect or sexual abuse (including child sexual exploitation).  

Actions undertaken against this priority have been as follows: 

                                                                 
7 

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local_authority_reports/peterborough/053_

Single%20inspection%20of%20LA%20children%27s%20services%20and%20review%20of%20the%20LSCB

%20as%20pdf.pdf  

107

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local_authority_reports/peterborough/053_Single%20inspection%20of%20LA%20children%27s%20services%20and%20review%20of%20the%20LSCB%20as%20pdf.pdf
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local_authority_reports/peterborough/053_Single%20inspection%20of%20LA%20children%27s%20services%20and%20review%20of%20the%20LSCB%20as%20pdf.pdf
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local_authority_reports/peterborough/053_Single%20inspection%20of%20LA%20children%27s%20services%20and%20review%20of%20the%20LSCB%20as%20pdf.pdf


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 3

2
 

Links with the Strategic MAPP Board (SMB) continue via the Independent Chair who is a member 

of the SMB and a local procedure has been developed.  The aim is to ensure that safeguarding is 

fully integrated into managing offenders who pose a risk to children. 

Attendance at Child Protection Conferences and parental feedback is presented by the Team 

Manager for the Conference and Review Service to the Board for scrutiny on a quarterly basis.   

Specific child protection issues have also been the focus of awareness raising activity in the last 

year: training has been targeted at General Practitioners, Early Years practitioners, schools and 

other health professionals on the subject of female genital mutilation.  Wider awareness raising 

activity has also continued on the subject of child sexual exploitation. 

CHILD PROTECTION PLANS  

All children at risk of significant harm or abuse will be the subject of a Child Protection Plan. A child 

protection plan is a working tool that should enable the family and professionals to understand what 

is expected of them and what they can expect of others. The aims of the plan are:  

 To keep the child safe  

 To promote their welfare  

 To support their wider family to care for them, if it can be done safely. 

The table below and charts shows the number of Peterborough children on a Child Protection Plan. 

 Mar 15 Jun 15 Sep 15 Dec 15 Mar 16 

Child Protection 252 244 279 245 265 

 

The majority of children and young people who are subject of Child Protection plans in 

Peterborough are registered under the category of Neglect. The Peterborough Safeguarding 

Children Board has recognised this and accordingly, Neglect will remain as a business priority for 

the Board in 2016/17 and further work around the issues of neglect will take place.  

 

 

164

13 4

62

9

161

6 9

67

1

178

23 15

61

2

159

20 18

48

0

184

8 15

58

0
0

50

100

150

200

Neglect Physical Sexual Emotional Combination

CATEGORY OF ABUSE OR NEGLECT WHICH 
TRIGGERED A CHILD PROTECTION PLAN

Mar-15 Jun-15 Sep-15 Dec-15 Mar-16

108

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 3

3
 

The number of children becoming the subject of a child protection plan per 10,000 of the 

local population (aged under 18): 

 

There were 425 children who became subject to a Child Protection Plan during 2015/16. This 

equates to a rate per 10,000 of 91.2 against the target rate of 53.4. 

 

The number who became subject to a CP plan for second or subsequent time: 

 

Of the 425 children who became subject to a Child Protection Plan during 2015/16, 70 (16.5%) of 

them had previously had a Child Protection Plan in Peterborough. 

 

 

 

 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

A
p

r-
1

4

M
ay

-1
4

Ju
n

-1
4

Ju
l-

1
4

A
u

g-
1

4

Se
p

-1
4

O
ct

-1
4

N
o

v-
1

4

D
ec

-1
4

Ja
n

-1
5

Fe
b

-1
5

M
ar

-1
5

A
p

r-
1

5

M
ay

-1
5

Ju
n

-1
5

Ju
l-

1
5

A
u

g-
1

5

Se
p

-1
5

O
ct

-1
5

N
o

v-
1

5

D
ec

-1
5

Ja
n

-1
6

Fe
b

-1
6

M
ar

-1
6

NUMBER OF CHILDREN BECOMING SUBJECT TO A  
CHILD PROTECTION PLAN

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

A
p

r-
1

4

M
ay

-1
4

Ju
n

-1
4

Ju
l-

1
4

A
u

g-
1

4

Se
p

-1
4

O
ct

-1
4

N
o

v-
1

4

D
ec

-1
4

Ja
n

-1
5

Fe
b

-1
5

M
ar

-1
5

A
p

r-
1

5

M
ay

-1
5

Ju
n

-1
5

Ju
l-

1
5

A
u

g-
1

5

Se
p

-1
5

O
ct

-1
5

N
o

v-
1

5

D
ec

-1
5

Ja
n

-1
6

Fe
b

-1
6

M
ar

-1
6

M
ar

k 
va

lu
e

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

% per Month of re-registration  

RE-REGISTRATION PERCENTAGE 

109

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 3

4
 

The number of discontinuations of a Child Protection (CP) Plan per 10,000 of the local 

population under 18 

 

There were 382 children who ceased to be subject to a Child Protection Plan during 2015/16. This 

equates to a rate per 10,000 of 82.0 against the target rate of 44.2. 

 

Of the 382 children who ceased to be subject to a Child Protection Plan during 2015/16, 7 (1.8%) 

of them had been subject to a child protection plan for more than two years. This is 1.8% against a 

target rate of 2.5%. 

LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN 

The looked after children population in Peterborough has remained steady over the last year.  From 

March 2015 to March 2016 the number of children and young people in care increased by six, from 

353 to 359.  The biggest age band within this population is the 10-15 year olds, which represents 

over 40% of the total number of looked after children.  

0

10

20

30

40

50

A
p

r-
1

4

M
ay

-1
4

Ju
n

-1
4

Ju
l-

1
4

A
u

g-
1

4

Se
p

-1
4

O
ct

-1
4

N
o

v-
1

4

D
e

c-
1

4

Ja
n

-1
5

Fe
b

-1
5

M
ar

-1
5

A
p

r-
1

5

M
ay

-1
5

Ju
n

-1
5

Ju
l-

1
5

A
u

g-
1

5

Se
p

-1
5

O
ct

-1
5

N
o

v-
1

5

D
e

c-
1

5

Ja
n

-1
6

Fe
b

-1
6

M
ar

-1
6

N
U

M
B

E
R

MONTH

NUMBER OF DISCONTINUATIONS OF A 
CHILD PROTECTION PLAN

0

10

20

30

40

50

A
p

r-
1

4

M
ay

-1
4

Ju
n

-1
4

Ju
l-

1
4

A
u

g-
1

4

Se
p

-1
4

O
ct

-1
4

N
o

v-
1

4

D
ec

-1
4

Ja
n

-1
5

Fe
b

-1
5

M
ar

-1
5

A
p

r-
1

5

M
ay

-1
5

Ju
n

-1
5

Ju
l-

1
5

A
u

g-
1

5

Se
p

-1
5

O
ct

-1
5

N
o

v-
1

5

D
ec

-1
5

Ja
n

-1
6

Fe
b

-1
6

M
ar

-1
6

N
U

M
B

ER
 O

F 
P

LA
N

S

MONTH

CHILD PROTECTION PLAN LASTING 2 YEARS OR MORE

110

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 3

5
 

 

During the last year between April 2015 and March 2016, the following arrangements, amongst 

others, have continued to ensure the identification and protection of children at risk of significant 

harm: 

1. The Peterborough Access to Support Panel (PASP) has continued to oversee the decisions for 

children to come into care, which are made at Assistant Director level or above. This Panel 

also reviews all care packages regularly, especially for those children placed out of area or in 

independent placements.  

2. The Joint Access to Support Panel (JASP), chaired by the Director for Children’s Services has 

continued to determine and review the needs and placements of children with additional 

needs.   

3. Decisions to place children at a distance from the local authority are based on thorough 

assessments of need and require senior manager approval. They are only made in the most 

complex cases involving children who need significant additional support. The local authority 

applies rigorous quality assurance in the procurement and monitoring of independent sector 

placements. 

4. Prior to considering a potential placement, the Access to Resources team secures local 

information from the host authority, requires a copy of the home's Local Area Assessment, 

liaises with the Head of the Virtual School to determine education provision and ensures that 

where appropriate, parents' views of the provision are taken into account.  

5. Complaints are taken seriously and are investigated quickly and sensitively. Themes from 

complaints are reviewed at quarterly service improvement meetings chaired by the Assistant 

Director, to enable learning and inform any need for changes in practice or guidance.  

6. Children and young people benefit from a high quality advocacy service commissioned through 

a voluntary organisation. They are actively supported to participate in child protection 

conferences and looked after children reviews, either in person or through an advocate, so that 

their voices are heard and can be acted upon.  

7. Independent visiting services are provided by a voluntary organisation. Currently, 19 looked 

after children have access to an independent visitor (IV). There are no children waiting to be 

matched with an IV. 

Developments in 2015-16 

1. Arrangements are now in place to ensure that should any child placed outside the City go 

missing from care, they have independent return interviews, which are commissioned through 

the National Youth Advocacy Service (NYAS).   

2. The Designated Nurse for Looked after Children commenced post in January 2016, and the 

Designated Doctor for Looked after Children on the 1st March.   

3. Performance in relation to initial health assessments has improved significantly over the course 

of 2015/16 and it is usually the case that 80-90% of initial health assessments are completed 

310

320

330

340

350

360

370

380

390
A

p
r-

1
4

M
ay

-1
4

Ju
n

-1
4

Ju
l-

1
4

A
u

g-
1

4

Se
p

-1
4

O
ct

-1
4

N
o

v-
1

4

D
ec

-1
4

Ja
n

-1
5

Fe
b

-1
5

M
ar

-1
5

A
p

r-
1

5

M
ay

-1
5

Ju
n

-1
5

Ju
l-

1
5

A
u

g-
1

5

Se
p

-1
5

O
ct

-1
5

N
o

v-
1

5

D
ec

-1
5

Ja
n

-1
6

Fe
b

-1
6

M
ar

-1
6

LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN  

111

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 3

6
 

within the 20 day timescale. Those completed late are often related to children who have moved 

far from the area.  

4. The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire has been re-instated and, in order to address the 

earlier feedback from carers and children in care, summary information from these is reported 

into the Children in Care Board, chaired by the Assistant Director. This information will, in turn, 

inform commissioning decisions in respect of emotional and mental health.  

5. All health assessments received back in the Local Authority are quality checked and returned 

for further information where necessary.  The Designated Professionals are developing a 

quality checklist tool to assist in this process which is planned to be implemented from May 

2016.   

6. The right of children to be consulted about the decisions that affect them is taken very seriously 

by social workers and Independent Reviewing Officers. In the last year, the vast majority 

(98.6%) of looked after children aged four or over contributed to their reviews, either in person 

or through an advocate or trusted adult. Recently, a small number of young people have chaired 

their own reviews, enabling them to make a meaningful contribution to the planning process.   

7. The Children in Care and Leaving Care Service seek to identify and put in place a range of 

support mechanisms to create a helpful network for young people, particularly as they are 

nearing the end of their time in care.  Links have recently been made with the local mosque 

who are providing ‘community champions’ for unaccompanied asylum seeking children from 

the Muslim faith. 

Developments for 2016-17 

It is recognised by the Local Authority that there remains areas for improvement in certain areas 

and the following are plans for development in the coming year: 

1. Promotion of the Children in Care Council to ensure greater consultation with children looker 

after and much wider involvement of care leavers in the development of services for them.  

2. Although looked after children attend good schools, their achievements are not consistently 

strong. Additional resources will be identified to support the work of the virtual school and to 

enable better links to develop between it and other teams within the Local Authority, including 

the NEET team.  

LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN AND THE PETERBOROUGH SAFEGUARDING 

CHILDREN BOARD 

The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board have retained a focus on Looked After Children in 

the last year by creating and maintaining links to the Corporate Parenting Panel and Independent 

Review Service, and Looked After Children placed out of the Local Authority.  A reporting cycle is 

in place and the necessary information included within the dataset to ensure the Peterborough 

Safeguarding Children Board remains informed of the quality of care and services for this group of 

children.  The Chair and Business Manager also present annual updates to the Corporate Parenting 

Panel to ensure the flow of information between the Board and this group. 

THE USE OF RESTRAINT IN SECURE SETTINGS 

Clare Lodge is a 16 bed all female, all welfare unit based in Peterborough. Since 

1st October 2015, there have been 15 admissions and 13 discharges. These 

young people were all from different local authorities. One was a readmission. 

Three of the discharges were to tier 4 mental health beds, one was to a secure 

training centre and the other young people transferred to open children’s homes.  

 
The unit has recently asked for a variation on its licence to increase capacity to 17 young people.    

112

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 3

7
 

 

 

 

 
Of those discharged, the average length of stay was 159 days. 

Links with the local Children’s Safeguarding Board have been strengthened. Quarterly meetings 

now take place with the Head of Service, Children’s and Adults Safeguarding Boards visiting the 

unit to discuss issues in relation to safeguarding.  Part of the Children’s Safeguarding Board role is 

to challenge how the secure unit have addressed issues raised within their Regulation 44 visits. 

 

 

Apr May June Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2011 - 2012 18 29 15 30 7 13 8 6 11 22 11 3

2012 - 2013 17 8 13 13 6 11 24 34 12 21 60 36

2013 - 2014 38 70 38 40 20 24 31 28 7 6 2 3

2014 - 2015 9 8 7 3 8 22 26 17 22 15 8 9

2015 - 2016 14 18 13 17 18 36 19 20 20 14 33 26

2016 - 2017

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

PHYSICAL INTERVENTIONS

113

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 3

8
 

A meeting is being arranged to identify a protocol for independent viewing of the CCTV and physical 

interventions (where necessary and if appropriate). The Safeguarding Lead has overview of the 

incidents. 

 
There were no missing young people in the period Oct 2015 – March 2016. 
 
Examples of Regulation 44 issues and resulting actions 

 

Month Issues  Actions  

October Feedback / consultation with young 
people prior to leaving and where 
possible after. 

Feedback forms have been 
developed to gain young people’s 
views. 

November Locality risk assessment. Reviewed.  

December Supervision timetabling Now in diary put on the rota so it is 
given priority. 

February Views expressed by young people. 
 
Recording and First Aid refresher 
training. 
 
Complaints system.  

Heard and responded to. 
 
Booked. 
 
 
Brought up to date. 

 

Consultation with young people 
  
The Registered manager and the Head teacher hold Student Council meetings every term. The 
views of the young people are gathered in this formal way and recorded. The young people are 
consulted informally through a number of other ways including discussion with the Registered 
Manager, Team Managers, care staff, kitchen and maintenance and business support staff. They 
are consulted on a number of areas including food, environment, mobility and clothing. We are 
happy to consult on anything and if it is reasonable we will attempt to undertake the request.  
 
A young person’s consultation log is maintained and these are recorded and followed through 
where necessary. A monthly newsletter goes out to the young people this informs them of any 
relevant information i.e., plans for the future, up and coming events, new staff etc.  

EVERYONE MAKES A SIGNIFICANT AND MEANINGFUL 

CONTRIBUTION TO SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN 

Legislation states that everyone has a role to play in safeguarding children. Part of the role of the 

Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board is to ensure that all agencies (including Police, 

Children’s Social Care, Education, Probation, Youth Offending Service, Health and the Voluntary 

Sector) are properly completing their role in safeguarding. We do this through case reviews, audits, 

training and listening to children, young people, carers and professionals. Where we consider that 

an agency could improve their safeguarding activities the Peterborough Safeguarding Children 

Board holds the agency to account. 

This priority is primarily measured via the indicators within the dataset, which is ongoing 

development.  As detailed in the section in this report concerning Section 11 Audits, returns are 

undertaken by all agencies.  The last Section 11 audit was completed in 2015/16.   

All statutory partner agencies were requested to complete a Section 11 self-assessment audit 

during 2015. 

It was identified that most agencies had some inconsistences with embedding online safety into 

professional practice. The majority of agencies have an online safety policy in place.   However, it 

114

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 3

9
 

was felt that they would benefit from some further guidance from the Peterborough Safeguarding 

Children Board.  The Communications and E-Safety Officer for the Peterborough Safeguarding 

Children Board will be undertaking work with agencies to provide some support around this.  

A monitoring document has been introduced for each agency which details the sections of the audit 

that were RAG rated ‘red’ and ‘amber’.  The purpose of this is to monitor progress on a quarterly 

basis where the lead officer for each agency will need to provide an update on what has been 

undertaken to meet this standard.   

As previously mentioned, attendance at meetings of Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board 

by all of the wide range of agencies is good and all members have made contributions towards the 

campaigns run in the last year.  In addition, those agencies who support the Learning and 

Development Programme by delivering multi-agency training include: 

- Police 

- Children’s Social Care 

- Health 

- The voluntary sector  

WORKFORCE HAS THE RIGHT SKILLS / KNOWLEDGE AND 

CAPACITY TO SAFEGUARD CHILDREN 

‘Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) should use data and, as a minimum monitor and 
evaluate the effectiveness of training, including multi-agency training to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children”. Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015 

Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board Multi-Agency Training 

This report reviews the 12 month multi-agency training programme that ran from April 2015 - March 
2016. It provides an overview of both the quality and impact of Peterborough Safeguarding Children 
Board multi-agency training that was delivered over this period and seeks to address attendance, 
partnership engagement, course feedback and the impact that the training has had on practice. 

Context  

During the period 1 April 2015 - 31 March 2016, the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board 
delivered a total of 25 different safeguarding courses (13 of which form the core programme) with 
34 individual training sessions offered. (This does not include training that has been undertaken by 
the CSE co–coordinator to groups of young people and foster carers, the training undertaken with 
local hotels on CSE or the training undertaken with Mosques and Madrassas on safeguarding.) 
These varied in both subject area and course level but all of them were delivered to a multi-agency 
audience. The subjects discussed during the 12 months included:- 

 Female Genital Mutilation 

 Child sexual Exploitation 

 Neglect 

 Domestic Abuse 

 Honour Based Violence 

 Children displaying sexually harmful behaviour 

 Fabricated and induced illness 

 Safeguarding for Managers 

 Messages from child death overview panel and serious case reviews. 

 

 

115

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 4

0
 

Attendance 

In 2015/16, 965 places were allocated and 921 people attended the training. This equates to a non-
attendance rate of 4%. This is the same non-attendance rate as 2014/15 and remains significantly 
lower than in previous years (pre 2013/14). The Business Unit has continued to follow up reasons 
for non-attendance and the majority were due to illness, bereavement and court attendances.  

The following diagram shows the breakdown of agency attendance at Peterborough Safeguarding 
Children Board Training.  

 

As evidenced in the graph above, nearly 1000 people attended Peterborough Safeguarding 
Children Board training in 2015/16. This is an increase of nearly 100 people since 2014/15. We 
have continued to see a good representation of agencies from across the partnership. 

For the first time colleagues from People and Communities (including Children’s Social Care) have 
attended the majority of training and make up nearly half (48%) of the attendees at training. This is 
a significant success as last year the take up of training by this agency was substantially lower 
(15%).  

Health colleagues from across the health environment accounted for 21% of the attendance figures. 
Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board worked in partnership with Cambridgeshire Local 
Safeguarding Children Board and the Designated Doctor for Safeguarding Children and delivered 
three safeguarding sessions specifically aimed at General Practitioners. 84 General Practitioners 
from Peterborough attended the sessions. 

Colleagues from education accounted for 12% of the attendance figures. This was an increase of 
4% from the previous year. 

The voluntary sector made up 10% of the delegates, this is an increase of 2% from previous year.  

Faith communities accounted for 7% of the attendance figures. The Peterborough Safeguarding 
Children Board has continued to work closely with local faith communities and build on the 
relationships established in 2014/2015.  In October 2015, the Head of Service for the Children’s 
and Adults Safeguarding Board, the Local Area Designated Officer and the Head of Prevention and 
Early Help Services delivered specific safeguarding training to representatives from all of the 
Mosques in Peterborough and several Madrassas. In excess of 25 people attended the session. 
This formed part of the rolling programme of training for Mosques and Madrassas that was 
established by the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board last year.  

The take up of training by Probation and Police staff continues to be low. This can be partly 
explained by both being a countywide service and often it is more convenient for staff to access 
training through the Cambridgeshire Local Safeguarding Children Board.  

Early Years and 
Education

12%

Faith Groups
7%

NHS
21%

People and 
Communities (incl 
Children Services)

48%

Police
1%

Probation
1%

Voluntary
10%

ATTENDANCE AT TRAINING 
APRIL 2015 - MARCH 2016

116

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 4

1
 

 

Impact of training 

In the 12 month period covered by this report the impact of training was measured by way of an 
evaluation form that was distributed to all delegates at the completion of the training. It should be 
noted that from the 921 people who attended training, we received 815 evaluation forms at the 
conclusion of training. This equates to an 88% return rate.  

The following information is based on the information contained within these evaluation forms. 

Perceived knowledge 

The first question focused on whether delegates considered that their knowledge had increased as 
a result of attending the training. The table below evidences that delegates considered that their 
knowledge had increased as a result of attending the training course. It clearly evidences that the 
training had a positive impact on the delegates who attended.  

 

Relevance of training to job role 

The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board recognises that training should be relevant and 
contribute to practitioners working practices. The evaluation form asks a specific question about 
whether the training was relevant to their job role.  The graph below demonstrates that the vast 
majority of practitioners (76%) considered that the training was completely relevant to their job role. 
No delegates felt that the training was not relevant to their job role. Where delegates said the 
training was only partially relevant they did not supply any information as to why it was partly or 
what could have changed to make the training more relevant.  

10%

1%

40%

2%

44%
41%

6%

56%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Before After

COMPARISON OF PERCEIVED KNOWLEDGE 
BEFORE AND AFTER CORUSE COMPLETION ON 

THE SCALE 1 (LOW) - 4 (EXCELLENT)

1 (Low) 2 3 4 (excellent)

117

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 4

2
 

 

 

Application of knowledge on practice 

It is important that the knowledge that people gain from attending Peterborough Safeguarding 
Children Board courses is relevant to their work and something that they can use in their day to 
day practice. The evaluation form requires delegates to estimate how often they will use the 
knowledge that they have gained. The graph below demonstrates how regularly delegates 
considered that they would use the information that they had learnt as a result of attending the 
training.   

 

As can be seen above, the vast majority of delegates (72%) considered that the information that 
they had learnt was important enough to use on a daily or weekly basis. Unfortunately, the 
evaluation form did not ask delegates to expand on the reasons why they would only use the 
knowledge occasionally. Consequently, it is impossible to determine whether they would not use 
the knowledge because it was not helpful or because their job role was such that it did not warrant 
it.  

Impact of training on practice 

Three months after attending training delegates are asked to complete an impact of training form. 
The purpose of the form is to establish how delegates have actually used the training to improve 
their practice. Of the 921 people who attended the training in 2015/16, we received impact forms 
from 553 delegates, this equates to a 60% return rate.  

Completely 
Relevant

76%

Mostly 
Relevant

17%

Partially 
Relevant

7%

RELEVANCE OF TRAINING TO JOB 
ROLE

Daily
58%

Weekly
14%

Monthly
9%

Occasionally
19%

DELEGATES EXPECT TO APPLY LEARNING 
FROM COURSE

118

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 4

3
 

The table below demonstrates what impact the training had on their practice. 

 

As can be seen above, only 2% of the delegates who responded said that the training had no 
impact on their practice. It is encouraging to see that the training that is being delivered is having a 
positive effect on delegates and they are changing their practice as a result of it. 

The following are a selection of some of the comments that delegates made regarding the impact 
of the training:- 

                      

                     

Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board Annual Conference 

This year the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board hosted an annual conference jointly with 
Cambridgeshire Local Safeguarding Children Board. The conference “Neglect – So Much More 
Than a Grubby Child” focussed on neglect and included presentations from both national and local 
speakers.  

The conference was open to agencies from across Cambridgeshire and there was good attendance 
from partners (194 attendees), including representation from Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Local Authorities, Health, Education, Police and the voluntary sector.  

The table below demonstrates a breakdown of attendance at the conference. 

91%

48%

71%

50%

2%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Impact on Work

Increased Knowledge

Better Communication

Increased Confidence

Positive Change in Practice

No Impact

IMPACT OF TRAINING

I have developed  
a new 

safeguarding 
policy for our 
organisation 

 

I made an 

escalation 

about a case 

that had been 

worrying me 

 

I have held  
two briefings  
at work to 
cascade the 
information 

I have changed 

how I record 
information – my 
notes are now  

more detailed 

 

I have sign posted 
other people in my  
work place to the 
policies and 
procedures I learnt 
about 

 

I have set 

   up a 

professional 

network 

 

119

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 4

4
 

 

The aim of the conference was to highlight the impact of neglect and provide an opportunity to learn 
from leaders in the field on identifying, understanding and responding to Neglect. 

Following the conference, delegates were asked to complete an event evaluation form.  Detailed 
below are some of the statistics and feedback that we have received. The evaluation form was 
based on the one used by Cambridgeshire Local Safeguarding Children Board and did not ask the 
same questions as the one used by the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board.  For this 
reason, the evaluation below does not address relevance to job role or increase in knowledge.  

Evaluation of Presentations 

 

A number of delegates found Dr Emilia’s opening presentation ‘More than just a grubby child’ was 
thought provoking and gave excellent examples of good practice. There were many who 
commented on how this opening presentation was engaging and inspiring.  One delegate stated 
that the presentation from Dr Emilia has prompted a review of current practice within their agency.  

There was a large amount of feedback on how powerful the presentations were from Patrick Ayre 
(Four Aspects of Neglect) and Jan Howarth (Neglect today, shaping tomorrow). Many found the 
comments coming directly from children hard hitting and brought home the importance of 
recognising the signs of neglect. 

32
26

46

7

45

3 2

17

1 1 3

11

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

BREAKDOWN OF AGENCY

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Dr Emilia Patrick Ayre Jan Horwath John Gregg Nicola Curley

GUEST SPEAKERS PRESENTATION GRADINGS
5 (Excellent) 4 3 2 1 (Poor)

120

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 4

5
 

John Gregg and Nicola Curley provided a local picture of neglect across Cambridgeshire. A number 
of delegates commented on how useful this session was as it provided clarity on how neglect was 
being addressed locally. 

Evaluation of Workshops 

Delegates found the workshops to be very useful. It was acknowledged that the acoustics in some 
of the workshop (in particular adult mental health) was an issue, this was due to the lay out of the 
venue and was unavoidable. 

One delegate noted that it would be a good idea to share information from all workshops as 
delegates were only able to attend two sessions.  This suggestion was taken forward with the 
content from the conference being cascaded to all attendees. 

Delegates were asked how they will use the materials/information/skills acquired. 

Many delegates informed us that they would like to have the opportunity share the information 
received at the conference with their team and service colleagues. 

Other comments from delegates included:- 

                

                                        

 

They were also asked “What was the most useful part of the conference for you and how 
will this impact on your practice? 

The comments below are an example of how the conference will impact on delegates practice:- 

                

Lots of fantastic 

information & tools 

to use & consider 

around identifying 

& working with 

neglect  

A great 

opportunity to 

network with 

people from other 

organisations 

Will have a better 

focus when 

interacting / 

making requests 

of families so 

they don’t fail 

This will enhance 

my practice for 

looking at child 

and parent 

focused approach 

Will inform and 

enhance my practice 

when making 

assessments of 

children & families  

Understanding the 

importance of getting 

the voice of the 

children in the family 

home 

Really useful for 

me working in the 

voluntary sector in 

a preventative 

service 

Meeting 

professionals & 

understanding 

the wider 

picture 

121

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 4

6
 

                                        

 

Delegates were asked how the Conference could have been improved:- 

                     

 

Overall Conclusion  
 
The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board has delivered another successful training 
programme in 2015/16 which has had a positive impact on delegate’s knowledge and confidence 
in dealing with safeguarding matters. There has been good engagement with the majority of 
partners. In excess of 900 delegates have attended multi-agency training and the number of non-
attending delegates remains low (4%). This is in part due to a stringent non-attendance charge 
which is enforced where appropriate.  

The conference was also a success and had good attendance from a range of agencies across the 
county. The evaluation of the conference evidences that it had a positive impact on delegates’ 
knowledge and understanding of neglect.   

UNDERSTAND THE NEEDS OF ALL SECTORS OF OUR COMMUNITY 

Peterborough is a multi-cultural City with lots of different communities. It is very important that the 

Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board understands the cultural and religious beliefs of all 

sectors of its communities and how they may impact on safeguarding issues. 

In December 2015, the Board appointed a new Lay Member who is a high profile member of the 

eastern European community within Peterborough.  Given the hugely diverse cultural make-up of 

the city, it is hoped that this post will enable the Board to continue to engage with these 

communities.  

The Safeguarding Board Business Unit has engaged with the Youth MP and Youth Council to seek 

their views on projects such as the Domestic Abuse and Healthy Relationships survey (further 

information on this is detailed in the Voice of the Child section of the report). The Youth Council 

had been given the opportunity to contribute to the survey to ensure it was more relevant and 

engaging for children and young people. The Youth Council also supported the distribution of the 

survey amongst the schools that they attend. 

Members of the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board Business Unit visited HMP 

Peterborough to improve links with staff and the Board. Since then, HMP Peterborough has been 

involved in events hosted by the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board. The prison also 

This will enhance 

my practice for 

looking at a child 

and parent 

focused approach 

Understanding the 

different 
behaviours 
associated with the 

four types of 
neglect 

More multi-

agency events 

would be really 

beneficial 

More group 

work in 

workshops to 

allow working 

with other 

professionals. 

service 

Increased joined up 
working, better 
communication & 
information sharing 
between all 
professionals 
involved with the 
child and family 

 

122

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 4

7
 

engaged with the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board training programme and undertook 

some joint working around CSE with the Board. 

In the summer of 2015, the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board undertook a survey with 

service users of the GLADCA Centre in Peterborough.  It is an educational establishment that 

focuses on adult learners who, in particular, are from those hard to reach groups such as new 

arrivals into the UK who are experiencing cultural barriers to learning. The users were asked what 

services they felt they required further information about in relation to accessing these services. 

The survey indicated that service users required further information on the following services:- 

 Housing and Benefits 

 Access to NHS Services such as Doctors and Hospital appointments 

 School Admissions 

 Access to Early Years places 

 Information on Drug and Alcohol Services. 

A workshop session was held at GLADCA with guest speakers who spoke about the areas people 

were concerned about. 

There has been a large amount of work undertaken in engaging with schools. Members of the 

Business Unit attend the Child Protection Information Network to engage with Safeguarding Leads 

and Headteachers from across Peterborough. These events are well attended and are hosted by 

the Local Authority Education Safeguarding Lead once a term.  The Board also had a presence at 

parent/carer events in schools with the aim of highlighting the importance of online safety and to 

distribute information and guidance relating to this.  The Board are hoping to host an online safety 

event for parents/carers at a local telecoms store within the city centre in the next academic year. 

Working with Norfolk and Cambridgeshire LSCB’s – Innovations Project Working with 

Eastern European Families  

Peterborough, Cambridgeshire and Norfolk Local Safeguarding Children Boards recognised that 

they needed to further understand safeguarding issues within their eastern European communities. 

The three areas developed a joint bid and were successful in securing funding from the Department 

for Education (DfE) to undertake an innovation project to improve the effectiveness of safeguarding 

practice with eastern European migrant families. 

Engagement with Service Users 

Engagement with Eastern European service users was carried out using three methods; a printed 

questionnaire (which received 246 responses), one to one discussions and focus groups.   

As a result of these various engagement streams, the following messages materialised:- 

• There is limited awareness about UK law and legislation.  

• There is a mistrust of services allied with a common perception that Social Services will take 
away their children.  

• There is limited awareness about services, what support they can provide and why they are 
involved.  The involvement of services often causes anxiety. 

• There was a lack of willingness to engage with services because they do not believe that this 
will result in positive changes and there is a belief that “family problems need to be resolved 
in the family”. 

• It is important to keep strong and close relationship between family members and to support 
each other. 

• At the age of seven a child would usually start school and, at this age, there is an expected 
level of maturity and being responsible for his or her actions. 

• Depending on age and length of time it is OK for older siblings to look after younger ones. 

123

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 4

8
 

• Parents have strategies to stop a child’s behaviour when it is seen to be unsatisfactory but 
not to encourage positive behaviour. 

• Education is seen as very important. 

Amongst the eastern European community there was limited knowledge about the requirements of 

UK law regarding the safety and well-being of children.  Knowledge was mainly gained through 

word of mouth from fellow nationals.  The majority of those consulted felt that they had limited 

knowledge about services.  Despite this nearly all were registered with a GP and the percentage 

using children’s centres were within the range of the UK national average.  There is a high level of 

anxiety and low levels of trust and confidence within eastern European communities about the 

services that are provided locally.  Migrant families are not receiving all the information that they 

need in order to make informed choices about using services 

Engagement with Service Providers 

Engagement with service providers was carried out using an electronic survey, single agency 

discussion and multi-agency focus groups. There appears to be a lack of confidence amongst some 

members of staff around engaging with eastern European migrant families.  During the consultation 

there were several individuals and groups who identified that the treatment of eastern Europeans 

by some service providers was unacceptable ranging from intolerance through to racist comments 

and behaviours. The range of quality of interpretation and translation services requires greater 

monitoring and quality assurance.    

Analysis of Data 

 Of the Eastern European countries being allocated National Insurance numbers, Lithuania, 

Romania, Poland and Bulgaria have the largest numbers. 

 The number of different nationalities is becoming less varied in each of the three authorities 

with but those that remain are less dominated by only one or two nationalities. 

 There are no real differences between the three authorities’ general pattern of contacts and 

referrals when compared with those for the eastern European community.   

 Social Care contacts across the three authorities are more likely to have a source of the 

schools and health visitors. 

 Referrals to Social Care in Cambridgeshire and Norfolk are more likely to come from 

housing or individual acquaintances.  In Peterborough referrals are more likely to come 

from Local Authority services or health visitors. 

 There are more vulnerable children from Lithuania, Latvia and Poland than from other 

nationalities.  In Peterborough there are a large number from Slovakia as well. 

Training Programme - Frontline Staff 

Based on the findings from the consultations with eastern European communities and the 

consultation with professionals, a bespoke cultural competency training course was designed.  

Including pilot sessions, a total of 189 staff were trained.  Participants were asked to give an overall 

rating of the course and 89% rated the course as either Excellent or Very Good. 

124

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 4

9
 

 

Evaluation Feedback on the impact of the Training to frontline staff 

Conferences for Managers 

In addition to the frontline practitioner training, two events were run aimed at managers and team 

leaders.  They were attended by a total of 120 staff.  Alongside the findings from the project, there 

were presentations of good practice from local voluntary sector providers, video presentations from 

service users and presentations from teams who had attended the training and made positive 

changes to their practice as a direct result of this.   

Practice Guidance 

Practice guidance across all three Local Authorities was reviewed and issued.  All three authorities 

are using the same key competencies within their safeguarding procedures and the project and 

LSCBs have promoted this Guidance. 

Outcomes 

Governance and accountability 

Through the process of this project, Peterborough, Cambridgeshire and Norfolk LSCBs are better 

informed of the issues and the arrangements in place to meet the needs of this potentially 

vulnerable cohort.  LSCB partners have a greater understanding of the need to incorporate cultural 

proficiency into all functions and activity from commissioning through to monitoring and evaluation 

The Boards have greater knowledge and capacity to challenge and hold agencies to account and 

Section 11 self-assessments will be a means to both monitor and evidence cultural appreciation 

and competence within organisations.  Training impact assessment as well as ongoing monitoring 

of access to cultural competence training will also provide evidence of improved cultural 

competence of agencies.  Activity undertaken by LSCB agencies needs to be culturally proficient 

and business plans and annual reports will provide future evidence to reflect and acknowledge this.  

All three participating LSCBs are incorporating cultural competence into all their training courses to 

ensure that this does not appear as a stand-alone subject but acts as a thread throughout all LSCB 

issues.   

Cross boundary working 

Collaboration across the three Local Authority areas has been seen to be beneficial for all parties.  

This project has been a successful opportunity for the three Boards to work together on a specific 

shared issue and close cooperation in the future will mean that the Boards can look for further 

opportunities for collaboration and synergy in the future.  Physical geography has proved a 

complicated issue for the project but this has not prevented the work form taking place.  

Communication across all agencies in the three Boards has also provided complication which has 

0%

50%

100%

Confidence Knowledge Skills

PERCEIVED LEVELS OF 
CONFIDENCE, KNOWLEDGE

AND SKILLS

Not changed Improved Improved significantly

125

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 5

0
 

been exacerbated by the limited time in which the project was required to deliver. Whilst this has 

proved to be a complication, it has not been an impediment to completing the project.  Plans to 

continue the close relationship have been agreed and the three LSCB Business Managers will be 

holding regular meetings to monitor the progress of the legacy of the project and to look for further 

opportunities for collaboration.   

Competent workforce and improved services to families 

The work done within this project has addressed the cultural competence of individuals, teams, 

organisations and the multi-agency practices of the LSCBs. This has addressed institutional 

competence as well as the competence of individuals.  All three participating LSCBs are 

incorporating cultural competence into all their training courses to ensure that this does not appear 

as a stand-alone subject but acts as a thread throughout all LSCB issues.   

The evaluation of the training and the training impact assessment provides evidence of an 

improvement in the knowledge, confidence and skills of the workforce.  A multi-agency audit 

planned for autumn 2016 will provide further evidence from which to assess the impact of the 

project.  

CHILDREN ARE FULLY PROTECTED FROM THE EFFECTS OF 

DOMESTIC ABUSE (DOMESTIC VIOLENCE) AND NEGLECT 

Peterborough has a high number of cases that involve domestic abuse and neglect. It is vital that 

professionals work together to ensure that children are fully protected from the effects. For this 

reason ensuring children are fully protected from the effects of Domestic Abuse is a business 

priority for the board. Peterborough agencies are engaged with working in a multi-agency capacity 

to offer services to those families effected by Domestic Abuse. 

DOMESTIC ABUSE 

Between April 2015 and March 2016, the Children and Young People’s Service at Specialist Abuse 

Services Peterborough (SASP), delivered by Peterborough Women’s Aid (PWA), has continued to 

grow and develop. From June 2015 through to March 2016, PWA was able to secure funding for 

an additional 18 hour post to further resource the service. 

Peterborough City Council funded a part-time post to run from January through to March 2016. 

PWA was able to arrange for a support worker, a domestic abuse champion, to be on secondment 

from Barnardo’s Children Centre. The support worker had already worked closely with the service 

so was able to integrate easily and quickly adapted to the service and office location.   

In addition, from November 2015 the service was able to offer a social work student placement for 

70 days, offering a unique placement experience for this student.  

Over the year, the service gathered and developed additional resources to use in the direct work 

sessions with children and young people. 

Impact   

After last year’s successful promotion of the Children and Young People’s Service, a significant 

number of referrals were received which led to a high demand for the service.  

The increased level of demand for the service resulted in the implementation of a waiting list which 

the service manager regularly reviewed to ensure any child or young person with a high level of 

need is prioritised. The criteria for the service remains as “any young person who has been affected 

by domestic abuse or sexual violence, between the ages of 0 and 19”. 

Having the support worker from Barnardos enabled our Children and Young Person’s Co-ordinator 

to attend regular MASG panels which, once again, enabled further promotion of the service and 

strengthened partnership working across the city. 

126

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 5

1
 

The referral pathway was evaluated and, in working alongside the Early Help Team, the E-CAF 

system has been implemented to ensure children and young people are identified by others and 

the service is not offered in isolation. Team members all received training on the E-CAF system.  

There is now an Information Sharing Agreement with Connecting Families Project – Early Help 

(Peterborough City Council) to ensure data is captured regarding children and families from across 

the city who access our services and outcome data can be provided. 

The service has implemented the use of the “Outcome Star” to monitor outcomes and capture 

progression. The “Outcome Star” is a valuable tool which allows staff to explore areas with children 

and young people such as being safe, feelings, relationships, confidence and self-esteem.  

In addition, feedback forms gather information from parents/carers and the referring agencies.  

Feedback received showed that the majority of parents/carers heard about the service from the 

Police, education settings, social workers and from within our service. 

When asked “Do you think your child has benefitted from the service?”, the following comments 

were received:  

 

 Greatly – couldn’t have managed without Zelda 

 My child has learnt to deal with feelings better 

 Both children have gained in confidence and feelings understood more 

 We couldn’t have got through this without you, you have been a great help and support to 

myself and my kids 

 I would recommend this service so caring and positive. 

PWA believe it has made a real difference to many young people’s lives. This is demonstrated 

through improved school attendance, positive behavioural changes, happier home lives, healthier 

relationships and empowered young people. The work has strengthened the safeguarding risk 

assessment plans made within MARAC meetings, Children Protection Conferences, CIN meetings 

and Team Around the Child plans. 

From December 2014, the service was greatly complimented by the Children and Young People’s 

Sexual Violence Advocate (CHISVA) who joined the team in December 2014, through funding 

received from the Police Crimes Commissioner.  

The specialist expertise of the CHISVA enabled the service to work with highly complex cases of 

children and young people who had been victims of sexual abuse/violence. Due to demand for the 

service across the county, the CHISVA also took on cases in the Fenland area, Sawtry and 

surrounding villages which helped to reduce the caseload of the Cambridgeshire County Council 

CHISVA. This post has now transferred to Rape Crisis however, PWA envisage the continuation 

of strong partnership links. 

Statistics  

Between April 2015 and March 2016, the children and young people’s service received 234 

referrals (our target is 200 per year). 109 referrals were for females and 125 were for males. All of 

the referrals made to the CHISVA service were for females. 

127

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 5

2
 

The following referral routes were recorded: 

 

Throughout the year the service worked with a total of 57 schools from across the city. The team 

worked directly with children in many of the education settings. 

Proposals for the future 

PWA successfully agreed funding for the Children and Young People’s Support Worker from 

Barnardo’s Children Centre to continue for a further year. 

CHILDREN ARE FULLY PROTECTED FROM CHILD SEXUAL 

EXPLOITATION 

The Board has continued its proactive response to CSE throughout 2015-16 with the expansion of 

the CSE, Trafficking and Missing Co-ordinator post to full time, to include work around adult sexual 

exploitation and the transition of children into adulthood who have been affected by CSE.  This took 

effect from 20th April 2015. 

Since April 2015, Peterborough Safeguarding Boards has delivered a significant amount of multi-

agency and single agency training, including four half-day sessions on child sexual exploitation to 

multi-agency professionals, two half-day sessions specifically for foster carers and five bespoke 

sessions for staff and students in education settings. These will have included resource sharing 

sessions with secondary schools across the city to ensure they are as well-equipped as possible 

to pass on important messages to their students about how to keep themselves safe from the harm 

caused by grooming and sexual exploitation. 

As well as the above, the Board delivered eight single agency workshops for various teams and 

agencies such as Social Work teams in the council, the Citizen's Advice Bureau and HMP 

Peterborough.  These workshops were tailored to the audience to ensure relevant materials and 

messages were shared and as many professionals as possible are kept up to date on the issue. 

The Board recognised that boys are under reported as potential victims of CSE nationally and so 

offered specific workshops to raise awareness of the warning signs for boys and young men. These 

were over-subscribed and well received so the Business Unit is planning further workshops to 

continue delivering these messages to ensure boys are recognised as being vulnerable to CSE, as 

well as girls. 

Children's Social 
Care
29%

Adult Service 
within SASP

20%

MASG Panel
4%

School/educational 
setting (incl. School 

Nurse)
26%

Parent Referral
7%

Various other 
referrals

14%

REFERRAL ROUTES

128

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 5

3
 

In terms of community awareness raising, three members of the Business Unit worked with 

colleagues from the Safer Peterborough Partnership in November 2015 to deliver leaflets along the 

Lincoln Road area: an area densely populated with takeaways and off licences.  The aim of this 

work was to ensure local business owners are aware of the warning signs of CSE and the steps 

that they could take to report any activity they felt was of concern.  A leaflet for businesses on the 

topic of CSE was put together prior to this work and translated into eight additional languages, 

electronic copies of which are freely available on the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board 

website alongside leaflets for parents and carers and children and young people, also available in 

multiple languages. 

In addition, posters were designed with the aim of raising awareness amongst parents/carers and 

adults of the warning signs of CSE and what to do if you are concerned.  This design was circulated 

for display on screens in GP surgeries across the county.  Within a similar vein, the links to the 

Parents Against Child Exploitation (PACE) website and e-learning tool have been shared with multi-

agency partners for dissemination and, most notably with schools for display on their own websites. 

The CSE Co-ordinator has been working in partnership with the Operation Pheasant team to 

formulate an awareness raising package for hotels across the city on the signs of both child and 

adult sexual exploitation.  From preliminary visits undertaken in this sector, this offer of support and 

information has been well-received and dates are currently being arranged for delivery.  It is the 

aim that training activity will be followed up with integrity testing or ‘test purchasing’ to try and gain 

an understanding of whether or not the training has been widely disseminated and had an impact 

upon practice.  

The Guidance for Professionals Working with Sexually Active Under 18’s was updated in November 

2015 to include references to CSE and reporting of concerns, and the Sexual Exploitation Co-

ordinator also contributed to the Domestic Violence and Sexual Violence Strategic Needs 

Assessment to ensure reference to CSE was made.  These activities demonstrate a move by all 

agencies to consider CSE within other strands of safeguarding.  

Lastly, the audit activity concerning CSE has this year been limited to three reports into CSE 

contacts into the Peterborough MASH hub covering the periods: Jan –Apr 15, May- Aug 15 and 

Sept –Dec 15.  These exercises were completed to identify trends which are then fed into the 

Quality and Effectiveness Group.  An audit into the use of the Risk Management Tool launched in 

August 2015 was planned for February 2016 but this was delayed for a further three months due 

to a low number of tools having been completed at the time. 

ADDITIONAL GROUPS OF CHILDREN 

CHILDREN MISSING FROM HOME AND CARE 

Around 140,000 children go missing each year8. When a child goes missing, it is a clear sign of 

problems in their life. The reasons children go missing include domestic abuse, neglect, 

exploitation, mental health issues and substance misuse. Once away from home they are 

vulnerable to many risks including child sexual exploitation, gang exploitation, becoming involved 

in crime or becoming a victim of crime.9  Failing to recognise missing as a serious safeguarding 

issue can lead to significant gaps in agencies awareness and the effectiveness of their responses. 

In contrast, early intervention with a missing child can reduce the harm they experience and help 

them change behaviour before it gets embedded: a sexually exploited 15 year old who frequently 

goes missing is likely to need significantly more safeguarding interventions and support than a child 

                                                                 
8 Report of the Missing Persons Taskforce, 2010, the Home Office 

9 Missing Children and Adults, A cross government strategy, 2011, the Home Office; Still Running 3, 2011, The 

Children’s Society 

129

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 5

4
 

who goes missing once. The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board needs to assure itself that 

agencies are working together to identify and help those children and young people who go missing. 

Children's services are alerted to missing incidents in the following ways: 

 for children living in Peterborough who go missing (either from home or from a care 

placement), the contact centre receive a missing alert from the police 

 for Peterborough children in care who are placed outside of the LA boundary, the social 
worker and contact centre are alerted by the care provider. 
 

This has been in operation since November 2014 and was made more robust following the 

appointment of a Missing Case Worker located in MASH Hub since March 2015. In both of these 

cases, the incidents are recorded on Liquid Logic, the children's social care case management 

system. 

In July 2015, the police ended their use of the category “absent” for any child or young person 

under the age of 18. This has led to a slight increase in missing figures during 2015/16.   

The table below shows the number of incidents each month from April 2015 to March 2016. The 

number of incidents have increased (466) compared with 2014/15 when 294 incidents were 

reported, this may in part be due to better reporting of missing, the improvement in recording 

created by streamlining front door processes and placing responsibility back with Children’s Social 

Care and the removal of the absent category. 

Apr
15 

May
15 

Jun
15 

Jul
15 

Aug
15 

Sep
15 

Oct
15 

Nov
15 

Dec
15 

Jan
16 

Feb
16 

Mar
16 

Total  

22 26 41 62 47 48 44 41 36 40 25 34 466 

An individual child or young person can have more than one missing incident over a month, quarter 

or year. The next table shows the number of individuals in each month with missing incidents. The 

total box is the number of individuals across the whole year, who may have incidents in more than 

one month.  

 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar YTD 

2015 
-16 

13 21 27 25 20 36 32 24 19 19 18 32 286 

During 2015/16, 286 children have gone missing on 466 separate occasions. This is a considerable 

increase from 294 incidents involving 228 children in the previous year. This means that there were 

172 more episodes of missing involving 58 more children than the previous financial year.  

There are obviously individuals who have had several missing incidents across several months. 

The next table shows how many incidents the 286 children and young people had during the year. 

 1 incident 2 incidents 3 incidents 4+ incidents Individuals 

2015-16 205 42 1 13 286 

2014-15 100 25 13 17 155 

202 children had one incident in the year, 50 young people had two incidents in the year, 14 had 

three incidents and 20 young people had more than four incidents during the year.  The most 

noticeable change since the previous year is in the number of children who had one or two missing 

episodes. There is no clear analysis as to why this is the case other than the previous reasons 

provided.  

130

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 5

5
 

The next set of tables look at the characteristics of the 286 individuals. We can see that 119 of the 

young people were male (42%) and 167 female (58%). Previous year’s data suggests that missing 

incidents are higher amongst females. Data indicates that this has been the trend for several years.  

 Male Female Individuals 

2015-16 119 167 286 

2014-15 68 87 155 

The age split of the individuals below shows the majority of incidents occurring among those aged 

14 and 17 with the most substantive increase happening in the 14 and 15 year old bracket. 

 0-4 5-9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 

2015-16 5 9 9 6 9 13 54 67 62 43 9 

In terms of ethnicity, it is clear to see that the majority of children going missing are from a white 

British background 205 (72%), 42 are white European (15%), 13 Asian (5%) and one Mixed (1%). 

25 young people missing during the year did not have an ethnicity recorded on the database. There 

has been a substantial increase in the number of White British children going missing from 93 in 

previous year to 205 this current year.  

 White 
British 

White 
Euro 

Mixed Asian Black Unknown Individuals 

2015-16 205 42 1 13 0 25 286 

Involvement with children's social care 

Prior analysis has shown that children with missing incidents are likely to have links with children's 

social care. The following analysis looks at whether the child was known to social care at the time 

of their missing incident, prior to or subsequent to the incident. Where an individual has more than 

one missing incident over the year, the most recent one has been used in the analysis. 

The first table looks at whether the child or young person had an open referral within social care at 

the time of the incident. For those that were not open to social care at the time, analysis shows 

whether they had either a prior or subsequent referral. The data shows that 155 individuals were 

open cases within social care at the time of the missing incident. 32 young people had a prior 

referral to the incident which had since been closed and 59 had a referral opened after the incident. 

40 children did not have any children's social care involvement at the time of their missing episode.  

 2015-16 2015-16 2014-15 2014-15 

Current 155 54% 77 50% 

Prior 32 11% 23 15% 

Subsequent 59 32% 13 8% 

Never 40 14% 42 27% 

Total 286 100% 155 100% 

This year there has been a more robust response to missing episodes as demonstrated by the 

increase in subsequent intervention following a missing episode being reported.  

The 155 cases that were open to Social Care at the time of the missing episode can be broken 

down as follows. 

131

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 5

6
 

 

There are clear links between Child Sexual Exploitation and children who go missing. Barnardo's 

has documented that more than half of the children they worked with in 2010 following sexual 

exploitation had previously been missing from home or care on a regular basis. More than 100,000 

young people under the age of 16 run away from home, their care placement or school each year. 

Within Peterborough there is a clear system in place that monitors those young people who are at 

risk of Child Sexual Exploitation and who go missing. There is a clear hazard system in place that 

flags up the risk and this is reviewed in light of each missing episode through the normal 

safeguarding procedure.  

Following discussion with the police and Cambridgeshire Childrens Services in February 2015, 

each Local Authority has agreed to run monthly Multi-agency Operational Meetings to monitor their 

cohort of missing children, those at risk of Child Sexual Exploitation, those children missing from 

education and those who are vulnerable to gang related activity and radicalisation. Information from 

these meetings will be provided to the Strategic CSE group which meets every 3 months to ensure 

that there is a comprehensive understanding of how we are addressing and reducing identified 

risks.  

HOW IS THE PETERBOROUGH SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD 

ADDRESSING THIS ISSUE? 

The Multi-agency Missing Action Plan developed in 2014-15 continues to be monitored and 

scrutinised by the Board via a six-monthly update. Narrative information is also presented which 

covers themes from Return Interviews undertaken. The last update was presented to the Board in 

November 2015 and covered an update on the post of the Missing Case Worker seconded from 

Barnardos and missing data for the six month period between April and November 2015. 

The Missing Sub-group established last year has continued to meet bi-monthly. This meeting is led 

by the Head of Service within Children’s Social Care who is the lead for Missing. The group pulls 

together information from missing from home, care and education to analyse trends and examine 

any increases or changes. The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board Sexual Exploitation Co-

ordinator is a member of this group and ensures that agencies are held to account around missing 

children and young people, as well as drawing information together concerning the link between 

children going missing from home or care and child sexual exploitation. This information is also 

drawn together at the Missing and Sexual Exploitation (MASE) meetings chaired by 

Cambridgeshire Constabulary. This allows for oversight by the CSE and Missing Strategic group. 

 

 

 

 

 2015-16 2015-16 2014-15 2014-15 

Current CLA 75 48% 26 34% 

Current CP 28 18% 7 9% 

Current CIN 52 34% 44 57% 

Total 155 100% 77 100% 

132

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 5

7
 

PRIVATE FOSTERING 

A private fostering arrangement is one that is made privately (without the involvement of a local 

authority) for the care of a child under the age of 16 years (under 18 if disabled) by someone other 

than a parent or close relative of the child, in their own home, with the intention that it should last 

for 28 days or more.  It should not be confused with fostering placements provided by Independent 

Fostering Agencies run by private companies. 

A private foster carer may be a friend of the family or the child’s friend’s parents. However, a private 

foster carer is sometimes someone who is not previously known to the family, but who is willing to 

foster the child privately.  

Examples of private fostering arrangements are: 

 Children sent from abroad to stay with another family, usually to improve their English or 

for educational opportunities. 

 Asylum seeking and refugee children. 

 Teenagers who, having broken ties with their parents, are staying in short-term 

arrangements with friends or other non-relatives. 

 Children living with host families, arranged by language schools or other organisations. 

 Children living with members of the extended family, e.g. Great aunt. 

The Children Act 1989 requires parents and private foster carers to give the Local Authority 

advance notice of a private fostering arrangement. It also places specific duties on local authorities 

with responsibilities for children’s services. The legislation made what was considered a private 

arrangement into a public matter by giving Local Authorities a role in ensuring that children are 

safeguarded.  

The Board’s role in Private Fostering is to have an overview of the numbers of cases being notified 

and that those cases are being dealt with within the guidance. 

To ensure that the Board is fully aware of Private Fostering arrangements within the city, the Board 

receives regular updates reports from Children’s Social Care as to numbers etc.  In addition, the 

Board has played a role in ensuring that agencies are aware of Private Fostering and the 

implications for practice. 

There were eight private fostering notifications received during the period of this report.  

The low numbers of notified cases could be a concern and therefore, the Peterborough 

Safeguarding Children Board takes the role of ensuring that all partners are aware of what Private 

Fostering is and their responsibility to notify the Local Authority when they become aware of this 

sort of arrangement. 

 

 

133

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 5

8
 

ALLEGATIONS MANAGEMENT 

 

“Working Together To Safeguard Children – a guide to inter agency working to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children 2006” introduced the concept of the Local Authority Designated 
Officer (LADO) who has the responsibility to have oversight of all allegations against a professional 
working with children from beginning to end (subsequently updated by Working Together in 2015).  

Working Together 2015 stipulates that Local Authorities must now have in place a ‘Designated 
Officer’ to handle all allegations against adults who work with children and young people. Although 
this practice must continue, the guidance no longer refers to them as LADOs only ‘Designated 
Officers’ or teams. People undertaking this role must now be qualified Social Workers (apart from 
people currently in post or moving between authorities). 

The role of the LADO remains essentially the same as under previous guidance although much of 
the detail in relation to how to manage allegations has been removed from statutory guidance.   

Through participation at the regional and national LADO meetings, it has become clear that 
nationally there has been some confusion with the new term ‘Designated Officer and therefore, 
most authorities continue to refer to the role as the LADO.  

As most local agencies working with children are familiar and continue to use the term ‘LADO’ it is 
proposed that this term is kept within Peterborough. 

The LADO is responsible for:- 

 Providing information, advice and guidance to employers and voluntary organisations 
regarding allegations management and concerns relating to paid and unpaid workers. 

 Managing and overseeing individual cases from all partner agencies. 

 Ensuring the child’s view is heard and they/other children are safeguarded. 

 Ensuring there is a consistent and thorough process for all adults working with children 
against whom an allegation is made. 

 Monitoring the progress of cases to ensure they are dealt with as quickly as possible. 

 Recommending when full referrals are needed and arranging and chairing complex 
strategy meetings where the allegation requires investigation by police and/or social care.  

The LADO role within Peterborough continues to be undertaken by an experienced Independent 
Chair. 

134

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 5

9
 

 

A total of 187 consultation referrals were received in the period of this report. 

The increase in consultations with the LADO requiring advice and guidance to managers reflects 

informal feedback that the LADO is a valued service which enables professionals to discuss 

workplace concerns and issues and be assured that they are taking the correct steps.  

The unknown category covers consultations made to the LADO where a referrer is expressing 

concerns about a person whom they think might work with children but does not know where they 

work. Such cases cannot be progressed.  

Some of the allegations from secure residential homes relate to complaints about restraints. There 

is a piece of work planned in late May 2016 between the Managers, LADO and Safeguarding Board 

to ensure that there is a clearer robust process in place to ensure timely and correct referral of any 

allegations and robust recording of the process of and outcomes of any internal investigations 

needed. 

A majority of allegations from independent residential care relates to two specific independent 

children homes with a number of allegations being reported during and after Ofsted inspections. 

The LADO maintained close contact with Ofsted throughout their inspections and investigations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

135

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 6

0
 

The chart below shows the Primary Category of Abuse in relation to allegations received in the 

period of this report. 

Of the total referrals received, 42 resulted in Complex Strategy Meetings (CSM) being held, 

representing an increase of five as compared to the 37 in the preceding 12 months.   

 

 

 

59

40

28

36
31

37
42

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Apr  09 -
Mar  10

Apr  10 -
Mar  11

Apr  11 -
Mar  12

Apr  12 -
Mar  13

Apr  13 -
Mar  14

Apr  14 -
Mar  15

Apr  15 -
Mar  16

NUMBER OF ALLEGATIONS WHERE A 
COMPLEX STRATEGY MEETING WAS HELD

136

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 6

1
 

 

Training and Awareness work 

The LADO delivered a number of training and awareness raising sessions in the period of this 

report, including to Early Years providers, Schools, Mosques via the Muslim Council and through 

PCSB training. Evening sessions have been delivered where needed and specific workshops have 

been delivered to two school senior leadership teams on request  

Further training is planned for the Police and private madrassa’s in conjunction with the Community 

Cohesion Manager.   

COMMUNICATION 

PETERBOROUGH SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD WEBSITE 

The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board website was redesigned during October 2014 to 

make the site more engaging and user friendly whilst allowing for instant access to update 

information to reflect changing guidance. 

During the year, from April 2015 to March 2016 there were 16,705 sessions where the website was 

viewed by 13,177 users. The charts below also show that during the year, the website pages were 

viewed 37,723 times which equates to approximately two pages per browsing session. 

What has been identified is the increasing number of visitors to the site using mobile or tablet 

devices. Almost one fifth of visitors used a mobile or tablet device to access the website. This is a 

1% increase from the previous year (April 2014 – March 2015) but in terms of figures this is an 

increase of 1595 users. In light of this, the website was designed to be responsive so that the 

website can be viewed with a minimum of resizing and scrolling. 

137

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 6

2
 

 

The Ofsted inspection of services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after 

and care leavers and the review of the effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children Board 

undertaken between April and May 2015 commented that the “The LSCB website has been 

redesigned and is accessible, informative and engaging.” 

A survey was undertaken to find the views of visitors and found over 80% felt that the site was easy 

to navigate and engaging. 

LSCB NEWSLETTERS 

The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board newsletter is produced quarterly and is sent out 

via email to partners, added to the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board website and shared 

via social media. It is primarily aimed at everyone who works with children, young people and 

families and includes updates on local and national policies and developments in Safeguarding 

Children, learning from Serious Case Reviews and upcoming multi-agency training events. 

Contributions to the newsletter are received from various partner agencies and some information 

is sourced from national publications and organisations (Gov.uk, NSPCC, Ofsted etc). 

AWARENESS CAMPAIGNS 

During the year, the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board took part in a number of 

awareness campaigns including the Lullaby Trust’s Safer Sleep Week, National CSE Awareness 

Day, Anti-Bullying and Safer Internet Day. 

Other awareness campaigns held during the year included teaming up with Safer Peterborough 

Partnership during a week of action on Operation Can-do where members of the Business Unit 

138

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 6

3
 

accompanied Police Officers during their licensing inspections to speak with shop-keepers to 

highlight the issue of Child Sexual Exploitation.  

Sergeant Rowe commented “Previously, licensing was very much the sole preserve of the Police 

and Council and focused on particular matters. These joint visits conducted during the OpCando 

‘Week of Action’ with the Children’s Safeguarding Board really emphasised how the safeguarding 

of children affect all different aspects of work and organisations and are a great example of how 

different partners and agencies are now working together to increase safety for children in our 

communities.” 

SOCIAL MEDIA 

Peterborough LSCB has been tweeting as @peterboroughscb since September 2012. During the 

year, our Twitter account gained 214 new followers and posted 78 times.  

A number of our followers include other LSCBs, schools and teachers, partner organisations and 

members, professionals and voluntary sector agencies.  

During the year, our tweets were seen 35,337 times by users on Twitter. This was from both our 

followers and followers who retweeted. This is considered as positive because it is helping to raise 

the profile of the Board’s work and may encourage others to ‘follow’. 

Below is a selection of some of the tweets posted by or mentioning the Peterborough Safeguarding 

Children Board.  

 

 

139

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 6

4
 

The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board’s presence on Facebook is currently in its infancy 

with an account being created during October 2015. By the end of March 2016, we had gained 121 

followers. 

Our largest reach from a Facebook post was the posting of the Lullaby Trust’s Safer Sleep video 

as part of their Safer Sleep Week campaign. This single post had reached 16,236 people which 

was almost half of our Twitter reach for the whole reporting period and was shared, liked and 

commented more than 50 times. This was excellent news for the Lullaby Trust as this has helped 

to raise awareness of safer sleeping for babies which can significantly lower the chances of babies 

dying from Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS).  

 

To further develop the website and social media engagement and helping to raise the profile of the 

Board with members of the public, it has been suggested to include regular blog posts from the 

Independent Chair, Head of Service for the Safeguarding Board, Lay Members, Board and sub-

group representatives and frontline professionals around the work they are undertaking to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of children across Peterborough. This will be developed in 

2016-2017. 

THE VOICE OF CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND FAMILIES 

The Board and their partners are very aware of the need to engage with families, children and 

young people in a meaningful way to understand and act on their views and concerns. 

In November 2015, a survey was issued to all schools across the city to ascertain the views and 

experiences of children and young people with regards to Domestic Abuse and Healthy 

Relationships.  Two surveys were developed, one aimed at 8-11 year olds and the other aimed at 

12-16 year olds. We received over 2,000 responses from 22 different schools. This represented 15 

Primary and five Secondary schools, with two schools remaining anonymous. The results of the 

survey were analysed and the report was published in March 2016 after being presented to Board 

members.  From the results of the survey an action plan has been created and features the 

following themes:- 

Help young people support each other   

A common theme particularly in the year’s 8–11 survey was that young people rely on their friends 

to discuss and seek advice on relationships.  Child friendly posters and leaflets are to be created 

140

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 6

5
 

to give advice to children and young people as to how they are able to support their friends with 

these issues.  Posters featuring quick response bar codes (QE codes) with a link to guidance 

websites will be issued to schools, colleges, youth clubs etc.    

Supporting Professional Practice 

It was clear from both surveys that children have a close bond with staff in the school setting.  It is 

imperative that the Board continues to build strong links with schools through the Child 

Protection Information Network and to increase the attendance of the Managing Disclosure training 

course that is delivered as part of the core Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board training 

package. 

Increase promotion of Sexting Awareness  

The Communications Lead for the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board has created and 

issued leaflets around sexting.  There is further work to be undertaken by the Board to refresh these 

documents for circulation.  

Promotion of Safeguarding Children Board and increase engagement with Young People 

Further work needs to be undertaken so that children and young people are aware of the 

Safeguarding Board.  This will be by raising the profile of the Peterborough Safeguarding Children 

Board website and utilising social media platforms.  This will enable children and young people to 

access messages given out by the Board. 

Quality of PSHE 

Throughout the survey it was clear that children and young people are receiving PSHE lessons.  

However, survey raised a question over the quality of the information being cascaded during these 

lessons.  The Board aims to link with the Local Authority Education Safeguarding Lead to ascertain 

ways on how this can be monitored.  As there is no statutory obligation to deliver PSHE within a 

school, it may be difficult getting schools to engage in this.  The Section 175 return that is completed 

by the schools at the end of the academic year may be amended to include a section on how to 

evidence the impact of PSHE. 

The Board is about to commence work in two Primary Schools in Peterborough to pilot the Digital 

Safety Ambassador scheme.  The project will include a series of sessions which will educate the 

pupils on how to stay safe online.  At the conclusion of the project, the Digital Safety Ambassadors 

will then be utilised throughout the schools to help inform and educate others on how to stay safe 

online. The two pilot schools have a completely different cohort of children which will be useful to 

compare the progress of the children.  Should the pilot be successful, a request will be put to Board 

members to agree for this to be rolled out across the city. 

The Children’s Film Awards 

Peterborough City Council runs an annual children’s film awards.  For the first time this year, the 

Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board sponsored a new category – The Bullying Awareness 

Award.  This category gave both pupils and teachers the opportunity to create and star in a movie 

about the effects of bullying and what action can be taken to overcome or recover from this.  This 

activity provided children from primary schools across the city the chance to create a film that would 

help to educate professionals and others about the effects of bullying and to showcase their skills 

in drama and filmmaking. 

All of the entries in this category will be used by the Board in future training around bullying.  This 

innovative project has provided the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board with a 

comprehensive view of children’s perceptions around both online and face to face bullying and 

some high quality training materials. 

141

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 6

6
 

Other activity that has involved input from children and young people in the city has included: 

 Feedback from working groups of young people on the leaflets produced by the Board. 

 Developing a relationship with the Youth MP to ensure key safeguarding messages are 

communicated to young people via Safeguarding Ambassadors in the secondary schools, 

and back to the Board via the same route.  The aim of this relationship was to ensure that 

the voice of young people reaches the highest level of the workforce. 

SCRUTINY AND CHALLENGE 

Section 14 of the Children Act 2004 sets out the objectives of LSCBs, which are:  

a) to coordinate what is done by each person or body represented on the Board for the 

purposes of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in the area; and  

b) to ensure the effectiveness of what is done by each such person or body for those 

purposes.  

SCRUTINY 

In the period covered by this report, the Board has provided scrutiny to agencies through reports 

and discussion at the bi-monthly Board meetings on the following issues: 

Children’s Social Care 

 LADO Annual Report 

 Parental Consultation around the Child Protection Conference Process Feedback Report 

 Private Fostering Action Plan 

 Analysis of Multi-agency Attendance at Child Protection Conferences Report 

 Peterborough Pathway for Children and Young People with Behavioural, Emotional and 
Mental Health Needs Report 

 Information Sharing Consent in Social Care Report 

 Missing and Absent Update and Action Plan 

 Peterborough Children in the Justice System Trends Report 

 Private Fostering Report 

 Ofsted Action Plan 

 Children in Need Update 

 Looked After Children – Placements Out of Area 

 Recruitment and Retention 

Health  

 Looked After Children Health Team Update and Audit of Health Needs Report 

 Peterborough Family Nurse Partnership Report 

 Lampard Review and Health Engagement Update 

 Safeguarding Children Quarterly Reports 

 Audit of Initial Health Assessments Completed April 2014 – March 2015 

 Compliance Review of NHS Safeguarding Framework 

142

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 6

7
 

 Guidance for professionals working with Sexually Active Young People under the age 
of 18 

 Initial Health Assessments for Children In Care Update 

 Report on GP Out of Hours Service 

Police  

 Police Problem Profile – Child Abuse in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 

 Protective Barriers Approach Report 

 The Future of Missing and Absent Categories Report 

 Recorded Sex Offences Against Children 

 Use of Technology in the Context of Safeguarding Presentation 

 HMIC Inspection Feedback / Missing and Absent – Overview of Inspections 

 HMIC Police Effectiveness (Vulnerability) Report 

 Juveniles remanded in Police Custody 

 Domestic Abuse 

Education  

 Overview on Peterborough Pupil Referral Service Presentation 

 Elective Home Education – background, monitoring and QA procedures Report 

 Bullying in Schools Report 

 Children Missing Education 

Multi-agency  

 How Safe are our Children – Overview and Key Messages (NSPCC) 

 Annual Report 2014-15 (CDOP) 

 Child Sexual Exploitation Joint Strategy 2015-19 (Peterborough Safeguarding Children 
Board) 

 Safeguarding and Community Inclusion Innovations Project Report (Norfolk SCB) 

 Whistleblowing Helpline Overview Report (NSPCC) 

 Learning from Serious Case Reviews (Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board) 

In addition to the above, the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board Independent Chair and 

Board Manager offer scrutiny of policies and practice via the Boards linked to the Peterborough 

Safeguarding Children Board, for example ensuring Ofsted recommendations are addressed. 

CHALLENGE  

As well as evaluating and analysing operational issue within Board meetings, the Peterborough 

Safeguarding Children Board has also been active in the last year, challenging practice through 

individual case escalation.  This can result in the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board 

facilitating meetings around practice or speaking directly to senior managers about the issue.  The 

Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board does not keep a record of every concern or challenge 

that it has participated in but it does keep a ‘Challenge Log’ of examples of concerns or challenges 

it has been involved in.   

The log evidences that, within the 12 months of this report, the Peterborough Safeguarding Children 

Board (through either the Chair or Board Manager) has facilitated inter-agency meetings involving 

143

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 6

8
 

challenges to practice.  In addition there has also been cases where the Peterborough 

Safeguarding Children Board Manager has raised escalation concerns directly with the appropriate 

Board Member regarding frontline practice. 

Below is an extract from the log for illustration purposes: 

Date Source Challenge Outcome and Impact 

Priority 1 - Ensure that that early help and preventative measures are effective  

October 

2015 

PSCB Meeting Challenge was made to a number of 

partner agencies during the review of the 

2015 Section 11 audits. The Peterborough 

Safeguarding Children Board Officer 

reviewed each submission and requested 

the author of the document provide 

clarification over a number of sections.  

Clarification provided by 

authors of audit on 

statements that required 

further detail on how the 

agency met the criteria. 

November 
2015 

PSCB Meeting Head of Peterborough Safeguarding 

Boards challenged around the status of the 

Missing & Absent action plan. A number of 

the dates for completion had passed but 

actions still appeared to be outstanding. 

Peterborough City Council’s Head of First 

Response confirmed that the progress 

fields had been updated but other parts of 

the plan had not. 

Head of First Response 

agreed to update the 

action plan and resubmit 

to the Board. 

March 2016 Quality & 
Effectiveness 
Sub Group 
Meeting 

Group advised that not everyone had 
submitted completed audit planners, as 
requested previously.  

PSCB Business Manager 
escalated to the March 
2016 Board to hold 
agencies to account.   All 
planners were received 
by beginning of May. 

Priority 2 - Ensure that children at risk of significant harm are being effectively identified and protected 

April 2015 Children’s 

Social Care 

(CSC) 

CSC raised a concern about Health Visitor 

practice.  

Resulted in a facilitated 

meeting between CSC 

and Health which was 

Chaired by the PSCB 

Business Manager. 

Agreed way forward.  

March 2016 Phone call 

from 

Education 

Reporting of case escalation information 

had not been passed to the MASH 

regarding a child and the child had not 

been seen to commence assessment.  

Team Manager for MASH 

led on ensuring the 

correct information was 

shared and action was 

taken to progress the 

case. 

Priority 3 - Ensure that everyone is making a significant and meaningful contribution to safeguarding 
children  

April 2015 PSCB Meeting Transport raised concerns about issues 

involving drivers and handover procedures 

at contact. 

PSCB facilitated a 

meeting between the 

Contact Centre and 

Transport. Agreed a way 

forward and monitoring 

process. 

144

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 6

9
 

Priority 7 - Ensure that all children are fully protected from the effects of CSE 

November 

2015 

Email Challenge to Police following strategy 

meeting regarding activity surrounding a 

missing young person.   

Clarity provided to other 

partners involved 

concerning activity 

undertaken by Police 

which had not been 

disclosed during the 

strategy meeting.   

January 

2016 

Emails Challenge to Children’s Social Care and 

other partners regarding a young person 

(anonymised) and strategy meeting not 

being held. 

Strategy meeting held, 

chaired by other Local 

Authority. 

February 
2016 

Email Challenge to Children’s Social Care, 

NSPCC and City College Peterborough 

regarding response to request for 

information under Joint Targeted Area 

Inspections guidance for benchmarking 

exercise. 

Information received. 

 

The challenge log demonstrates that the Board has a good oversight of practice across agencies. 

  

145

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 7

0
 

CONCLUSION 

 

The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board continues to be a strong partnership which has 

worked well together to coordinate activity and hold partner agencies to account for their activity to 

provide the best outcomes for children and young people in the city.  The good work the Board has 

completed in the last year can be seen in the strengthening of its engagement with young people.  

The aim has been to gain knowledge of their wishes, feelings and opinions, ensuring that the work 

of the Board is relevant and informed by the voices of local children.  This work has been greatly 

supported by better relationships with the schools, secondary and primary, via the Education 

Safeguarding Lead who has contributed directly to ensuring the profile of the Board has been raised 

amongst children and young people in the city. 

 

The Board offered a very good, proactive response to child sexual 

exploitation, including some excellent community engagement work.  

This work is ongoing and it is the aim that community engagement work 

with a range of safeguarding activities and awareness raising more 

generally, will benefit from the lessons learnt and good practice 

demonstrated in the Board’s response to CSE. 

 

Work with the faith communities in Peterborough has been a particular 

area of good practice in the last year.  The Muslim Council of 

Peterborough, via the Communities and Cohesion Manager for 

Peterborough City Council and again the Education Safeguarding Lead 

have supported some excellent awareness raising and engagement work.  

 

 

Lastly, there has been some excellent partnership work across the 

county of Cambridgeshire this year through joint work with 

Cambridgeshire Local Safeguarding Board and it is the aim that this 

work will not only continue but develop further to strengthen this 

partnership through 2016/17. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Effective in 

promoting 

awareness of 

child sexual 

exploitation 

(Ofsted) 

Is successful in 

engaging with 

communities and 

faiths within  

the city  

(Ofsted) 

Partner agencies 

are well 

represented on the 

Board and 

attendance is good 

(Ofsted) 

146

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 7

1
 

THE BOARD’S BUSINESS PRIORITIES 2016-17 

AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 

It was agreed by the group to retain the priorities in place in 2015/16 for an additional year.  These 

are: 

 Early help and preventative measures are effective. 

 Children at risk of significant harm are effectively identified and protected. 

 Everyone makes a significant and meaningful contribution to safeguarding children. 

 Workforce has the right skills/knowledge and capacity to safeguard children. 

 Understand the needs of all sectors of our community. 

 Children are fully protected from the effects of domestic abuse (domestic violence) and 
neglect. 

 Children are fully protected from Child Sexual Exploitation. 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS FOR PETERBOROUGH SAFEGUARDING 

CHILDREN BOARD  

 Strengthening the multi-agency dataset to reflect safeguarding activity across the city and to 

provide the Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board with a clear picture of agencies’ 

performance, 

 Development of audit activity across the county, as well as across the children’s and adult’s 

safeguarding workforce. 

 Implementation and evaluation of the new Learning and Engagement Sub-group structure.  

 Continued activity to ensure child sexual exploitation continues to be a priority for safeguarding 

agencies. 

 Increased engagement with children, young people, parents and carers. 

 Monitor the local authority’s response to the findings of its inspection in relation to the quality 

of social work assessments, chronologies and plans and provide appropriate feedback and 

challenge to support it in making the necessary improvements. 

                                

 

                                                           

 

Update the 

performance 

framework & 

enhance quarterly 

reports to the 

Board 

Prioritise the 

revision of the 

threshold 

document 

Ensure that the 

issue of neglect 

is given suitably 

high strategic & 

operational 

profile 

147

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk 

P
a
g

e
 7

2
 

APPENDIX 1 - GLOSSARY OF ACRONYMS AND TERMS USED 

 

Initials 
Used 

Name Description 

ASD / 

ADHD 

Autistic Spectrum Disorder /  
 
Attention Deficit Hyperactivity 
Disorder 

A condition that affects social interaction 
communication, interests and behaviour. 
A group of behavioural symptoms that include 
inattentiveness, hyperactivity and impulsiveness 

CAFCASS 
Children & Family Court 
Advisory & Support Service 

Represents children in family court cases and 
ensures their voices are heard and decisions are 
taken in their best interest 

CAMHS 
Children & Adolescent Mental 
Health Service   Secondary services covering child mental health 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 
Responsible for organising the provision of 
health services in the area 

CHISVA 
Children and Young People’s 
Sexual Violence Advocate 

Provide support to children and young people 
who have made a disclosure of a sexual offence 

CDOP Child Death Overview Panel 
To identify the avoidable causes of child death 
and reduce or prevent future deaths 

CP Child Protection 
The formal multi-agency process for 
safeguarding children at immediate risk of 
serious harm 

CPFT 
Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Foundation 
Trust 

Local provider of health services 

CPIN 
Child Protection Information 
Network 

Sub-group of the Board – see page 27 of this 
report. 

CQC Care Quality Commission  Inspector of Health Services 

CSE Child Sexual Exploitation 
Child sexual exploitation (CSE) is a type of 
sexual abuse in which children are sexually 
exploited for money, power or status 

CSM Complex Strategy Meeting Professionals meeting to discuss cases 

DfE Department for Education A department of the Government 

eCAF 
Electronic Common 
Assessment Framework 

Tool for assessing the needs of children and 
their families 

GP General Practitioner Self-explanatory 

HMP Her Majesty’s Prison Self-explanatory 

HWB Health and Wellbeing Board 
Statutory partnership responsible for integrating 
Health and Social Care provision 

JASP Joint Access to Support panel 
Reviews needs and placements of children with 
additional needs 

LADO 
Local Authority Designated 
Officer 

See explanation on Page 58  

LSCB 
Local Safeguarding Children 
Board 

Statutory partnership responsible for monitoring 
and supporting effective safeguarding of children 

LAC Looked After Child See page 35 

MAPP 
Multi-Agency Public Protection 
Board 

Board that helps manage the risks presented by 
serious violent and sexual offenders 

MARAC 
Multi-agency Risk Assessment 
Conference 

A meeting that discusses risk assessments in 
domestic abuse cases 

MASG Multi-Agency Support Group 
Panels for agreeing support for children and their 
family under Early Support 

148

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/


 

www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk P
a
g

e
 7

3
 

MASH 
Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Hub 

Screens al referrals for children and vulnerable 
adults (the ‘front door’ for services) 

NHS National Health Service Self-explanatory 

NSPCC 
National Society for the 
Protection Cruelty to  Children 

See https://www.nspcc.org.uk/  

PACE 
Parents Against Child 
Exploitation 

See http://paceuk.info/  

PASP 
Peterborough Access to 
Support Panel 

Oversees decisions about children moving into 
care 

PWA Peterborough Women’s Aid      
Service providing support to victims of domestic 
abuse 

PSCB 
Peterborough Safeguarding 
Children Board 

http://www.peterboroughlscb.org.uk/  

QEG 
Quality and Effectiveness 
Group 

LSCB monitoring and audit committee 

RAG Red, Amber & Green Rating 
Use in action plans to determine priority level 
and progress achieved 

SAB Safeguarding Adults Board 
Statutory partnership responsible for the 
safeguarding of  adults with care and support 
needs 

SASP 
Specialist Abuse Services 
Peterborough  

Supports victims of domestic abuse and sexual 
violence 

SCR Serious Case Review 
A Statutory case review held when a child dies 
or is seriously harmed where neglect and/or 
abuse is a factor. 

TAC Team Around the Child  
A group of people who support a child/family at 
the Early Help level 

 

 

149

http://www.safeguardingpeterborough.org.uk/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/
http://paceuk.info/
http://www.peterboroughlscb.org.uk/


 

 Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board 

 1st Floor 

 Bayard Place 

 Broadway 

 Peterborough 

 PE1 1FD 

 pscb@peterborough.gov.uk  

 01733 863744 

 

 

 

150

mailto:pscb@peterborough.gov.uk


CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING 
INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Agenda Item No. 9

12 SEPTEMBER 2016 Public Report

Report of the Corporate Director for People and Communities

Contact 
Officer

Lou Williams; Service Director for 
Children & Safeguarding

Tel: 864139

PROPOSAL TO DEVELOP A PERMANENCY SERVICE IN PETERBOROUGH: 
RECOMMENDATION TO AWARD CONTRACT
1. PURPOSE

1.1. This report provides an update to Scrutiny about the proposals to develop a Permanency 
Service in Peterborough, and specifically recommends the commissioning of the delivery 
of this service by an external partner organisation. 

1.2. The report summarises the approach taken to developing the service specification, the 
tender documentation and the final outcome following the conclusion of the tender 
process. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. Members are asked to note the content of this report, and in particular the positive 
involvement in the process by staff, foster carers and young people.

2.2. Members are asked to note the recommendation to award the contract for operating the 
new Permanency Service is awarded to The Adolescent and Children’s Trust [known as 
TACT] – the largest dedicated fostering and adoption charity in the UK.

2.3. Members are asked to provide comment on this scrutiny report that can be taken into 
consideration by Cabinet, when the recommendation to award the contract is discussed 
on 26th September 2016. 

2.4. Members are recommended:

 To request a report on the progress of the delivery of the new service in 12 months’ 
time. 

3. LINKS TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES AND RELEVANT CABINET PORTFOLIO 

3.1. This report relates to the corporate priority to support vulnerable people.

3.2. The report falls within the portfolio of the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services.

151



4. BACKGROUND

4.1. Members will be aware of the proposal to develop a Permanency Service in Peterborough. 
These proposals were the subject of a report to the Creating Opportunities and Tackling 
Inequalities Scrutiny Committee on 16th November 2015. An update was also provided to 
Scrutiny on 18th January 2016. Under these proposals, organisations were to be invited to 
tender for the opportunity to deliver a range of services in the City, including:

 Fostering and adoption services;
 Services to support children and carers living in families under Child Arrangement and 

Special Guardianship Orders;
 The Family Group Conferencing Service;
 Some limited social work services to children in ‘permanent’ in-house foster 

placements and leaving and after care support for this group of children and young 
people.

4.2. This approach is designed to enable us to support improved outcomes for children in care 
and on the edge of care by ensuring that as many as possible live in stable, loving, and 
legally permanent homes, improving support for foster carers and so improving placement 
stability for children and young people in care, while reducing the overall financial cost to 
the Council. Savings will be achieved through reduced reliance on high cost Independent 
Fostering Agency placements, with a proportion of savings re-invested into services for 
children and young people in the City. 

4.3. The full service specification for the Permanency Service is set out in Appendix 1 to this 
report; the draft specification was shared with the Creating Opportunities and Tackling 
Inequalities Scrutiny Committee on 18th January 2016. Changes between the draft and 
the final specification reflected the outcome of continuing consultation with key 
stakeholders, including staff and foster carers, and of advice from colleagues in Legal and 
Human Resources services. 

4.4. The proposal to develop the Permanency Service is highly innovative, and the first of its 
kind in the country. There is considerable interest at national level. This is coinciding with 
current increased concerns about the levels of profit being made from the provision of 
private sector fostering placements, and with the current focus of Government on 
improving outcomes for children and young people in care and on the edge of care. 

4.5. Four organisations responded to the invitation to tender. Of these, three organisations 
submitted comprehensive bids, which were assessed against a number of evaluation 
questions and by representative panels of staff, foster carers and young people. TACT 
was the organisation that scored the highest marks overall. The other two organisations 
are referred to in this report as bidders A and B. 

4.6. The evaluation questions and panel presentations were all designed to help us to assess 
the extent to which the organisations bidding for the contract could evidence their ability 
to meet the outcomes set out in the specification for the Permanency Service, the main 
elements of which are briefly summarised in the following sections. 

4.7. In the event that the recommendation to award the contract to TACT is accepted, the 
contract will be for a period of 10 years, with an option to extend for a further 10 years. 
Any shorter contract would undermine the notion of this being a permanency service. 
There are the usual break clauses within the contract and, in the event of significant 

152



failings, there is also a ‘step-in’ clause, by which the Council would be able to take back 
control of the service. 

Overall Aims and Objectives

4.8. There are a number of key aims and objectives required from the Permanency Service, 
including:

 Increasing the capacity of ‘in-house’ foster placements and so reducing the 
reliance on much more expensive Independent Fostering Agency placements;

 Maintaining the current very good performance of adoption services in 
Peterborough;

 Improving the support offered to carers of children and young people under Child 
Arrangement and Special Guardianship Orders;

 Investing in developing Family Group Conferencing Services;
 Investing in improving support for the significant numbers of children and young 

people who leave care and return to their parents or former carers.

4.9. Together, these initiatives will result in improved outcomes for children and young people, 
with increased numbers being well supported in permanent family-based homes. At the 
same time, the approach will support reductions in overall spending by reducing the 
numbers of children and young people placed in higher cost care placements. 

4.10. Although the Permanency Service will be delivered through a commissioning 
arrangement, the service specification sets out the intention for delivery to be through a 
genuine partnership between the Council and TACT, as described in the governance 
arrangements, below. 

Governance Arrangements

4.11. Subject to approval of the contract award to TACT, a Joint Governance Board will be 
established to include senior officers from the Council and TACT. This board will oversee 
the activities of the Permanency Service and ensure that key performance indicators are 
being achieved. This Board will be chaired by the Director of Children’s Services – at least 
initially - thus ensuring that there is senior level oversight of the development and 
operation of the new service. 

4.12. Day to day management of the service would be the responsibility of TACT, but there are 
further arrangements for ensuring that the service is delivering the outcomes required of 
it, including through a Strategic Management Board, which will be established to oversee 
the detailed work required to establish the service, and an Operational Management Board 
that will have responsibility for ensuring that day to day operations are delivering the 
required outcomes. The Strategic Management Board functions will be likely to be 
subsumed into the other two boards once the new service is fully operational..

4.13. TACT will also be required to provide regular reports to Scrutiny Committee detailing 
performance and impact on outcomes for children and young people. 

Increasing capacity of ‘In-House’ fostering

4.14. The principal aim of the development of this service is to improve outcomes for children 
and young people in care and on the edge of care, while reducing the unit cost of 
placements for children looked after. This approach is possible because a proportion of 
the savings made as a result of the development of the Permanency Service will be re-

153



invested in the development of improved services to children and young people in care 
and on the edge of care. 

4.15. The way in which savings will be made is to reduce the current reliance on expensive 
foster placements provided by largely private sector Independent Fostering Agencies, or 
IFAs. We currently spend some £4M per annum on IFA foster placements for around 100 
children and young people – a weekly average of around £800. The average placement 
cost of an in-house fostering placement is around £300 per week.

4.16. Analysis of the profile of children and young people who are most likely to be placed in an 
IFA placement shows that they are typically older at the time of placement and are more 
likely to be displaying significantly challenging behaviour as a result of past life 
experiences and trauma. 

4.17. There is no intrinsic difference between foster carers who foster for an IFA and our own 
carers – indeed our own carers are highly skilled and very motivated to provide loving and 
stable homes for Peterborough children and young people. However, what they have told 
us is that in order to feel confident to provide care for more challenging and older children 
and young people, they would need access to the same kinds of support that is available 
to IFA carers – namely 24/7 support including in the home if necessary, access to 
dedicated consultation with a psychologist, and a programme of training that is better able 
to equip them with the skills they need than that which is currently available. 

4.18. These key requirements are built into the service specification. TACT is an organisation 
that has developed a very comprehensive training and support package for their foster 
carers, which they will bring to the new service. They also offer the key element of 24/7 
support that includes practical in-home support when this is needed. 

4.19. Alongside the need to provide improved support to existing foster carers, delivering the 
overall aims and objectives requires us to increase our success in attracting foster carers 
to foster Peterborough children and young people. We believe that the combination of the 
enhanced support available through the partnership with TACT and the fact that foster 
carers recruited will be fostering only for Peterborough City Council, places the new 
service in a very strong position to maximise recruitment. 

4.20. In general, foster carers become carers for genuinely altruistic reasons. They want to 
provide loving and stable homes for vulnerable children and young people. They do not 
generally come into fostering because they want to contribute to the profits of large multi-
national organisations, but they do want to feel confident in the support they will receive 
and, particularly those who may want to foster as an alternative to working in the care 
sector, understandably want to have confidence that the allowances they receive will be 
sufficient.

4.21. The Permanency Service offers carers the best of both worlds. Foster carers will be able 
to access the enhanced support available through TACT while only fostering 
Peterborough children and young people. They will have the potential to access higher 
rates of allowances than Peterborough currently provides should they wish to foster the 
most challenging of children and young people. Finally, and importantly, all carers will be 
part of an overall approach that will increase investment in children’s services in 
Peterborough, as opposed to contributing to profit. 

4.22. Improving our ability to recruit and retain foster carers is also important for children and 
young people in care. There are a number of reasons for this. We know our carers, and 

154



are in a better position to feel confident about matching children and young people with 
our carers than we can be with carers supplied through IFAs. Because our carers only 
care for us, there is no possibility that a child or young person will be placed in a fostering 
household by another local authority, potentially de-stabilising the arrangements for the 
Peterborough child in placement. Our carers are located within or close to the City of 
Peterborough, while IFA carers are more likely to be further afield. 

4.23. The combination of these factors means that placements are less likely to end in 
unplanned ways, and our children in care are more likely to retain links with their 
community, school and family because they are more likely to be placed in or close to 
Peterborough. 

4.24. This is not to say that IFAs do not provide a valuable service – they do and will continue 
to do so – but we would like to see our reliance on this type of placement reduced as far 
as we are able. 

Maintaining good adoption performance 

4.25. Adoption performance in Peterborough is good, and there has been a less marked decline 
in the use of adoption to secure permanency for children than in some parts of the country. 

4.26. TACT has many years of experience in adoption, including in identifying adopters for 
children who are harder to place, and brings this experience to the Permanency Service 
where it will complement our existing experience and expertise.

4.27. The Permanency Service will remain engaged with the development of regional 
approaches to adoption, but we have taken the view that we do not want to separate the 
functions of fostering and adoption locally. There is a strong tradition in Peterborough of 
recruiting adopters for children from other areas of the country as well as those in 
Peterborough We expect this tradition to continue and indeed be made easier because 
we will be able to take advantage of the broader reach of TACT across the country. 

4.28. The provision of high quality support to children and adults affected by adoption is also a 
high priority for the new Permanency Service, an area in which both TACT and our current 
service have a very good track record, and where the two organisations can both bring 
their skills and experience to the work.

Children subject to Child Arrangement and Special Guardianship Orders

4.29. There has been an increasing use of these orders, and of Special Guardianship Orders in 
particular. A Special Guardianship Order offers children and young people legal 
permanency with the approved adults in a similar way to an adoption order, except that it 
does not remove the legal rights of birth parents completely, as adoption does. 

4.30. Special Guardianship Orders were initially intended to be used for older children and 
young people, where the permanent legal break with parents that takes place with 
adoption is likely to be less suitable. 

4.31. However, Special Guardianship Orders have increasingly been used in respect of much 
younger children who have come into care and who may previously have been more likely 
to have been adopted. This means that more children are able to experience legal 
permanency while being placed within their extended family than was previously the case 
and for many children, this is a positive outcome. 

155



4.32. Nevertheless, there are signs that this approach has brought additional risks in terms of 
long term outcomes for younger children placed through Special Guardianship Orders. 
There are indications that the risks of these placements breaking down are higher than 
those associated with adoption. 

4.33. There are likely to be a number of reasons behind this. Until recently, Assessments of 
carers under a Special Guardianship Order were less much less comprehensive than 
those related to adopters. There has been a recent change of statutory guidance in this 
area, which is helpful, and assessments are now required to be more thorough, although 
they remain less thorough than those associated with adoption.

4.34. Carers under Child Arrangement and Special Guardianship Orders are not entitled to the 
same level of support as adopters. This is likely to mean that carers are more likely to try 
to struggle on as problems emerge, and may not seek support until difficulties have 
become entrenched. 

4.35. For this reason, the Permanency Service will be required to develop support services so 
that these are equivalent to those provided for adoptive families. We want to act pro-
actively and do all we can to support Child Arrangement and Special Guardianship Orders 
so that children and young people do not experience any break down in their care 
arrangements. This pro-active approach will include ensuring that the service remains in 
contact with carers, so that they know how they can seek support at an early stage should 
they need this.

Family group conferencing service

4.36. Family group conferences enable the wider family and friendship network to develop a 
family plan that supports patents and carers to provide appropriate care for their child or 
children. Family plans developed in this way can be very effective and are more 
sustainable in the long run than is the case where families are only supported by a range 
of services. 

4.37. Typically, a family group conference is used where a child is subject to a child protection 
plan. The conference will usually also discuss contingency plans and it is in this context 
that extended family members who may be able to offer a child legal permanence through 
a Special Guardianship Order are first identified, should the risks to the child remaining 
with their parents not reduce. 

4.38. This is one reason why it makes sense for the Family Group Conferencing service to 
transfer to the Permanency Service. There are also other advantages to this arrangement. 
Locating the service so that it is independent of Children’s Social Care and of the Council 
means that families will correctly perceive it as being independent of the child protection 
system. Services that are perceived as being genuinely independent are often able to 
maintain the trust and confidence of families more effectively, and are therefore more likely 
to deliver positive results through effective partnership working. 

4.39. Family group conferencing is also an area where there is a need for increased capacity in 
Peterborough. Increased investment in the service is another requirement of the 
Permanency Service, meaning that we can enable more children and families to benefit 
from the sustainable support plans that this approach can deliver. 

Supporting children and young people to return home from care

156



4.40. Children and young people returning home from care are the largest group of care leavers 
and nationally around 35% of care episodes end for this reason. It is obviously the aim for 
any child returning home to do so on a permanent basis. Sadly, however, as many as half 
of children and young people who leave care in this way subsequently return to the care 
system, often having experienced further trauma or abuse in the process. 

4.41. The Permanency Service is required to develop new and innovative approaches to 
supporting children and young people to return home on a permanent basis. It will achieve 
this in a number of ways, including training and supporting foster carers so that they can 
play a greater role in helping and supporting parents to develop positive parenting skills 
while the child is in care and in placement. 

4.42. This approach has been found to be effective elsewhere and TACT has experience in 
training and supporting carers to undertake this type of support to parents. During the 
consultation process with foster carers, a number said that they would really like to 
contribute to supporting families in this way, provided they had the necessary training and 
support to do so.

4.43. Clearly, increasing the proportion of children and young people who return home 
permanently is not only good in terms of their long term outcomes, but also means that 
overall numbers of children and young people in the care system reduce, reducing 
associated placement and social work costs. 

Other areas of proposed service delivery

4.44. A group of children and young people are placed with foster carers on a ‘permanent’ basis. 
This is where the placement has been approved as a long term match for the child or 
young person. There is no legal basis to this permanency, but it does signal to the child 
and to the carers that the arrangement is one that should last throughout the child’s 
childhood into adulthood and hopefully beyond. 

4.45. Where children and young people are permanently placed in in-house [as opposed to IFA] 
fostering placements, it is proposed that the responsibility for providing social work support 
to the child will transfer to the Permanency Service. There are two main reasons behind 
this proposal. The first is that we believe that this will reduce any likelihood of there being 
any delays in decision making in respect of the day to day life of the child, supported by 
the ethos of the new service that children in care should experience life in families in a 
way that is as close to that experienced by all children as possible. 

4.46. The second reason is that we hope that this arrangement will support foster carers to feel 
sufficiently confident in the support available through the Permanency Service to apply to 
make such arrangements legally permanent ones through Special Guardianship Orders. 
This links to the points made above in respect of improving support to all carers who have 
a Special Guardianship Order. Foster carers are more likely to apply for a Special 
Guardianship Order if they can feel confident that they can return and seek support at a 
later date, should this be needed. 

4.47. Children and young people benefit from legally permanent arrangements by virtue of them 
enjoying much greater security. Carers and children benefit through such arrangements 
because they are able to live their lives and make decisions in the same way that any 
other family does, and without the need to refer to the Council. Life is more ‘normal’ and 
children feel more secure as a result. The benefit to the system is that such arrangements 
mean that the child or young person is no longer in care, saving on social work time. 

157



4.48. This aspect of the service will be delivered in a child-focused way, however. We do not 
want to disrupt existing long-standing relationships with allocated social workers who will 
not transfer to the Permanency Service, for example. 

4.49. The current Access to Resources Team will also transfer to the Permanency Service. This 
team of four officers is responsible for identifying all types of placements for children and 
young people in care and who are already in care, but who need to change placement for 
any reason. Where placements are made with external providers, the team is also 
responsible for making sure that the correct contracts are in place, and that these specify 
the outcomes required from the placement. 

4.50. Given that the Permanency Service will be responsible for identifying all placements for 
children in care [see the section on Finance below for further details], this team must also 
be part of the Permanence Service.

Summary: Improving outcomes for children and young people

4.51. Although there are financial savings attached to this proposed contract, the approach to 
developing the proposed Permanency Service has been built on improving outcomes for 
vulnerable children and young people in Peterborough, as outlined in the sections above. 
To summarise, improved outcomes will be achieved as a result of:

 Increased placement choice for children and young people needing care or who are 
in care through an increased number of ‘in-house’ foster placements;

 Better placement matching between children in care and foster carers whom we know 
well and who are local to Peterborough;

 Increased placement stability as a result of improved levels of support and training for 
foster carers;

 Increased capacity within the Family Group Conferencing Service, increasing the 
likelihood that children are able to remain with families on a sustainable basis or, where 
this fails, to remain within their extended family, benefiting from legal permanency as 
offered by a Child Arrangement or Special Guardianship Order;

 Reduced risk of the breakdown of placements under the above orders coming to un-
planned ends as a result of the development of improved support services that are in-
line with adoption support; 

 The development of innovative programmes to help to support children and young 
people returning home to their families after a period in care, reducing the likelihood 
of a return to care, and all the associated negative consequences to relationships and 
long term outcome;

 The continued strong performance in relation to adoption and adoption support as 
outlined in the service specification;

 The capacity of a new charitable provider to draw in other charitable organisations and 
funding streams to support children, young people and their families in Peterborough. 

Implications for staff

4.52. The current Peterborough City Council social work and support staff in the fostering and 
adoption, family group conferencing service and the access to resources teams will 
transfer to TACT under TUPE arrangements. One post in marketing and one in finance 
will also transfer to the new provider. TUPE provides protection for employees in relation 
to maintaining existing terms and conditions of employment.

158



4.53. In addition, the budget associated with up to two social worker posts and a 0.5 FTE 
personal assistant role will transfer to TACT in order to support the delivery of social work 
services to children and young people in permanent in-house foster placements. These 
posts are currently vacant.  

4.54. Most members of staff remain positive about the proposals. Any change brings uncertainty 
with it, of course, and there seems to be a general keenness to get on with the process. 
Members of staff have managed the uncertainty that the process of developing these 
proposals has inevitably caused. They will now know the identity of the organisation that 
is being recommended, which will help to start bringing the changes into something more 
tangible. 

4.55. Business support staff within the current Fostering and Adoption Service are currently 
employed by SERCO. These staff will also transfer to TACT under TUPE arrangements. 
SERCO and the staff concerned have been included in the discussions around the 
development of the service. SERCO staff will be formally consulted with about the transfer 
as is required under the TUPE transfer process. 

4.56. Assuming the recommendation for the contract to be awarded is accepted, a detailed 
implementation plan will be developed to ensure that staff transfer smoothly to TACT. This 
plan will continue the established ethos throughout the process of the close involvement 
of our current staff in developing the new service. 

4.57. A formal consultation process relating to the implementation of the new service and the 
transfer under TUPE arrangements will also take place, in line with existing procedures.

Implications for Foster Carers and Adopters

4.58. Foster carers are self-employed and can choose with whom they work. Assuming that the 
recommendation to award the contract to TACT is accepted, a programme of events 
where foster carers who care for TACT can meet our own carers so that carers can hear 
for themselves what TACT offers carers. 

4.59. Registration of foster carers will gradually transfer to TACT, but Peterborough City Council 
will retain our registration as a fostering agency. Under the contract, TACT would be 
required to transfer carers back to the Council in the event that the contract comes to an 
unplanned end. This requirement would also apply to all new foster carers recruited as a 
result of this partnership. 

4.60. The Council and TACT will work together to ensure that foster carers experience a 
genuine improvement in the support they are able to access in their role. TACT will also 
bring new opportunities for carers to expand the work that they do, for those carers who 
are interested in taking on new challenges. The outcome is therefore expected to be an 
environment within which carers feel better supported, have the opportunity to develop 
their role and skills still further, while having the security of only fostering Peterborough 
children, with all this brings in terms of developing relationships with Peterborough staff 
and managers. 

4.61. The position for adopters should not change significantly. Those currently approved and 
awaiting a match will continue to do so and the Permanency Service will work with regional 
and national partners to ensure that we maintain our strong tradition of recruiting adopters 
for children needing permanency not only locally but nationally as well. 

159



4.62. Potential adopters coming forward for approval should experience the same high quality 
service as they do at present. The partnership with TACT may improve the chances of 
adopters being matched with children since TACT is a charity with a national reach, 
including a significant presence in Scotland. 

Financial arrangements 

4.63. Under the terms of the contract, all budgets relating to the placement costs for children 
and young people in care, to the support of adoptive carers and carers under Special 
Guardianship or Child Arrangement Orders will transfer to the Permanency Service. The 
budget that will transfer is that which is sufficient to meet placement costs. The budget 
that will transfer is the equivalent budget for the cost of all placements as in the financial 
year 2015/16 - £11,666,309, and the full cost of staff transferring under TUPE [£1.5M for 
local authority staff and a further £76,000 for non-local authority staff], together with 
budgets associated with operating the service – mileage and so on. This budget will, 
however, reduce over the first two years of the contract as we expect TACT to have a 
quick impact on reducing the use of high cost placements. The table below shows how 
the budget is expected to reduce over the first four years of the contract:

Item 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Placements £11.67M £11.02M £10.77M £10.77M £10.77M
Salaries £1.61M £1.61M £1.61M £1.61M £1.61M
Other £0.12M £0.12M £0.12M £0.12M £0.12M
Total £13.4M £12.75M £12.5M £12.5M £12.5M

4.64. The saving targets were set at a time when we expected the service to go live during 
2016/17, however. The delay to the go live until the beginning of the financial year 2017/18 
will make the savings targets more challenging to achieve, at least in line with the above 
timeframes. 

4.65. In the TACT bid, detailed evidence was provided as to how these savings would be 
achieved, although over a longer time frame. However, TACT will manage the delayed 
phasing of the savings, meaning that the Council will still make the savings identified, 
assuming that other factors such as the overall demand on the placement budget remains 
within the expected budget within the current financial year. 

4.66. Any further surplus generated beyond the envisaged savings target will be subject to a 
savings share. This will mean that TACT will receive one third of any additional surplus to 
re-invest in services, while the Council will retain two thirds. Half of the money retained by 
the Council will contribute to the Council’s savings targets, while the remaining half will be 
invested in prevention and early help services. 

4.67. The full cost of staff, including on-costs, will transfer with the staff to TACT. There has 
been no attempt to ‘asset strip’ the service prior to transfer; we are committed to ensuring 
that TACT has the resources that it needs to deliver the improved outcomes that we want 
to see for our children and young people. 

4.68. The service specification and contract allows for certain contingencies including an 
increase in placement costs due to increasing numbers of children and young people in 
care and/or an increase in demand for very high cost placements. Essentially, such 
pressures will be reported to the Joint Governance Board, which will look for ways of 

160



meeting the shortfall within the Permanency Service and children’s services as a whole, 
which is in line with current approaches to when there is an increase in demand.

The tender and evaluation process

4.69. Prior to the formal invitation to tender, we undertook a period of soft market testing, using 
the draft service specification as a framework. Organisations that were potentially 
interested in submitting a bid were given the opportunity to discuss the proposals with 
senior officers from the Council. The purpose of this process was two-fold – for us to gauge 
whether there was sufficient interest in our proposals, and to help us to identify any 
obvious flaws in our ideas, and to enable potential bidders to have the opportunity to begin 
formulating their proposals in advance of any formal tender process. 

4.70. Tenders were formally invited from interested bidders on 18th March 2016. The tender 
period closed on 20th May 2016. The deadline for submissions of completed bids was 
extended by three weeks owing to the large volume of clarification questions received 
from the bidding organisations. Completed bids were received from three organisations: 
TACT, together with bidders A and B. Of these bidders, TACT and Bidder A were both 
charitable organisations, while Bidder B was a for-profit organisation but one that had 
satisfied the requirements to deliver the service through a not for profit vehicle. 

4.71. All bidders were also required to agree to the requirement that the contract would be 
subject to open book accounting. They were also required to agree that they would be 
open to audits of practice by the Council’s quality assurance service, and that they would 
provide a wide range of key performance monitoring information to the Council at regular 
periods or as requested. 

4.72. Considerable time has been taken to ensure that we have engaged with stakeholders 
throughout the process, including in the evaluation of the bids. Prior to the invitation for 
tenders going live, staff, foster carers and young people all contributed to the development 
of the questions on which the bids would be evaluated. 

4.73. As part of the evaluation process itself, bidders were required to present to separate 
panels of staff, foster carer and young people representatives. 

4.74. Bidders were also required to answer a range of evaluated questions on how they would 
deliver the service in the event that they were awarded the contract. These answers were 
evaluated by a panel of senior officers of the Council. 

4.75. Finally, bidders were required to provide information about how they would manage the 
financial elements of the service specification, including how they would deliver the 
savings required. 

4.76. Scores for each element of these stages were then combined, and a weighting applied as 
set out in the invitation to tender. 

4.77. Given the uniqueness of proposal to develop the Permanency Service, all three of the 
bidders submitted impressive bids. No single bidder was ahead in all areas, however 
TACT succeeded in scoring highly in all the main areas of the bid, and scored highest 
overall. 

4.78. The table below sets out the position of each bid in each area of the evaluation:

161



4.79. Overall, TACT achieved a final score of 75%; Bidder A achieved 70% and Bidder B 66%. 

4.80. In terms of the staff panel, TACT came just behind bidder A [with a difference in score of 
one mark] but was well ahead of bidder B. Foster carers rated TACT as the strongest 
bidder of the three. The panel of children in care placed TACT and bidder B as equal first, 
with bidder A placed significantly behind. 

4.81. In terms of the evaluation of the methodology statements, TACT was particularly strong 
in the following areas:

 In how the organisation proposes to deliver the service;
 The description of the support and training available to carers;
 Ideas on and evidence of success in recruiting foster and adoptive carers;
 The importance of and success in achieving genuine participation of children and 

young people at both an individual and a strategic level;
 The child-centeredness of the bid overall;
 The credibility of the financial modelling to deliver the savings required, even if over a 

slightly longer timeframe [although with no impact to the Council];
 Its ability to draw in the support from other charitable organisations in order to build 

capacity in the City;
 The track record of the organisation in delivering good outcomes for children and 

young people and including in relation to securing legal permanency for those placed 
in foster placements. 

Protection for Children, Carers, members of Staff and the Council

4.82. This is a contract that covers the delivery of services to vulnerable children and young 
people, for many of whom the Council is also corporate parent. It is essential therefore 
that there are appropriate checks and balances to ensure that the service promotes and 
safeguards the welfare of the children, foster cares and staff, as well as that the Council 
is safeguarded from risks to its reputation that would arise from any failings of the 
Permanency Service. 

4.83. There are a number of ways in which it will be ensured that all key parties are safeguarded. 
The contract is very detailed in terms of the monitoring information required from the 
provider, and of the safeguarding approach required in relation to all activities. As noted 
above, the contract has the usual break clauses and also contains a ‘step-in’ clause that 
would enable the Council to regain control of the service in the event of any serious 
failings. 

Element of Process Weighting TACT A B
Evaluation of Method Statements 60% 44.39% 40.79% 41.73%
Young People Panel 5% 4.25% 1.75% 4.25%
Staff Panel 5% 3.75% 4.00% 1.25%
Foster Carers’ Panel 5% 3.50% 2.00% 2.25%
Senior Panel 5% 2.00% 2.75% 2.00%
Price 10% 9.87% 10% 8.33%
Pricing Assumptions 10% 7.00% 9.00% 6.00%
Total 100% 74.78% 70.29% 65.81%

162



4.84. The successful bidder – TACT – has evidenced their ability to provide the service through 
an extensive evaluation process. It is a well-established charity, with a demonstrable track 
record in delivering positive outcomes for children and young people. 

4.85. These factors will be supported by the governance arrangements that will be put in place 
to oversee the operation of the new service. As noted elsewhere, although this is a formal 
contract that involves the transfer of staff, carers and resources, the service specification 
and arrangements for performance monitoring set out how the service will operate as a 
partnership between the Council and TACT. 

4.86. The governance arrangements emphasise a shared problem solving approach to issues 
that may arise. There is provision within the contract, for example, to address issues that 
may follow an unexpected increase in numbers of children in care or in the use of high 
cost placements. Should such circumstances apply, the Council and TACT will look for 
solutions together to meet such pressures. Demand led budgets such as placement 
budgets are always volatile, however, and the contract acknowledges that there may be 
circumstances where the Council is asked for additional funds to cover unpredicted 
expenditure – as would be the case were the service to remain delivered as they are 
currently. 

4.87. Alongside statistical performance monitoring information, the new service will be required 
to allow auditors from the Council’s Quality Assurance and Safeguarding Service access 
to all client records, and audits will be carried out in the same way as they are carried out 
across the remainder of children’s services. Audit findings will be published and any 
improvements required identified. TACT will be required to develop an action plan to 
address recommendations. These arrangements are again the same as are in place 
across the remainder of children’s services. 

4.88. Other forms of ‘softer’ information will also be monitored, including rates of staff turnover, 
sickness, and rates of foster carer resignations and terminations. Independent Reviewing 
Officers, who chair reviews for children and young people in care, will also continue to use 
the case alert and other escalation mechanisms to raise any concerns about the progress 
of care plans or the quality of children’s placements – just as they do now. 

4.89. We are currently in the process of improving mechanisms to secure increased 
participation of children and young people in care. We have increased capacity in our 
participation team, and invested in new technology to make it easier for children and young 
people to make their views known. 

4.90. As noted above, TACT has established a strong ethos of participation by children and 
young people throughout the organisation. We will work together to ensure that children 
and young people in care can help to shape the permanency service and ensure that it is 
child-centred in its operation. This will include making sure that we continue to respond to 
any concerns and complaints made by children and young people. Children and young 
people will continue to be able to access independent advocacy where they have any 
concerns. All comments and complaints will be monitored and used to help to improve 
services – again as is the case at the moment. 

4.91. The partnership approach means that all information about the operation of the 
permanency service and the impact on outcomes will be shared through the governance 
arrangements. Any developing issues will be identified early as a result, and early action 
taken to address these. However, the contract also includes break clauses for the Council 
at the end of years 3, 7 and 10, where we would need to provide 12 months’ notice, and 

163



for TACT at the end of years 4 and 10, when 18 months’ notice would be required. There 
is also a ‘walk-in’ clause that enables the Council to take immediate control in the event 
of any serious failure being identified. 

4.92. Finally, and importantly, all decision making about individual children and young people 
remains with the Council. This includes the decision about whether a child or young person 
should come into the care system, agreement as to the suitability of the match between 
the placement identified and the needs of the child, and all decisions relating to care 
planning for individual children and young people.

4.93. Taken together, these elements of the contract and the approach to governance and 
performance monitoring will ensure that any issues that may have an impact on outcomes 
for children or on financial stability are identified early, enabling appropriate action to be 
taken. 

5. KEY ISSUES

5.1. Key issues arising from the above include:

 This is a highly innovative approach to tackling the issue of over-reliance on high cost 
placements for children in care, which will result in improved outcomes for vulnerable 
children and young people in Peterborough while delivering savings for the Council;

 Staff, foster carers and, at an appropriate level, children and young people, have been 
fully involved in the development of the proposals from the outset. They have 
contributed to the identification of the outcomes required from the new service and to 
the development of the service specification. Staff, foster carers and young people 
also participated in the selection process, setting questions for the providers that 
representative groups evaluated at panels;

 TACT was the organisation that scored the highest overall, with an overall score of 
75%. Bidder A was close to TACT in terms of overall score at 70%, with bidder B 
scoring 66%. Given the uniqueness of the proposals to develop the Permanency 
Service, these are high scores overall and all bidders submitted good quality bids;

 Assuming that Cabinet accepts the recommendation and the contract is awarded to 
TACT, detailed discussions between all stakeholders will commence on developing a 
comprehensive implementation plan that will result in the service being implemented 
on 1st April 2017. These discussions will also include the necessary formal 
consultations with staff in connection with their transfer to a new employer under 
TUPE;

 The contact will be operated under a partnership model. This reflects the innovative 
nature of the proposals and the need to ensure the approach delivers the best possible 
outcomes for children, young people and their families;

 The range of safeguards built in to the service specification, the range of performance 
indicators that will be monitored and the retention by the local authority of decision 
making as this relates to individual children and young people will all ensure that the 
services delivered are of a good quality, cost effective, child-centred and safe. 

6. IMPLICATIONS

6.1. As noted elsewhere, there are a number of implications arising from the recommendation 
to award the contract to TACT. 

164



6.2. Staff will formally transfer employment to TACT under the provisions of TUPE, meaning 
that current terms and conditions will be protected. There are formal consultation 
processes in relation to this aspect of the proposals, which will include unions and other 
representatives. 

6.3. Current Peterborough foster carers will transfer registration to TACT, but remain ring-
fenced to Peterborough children and young people in care to Peterborough;

6.4. Subject to Cabinet approving the recommendation to award the contract to TACT, a period 
of mobilisation will take place. This will enable TACT, foster carers, members of staff and 
senior Council officers to establish detailed processes to support effective delivery of the 
service. 

Human Resources implications

6.5. In summary, all Human Resources considerations have been taken into account during 
the planning of the tender, the tender itself, and will be incorporated into the mobilisation 
and transfer planning. 

6.6. Employees engaged in the work transferring will have their terms and conditions of 
employment protected under TUPE regulations. The recommended bidder has also 
confirmed their commitment to providing continued access to the Local Government 
Pension Scheme [LGPS] via Admitted Body Status to the LGPS. 

6.7. Ongoing informal consultation has been undertaken with affected staff of the Council and 
those from our strategic partner, SERCO, also affected by the transfer, as well as with the 
trades unions. Affected staff have had the continuing opportunity to discuss any concerns 
and confirm their understanding through the programme of regular briefings. Other 
Council staff have also been kept informed through regular communications. 

6.8. Assuming Cabinet accepts the recommendation to award the contract, the Council’s 
Human Resources service will liaise with the Human Resources service within TACT to 
co-ordinate joint formal consultation with affected staff and trades unions, and will ensure 
that all necessary due diligence is completed. 

Legal implications

6.9. The tender was undertaken in accordance with regulation 74 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015.

6.10. The Permanency Service is required to adhere to the following legislation in relation to the 
provision of the services;

 The Children Act 1989;
 The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010, as 

amended by:
o The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review and Fostering Services 

(Miscellaneous Amendments)  Regulations, 2013;
o Adoption and Care Planning (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2014;
o The Care Planning and Fostering (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 

2015.
 The Fostering Services Regulations 2011 and the Fostering Services National 

Minimum Standards 2011;
 The Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000;

165



 The Adoption and Children Act 2002;
 The Adoption Agencies Regulations 2005 [as amended by the Adoption and Care 

Planning (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2015;
 The Children and Young Person’s Act 2008 including the Children and Young 

Person’s Act 2008 (Relevant Care Functions) (England) Regulations 2014;
 The Children and Families’ Act 2014;
 The Special Guardianship Regulations 2005. 

7. CONSULTATION

7.1. As noted throughout this report, there has been a wide-ranging and on-going consultative 
process with members of staff, foster carers and, at an appropriate level, children and 
young people throughout the process from developing the service specification, through 
to evaluating the submitted tenders.

7.2. Assuming Cabinet agrees to the recommendation to award the contract, further extensive 
consultation will take place with staff, foster carers, young people and other stakeholders. 
This consultation will be on both an informal and formal basis. Extensive informal 
consultation involving all relevant stakeholders will take place in order to inform the final 
shaping of the service, while formal consultation will take place in relation to the transfer 
of members of staff to TACT under TUPE arrangements. These formal processes will 
apply to both Council and SERCO members of staff. 

8. NEXT STEPS

8.1. Assuming Cabinet accepts the recommendation to award the contract to TACT, the next 
principal steps will be:

 Provision of feedback to all bidders about the strengths and weaknesses of the bids;
 Award of the contract, expected to be completed by the middle of November 2016, 

allowing time for any challenge;
 Commencement of formal mobilisation period, during which the fine details of the 

operation of the service will be agreed, with full consultation with staff, foster carers, 
children and young people as appropriate, and relevant stakeholders;

 The mobilisation period will also include the formal transfer of staff under TUPE, 
including the formal consultation required for both Council and SERCO staff affected;

8.2. The aim is for the new service to be fully operational from April 2017

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to 
Information) Act 1985:

9.1. None

10. APPENDICES

10.1. Appendix 1: Permanency Service: Final Service Specification. 

166



March 15th 2016

Appendix 1

Permanency 
Service Final 
Specification
Version 1.9
© Peterborough City Council February 2016

Lou Williams
SERVICE DIRECTOR CHILDREN AND SAFEGUARDING

167



1

Peterborough Permanency Service
Contents

Section Title Page
1. An Innovative, Child-Centred Commissioning Relationship 5
2. About these Proposals 6
3. About Peterborough 8
3.1. About the Population of Peterborough 8
3.2. About Children’s Services and Adoption & Fostering in Peterborough 9
4. Views of Key Stakeholders about these Proposals 10
4.1. Children and Young People 10
4.2. Foster Carers 10
4.3. Members of Staff 10
5. General Arrangements for Service Delivery 11
5.1. Adherence to Legislation and Statutory Guidance 11
5.2. Human Resources Issues including Safer Recruitment 12
5.3. Inclusivity of this Service Specification 13
6. Functions included within this Service Specification 13
6.1. Fostering and Adoption Services 13
6.1.1. Members of Staff 13
6.1.2. Fostering Services 13
6.1.3. Detail of current Fostering Households 15
6.1.4. Transfer of Foster Carers 16
6.1.5. Summary of Fostering Services to be Provided 16
6.1.6. Fees and Allowances for Foster Carers 23
6.1.7. Adoption Services 24
6.1.8. Summary of Adoption Services to be Provided 24
6.1.9. Payment of Adoption Allowances and Arrangements for 

Financial Assessment
29

6.1.10. Supporting Contact Arrangements 29
7. Placement & Resource Finding Service 29
7.1. Initial Health Assessments 31
8. Family Group Conferencing Service 31
9. Special Guardianship & Child Arrangement Orders 32
9.1. Assessment 32
9.2. Support to Carers 33
9.3. Promotion of Special Guardianship Orders to Foster Carers 34
9.4 Legacy Arrangements 35
10. Statutory Social Work Functions for Children in Care & Care Leavers 35
10.1. Leaving & After Care Support for care leavers formerly 

‘permanently’ placed with ‘in-house’ carers
37

11. Expected Service Developments 38
11.1. Improving support to Child Arrangement and Special Guardianship 

Order Cares
38

11.2. Encouraging Foster Carers to seek Special Guardianship Order s 39
11.3. Improving Support for Children Returning Home from Care 39
11.4. Developing Capacity within the Family Group Conferencing Service 39

168



2

Section Title Page
12. Service User Engagement 39
13. Information and Communication Technology 41
14. General Practice Standards 41
14.1. Record keeping 41
14.1.1. Statutory Practitioner Records 41
14.1.2. Record Keeping by Carers 42
14.2. Safeguarding 43
14.3. Children and Young People Missing from Care 45
15. Finance, budgets & Reporting Arrangements 45
15.1. Savings to be Achieved 47
15.2. Transparency 48
15.3. Managing Cost Pressures 49
15.3.1 Managing general cost pressures 49
15.3.2. Increased costs arising from an increase in numbers of 

children in care
50

15.3.3. Unexpected increased use of ‘Low volume High cost’ 
placements

51

15.3.4. General actions to prepare for and avoid in-year cost 
pressures 

52

15.3.5. Accounting and reporting arrangements  52
16. Governance and Quality Assurance 53
16.1. Governance Arrangements  53
16.2. Quality Performance Indicators and Performance Reporting 56
16.2.1. Purpose 56
16.2.2 Principles 56
16.2.3. Data Platforms 58
17. Decision Making Arrangements & Practice Issues Dispute Resolution  65
18. Relationships with other Partners and other Agencies 66
19. Contract Escalation Procedures 67
19.1. In the Event of Contract Expiry or Termination 67
20. Expected Characteristics of a Successful Partner 68
21. Possible areas for further post award negotiation 68
22. Intellectual Property Rights – Permanency Service 69

169



3

Glossary
The following table contains information about the abbreviations contained within this report. 

Abbreviation Full Title Explanatory Notes
ADM Agency Decision Maker The senior officer making decisions on the 

basis of recommendations from the Fostering 
or Adoption panel.

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group The lead body for commissioning health 
services. The CCG may contribute towards the 
costs of placements for children in care 
where these placements are meeting health 
needs that cannot be met in the community.

DFE Department for Education
DSG Dedicated Schools Grant Funding that is top sliced from schools’ 

budgets and used to fund support packages 
for pupils with complex needs. In the context 
of the Permanency Service, DSG funding 
contributes to some residential placement 
costs. DSG funding cannot be transferred 
from the local Authority.

EDS Emergency Duty Service The Emergency Duty Service is provided by 
Cambridgeshire County Council and provides 
out of hours’ cover for Statutory children’s 
and adult services. 

IFA Independent Fostering Agency IFA carers refers to foster carers providing 
foster placements for the Council or for the 
Permanency Service that are sourced from 
independent fostering agencies. 

‘In house’ carers N/A The group of foster carers who are supported 
by the Council and who would transfer to a 
new provider, together with new foster 
carers recruited as a result of this new 
arrangement by the Permanency Service. 

IRO Independent Reviewing 
Officer

Also known in Peterborough as Independent 
Chairs, IROs have statutory accountability for 
ensuring that care plans for children in care 
are effective and meet their needs. They also 
play an important role in ensuring that plans 
progress appropriately.

JASP Joint Agency Support Panel The panel chaired by the Service Director for 
children and safeguarding that discusses 
children and young people with the most 
complex needs where support from a 
combination of Children’s Social Care, 
Education and Health will be required. The 
provider will be required to attend this 
monthly panel.

LADO Local Authority Designated 
Officer

The officer within the Council responsible for 
the coordination of enquiries required where 
a professional or carer is the subject of 
allegations or other safeguarding concerns.

170



4

Abbreviation Full Title Explanatory Notes
Link Carer N/A Foster carers who provide short breaks for 

children and young people with disabilities
PASP Peterborough Access to 

Support Panel
The panel chaired by the Assistant Director 
for Children’s Social Care that discusses high 
level resource requests and is the form where 
admissions into the care system are agreed. 
The provider will be required to be 
represented at this panel which sits weekly. 

STC Secure Training Centre Used for secure remands of young people 
accused of involvement in serious offences; 
typically when offender is either younger [i.e. 
under 16] or has particular vulnerabilities – 
see also YOI

‘the provider’ N/A Shorthand for the organisation that will 
deliver the Permanency Service on behalf of 
the Council under this specification. 

YOI Young Offender Institute Used for secure remands of young people 
accused of involvement in serious offences; 
typically when older [i.e. 16 and above] 
where there are no particular vulnerabilities – 
see also STC

171



5

Peterborough Permanency Service
1. An Innovative, Child-Centred Commissioning Relationship
Peterborough City Council staff, foster and adoptive carers are working together to develop a new 
delivery model that is focused on securing permanency for children and young people in care, or 
who may become looked after unless extended family can provide a permanent and sustainable 
alternative. 

The scope of the proposals within this service specification is very wide, including all of the Council’s 
Fostering and Adoption Services, the Family Group Conference Service, and some limited statutory 
social work functions for a particular group of children in care or for whom assessments of potential 
special guardians are required. 

As well as significant numbers of members of staff transferring to the new service, the entire budget 
associated with placement costs for children in care, those who are staying put, or who are receiving 
support packages under adoption, special guardianship and child arrangement orders would transfer 
to the commissioned organisation together with our foster carers, prospective and actual adopters 
under this new arrangement. 

These arrangements bring both potential gains and risk to the Council and stakeholders. We have to 
get this right, not only for our staff and carers but most importantly, so that we deliver the best 
outcomes for our children and young people. So although this is a commissioning led process, we 
will require joint governance arrangements to be in place, with a joint governance board chaired by 
the Director of Children’s Services monitoring performance and offering support in the event of any 
indication of emerging difficulties. 

But we also want this new service to have the freedom to innovate. We are transferring the cost of 
our current placement mix, and the full staff cost associated with recruiting, assessing and 
supporting our fostering and adoptive carers. We are providing the new service with an initial 
budget that is equivalent to the cost of delivering these services ourselves. However, we do need to 
make savings on current overall costs, and these will be built in to budgets for future financial years. 
We also need to see investment in specific areas if we are to secure improved outcomes for children 
and young people, and this is why the new provider will need to innovate; in reducing unit costs to 
enable investment and deliver savings. 

It is the strength of the Peterborough brand, together with the combined assets of our foster carers, 
adopters and staff, brought together with innovation and investment by a new provider that we are 
confident will generate the savings and allow the development of the new service areas outlined in 
this specification. 

The contract length will be 10 years with an option to extend. This is a ‘Permanency Service’; any 
shorter contract would not be in line with our ambitions to demonstrate that we can deliver 
successful permanency for more of our children and young people in care. 

Staff, foster carers, adopters, children and young people have been widely involved in developing 
these proposals. Their aspirations for the proposed permanency service have informed this service 
specification, and they will form part of the formal evaluation process of submitted tenders. 

172



6

2. About these Proposals
Peterborough City Council [the ‘Council’ or ‘We’] is determined to improve outcomes for children 
and young people who come into care. We want to improve support for children and young people 
who become looked after and then return home to their families, and increase the number of 
children and young people who experience permanency through Adoption, Special Guardianship and 
Child Arrangement Orders, or who benefit from long term ‘permanent’ foster care. 

For those children and young people who are looked after and placed with foster carers, we want to 
ensure that as many as possible are placed with ‘in-house’ carers. This is because we know our 
carers better than those who are provided by external agencies. Our carers tend to be located in 
Peterborough or in the surrounding area, meaning that children and young people can more easily 
maintain relationships with family and friendship networks, continue to attend local schools and 
benefit from other local support services. 

We want to ensure that our carers are trained and supported so that they are sufficiently confident 
to look after children and young people with more challenging needs, enabling this group to benefit 
from stable family placements that are closer to the City, where they can continue in their education 
and training, and maintain links with family and friendship groups. Our carers have told us that in 
order to look after this group of highly vulnerable children and young people, they need:

 Access to a bespoke evidence-based training programme;
 Access to improved levels of support that includes 24/7 support and where necessary, 

practical support in the home;
 Access to improved support to help them to understand the psychological aspects of 

providing child-centred care to children and young people displaying problematic and 
challenging behaviour associated with past abuse, neglect or disorganised attachments. 

In common with all local authorities, there are significant resource pressures in Peterborough. 
Investing in the provision of enhanced support services would ordinarily mean that we would need 
to identify savings elsewhere in the system. One area where savings can be made that can be re-
invested in outcomes for children and young people, is in reducing our reliance on higher cost 
placements for children and young people in care – specifically, residential placements and 
placements with external fostering agencies. 

Despite some success in recruiting in-house foster carers and in maintaining relatively low numbers 
of children and young people in care who are placed in residential provision, we have come to the 
conclusion that the best chance of achieving our ambitions to deliver a step change in outcomes for 
children and young people, is to develop a commissioning relationship with an external partner who 
can bring both complementary expertise and initial investment to services in Peterborough. 

The table below summarises the proposed responsibilities of the Council and Provider in relation to 
current services and resources, under the arrangements set out in this specification:

173



7

Peterborough City Council will retain responsibility 
for:

The Provider, through the Permanency Service will 
acquire responsibility for:

Most Statutory services relating to children in need, 
child protection and children looked after, including:
 Assessments of children in need;
 Social work functions relating to children in 

need, in need of protection and most children 
who are looked after [see below];

 Most leaving and aftercare services;

The Fostering & Adoption Service, involving the TUPE 
transfer of staff and activities including:
 Recruitment of fostering and adoptive carers;
 Support and training activities for staff & carers;
 Operation and management of panels;
 Agency decision maker responsibilities as applying 

to adopters and foster carers;
 Post adoption support functions;
 Private fostering;
 Non-agency adoption;
 Oversight of medicals for adopters & foster carers

Agency Decision Maker role as this relates to 
Children and Young People

Foster carers & adopters currently approved by the 
Council

Conference chairs, looked after reviewing officers Assessments of eligibility for allowances and all 
payments to carers

Audit and quality assurance functions The Placement Finding Service
Supervised contact functions The Family Group Conference Service
Resource Panels Assessments of carers seeking Child Arrangement or 

Special Guardianship Orders, as currently undertaken 
by the Council’s Fostering & Adoption Service

Missing from home and care coordinator A small proportion of statutory social work functions 
for children looked after and leaving care services [see 
below]

Responsibility for facilitating effective  Children in 
Care Council 

Some Children in Care/Leaving Care Participation 
Responsibilities

Advocacy Services Placement budgets for children in care:
 Fees and Allowances for in-house carers;
 Budget for IFA foster placements;
 Sole funded residential placements;
 Council budget contribution to joint funded 

residential placements – i.e. funding for these 
placements from Dedicated Schools Grant and 
health partners will not transfer;

 All other placement related budgets as set out in 
section 15 including assessment and payment of 
adoption and other allowances;

All other relevant budgets associated with running 
services of transfer to Permanency Service including:
 The operation of panels;
 Staffing budgets including subsistence and travel.

Oversight of Complaints and in particular complaints 
under the Statutory children’s complaints process.

Management of complaints about the service.

Ensuring policies and procedures relating to the 
Permanency Service remain updated in line with 
legislation and research

174



8

3. About Peterborough
Peterborough covers an area of 340km2 at the western edge of the Fens in the east of England. The 
authority is bordered by Cambridgeshire to the south and east, Northamptonshire and Rutland to the 
west and Lincolnshire to the north. Approximately three-quarters of the authority area is rural, 
containing villages ranging in size from 150 to 4000 people, with the city of Peterborough lying in the 
geographical centre of the Peterborough City Council area. The great majority of the population of 
Peterborough live in the urban City area. 

3.1 About the Population of Peterborough
The population of Peterborough City Council is estimated to be around 188,000 and the City is the 
second fastest growing in the country. The child population is also among the fastest growing in the 
country. The City’s population is becoming increasingly diverse, with diversity greatest among younger 
age groups and the population of children and young people. 

The population has become increasingly diverse in part as a result of the accession of the A10 countries 
which has seen a notable increase in the number of European citizens moving to Peterborough. The 
current population of Peterborough is approximately 70%, White British, 11% White Other around 7% 
of the population is Asian or Asian British Pakistani. More than 100 languages are spoken in 
Peterborough schools.

The City Council boundary contains a diverse mixture of residential neighbourhoods, rural and inner-
city wards and wards that contain elements of each of these characteristics. The 2015 Index of 
Multiple Deprivation illustrates that levels of deprivation vary significantly throughout Peterborough. 
The population of the City is more concentrated in areas of higher deprivation, with 62,000 people 
living in areas of the City that are among the 20% most deprived areas of the country.  The impact of 
relatively high levels of deprivation can be seen in the average healthy life expectancy for both men 
and women, which is significantly shorter than national averages. 

There are approximately 45,000 children and young people aged 0-17 in Peterborough. Levels of 
child poverty in Peterborough are high, with around 12,000 children and young people living in 
poverty. Around 350 children and young people are looked after at any one time, with a further 250 
subject to child protection plans and around 1,000 who are assessed as being children in need. 

As noted above, the City’s population is becoming increasingly diverse, and this diversity is greatest 
among younger ages. The chart below compares the Office of National Statistics’ estimates for 
proportions of the 0-18 and 0-4 populations in the City by ethnicity:

175



9

3.2 About Children’s Services and Adoption and Fostering in Peterborough
A structure chart for the current Fostering and Adoption Service and its’ links with the broader 
Children’s Social Care Service is provided at Appendix 1. 

There are approximately 140 active fostering households in Peterborough, of which the great 
majority [around 90%] are from white British backgrounds. The current mix of fostering households 
is less culturally and religiously diverse than the population of children and young people in care, of 
whom around 65% are from white British backgrounds. 

A number of fostering households are located in the rural areas surrounding the City and some are 
located just beyond City boundaries in neighbouring authority areas. This geographical spread of 
households is helpful in terms of placement matching, while allowing for children and young people 
to maintain links with schools, family and communities as appropriate to their needs. 

The mix of active fostering households is not currently in line with the population of children and 
young people in care. Vacancy rates among fostering households are higher than might be expected 
to be the case, with proportionately more carers seeking to offer homes to younger children, and a 
relative shortage of carers seeking to offer homes to older children and young people coming into 
care for the first time. 

This element of overcapacity has the potential to be harnessed by a provider able to inspire 
confidence among carers to accept placements of older young people and children who have more 
complex needs – both groups who are currently more likely to be fostered by carers provided by 
Independent Fostering Agencies.  

There are relatively few children and young people placed with connected carers in Peterborough, in 
comparison with national averages. Connected carers are entitled to the same levels of support as 
‘mainstream’ foster carers. They are mostly in receipt of level 1 fostering allowances [which are as 

176



10

set out in section 6.1.3], but are able to access higher levels of allowance, in the same way as 
mainstream foster carers. 

Few private foster carers are known to agencies in Peterborough, despite efforts to raise awareness 
of private fostering in the City. 

4. Views of Key Stakeholders about these Proposals
4.1 Children and Young People
There are a number of comments from children and young people weaved throughout this service 
specification. Children and young people are concerned about living in stable homes, with carers 
who are committed to promoting their long-term best interests. Where possible, children and young 
people want to live in families who share similar cultural, linguistic, faith and other characteristics as 
their birth families. 

They want social workers who work with them to take their views seriously. They do not want to be 
separated from their siblings and most want to maintain contact with their birth families. Most want 
to continue living in or near to Peterborough.

The views and aspirations of children and young people have directly informed this servive

4.2 Foster carers
Foster carers have been mostly welcoming of these proposals to develop a new way of delivering 
services to children and young people in care. 

Foster carers are particularly interested in the potential for them to be able to access better quality 
training, more responsive support services and improved access to psychological advice and 
consultation in respect of meeting the needs of children and young people placed with them. They 
are interested in how they may be able to use their skills and abilities in new ways in order to 
support children, young people and their families.

They have some anxieties about the potential impact on staff and are worried about an increase in 
staff turnover. They do not want to lose the special relationship with the Council and the access that 
they have to senior officers. Most of all, foster carers do not want to see any new service fail, and 
will work with the Council and provider to ensure that it is successful. 

The views and aspirations of foster carers for a new Permanency Service have directly informed this 
specification. 

4.3 Members of Staff
Members of staff have been cautiously welcoming of the proposal to establish a new Permanency 
Service. They are interested in the potential for service developments and innovation that a new 
service may be able to provide. Staff also recognise the potential in terms of improved outcomes for 
children and young people, particularly in respect of the areas of investment within these proposals 
and the potential to place more of our children and young people with carers we know well and for 
whom they are directly responsible. 

Staff are keen to know about opportunities for them in terms of career development as a result of 
the development of the Permanency Service. They are reassured by the fact that they will remain 
physically located with the remainder of the Council’s children’s services, meaning that 
communication and relationships will be maintained. 

177



11

There are some anxieties about the specific details of the new service, including around the impact 
on areas of current good performance, and a concern that this is maintained. There are also a 
number of questions that staff understandably have about the impact on their own terms and 
conditions that may arise as a result of the new arrangements.

The views and aspirations of members of staff for a new Permanency Service as expressed by our 
members of staff have informed this specification. 

5. General Arrangements for Service Delivery
5.1 Adherence to Legislation and Statutory Guidance 
The Permanency Service will adhere to the requirements of legislation and statutory guidance 
throughout the period of the contract, and will adapt practices and processes in accordance with any 
changes. Key legislation relevant to the delivery of the Permanency Service includes:

 The Children Act 1989 and in particular statutory guidance relating to:
o The Children Act: Guidance and Regulations Volume 1: Court Orders 2008;
o The Children Act: Guidance and Regulations Volume 2: Care Planning, Placement and 

Case Review 2015;
o The Children Act: Guidance and Regulations Volume 3: Planning Transition to Adulthood 

for care Leavers 2010;
o The Children Act: Guidance and Regulations Volume 4: Fostering Services 2011.

 The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review [England] Regulations 2010, as amended by:
o The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review and Fostering Services [Miscellaneous 

Amendments]  Regulations, 2013;
o Adoption and care Planning [Miscellaneous Amendments] Regulations 2014;
o The Care Planning and Fostering [Miscellaneous Amendments] Regulations 2015.

 The Fostering Services Regulations 2011 and the Fostering Services National Minimum 
Standards 2011;

 Family and Friends’ Care: Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities 2011;
 Short Breaks: Statutory Guidance on how to Safeguard and Promote the Welfare of Disabled 

Children using Short Breaks [2010];
 The Children [Leaving Care] Act 2000;
 Staying Put: Arrangements for Care Leavers aged 18 and above 2013;
 Sufficiency: Statutory Guidance on Securing Sufficient Accommodation for Looked After 

Children 2010;
 The Adoption and Children Act 2002;
 Statutory Guidance on Adoption for Local Authorities, Voluntary Adoption Agencies, and 

Adoption Support Agencies 2013;
 The Adoption Agencies Regulations 2005 [as amended by the Adoption and Care Planning 

[Miscellaneous Amendments] Regulations 2014;
 The National Minimum Standards for Adoption 2014;
 The Children and Young Person’s Act 2008 including the Children and Young Person’s Act 2008 

[Relevant Care Functions] [England] Regulations 2014 and Statutory Instrument 2014 Number 
2407;

 The Children and Families’ Act 2014;
 The Special Guardianship Regulations 2005. 

178



12

In addition, the contracted provider will be required to adhere to the requirements of the Data 
Protection Act 1998 and to Caldecott Guidance in respect of information held, regardless of whether 
this is held electronically or as part of manual records. 

The above list is not exhaustive but sets out the main legislative framework under which the 
Permanency Service will operate. The overall aims and objectives of the Permanency Service are not 
deliverables that can be found in any single piece of legislation or guidance. The overarching 
principle of delivery of the service is that it offers a child centred service that delivers to at least the 
minimum statutory requirement in all areas of delivery.

The Permanency Service will adhere to Peterborough policies and procedures as these relate to 
children and young people on transfer of the services to the provider. Policies and procedures can be 
amended in due course, subject to appropriate consultation with the Council, and any affected 
stakeholders including children, young people, carers and key partners. Current Peterborough 
procedures can be found at:

http://www.proceduresonline.com/peterborough/

The local safeguarding children board procedures can be found at:

http://www.peterboroughlscb.org.uk/procedures/

It is assumed that the above will apply to all relevant areas described within this service 
specification. 

5.2 Human Resources Issues including Safer Recruitment 
The provider is required to have in place robust HR processes that cover key areas including 
management of poor performance, the raising of employee concerns including through grievance 
and whistleblowing processes, and the effective management of any safeguarding concerns relating 
to members of staff. Where safeguarding concerns arise in respect of a member of staff of the 
Permanency Service, the service will ensure that it follows the requirements of the Peterborough 
Safeguarding Children Board child protection procedures and work openly and proactively with the 
Local Authority Designated Officer as appropriate. Further information can be found in section 14.2. 

All HR processes, including those relating to safeguarding concerns, are to be managed fairly and 
thoroughly, but without unnecessary delay. 

These processes will include the requirement that all members of staff are recruited through a 
selection process that follows the recommendations of the Bishard enquiry in terms of safer 
recruitment. 

The provider will have in place a clear workforce strategy that will set out how employees will be 
motivated, recognised, developed and managed to ensure an engaged and highly performing 
workforce.

The provider will also be required to have in place effective processes for managing allegations made 
against foster and prospective adoptive carers. These processes must meet the requirements of the 
Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board child protection procedures. The procedures must 
ensure that children and young people are safeguarded, while also ensuring that carers are provided 
with appropriate support. The provider will need to work openly and proactively with the Local 
Authority Designated Officer where appropriate, and support a thorough but expedited resolution to 
allegations against carers. See Section 14.2 for further information. 

179

http://www.proceduresonline.com/peterborough/
http://www.peterboroughlscb.org.uk/procedures/


13

‘To never be separated from my brother’

Primary school aged child asked what they would 
wish for about their care

It is assumed that the above will apply to all relevant areas described within this service 
specification. 

5.3 Inclusivity of this Service Specification 
This service specification is intended to cover all areas of operation of the service included within the 
responsibility of the proposed Permanency Service. 

While every care has been taken to ensure that all key areas of operation are covered, it is likely that 
there will be areas that require further clarification. Bidders will have an opportunity to clarify 
elements of the service specification during the tender process.

There will be an opportunity post contract award and during the mobilisation period to confirm any 
areas of operation covered by the specification that emerge as lacking the necessary detail or clarity. 

Where this is the case, the presumption that applies is that all areas that would reasonably expected 
to be provided by either the provider or the Council in respect of their responsibilities for the 
Permanency Service or the operation of general children’s services will be undertaken without the 
requirement for additional funding. 

The escalation process for managing contractual issues will be followed where it is not possible for 
the Council and provider to reach agreement on such issues. See the terms and conditions set out in 
the contractual dispute mechanism for further information. 

6. Functions included within this Service Specification
6.1. Fostering and Adoption Services
6.1.1. Members of Staff
All social workers, the Agency Adviser, two panel administrators and the two team managers, will 
transfer to a new provider under TUPE. A complete list of posts, including staffing costs and pension 
liabilities may be found in the relevant schedule of the contract.

Business support functions are currently carried out by a contract between the Council and SERCO. 
The current administrative staff provided by SERCO to support the Fostering and Adoption Service 
will also transfer to the permanency Service under TUPE. These staff are listed in the TUPE 
information as ‘Third Party Employees’. 

6.1.2 Fostering Services
The new service is required to operate a 
comprehensive fostering service that at 
comprehensively meets the 
requirements of the Fostering National 
Minimum Standards, 2011 and any 
subsequent legislative or statutory 
guidance that comes into force during the contract period. 

Key outcomes required from the new service include:

 Successful recruitment and retention of carers able to meet the needs of children and young 
people with more complex needs [and in particular, able to care for teenagers and sibling 
groups] in order that reliance on IFA placements is reduced;

 Successful recruitment of ‘Link’ carers – i.e. foster carers able to provide regular short breaks 
for children and young people with disabilities;

180



14

‘Staff stability is what has made 
Peterborough such a good agency and this 
must be maintained…. We need to know 
the staff who support us….’

Peterborough foster carer

 Successful retention of existing foster carers;
 Successful recruitment of foster carers from all sections of the diverse communities of 

Peterborough;
 Promotion of Child Arrangement or Special Guardianship Orders for children placed in long 

term foster care, where this is in line with their best interests. 

The specific responsibilities of the Fostering Service that transfer to the new service include:

 All duties and responsibilities set out within the Fostering National Minimum Standards and 
all other relevant legislation;

 Recruitment, assessment, training, annual reviews and support of foster carers including 
relative or connected carers;

 Statutory private fostering responsibilities including awareness raising of requirement for 
private foster carers to be assessed;

 Arrangements for ensuring that foster carers receive timely payments of allowances and 
annual statements of accounts;

 Operation and management of fostering panels;
 Promotion of ‘Staying Put’ arrangements.

Our foster carers have told us that in order to accept children and young people who have more 
challenging needs and who are currently 
more likely to be placed with 
Independent Fostering Agency carers, 
they need to feel more confident in the 
support and training that they are able to 
access. 

Accordingly, in addition to the minimum 
requirements as set out within the 
Fostering National Minimum Standards, 
the provider will be required to deliver:

 Access to support 24/7 including in-placement practical support where needed for foster 
carers;

 Access to an evidenced based training package that will equip foster carers with the skills 
and knowledge to meet common needs including disorganised attachments and to deal with 
the effects of trauma, abuse and neglect for foster carers;

 Access to psychological consultation to foster carers them to support children and young 
people in placement for foster carers;

 Support to include consideration of the needs of foster carers’ birth children.

Peterborough is a diverse multi-cultural City and there will be occasions when children and young 
people will need to be placed with foster carers with whom they do not share a common language. 
The Permanency Service will be required to facilitate access to translation services for foster carers 
for use when other approaches fail.  

6.1.3. Detail of current Fostering Households
The tables below set out the fostering allowances payable to carers as from 1st April 2016. With the 
exception of the ‘Contract Care’ rates, the fees and allowances are paid according to the experience 
and level of training of the carer, rather than being related to the needs of the child. 

181



15

Level 1
Age of Child Weekly Payment

0-4 145.44
5-10 165.68
11-16 206.23
16+ 250.84

Level 2
0-4 197.59
5-10 219.02
11-16 247.74
16+ 278.28

Level 3
0-4 243.51
5-10 265.01
11-16 293.66
16+ 315.52

Contract Care
0-4 388.25
5-10 407.88
11-16 447.01
16+ 490.06

An additional payment of one week at Level 1 is paid for birthday, Christmas and Summer Holidays – 
these payments are not paid to former agency carers as these are assumed to be part of the higher 
weekly payment that they receive. 

Contract care rates are paid when a child or young person has particularly complex needs. They are 
paid in only a very small number of scenarios, where a child or young person has very complex care 
needs arising from a disability, for example. As of 1st February 2016, there were 8 children and young 
people for whom contract care allowances are paid. 

Where foster carers have transferred from Independent Fostering Agencies to Peterborough, there 
is an agreement in place that guarantees to match the allowances that they were receiving for two 
years and, for Peterborough children in placement at the time of the transfer, to match the 
allowances until those children reach 18. There are currently 18 fostering households covered by 
such agreements. 

Supported Lodgings carer are paid at the same rate as Level 1 carers for the age group 16+, less an 
assumed £30 per week contribution from the young person and Staying Put rates are paid at a total 
of £239.52 less a Housing Benefit contribution of £91.15 and a contribution from the young person 
of £30, resulting in a net cost of £118.37 per week. These rates apply regardless of whether the 
foster placement was previously an in-house or IFA placement. 

The table below sets out the number of fostering households at the different levels as of February 
2016 [Level 1, 2 and 3]:

Payment Level Number of Fostering Households
Level 1 47
Level 2 24
Level 3 52

182



16

Alterative [IFA transfers] 18
Supported Lodgings 3
Special Rate 1

In addition to the allowances set out above, foster carers are able to claim some additional 
payments covering, for example, transport costs in certain situations. Budgets covering such 
incidentals will transfer to the Permanency Service. 

Paid respite care is not usually available and is only provided where this is in the best interests of the 
child or young person concerned. Where such arrangements exist, they are generally capped at 14 
nights. Such arrangements apply to between 5% and 10% of children and young people in in-house 
fostering placements at any one time. 

Carers are able to claim retainer fees in some circumstances. Full details of allowances are contained 
within the Foster Carer’s Handbook, which can be found at:

https://issuu.com/peterboroughfostering/docs/fosteringhandbook/1

6.1.4. Transfer of Foster Carers
It is envisaged that foster carers would transfer to the new provider following the mobilisation of the 
contract. Dispensation will be requested from the Department for Education to allow this to happen 
over a period of time so that formal transfer is agreed by the relevant panel at the time of the 
household’s annual review, or within 6 months from the mobilisation date. 

Foster carers who transfer to the new provider will not become part of the general pool of fostering 
households operated by the new provider. They will remain a defined group of households that only 
offer placements for children and young people in care to Peterborough, except with the express 
permission of the Council. This will usually be as a result of agreement at the Joint Governance 
Board, but in urgent situations where the case concerns a single placement or sibling placement, 
agreement can be provided on behalf of the Council by the commissioning lead. 

All fostering households recruited by the new provider through this agreement will join this defined 
group of carers offering placements to Peterborough children and young people only. 

These arrangements are necessary in order that the special relationship between Peterborough City 
Council and our fostering households is not diluted. 

In the event that the contract is terminated or comes to an end, the expectation is that all fostering 
households who remain active and who transferred to the new provider at the commencement of 
the contract, and all those who are recruited as a result of the contract, will transfer back to 
Peterborough City Council, recognising that foster carers are free to make other arrangements in 
terms of which agency they choose to be registered. The exit strategy within the terms and 
conditions provides the details of these arrangements. 

6.1.5. Summary of Fostering Services to be provided
The following section describes the main expectations of the provider in delivering effective 
fostering services on behalf of Peterborough City Council through this agreement. This section is not 
exhaustive but seeks to describe the key features of a high quality, outcomes focused and child-
centred approach to the delivery of fostering services. 

Key legislative and statutory guidance  requirements relating to the delivery of fostering services are 
as set out in The Children Act 1989 Guidance Volumes 2, 3 and 4; The Fostering Services Regulations 

183

https://issuu.com/peterboroughfostering/docs/fosteringhandbook/1


17

‘Nothing can really prepare you for the 
first time you have a foster child in your 
home… But we had a brilliant social 
worker and the numbers of other carers 
we could call… and it worked out fine. 
Now we are able to support new carers as 
they start out…..’

Foster carer on support

2011 and The Fostering Services National Minimum Standards 2011 [and any legislation or guidance 
that may replace them]; as supplemented by the contents of this service specification.

Assessment of Carers

On completion of the two stage fostering assessment process, the full range of information is 
considered by the Fostering panel, which then makes a recommendation as to whether or not the 
applicant/s are approved as foster carers and recommend their terms of approval.  Applicants are 
able to attend the panel to give their views or provide in writing any views they want the panel to 
consider.

The recommendation of the panel is considered by the Permanency Service Agency Decision Maker, 
who makes the final decision.

Should any concerns about the prospective foster carers arise during any part of the process, these 
will be discussed with the applicants, and a second opinion interview will be arranged where 
appropriate.

Should issues arise during the Stage Two process that the assessing social worker or manager believe 
may mean that an applicant may not be approved by panel, a ‘brief report’ may be presented to the 
panel, setting out the concerns.  Applicants may make representations in writing or in person to the 
panel in these circumstances.

Where the panel recommends that an assessment should not be completed, the Permanency 
Service Agency Decision Maker will make a ‘qualifying determination’ and inform the applicant of 
their options.  Applicants are entitled to ask for the application to be reconsidered by the panel or to 
proceed to an Independent Review Mechanism.  The recommendation of the subsequent adoption 
panel or of the Independent Review Mechanism is then referred back to the Permanency Service 
Agency Decision Maker who will consider all the information and reach a final decision.

Provision of High Quality and well supported Foster Placements

The Permanency Service will adhere to exceed the National Minimum Standards for Fostering 
Services through innovative care practices and demonstrate a commitment to continuous 
improvement through internal quality assurance procedures, monitoring and service development 
planning.

Foster placements provided by the Permanency Service will be for the sole use of children and young 
people in care to Peterborough City Council, except where there is specific agreement with the 
Council to provide assistance to other local authorities, for which the Permanency Service will make 
a charge to the other authority to reflect 
the placement and support costs. 

Foster carers will be recruited to the 
Service in accordance with the 
requirements of the National Minimum 
Standards and in particular to Standard 
13 – recruiting and assessing foster carers 
who can meet the needs of looked after 
children. The Service will therefore ensure 
that:

184



18

‘Coming into care at the beginning was just 
horrible because I didn’t see my family at 
home and because I am from a different 
country moving to an English family is not 
easy because you have to change the 
culture one to another…. I cannot see 
most of my family because they still live in 
my home country’

Young person describing their experience of care

 The principles of Safer Recruitment and equal opportunities are adhered to in the recruitment of 
foster carers;

 Appropriate levels of Disclosure and Barring Service checks are undertaken in respect of all adult 
members of the fostering household and any regular visitors to that household and that these 
are maintained up to date;

 All fostering households are provided with an initial training programme during the recruitment 
and assessment process and are offered regular training opportunities in accordance with their 
on-going development needs during their career as foster carers. This training to include child 
development and safeguarding as a minimum requirement;

 All foster carers are provided with up to date information about the expectations upon them as 
foster carers acting on behalf of the Local Authority via a Foster Carer Handbook [which may be 
available as an on-line resource].

Foster Carers recruited by the Service will be able to meet a wide range of needs as exhibited by 
children and young people in care. While there will always be a need for a number of carers to 
provide placements for younger children and young people with less complex needs, a significant 
number of carers recruited to the service will be able to appropriately care for and support children 
and young people exhibiting a range of more complex behaviours. Such behaviours may include: 
persistent absconding; offending behaviour requiring on-going support from other agencies; 
emotional and mental health issues requiring support from other agencies, sexually problematic 
behaviour that may pose a risk to themselves and others; those who display disorganised 
attachments and those that may have been abused or neglected and require on-going 
treatment/support.

The Permanency Service will place particular attention on recruiting a diverse range of foster carers, 
able to meet the culturally and ethnically diverse population of children and young people of 
Peterborough. 

Recruitment of ‘Link’ carers able to 
provide family based short breaks for 
children and young people with 
disabilities is a key priority area for the 
Council and the Permanency Service will 
work with the Council’s short breaks 
service and social work service for 
children and young people with 
disabilities in order to recruit carers able 
to meet the needs of this group. 

Foster carers recruited to the service 
must be able to develop positive and 
effective working relationships with all 
those who play a significant role in the lives of children and young people placed with them. These 
will include their family and friends, social worker and other professionals and services including 
schools, colleges and health services. 

Educational and learning outcomes are particularly important in terms of securing long term 
outcomes for children and young people. Foster carers recruited to the service will therefore be 
required to promote learning and training for children and young people placed with them, which 

185



19

‘Being part of a football club’

‘Having a laugh with my carers’

‘Playing in a band’

‘Being trusted by my carers…. And horse-
riding’ 

‘I like where I live with my foster carers’

Children and young people in care asked ‘What is 
good about your life?’

will include supporting them to complete homework and helping them to consider appropriate 
learning or training needs in order to meet career aspirations.

Foster carers will deliver supervised care and accommodation 24 hours per day, seven days per 
week, 365 days per year for each child or young person placed with them.

The Permanency Service will have a duty of care for the child or young person placed with one of 
their foster carers from the time they are welcomed into the foster carer’s home until they leave in a 
planned and sensitive manner to return to the care of their parent/s or extended family, an adoptive 
household, to another foster carer, or to move on to independence. 

The time in placement will be a positive, stimulating and worthwhile experience for children and 
young people who will be cared for within safe, appropriate home-environments with age 
appropriate activities, outings and positive relationships and interactions. 

The Council will keep the Permanency Service and the foster carers informed of relevant 
developments that may have an impact 
on the child or young person in 
placement or the placement itself and in 
particular, any changes in the family 
circumstances of the child or young 
person and the progress of any legal 
proceedings. 

The Permanency Service will not make 
any changes to the placement as agreed 
in child’s placement plan, including the 
arrangement of any additional respite 
care, without first consulting the Council 
[which will usually mean the child’s Social 
Worker or Team Manager]. Where any 
changes being considered have an impact 
on the progress of the child’s care plan, the child’s Independent Reviewing Officer must also be 
consulted. 

Foster carers and their Supervising Social Worker will be expected to attend all necessary meetings, 
conferences and reviews in respect of the child or young person placed with them, including pre-
placement planning meetings. 

The Permanency Service will ensure that foster carers are provided with the level of support 
appropriate to maintain the placement. This will be achieved by ensuring that a stable team of 
Supervising Social Workers is maintained who are sufficiently qualified and experienced. These 
workers should have access to specialist training appropriate to their role. 

In addition to the requirements relating to the support of foster carers set out in the Fostering 
National Minimum Standards, the Permanency Service will also provide:

 Access to psychological support and consultation in order to help foster carers to manage 
challenging or difficult behaviour and to develop strategies to help the child or young person 
develop more positive behaviours and social interaction; 

 Access to support including out of hours support on a 24/7 basis, which will include practical 
in-home support when this is necessary; 

186



20

 A high quality evidence-based training and development programme for foster carers 
including in relation to disorganised attachment, parent and child placements, recovery from 
trauma etc. Training offered will have an evidence base in terms of improving outcomes for 
children and young people;

 Access to translation services for foster carers when this is necessary to communicate with a 
child or young person placed with them who does not share a first language.

Foster carers currently enjoy free access to local Leisure facilities through the Council’s contract with 
the relevant provider, Vivacity. The cost of this is heavily subsidised and the package is highly valued 
by carers. The cost of this arrangement is met from the budgets transferring to the Permanency 
Service and this form of support will expect to be continued. The Council will ensure that the current 
preferential rates offered by Vivacity continue following the establishment of the Permanency 
Service. 

Foster carers will maintain a written record of key events in the child or young person’s life during 
their placement. Such events will include:

 A daily log that records general observations about the progress of the child or young 
person;

 Notes of any significant events including contact with birth family members;
 Any incidents of challenging behaviour;
 All positive events that take place, such as positive reports from school or positive 

engagement in social or other activities, hobbies and so on.

The record should be written so that it provides a general overview of the progress made by the 
child or young person in the placement while providing a historical record that is available to the 
child or young person in later life. 

The provider is expected to ensure that foster carers are facilitated to maintain this record securely 
and, wherever possible, electronically.

The fostering handbook provided to all fostering households must be kept regularly updated and set 
out the expectations of foster carers in relation to a wide range of issues, including managing 
challenging behaviour, rewards and sanctions, life story work, involvement in contact and what to do 
should any child or young person in placement be missing for any period of time. 

At the point of mobilisation of the contract, the terms of the existing Peterborough foster carer 
handbook will apply. The Permanency Service may seek to make changes to the provision of the 
handbook, but will ensure that changes are consulted upon with carers and the Council through the 
appropriate governance arrangements as set out in section 16.1 below.

The provider will ensure that a delegation of authority to foster carers’ protocol is in place, the 
provisions of which are agreed with the Council, and that the provisions of this protocol are 
reviewed regularly. 

The Permanency Service will ensure that all fostering households are subject to an annual review in 
accordance with the requirements of the National Minimum Standards. 

187



21

‘I don’t like moving’

‘I want to stay with my foster carers… they 
are kind’

‘I don’t want to change my [foster] 
family… I want to know who I am’

‘I don’t want to change family and trust…. I 
want to be trusted’

‘I wouldn’t change anything about my 
care’

Young people in foster care asked what they would 
not change about their care

Where foster placements appear at risk of coming to an unplanned end, additional support will be 
offered to the child or young person looked after and the foster placement via a placement stability 
meeting to include all key stakeholders 
including the child’s social worker, carers 
and supervising social worker, and any 
partner agencies able to provide 
additional support to maintain the 
placement. 

Except where continuing a placement 
may result in serious safeguarding 
concerns or the risk of the committal of 
serious offences, placements will be 
subject to a 28 day notice period to 
enable placement moves to take place in 
a planned way. No placement moves will 
take place without full involvement and 
consultation with the child’s social worker 
and independent reviewing officer.

No child should move placement without 
the agreement of the Council [which in 
effect means the head of service responsible for the child’s case management] except in urgent 
situations outside office hours where continuing a placement may result in serious safeguarding 
concerns or the risk of the committal of serious offences. In these circumstances, placement moves 
are to be discussed with the Council’s out of hours’ Emergency Duty Service, which may in turn 
consult with the senior officer providing on call cover for the Council.

Parent and Child Placements: Where the foster placement is offered to a parent or parents as well 
as their child or children, the child or children must be recognised as the primary users of the 
service. 

The Permanency Service will ensure that the foster carer provides observation, supervision and 
opportunities for parents to develop their parenting abilities. Foster carers will also support parents 
to access community based and statutory services. 

The Permanency Service will ensure that all foster carers offering parent and child placements have 
an understanding of emotional attachment and the ability to encourage bonding between parent 
and their child. 

Advice about parenting skills will be given by foster carers in a clear and objective manner to 
parents, and foster carers will provide clear feedback to parents about their strengths and areas for 
improvement. Such advice and guidance will need to be recorded, along with general observations, 
and such recording may be required in court proceedings. 

Foster carers offering parent and child placements will have the ability to understand, engage and 
manage parents who may have complex needs such as learning difficulties, poor mental health or a 
history of alcohol and/or substance misuse and dysfunctional relationships, including domestically 
abusive relationships. 

188



22

‘I love where I am… it is very fun… we get 
to go places…. They give you confidence… I 
don’t want to move: this is my home…’

Young person describing their experience of foster 
care

Should a parent and child placement conclude with the need for an alternative care plan for the 
child, the child must be able to remain in the foster placement until a suitable alternative placement 
can be made. 

Promoting Permanency: The Permanency Service will promote the making of permanent 
arrangements for children and young people in long term fostering placements, where this is in the 
best interests of the child or young person concerned. 

Such arrangements are usually best achieved through the making of a Child Arrangement or Special 
Guardianship Order, since this offers the child or young person legal permanency. The Permanency 
Service will work to provide foster carers 
with the confidence they need to 
undertake such arrangements through 
the provision of a high level of support. 
Exceptional financial support packages, 
providing these comply with statutory 
guidance, can also be made. Further 
information can be found in Sections 11.1 
and 11.2 on Child Arrangement and 
Special Guardianship Orders below. 

If permanency is not secured through a legal option, then the Permanency Service will work with the 
Council to ensure the placement is formally agreed as the long term placement in line with the 
wishes of the child and carers, taking into account the families’ view.

Staying Put: The Permanency Service will promote Staying Put arrangements with in-house and IFA 
fostering households where such arrangements are in the best interests of the young person 
concerned. Current levels of payment to Staying Put carers total just under £240 per week. This total 
includes a housing benefit payment of £91 per week and an expected contribution by the young 
person of £30 per week. 

Payments for former foster carers under Staying Put are set out in the Peterborough policy on 
Staying Put. Young people are required to claim Housing Benefit and make a small financial 
contribution to household expenses from their allowances, earnings or benefits. 

The arrangements for financial support to former foster carers under Staying Put are the same, 
regardless of whether the carers were caring for the young person as ‘in-house’ or Independent 
Fostering Agency placements. 

The budget for Staying Put will transfer to the Permanency Service, which will be responsible for 
ensuring that payments are made to carers in a timely way. 

Out of Hours Arrangements: Emergency Duty Services [EDS] in Peterborough are provided under 
contract by Cambridgeshire County Council. A senior officer from Peterborough City Council 
provides on-call support to the EDS. The EDS must seek agreement from the nominated on call 
manager prior to any child or young person coming into care outside of office hours. 

The Permanency Service will provide the EDS with a ‘Duty rota’ of foster carers available to take 
placements out of hours. Except where there are extended holiday periods, such as over Xmas and 
New Year, it is usually sufficient for one foster carer to be on duty at any one time. 

189



23

The Permanency Service will ensure that there is an out of hours cover arrangement in place so that 
in the event of the on-call carer being unavailable or unable to accept a child out of hours, 
alternative arrangements can be made. 

Where the Duty placement is used during the week, the Permanency Service will either ensure that 
the child moves to a substantive placement the next day, or provides details of an alternative carer 
who can provide ‘Duty’ cover for the next out of office hours period. 

Carers who provide this service must be approved and able to accept a child or young person of any 
age and be able to be flexible in the event that a sibling group requires a placement. 

An ‘Out of Hours’ payment is made to foster carers who provide this service. The current fee is £30 
per 24 hour period. 

Fostering Panel: The Permanency Service will be accountable for ensuring that a properly convened 
fostering panel in line with relevant regulations is in place and that this has the necessary capacity 
and administrative support to meet demand arising from approving new fostering households, 
overseeing renewals of approval and recommending permanent matches of children and young 
people with their foster carers. 

The Fostering Panel will include representation from at least one Council social worker and one 
senior officer from Peterborough City Council. This officer will ensure that the quality of carers being 
approved by the Permanency Service is maintained at a consistently high standard, appropriate for 
meeting the needs of Peterborough children and young people.

The Permanency Service will ensure that a suitably senior and qualified officer acts as Agency 
Decision Maker for matters relating to the approval and review of approval for foster carers. 
Arrangements to manage differences of opinion between the ADM and the fostering panel and 
requests for a second opinion from prospective foster carers or carers unhappy about decision to 
vary or terminate their approvals will be put in place by the Permanency Service. 

Permanency Matches will be agreed by the Agency Decision Maker for the Council as this relates to 
decisions about children and young people and this role will be retained by the Council.  

Foster carers or prospective foster carers who are unhappy with any decisions relating to them in 
respect of their approval, termination or change to terms of approval are able to access the 
Independent Review Mechanism and the Permanency Service will provide information on how they 
can access this service. 

6.1.6. Fees and Allowances for Foster Carers
Foster carers have been assured that their allowances will not reduce as a result of establishing the 
new Permanency Service. This means that the provider will be required to continue to pay fees and 
allowances that are at least equivalent to those set out in Section 6.1.3 and as described in the 
current Fostering Handbook. 

Subject to this requirement and the requirement for the provider to deliver the service within the 
available budget provided by the Council, the provider is free to revise fees and allowances and in 
particular where carers are offering new services. Any changes in fees and allowances will be 
preceded by full consultation with foster carers and any other relevant stakeholders. 

The provider will ensure that foster carers receive accurate payments in a timely way. The provider 
will ensure that arrangements are in place to enable over-payments to be recouped. 

190



24

The provider will be required to account for all payments made as required. 

The provider will be required to provide all foster carers with an annual statement detailing all 
payments received over the year in order to assist in the completion of tax returns. 

6.1.7. Adoption Services
The Permanency Service will be required to operate a comprehensive adoption service that at least 
meets the requirements of the Adoption National Minimum Standards, all relevant legislation and 
statutory guidance, and any subsequent legislation or statutory guidance that comes into effect 
during the term of the contract. 

Key outcomes for the service include:

 Successful recruitment of adopters able to meet the diverse needs of children in 
Peterborough and contribute towards regional and national requirements for adopters;

 Maintaining close working relationships with children’s assessment and looked after 
functions operated by the Council in order to ensure that children wait for the shortest 
possible period before being successfully matched with adopters;

 The continued successful promotion of the Fostering for Adoption scheme in Peterborough;
 The provision of effective adoption support to all those affected by adoption, minimising the 

likelihood of adoption breakdowns. 

The specific responsibilities of the Adoption Service that would transfer to the new service would 
include:

 All duties and responsibilities set out within the Adoption National Minimum Standards and 
all other relevant legislation;

 Successful recruitment, preparation and assessment of a diverse range of adopters able to 
meet the needs of the diverse communities of Peterborough and contribute to regional and 
national needs;

 Provision of evidence-based adoption support services to adopters and adopted children;
 Provision of adoption support services to birth relatives affected by adoption;
 Maintenance of post adoption contact arrangements including letterbox contact; 
 Operation and management of the adoption panel. 

There is a tradition in Peterborough that every effort to identify adopters for individual children is 
made. Because the cohort is small, this can result in large variations in key performance indicators 
and the adoption scorecard. This is accepted, provided that the accompanying narrative can 
evidence that such variations are the result of delivering a timely, child-led adoption service. 

The provider will be required to maintain and develop existing relationships with adoption agencies 
within the region. This will include maintaining dialogue and discussion with key partners in the 
development of regional adoption arrangements. 

6.1.8. Summary of Adoption Services to be provided
The following section summarises the main services to be provided in relation to adoption services 
by the provider on behalf of Peterborough City Council through the Permanency Service. This section 
is not exhaustive but seeks to describe the key features of a high quality, outcomes focused and 
child-centred approach to the delivery of adoption services.

Services provided under this agreement will at least reach the standards set by the National 
Minimum Standards for Adoption, 2014, and any statutory guidance or legislative requirements that 

191



25

‘I cannot praise my adoption workers 
highly enough… it has been brilliant from 
start to finish… open, honest, realistic, all 
the way to the adoption order…. That 
must not change….’

Comment from a Peterborough adopter

‘I became a Peterborough adopter 
because I was welcomed from the 
beginning… I did not feel judged and I was 
supported and accepted all the way 
through’ 

Comment from a Peterborough adopter

come into force during the lifetime of the contract. Provision of this service places the child at the 
centre of all activities and recognises the life-long impact of adoption on the adopted child, their 
adoptive families and birth families. 

Recruitment and Assessment of Adopters: The Permanency Service will use information about 
children subject to child in need and child protection plans and becoming looked after to help to 
inform recruitment activities. It will seek 
to recruit adopters able to meet the 
needs of harder to place children – those 
who are older, belong to sibling groups or 
who have additional needs – in order to 
help local children as well as to contribute 
to the matching of permanent families for 
children waiting for adoption regionally 
and nationally. 

The Permanency Service will ensure that 
sufficient prospective adopters are 
recruited who are willing and able to offer fostering for adoption and concurrent placements where 
such arrangements are in the best interests of the child concerned. 

Potential adopters will experience a non-judgemental and equal opportunity focused approach to 
assessment that values diversity and welcomes potential adopters from all ethnic, religious, 
language, racial and social backgrounds regardless of sexuality, marriage or civil partnership status 
and including single applicants. 

Enquiries from potential adopters will be handled helpfully and promptly in accordance with the 
statutory guidance relating to the Two Stage Adopter Assessment Process. Enquiries will normally be 
responded to on the same day and detailed information packs sent to enquirers. Any enquiries from 
people living beyond the area within which the Permanency Service can provide a service will be 
referred to First4Adoption or similar so that their motivation as a prospective adopter is not lost. 

The preparation process, obtaining the required statutory checks, arranging of the adoption medical 
and the assessment process will be carried out by the Permanency Service in accordance with the 
Adoption National Minimum Standards. 

On completion of the two stage adoption process, the full range of information is considered by the 
Adoption Panel, which then makes a recommendation as to whether or not the applicants are 
approved as adopters and, if they are to 
be considered for concurrent planning or 
fostering for adoption placements, as 
temporary foster carers for a named 
child. Applicants are encouraged to 
attend the panel to give their views or 
provide in writing any views they want 
the panel to consider. 

The recommendation of the panel is 
considered by the Permanency Service 
Agency Decision Maker, who makes the 
final decision. 

192



26

‘The support from the Adoption Team is 
always brilliant…. We have worked 
together to find loving, brilliant adopters 
for a number of my children…. It’s great to 
feel that you have made such a difference 
to a child’s future….’

Social Worker in Children in Care Service

Should any concerns about the prospective adopters arise during any part of the process, these will 
be discussed with the applicants, and a second opinion interview will be arranged where 
appropriate. 

Should issues arise during the Stage Two process that the assessing social worker or manager believe 
may mean that an applicant may not be approved by panel, a ‘brief report’ may be presented to the 
panel, setting out the concerns. Applicants may make representations in writing or in person to the 
panel in these circumstances. 

Where the panel recommends that an assessment should not be completed, the Permanency 
Service Agency Decision Maker will make a ‘qualifying determination’ and inform the applicant of 
their options. Applicants are entitled to ask for the application to be reconsidered by the panel or to 
proceed to an Independent Review Mechanism. The recommendation of the subsequent adoption 
panel or of the Independent Review Mechanism is then referred back to the Permanency Service 
Agency Decision Maker who will consider all the information and reach a final decision. 

Family Finding and Matching Children with Adopters: The Permanency Service will maintain close 
links with Children’s Social Care services in Peterborough, ensuring that children for whom adoption 
is identified as being in their best 
interests can be matched quickly with 
available adopters. 

The responsibility for family finding lies 
with the Permanency Service and the first 
priority for the Permanency Service is 
therefore to recruit adopters able to meet 
the assessed needs of children needing 
adoptive homes. However, the 
Permanency Service will also ensure that 
it provides adopters for other children 
awaiting adoption within the Eastern 
Region and nationally.

Adopters recruited by the Permanency Service on behalf of Peterborough City Council will be 
provided to the Council on suitable matching with children looked after by Peterborough without 
any application of an interagency or other fee. 

Matches of children with adopters will take place in partnership between the child’s social worker 
and the Permanency Service. Matches will be made on the basis of the child’s holistic needs and will 
include consideration of age, siblings, any special needs as well as ethnicity and religion. However, 
placing a child will not be delayed on the basis of seeking to find an exact ethnic or religious match if 
a family is available who can meet the child’s other needs. In such circumstances, the prospective 
adopters will need to demonstrate how they will promote the child’s positive sense of identity. 

The Permanency Service will promote contact with birth families, subject to an assessment of the 
best interests of the child. Adopters will be consulted on post adoption contact, but the ethos of the 
Service is based on an assumption that post adoption contact with birth families is usually beneficial 
for the child. 

The Service will seek to match adopters to children at the earliest opportunity. While priority will 
first be given to matching adopters to Peterborough children, interagency placements of children 

193



27

from other local authorities will be actively considered in order to support the national priority that 
no child should be left waiting when a suitable match is available elsewhere. 

Adopters recruited by the Permanency Service who are matched with children looked after by other 
authorities will attract an inter-agency fee. This fee will be retained by the Permanency Service and 
will be used to support adoption arrangements, or contribute to the cost of interagency fees that are 
made when a Peterborough child is placed with adopters recruited by other agencies. 

Peterborough children placed with adopters recruited by other local authorities or voluntary 
adoption agencies will be subject to payment of an interagency adoption fee. This fee will be 
payable by the Permanency Service. Decisions as to whether to approach external adoption agencies 
in order to identify a suitable match will not be delayed by the need to pay an interagency adoption 
fee. Where there is any disagreement as to whether to seek external adopters, the Council and 
provider will use the Practice Issues escalation process as set out in section 17.

In the event of any significant change of circumstances within the adopter’s family situation or in the 
event that no placement has been made a year after approval, a relevant manager in the 
Permanency Service will review the position. This may result in a recommendation to panel to 
terminate the approval of the adopters. In such circumstances, the adopters will have the right to 
view any report provided to panel, to comment on the report and attend panel to provide their 
views if they so choose. As with the initial approval stage, the Permanency Service will make the 
Independent Review Mechanism available to adopters in these circumstances. 

The final decision to match a child with identified prospective adopters will be made by the Agency 
Decision Maker for Peterborough City Council. This includes any Fostering For Adoption Placements, 
in line with regulations and any matches between adopters and children that have been presented 
to the Adoption Panel.

Support to Placements: the Permanency Service will provide a range of support services to 
adopters, which will be tailored according to individual needs. Support available will include:

 Study days and evening seminars on issues of relevance to adopters;
 Opportunities for adopters and adopted children to meet at informal social events and so 

develop informal sources of support;
 Provision of consultation and advice on behavioural problems and emotional difficulties;
 Consultation to adopters on talking to children about their history;
 Support and liaison/assistance with referrals to specialist services such as Community 

Mental Health Services and local educational support services;
 Support with arranging contact including provision of a letterbox system;
 Lending of relevant resources including books and DVDs;
 Provision of parenting support and training including support with parenting adolescents.

A detailed adoption support plan will be agreed between the child’s social worker, the adopters and 
the Permanency Service, which will detail the support to be provided, including the provision of any 
financial support, to the adoptive placement. 

The Permanency Service will ensure that the Adoption Support Plan is included within the child’s 
electronic case record. 

Post Adoption Support: The Permanency Service will provide a full and comprehensive service to 
support adoptive and birth family members. 

194



28

‘A good adoption service is responsible, 
innovative, creative, reflective, supportive, 
partnership focussed, curious, open, 
knowledgeable, friendly, understanding, 
has vision, is welcoming, ambitious, and 
experienced…’

Members of staff from the Peterborough adoption 
team

Any adoptive family living in Peterborough may request support from the Permanency Service, 
including an assessment for financial support or support with education. The Service will assess the 
needs of all those requesting a support service and agree an individual support plan with them.  In 
many cases, the support offered will be via an evidence based programme except where the 
individual needs of adopters and/or children and young people mean that a bespoke package of 
support is required.

Short-term specialist intervention may be offered according to the assessed individual need of the 
adoptive family and may include support with life-story work, mediation over contact issues, 
attachment and therapeutic support 
including therapeutic parenting work. The 
Permanency Service will provide support 
to adopters and adopted children and 
young people in accessing a range of 
other services as appropriate including, 
for example, Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services. 

The post adoption support service will 
help and support families to access 
parenting support groups including 
Secure Base programmes, and will offer a 
variety of support activities including stay 
and play groups and adoption support groups. 

The Permanency Service will also ensure birth parent counselling for birth parents and other 
significant birth relatives is provided. A contract is currently in place with Adoptionplus for this 
service, and this contract has a further two years to run. this contract will be novated to the 
Permanency Service provider as part of this contract.

The Permanency Service will provide services to adopted adults and their birth relatives including 
counselling in preparation for search and reunion. Intermediary services between birth relatives and 
adopted people aged 18 and above, together with birth record counselling will be offered by the 
Permanency Service. 

Panels: The Permanency Service will operate an Adoption panel in accordance with the relevant 
legislation and statutory guidance. Sufficient numbers of panels will be held in order to ensure that 
demand from the need to make recommendations around the approval of prospective adopters and 
to minimise delays in matching and placing children. At least one member of the Adoption Panel will 
be a social worker and another will be a senior officer from within Peterborough City Council’s 
Children’s Services. 

Responsibility for the administration of the panel will lie with the Permanency Service.  

Agency Decision Maker: The Agency Decision Maker role as this relates to prospective adopters will 
be delegated to the Permanency Service. However, Peterborough City Council will maintain the 
Agency Decision Maker role in respect of individual children and young people. 

Independent Review Mechanism: Prospective adopters who are unhappy with the Agency’s 
decision have the right to access an Independent Review Mechanism; the Permanency Service will 
ensure that information about this right is made available. 

195



29

International Adoption: Applicants who wish to adopt a child from overseas will either be offered a 
service directly by the Permanency Service, for which a charge will be made that meets the cost of 
the service provided, or will be referred on to a suitable independent adoption agency that is able to 
offer a similar service [and which will also apply a charge accordingly]. 

6.1.9. Payment of Adoption Allowances & Arrangements for Financial Assessment
There will be occasions when adoption allowances are payable to adopters. The Permanency Service 
will be responsible for undertaking financial assessments and any reviews of adoption allowances as 
required. 

The model of financial assessment used is the standardised model, which can be found at:

http://kinshipcarers.co.uk/documents/Means_test_guidance.pdf

The Permanency Service will be responsible for ensuring that allowances are calculated accurately 
and are paid to adopters in a timely way. The Permanency Service will be responsible for reclaiming 
any overpayments made.  

6.1.10. Supporting Contact Arrangements 
The Permanency Service will ensure that there are arrangements in place to facilitate indirect 
contact between children and birth families in line with the requirements of any court orders and 
best practice. This will include the operation of an efficient letter-box contact service. 

There may be some occasions when similar arrangements for indirect contact are required where 
children and young people are in care or are subject to Child Arrangement or Special Guardianship 
Orders. The Permanency Service will also be responsible for ensuring the smooth operation of such 
contact arrangements. 

7. Placement & Resource Finding Service
Placements for children and young people coming into care or for those in care for whom a change 
of placement is required are identified by a small team currently known as the Access to Resources 
Team [ART]. This team consists of three full time Access to Resources Officers and one Business 
Development Officer. 

The Access to Resources Officers identify suitable placements in in-house, Independent Fostering 
Agency, semi-independent living and residential placements, while the Business Development 
Officer ensures that accurate records of moves are maintained in order to ensure that correct 
payments are made to carers and external providers by finance and to ensure that the correct 
contracts are in place with external providers. The Team also identifies low cost accommodation for 
young people aged 18 and over who have no recourse to public funds – mostly young people who 
arrived in the UK as unaccompanied asylum seeking children who were looked after by 
Peterborough City Council before reaching the age of 18. 

While most of the activity of the team is related to placements, it also has responsibility for 
identifying experts [e.g. psychologists, psychiatrists and so on] where specialist assessments are 
needed as part of pre-proceedings under the Public Law Outline, and for identifying crisis support to 
maintain children and young people safely in their homes and so prevent unnecessary or unplanned 
admissions into care. 

These members of staff and the functions they undertake will transfer to the Permanency Service 
under this agreement. However, while all budgets relating to children and young people in care and 

196

http://kinshipcarers.co.uk/documents/Means_test_guidance.pdf


30

‘This service is about children, individual 
and unique children, who need a home 
that is safe and stable, where they are 
loved and they can thrive… that’s all that 
matters really…’

Comment by a Member of staff

for accommodation for 18+ year olds with no recourse to public funds will also transfer to the 
Permanency Service, those relating to crisis family support and specialist assessments will remain 
with the local authority. The Access to Resources Officers will be required to continue to identify 
crisis support and expert assessments as they do now. This is a small proportion of the work that 
they do, most of which is associated with placement finding. 

Peterborough City Council has a procedure in place that sets out the level of authorisation required 
for a child to become looked after for the first time, for a placement move to take place, or for an 
external resource to be commissioned to 
support a family in crisis or undertake a 
specialist assessment. It is the 
responsibility of the Permanency Service 
to ensure that the correct authorisations 
are in place before placements or 
resources are identified. 

Except in urgent situations, the decision 
to look after a child or agree a change in 
placement are usually agreed through the 
Peterborough Access to Support Panel 
[PASP], which is held weekly except on 
the last week of the month, when the Peterborough Joint Access to Support Panel [JASP] is held. The 
PASP is chaired by the Assistant Director for Children’s Social Care, while the JASP is chaired by the 
Service Director for Children and Safeguarding. The JASP considers resource requests where the 
complexity of the needs mean that joint funding between the local authority and the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and/or with dedicated school’s funding is likely to be indicated. 

The Permanency Service will be required to be represented on these resource panels in order to 
assist in identifying suitable resources in advance as well as contributing to the discussion about the 
type of resource available that is most likely to meet assessed need. 

Where the situation is urgent, the decision for a child or young person to become looked after for 
the first time is the responsibility of the Assistant Director for Children’s Social Care or, in their 
absence, the Service Director for Children and Safeguarding. 

Where a child needs a placement – either because they are coming into the care system for the first 
time or because a current placement is coming to an end – the Council will ensure that all known 
and relevant information about the child is provided to the Permanency Service. This is in order to 
ensure that prospective carers are in the best possible position to meet the needs of children placed 
through knowledge of their routines and recent experiences, and that all carers are informed about 
any additional needs and/or risks that the child or young person may pose to other members of the 
fostering household. 

The Permanency Service will do everything possible to match the needs of the child with an available 
placement as closely as possible, recognising that compromises are always likely to be needed. In 
respect of placements with ‘in-house’ foster carers, the Permanency Service will make all reasonable 
efforts to provide additional support to placements so that the placement has the best chance of 
being successful in meeting the needs of the child or young person.  

A fundamental aim of the Permanency Service is to increase the proportion of children and young 
people placed with ‘in-house’ foster carers, reducing reliance on IFA carers and residential 

197



31

‘You just want it to work… you want to 
take a child and for them to fit with you 
and your family… It rarely works that you 
can meet them before they arrive, it 
always seems to be a crisis… I always want 
to know what the child likes, what they 
enjoy, what makes them happy; we know 
they are going to have had problems and 
we need to know those too… but I want to 
know more than just those….’

Foster carers talking asked to say what they want to 
know about a child before placement

placements. However, it will be the case that the Permanency Service will continue to need to 
source placements from these sectors – particularly as the service is becoming established. 

The Permanency Service will negotiate with commissioned providers of placements through IFAs and 
residential placements on behalf of the Council. The contract will remain between the provider of 
the placement and Council, as opposed to between the Permanency Service and the commissioned 
provider of the placement. Contracts are 
standard national contracts, and are 
designed to apply between Council and 
commissioned provider. 

Decisions about placements and 
placement matching must remain child-
centred; in-house resources should not be 
used where it is clear that needs are 
unlikely to be met through this route. 
Some externally commissioned 
placements will always be required in 
order to meet the assessed needs of the 
child or young person. 

The Permanency Service will consult with 
the child or young person’s social worker 
about the suitability of the placement 
being offered. In most cases it is expected 
that the matching process will be such that the child or young person’s social worker will agree that 
the placement being offered is suitable. Where this is not the case, and where the concerns of the 
social worker cannot be addressed through the provision of additional support to the placement 
offered by the Permanency Service and assessed as being a good match by the Service, the practice 
escalation policy in section 17 is to be followed. 

7.1. Initial Health Assessment for Children in Care
The Permanency Service will facilitate the arrangement of the initial health assessment for all 
children and young people when they first become looked after. 

Under these arrangements, the Access to Resources Team ensures that the Looked After Children’s 
Health Team is notified when a child becomes looked after, and liaises with the child’s social worker 
to ensure that all necessary paperwork including consent to the medical is provided to the Looked 
After Health Team. 

Initial Health Assessments should be completed within 20 working days of a child or young person 
first becoming looked after. Performance against this indicator will be monitored as part of the 
contract. 

8. Family Group Conferencing Service 
Family Group Conferences support extended families and friendship networks to develop 
sustainable family-based plans that address the safeguarding needs of children in the family. They 
are usually held where children and young people are already subject to child protection plans, and 
where there is a risk that without the development of a sustainable family plan, children and young 
people are likely to come into the care system. 

198



32

Family Group Conferences are also often the forum within which relatives who may be able to 
provide permanent care for a child through a Special Guardianship or Child Arrangement Order are 
identified. 

Operating the Family Group Conferencing Service independently from the Council will be helpful in 
supporting positive work and engagement with families who will also be engaged with the Council’s 
statutory child protection services. 

The current Family Group Conference Service in Peterborough consists of 1 full time conference 
coordinator and administrative support. There is also a budget to fund incidental expenses such as 
venue hire and light refreshments. 

The Permanency Service will undertake all activities related to delivering successful family group 
conferences, including facilitating the involvement and engagement of the extended family and 
friendship network, making arrangements for the Conference including sourcing a suitable venue, 
providing the conference facilitator and providing necessary administrative support. 

The Permanency Service will ensure that the agreed family plan is written up and circulated to all 
parties, including the child’s social worker, within 5 working days of the Family Group Conference. 
The current arrangements and requirements of the Family Group Conference Service for the 
monitoring of outcomes and the review of the effectiveness of the provision will continue post 
transfer. 

Where family plans are not able to promote the welfare of a child and serious safeguarding concerns 
remain, a Family Group Conference can also help families to identify and agree upon possible 
alternative permanent carers within the extended family or friendship group who could look after 
the child in the event that it is no longer in the best interests of the child to remain with their 
parents. Identification of alternative potential permanent carers within the extended family network 
should therefore always feature as part of the contingency plan agreed by the family in the event 
that it is not possible to develop a sustainable plan that enables the child or children to remain safely 
in the permanent care of their parents or carers. 

By operating the Family Group Conferencing Service, the Permanency Service will have the benefit of 
forming relationships with family and extended family members. These may prove to be beneficial in 
the event that viability assessments and/or Special Guardianship or Child Arrangement Order 
assessments of extended family members are required at a later point. 

The current Family Group Conferencing Service does not have sufficient capacity to meet need, and 
one of the areas where the Permanency Service will be asked to identify investment from savings 
elsewhere is to build capacity within the Family Group Conference Service.

9. Special Guardianship and Child Arrangement Orders
9.1. Assessment
Around 30 children and young people are placed from care with relatives through Special 
Guardianship Orders [in the majority of cases] or Child Arrangement Orders in Peterborough each 
year. Prior to such a placement being made, courts require an assessment of the suitability of the 
carers [who are often relatives of the child or children concerned]. 

There has been a trend towards younger children being placed through special guardianship orders. 
Although assessment requirements for adoption and Special Guardianship Orders differ, this trend 
towards placing younger children with carers through a Special Guardianship Order means that in 

199



33

order to secure the best long term outcomes for the child concerned, assessments of carers for a 
Special Guardianship Order benefit from being informed by learning and best practice relating to 
adoption assessments. 

Ordinarily, any viability assessments completed in relation to family members or close friends of the 
child or family will be completed by the child’s social worker. The Permanency Service will however 
be available to provide advice to social workers undertaking such assessments, and this advice may 
be particularly relevant where family members have been involved in earlier Family Group 
Conferences. In some circumstances, Permanency Staff may be asked to do a one off joint visit with 
the child’s social worker as part of the viability assessment, in order that the decision making in 
respect of the child can benefit from this prior knowledge.

Where a viability assessment is positive and the care plan or parallel plan is for the child to remain 
with the carer permanently, the Permanency Service will undertake a Special Guardianship or Child 
Arrangement Order assessment. In doing so, the Permanency Service will liaise closely with the 
child’s social worker. 

Assessments will draw on the expertise in relation to completion of assessments of potential 
adopters, and will focus on the possible challenges that Special Guardianship and Child Arrangement 
Order carers may face both in the immediate term and as the child grows older and in particular, 
consider the viability of the arrangement and any support needs that may be indicated once the 
child reaches adolescence. These areas of focus for the assessment are in line with likely 
amendments to the Special Guardianship Regulations 2005, expected in February or March 2016. 

All assessments will be completed in accordance with the timescales as determined by the court or 
within 16 weeks of the commencement of the assessment, whichever is the shorter. This is 
particularly the case in relation to court directed assessments, where any delays in completion can 
result in a wasted costs order being made against the Council. Such delays also result in reputational 
damage, which must be avoided at all costs. 

These assessments are currently undertaken by the Fostering and Adoption Service and it is not 
envisaged that there will be any transfer of qualified social worker resource to facilitate activities in 
this area. 

All assessments will be completed by a qualified social worker in line with the relevant regulations.

9.2. Support to carers under Child Arrangement & Special Guardianship Orders
The Permanency Service will offer support to carers of children under Special Guardianship Orders 
and Child Arrangement Orders for all children who were previously looked after by the Council that 
is comparable to that available to adopters [and as set out in the paragraphs above]. This is another 
area for priority investment as savings are delivered as a result of the Permanency Service. 

Where a Special Guardianship or Child Arrangement Order is made, an agreed support plan will be 
put in place detailing the financial and other forms of support to be offered and the duration of this 
support. 

Financial support is ordinarily only available for a period of two years from the making of the Special 
Guardianship or Child Arrangement Order, and is subject to an assessment of means unless the child 
was formally placed with the carers as a child in care [in other words, where the carers were 
connected carers]. Financial support is generally only available where the child concerned was 
looked after by the Council immediately prior to the making of the Child Arrangement or Special 
Guardianship Order.

200



34

‘My foster carers are brilliant’

‘They’re protecting you’

‘They’re building your confidence’

‘My carers really care for me…’

Young people asked what they like about foster care

The Permanency Service is responsible for ensuring that financial assessments are completed as 
required and for notifying the carers of the level and duration of financial support. Except where 
children were placed with non-related general foster carers prior to the making of the Special 
Guardianship or Child Arrangement Order, allowances are equivalent to level 1 fostering allowances, 
less child benefit and holiday, birthday and celebration payments. 

The Permanency Service is also responsible for reviewing on-going support to carers under Child 
Arrangement or Special Guardianship Orders in line with the relevant statutory guidance. This 
includes undertaking a re-assessment of financial means where this is required by the statutory 
guidance. 

The budget for funding Special Guardianship and Child Arrangement Order Allowances will transfer 
to the Permanency Service and it will be the responsibility of the Permanency Service to ensure that 
payments are made to carers in a timely way. 

The model of financial assessment used is the standardised model, which can be found at:

http://kinshipcarers.co.uk/documents/Means_test_guidance.pdf

All carers under Special Guardianship and Child Arrangement Orders are able to approach the 
Permanency Service beyond the period of the duration of the original support plan and request 
additional support from the service. 

The Permanency Service will offer a range of support to carers, based on their individual needs. Time 
limited support may be offered in relation to parenting, supporting the carers with attachment 
issues, managing adolescence, support with helping to explain the child’s history and story to the 
child and in mediating contact disputes. The Permanency Service will also support carers to access 
other relevant support services such as Child and Adolescent Mental Health and education support 
services. 

9.3. Promoting Special Guardianship & Child Arrangement Orders to Foster Carers
The Permanency Service will promote Special Guardianship and Child Arrangement Orders to non-
related foster carers for children and young people in care to Peterborough City Council, as a way of 
securing permanency and a more ‘normal’ family life for the child or young person and family 
concerned, where this is in the best 
interests of the child or young person 
concerned. 

As part of the promotion of such 
arrangements, the Permanency Service 
will offer detailed and bespoke on-going 
support plans for the carers concerned, 
giving them the confidence that they can 
come back to the service at any time 
should they need support in order to 
meet the needs of the child or young 
person. 

Because the move from being a child in care and looked after by a non-related general foster carer is 
a very different scenario from that applying to relatives and former connected carers, exceptional 
financial support plans can also be agreed in these circumstances, providing they remain in line with 
the Special Guardianship Regulations, 2005 including as these are amended in February 2016. 

201

http://kinshipcarers.co.uk/documents/Means_test_guidance.pdf


35

The Permanency Service will be responsible for developing the support plan in partnership with the 
carers and in providing any practical assistance necessary to facilitate the application to the Court for 
the necessary order. 

The Permanency Service will be responsible for ensuring that the support plan is included within the 
child’s electronic case record and that a copy is provided to the carers. The Permanency Service will 
ensure that carers are aware of their obligations in respect of the arrangements. 

The Permanency Service will be responsible for carrying out the reviews of the support plan as 
required by statutory guidance, and for ensuring that payments of allowances are made to carers in 
a timely way. 

The cost of allowances and of non-financial elements of the support plan will be met by the 
Permanency Service. 

9.4. Legacy Arrangements
There are a reducing number of children and young people in Special Guardianship or Residence 
Order arrangements that were put in place prior to the Council taking the decision that financial 
support should ordinarily be available for a period of two years from the date of the Order being 
made. 

Payments to carers under these arrangements continue until the child reaches the age of 16, or is no 
longer in the care of the carers for any reason. Allowances payable are subject to an annual financial 
assessment, which is the standardised model, which can be found at:

http://kinshipcarers.co.uk/documents/Means_test_guidance.pdf

The budget for payment of allowances to this group of carers will transfer to the Permanency 
Service, and the service will be responsible for ensuring the timely payment of allowances. 

The Permanency Service will also be responsible for carrying out the annual financial assessments, 
and for ensuring that the outcome of these assessments is loaded to the child’s electronic case file 
and communicated to the carers in a timely fashion. 

10. Statutory Social Work Functions for Children in Care & Care 
Leavers
Most statutory social work functions for children looked after and care leavers will continue to be 
provided by the Council. However, it is proposed that for the relatively small group of children who 
have been ‘permanently’ matched to long term ‘in-house’ foster carers, where such arrangements 
have been recommended by the child or young person’s statutory review and agreed by the Council 
Agency Decision Maker, the social work functions in respect of these children will transfer to the 
Permanency Service. 

This is intended to reduce bureaucracy often associated with decision making, and to support 
effective delegation of decision making to foster carers. The aim is to ensure that children and young 
people in care in such placements are able to experience a life that is as close as possible to that 
experienced by any child living in their permanent family home. 

The Permanency Service will also be required to promote ‘Staying Put’ arrangements. Young people 
living with former foster carers under Staying Put are supported by personal advisers. This function 

202

http://kinshipcarers.co.uk/documents/Means_test_guidance.pdf


36

‘Having lots of different social workers’

‘Having a social worker who always turns 
up late for meetings’

‘Having to ask permission for everything… 
seeing friends, going on sleep overs…’

Young people asked what they do not like about 
being in care

will also be provided by the new service for the group of children and young people who have been 
‘permanently’ placed with in-house foster carers when they leave care. 

Once such a placement has been recommended for permanent matching with an in-house foster 
carer the child or young person’s statutory review, and this recommendation is agreed by the 
Council’s Agency Decision Maker, the tasks and responsibilities of the child’s social worker will be 
delegated to the Permanency Service. 

Working within the regulations and statutory guidance, the Permanency Service will develop 
innovative approaches to ensuring that the children and young people living in ‘permanent’ foster 
families are able to experience a life that is as similar to that they would have were they not looked 
after. These approaches will need to combine ensuring that the household is effectively supported 
while providing carers with as much autonomy as possible to make decisions about the day-to-day 
lives of the children and young people for whom they care, in line with the Permanency Services’ 
foster carer delegation protocol.

The Permanency Service will ensure 
separate workers are allocated to the 
child or young person in placement, and 
in the support role to the foster carers, in 
line with relevant legislation and 
statutory guidance. 

Responsibility for the statutory social 
work function in respect of the child or 
young person will only transfer to the 
Permanency Service once the child or 
young person’s case file is brought fully 
up to date. 

The Permanency Service will ensure that all children and young people for whom they hold statutory 
responsibility under these provisions receive a service that meets and preferably exceeds the 
minimum statutory requirements and strives for excellence at all times. 

Children and young people will be visited regularly and seen alone in placement; visits will be written 
up and care and other plans and any assessments will reflect the voice of the child. The allocated 
worker will work with partners including in health and education to ensure that the child or young 
person achieves their full potential. 

Arrangements will be put in place to ensure that the child or young person accesses health 
assessments and dental checks at least in line with statutory requirements. Carers will participate in 
the completion of Strength and Difficulties Questionnaires in a timely way, subject to the age of the 
child or young person in placement. 

Contact will be promoted with family and friends in accordance with the best interests of the child 
or young person. 

Children and young people in care and placed in such ‘permanent’ in-house foster placements will 
continue to have access to advocacy services as commissioned by the Council, as well as to the Child 
in Care Council and statutory complaints processes. Any allegations made by children and young 
people in these placements will be notified to the Council within 72 hours, including any action 
undertaken to safeguard the child or young person, and the outcome of any subsequent enquiries. 

203



37

The LADO will be notified where appropriate. Further information on managing allegations and 
ensuring that children and young people are safeguarded can be found in section 14.3 below. 

It is not envisaged that this function will require a significant amount of transfer of resources. 
Children and young people for whom the Permanency Service will acquire statutory social work 
functions are the most settled in placement among the in care population as a whole. As such, they 
will require lower levels of visiting than most other children in care.  There will be 2 social worker 
posts that will transfer to the Permanency Service to meet the needs of this group. There will be very 
few if any young people who will have left care from this group at the point of contract mobilisation, 
and so a 0.5 FTE personal adviser post will transfer to the Permanency Service to support leaving and 
after care functions. 

Budgets associated with providing a service to this group of children and young people will also 
transfer to the Permanency Service. This will include budgets such as subsistence and travel costs for 
social workers, and incidental budgets related to the costs of supporting children and young people 
in care where these are not already met as part of the fees and allowances payable to foster carers. 

In the event that a ‘permanent’ placement covered by these arrangements comes to an unplanned 
end, the child or young person will remain allocated to their existing worker for a period of up to 3 
months to ensure that they are supported into their new placement. This period is to allow for a 
transfer of social work responsibility to the Council’s child in care service, and to ensure that all 
relevant information is shared with any new placement. 

10.1 Leaving and After Care Support for Care Leavers formerly ‘permanently’ placed 
with ‘in house’ foster carers
The majority of care leaving services will be provided by the Council. However, the Permanency 
Service will deliver Leaving and Aftercare Service in accordance with the relevant legislation and 
statutory guidance for all young people placed with ‘in house’ foster carers on a permanent basis 
and for whom responsibility has been delegated to the Permanency Service. 

All such young people will have a pathway plan by the age of 15, assuming they are looked after at 
this point in their lives. Pathway plans will be informed by an up to date assessment. Young people 
will be involved in the development of their pathway plans, and the voice of the young person will 
be evident throughout the process, as well as recorded within the assessment and the plan. 

Pathway plans will be regularly reviewed and a reassessment of need followed by a revised pathway 
plan will take place wherever there are significant changes in the circumstances of the young person, 
or in their plans for the future. 

The Permanency Service will ensure that all care leavers who are or were formerly placed in 
‘permanent’ foster placements have a Personal Adviser, and measures will be in place to ensure that 
the Permanency Service remains in contact with care leavers. The service offered to young people 
will be young-person centred. Care leavers will be involved in the development of plans for them 
and in developments surrounding Leaving and Aftercare generally. 

The Permanency Service will work with local housing providers and in particular with the Council’s 
Housing Services to ensure that all care leavers are provided with suitable housing. Moves to 
independent living will take place in a planned way except where urgent circumstances prevent this.  

The Permanency Service will develop effective means of seeking the views of care leavers including 
through the development of safe and secure social media and web-based applications. This 

204



38

approach may be delivered on behalf of the Council to include all care leavers by agreement and in 
due course.

The Permanency Service will ensure that care leavers have access to advice and support in relation 
to education, employment, training and apprenticeships.

The Permanency Service will broker support for care leavers from other services that they may need 
including Adult Social Care Services and Mental Health services.  

The Permanency Service will assist care leavers to maintain their relationships with former care-
givers and others of significance in their lives, while supporting them with relationships with their 
birth families as appropriate. 

It is unlikely that there will be any need for more than 0.5 FTE personal adviser post to transfer to 
the Permanency Service in order to provide these leaving and after care services. However, it is 
recognised that this level of resourcing will need to be maintained under regular review as the 
Permanency Service develops. This may result in the transfer of additional resources from the 
Council to the provider at a later date. 

In the event that the need for resources increases, arrangements to meet the increased need will be 
agreed within the Joint Governance Board.  

11. Expected Service Developments
The provider will be required to present plans for the development of the following service 
improvements within 3 months of the end of the mobilisation period. Progress against the resulting 
implementation plans will be monitored through the Joint Governance Board. 

11.1. Improving Support to Child Arrangement & Special Guardianship Order Carers
As noted elsewhere, the number of children leaving care to become permanently placed with Special 
Guardianship Order carers is currently around 30 per annum – similar to the number of children 
leaving care through adoption. Numbers placed under Child Arrangement Orders are currently very 
much smaller, but the principle of improving support to this group of carers applies equally. 

The age of children being placed with relatives under a Special Guardianship Order during care 
proceedings is reducing, with a growing number of children aged 5 or under being placed through 
these provisions. 

Carers providing permanent care to young children under either Child Arrangement or Special 
Guardianship Orders are likely to face similar challenges to those faced by adopters as children 
placed with them grow older. We are therefore determined to ensure that this group of permanent 
carers are able to access similar levels of support as that available to adopters, in order to ensure 
that as few of these arrangements come to an unplanned end in the future. 

Financial support offered to this group of carers is not envisaged to change. Current policy is for 
Special Guardianship Order carers to be provided with two years financial assistance in line with 
level 1 fostering allowances, less child benefit, except in exceptional circumstances [such as where 
the child concerned has complex disabilities]. This financial support to Special Guardianship Order 
carers is not envisaged to change. 

However, the Permanency Service is required to develop a range of support services for permanent 
carers under Child Arrangement and Special Guardianship Orders that is broadly in line with that 
available to adopters, as described in sections 6.1.7 and 6.1.8 above. Where children are moving 

205



39

from the care of the local authority to carers under these orders, particular attention is to be paid to 
ensuring that the initial support plan that is put in place will promote successful permanency. 

11.2. Encouraging Foster Carers to Seek Special Guardianship Orders
For children who are placed with non-relative foster carers – both ‘in-house’ and IFA carers – the 
new service will promote permanency through Special Guardianship Orders. Our foster carers say 
that the principal issue that concerns them about Special Guardianship Orders is access to support 
for the child and themselves in future years, should this be necessary.  

Some carers are also concerned about financial implications, and there is greater provision within 
our current arrangements for an on-going commitment to pay a Special Guardianship Order 
allowance in these circumstances. However, it is the issue of access to non-financial support that is 
the most commonly mentioned barrier, and it is in this area that the new service will be expected to 
make a significant contribution. 

11.3. Improving Support for Children Returning Home from Care
The most common reason for children and young people to leave care is returning home to parents 
after a period of being looked after. Nationally, around 34% of exits from care happen for this 
reason. Sadly, nationally, around half of these children and young people return to the care system. 

We want to improve outcomes for this group of children and young people. The Permanency Service 
will therefore develop new and innovative approaches to supporting the effective return home, so 
that such moves result in successful permanency. 

Such approaches may not require any significant investment; they may be possible to achieve by 
utilising existing resources in different ways. Foster carers may be able to be supported to play a 
bigger role in supporting parents in developing their parenting abilities through modelling, for 
example. 

This approach will generally be available to two groups of children and young people: those for 
whom the plan on coming into care is to identify and support a sustainable return home and those 
where an assessment has been completed that indicates that a return home is appropriate, but 
where some additional support is likely to be necessary in order for this to be successful. 

The outcomes of the new approaches to supporting this group of children and young people to 
return home will form part of the overall performance framework relating to the Permanency 
Service. 

11.4. Developing capacity within the Family Group Conferencing Service 
The current level of resources within the Family Group Conferencing Service is limited and is not 
sufficient to meet demand. This is also an area where the new service will be expected to use savings 
derived from reduced levels of higher cost placements to increase investment. The eventual aim will 
be to increase capacity of this service by 100%, or as necessary to meet reasonable levels of 
demand. 

12. Service User Engagement
The Permanency Service will ensure that the voice of service users influences the design of services. 
In particular, children and young people who are in care and young people who have left care will be 
provided with a variety of opportunities to participate in the design and review of services as well as 
in their own individual care and pathway plans. 

206



40

The Permanency Service will assist in supporting the Children in Care Council and a Care Leaver’s 
participation group. Children and young people of primary school age and above will be encouraged 
to participate in these representative groups by foster carers and staff within the Permanency 
Service. 

In addition, foster carers and key members of staff will be proactive in ensuring and enabling all 
children and young people to participate in the development of plans that determine their future, 
and the review of these plans, in partnership with Independent Reviewing Officers. 

The Permanency Service will work with children and young people in care and care leavers as well as 
with the Council to enable and develop safe and secure means of communicating their views about 
the services they receive through social media and web-based applications.

The Permanency Service will work with young people as they are preparing to leave care and with 
those who have left care to help to develop a range of resources that assist young people in 
managing independent living, including, for example, various practical ‘how to’ guides on managing 
the responsibility of a property. 

The Permanency Service will ensure that there are a number and variety of ways in which children 
and young people in care and care leavers are able to meet informally.

The successes of children in care and care leavers will be regularly celebrated, including at events 
that are specifically designed to build pride, resilience and aspiration among children and young 
people in care and care leavers. 

The Permanency Service will ensure that children and young people in care and care leavers are able 
to meet with elected Members and senior officers of the authority in formal and informal 
circumstances. 

Foster carers and prospective adopters will be provided with a number of ways of participating in 
the design and review of services. 

The Permanency Service will promote and support a Foster Carers’ support group and/or executive 
committee or similar. Senior officers of the Permanency Service will meet regularly with this group, 
and will work through any issues of concern for carers with their representatives. The commissioning 
lead for the Council will also meet regularly with carers through this mechanism. 

Foster carers and adopters will be supported to develop their own informal and formal means of 
support, building capacity across the service. New carers, for example, may be ‘buddied’ with more 
experienced carers, who can provide support and advice as they develop their confidence and 
experience. 

Adopters and adopted children will be given the opportunity to meet other adopters and children 
and thereby develop their own sustainable support networks. Examples of how this can be achieved 
include ‘Stay and Play’ sessions, as well as more formal support events, perhaps based around 
common themes such as helping children to understand their journey. 

Parents of children and young people looked after will also be given the opportunity to participate in 
the design of services, as well as being encouraged and enabled to participate in the planning in 
respect of their own child, where this is in the child’s best interests. Contact will be promoted – 
where this is in the best interests of the child or young person – and parents’ views will be valued 
and respected. 

207



41

Birth families of adopted children will also be enabled to participate in the design of services to 
support birth families and, together with parents and extended families of children and young 
people in care, will be asked to provide their views about the effectiveness of the services that they 
receive.  

The above activities will support the functioning of the Corporate Parenting Panel, by helping 
Members to maintain an understanding of the experience of being in care and leaving care and so be 
more effective advocates for looked after children and young people. 

13. Information and Communication Technology 
The Permanency Service will continue to use the Peterborough City Council child recording system – 
Liquid Logic – for recording all child and carer related matters. Information sharing agreements will 
be in place to facilitate this arrangement, and the provider will be required to have policies and 
procedures in relation to data protection and data sharing that are fit for purpose and at least meet 
the minimum statutory requirements.  

Licences for use of Liquid Logic will be provided by the Council and will not be subject to any charge 
to the provider. 

The Permanency Service will be expected to develop ICT solutions to facilitate the recording of 
observations by foster carers of children and young people in placement, enabling an electronic 
record of the progress of children and young people to be maintained. 

The Council will ensure that staff working for the Permanency Service have access to ICT equipment 
and support in line with social workers and officers working in Children’s Social Care. 

14. General Practice Standards
14.1 Record Keeping
14.1.1. Statutory Practitioner Records
The Permanency Service will ensure that all practitioners working with children, young people, foster 
and adoptive carers maintain accurate records using the Liquid Logic client recording system [or such 
other systems that may be adopted by agreement with the Council over the course of the contract]. 

This recording must be in accordance with best practice standards, including:

 Clearly evidencing the views, wishes and feelings and voice of service users;
 Distinguishing between opinion and fact;
 Taking in to account factors such as ethnicity, gender, religion, sexuality, age and ability, any 

disabilities in the assessment of need and care planning;
 Evidencing effective management oversight including recording of decisions and reasons for 

decisions being made;
 Evidencing the involvement of children and young people in care and pathway plans made 

about them;
 Being completed within 72 hours of the event [visit etc.] taking place;
 Using the correct templates for recoding of information including in the development of 

chronologies, plans, completion of risk assessments and so on;
 Accepting updates that are applied within Liquid Logic to templates and processes so that 

practice within the permanency Service is aligned with that within Children’s Social Care.

208



42

‘I need help to change my behaviour since 
that will cause arguments if I get rude to 
older people’

Young person in care asked what they want to change

The case file must include all relevant information including copies of relevant correspondence, 
financial and other assessments, any complaints or compliments and the outcome of any 
complaints. 

14.1.2. Record Keeping by Carers
The Permanency Service will ensure that all foster carers [including those who are looking after a 
child under the Fostering for Adoption or Concurrent Planning arrangements] keep clear, written 
records about the child or young person in placement, their activities, progress, appointments and 
any incidents or concerns. 

Use of electronic recording systems is the expected model of recording factual daily observational 
recording about children, young people, other family members or those with a significant 
relationship with the child or young person who have been in in contact with the child or foster 
placement.

Foster carers will also keep up to date photographs of the child or young person and maintain 
mementos and photos that can support the memories of children and young people in later life, in 
the form of a ‘Life Story’ book; again the expectation is that this will form part of a secure digital 
record. 

Foster carers will be supported by the Permanency Service to contribute towards producing well-
evidenced and appropriate reports for a range of purposes, including for the potential use in court. 

Where a placement is offered to a child and their parent[s], the foster carer will ensure that 
recording of factual observations is detailed so that it can assist in decision making about the care 
arrangements that are likely to be in the best interests of the child. This information may need to be 
presented to court, and on rare occasions, carers may need to attend court. The Permanency Service 
will ensure that foster carers are trained in this area and are supported to share the information 
with the parent[s]. 

It is likely that on some occasions, the behaviour of children or young people in placement may be 
such that intervention by carers or others is required in order to maintain good order and discipline.

In addition to meeting all Foster Carer National Minimum Standards and in particular to Standard 3: 
Promoting Positive Behaviour and 
Relationships, the Permanency Service 
will ensure that foster carers have clear 
written guidance around how to 
maintain good order and discipline. 
These guidelines will state that as far as 
possible, only verbal guidance and 
instruction will be used to influence the 
behaviour of a child or young person. 
Any other measures to influence a 
service users’ behaviour will be wholly exceptional, restricted to minimum intervention and 
proportionate and appropriate in all circumstances. Any sanctions applied will be used sparingly and 
be contemporaneous, relevant and just. 

In the event that any sanctions are used, the foster carer will record these clearly in the notes they 
maintain about the child or young person.

209



43

Any cases where any form of physical intervention is used will be notified in writing to the Council on 
the first working day after the event, meaning the social worker and team manager responsible for 
the child, or the lead commissioner in the case of children and young people ‘permanently’ matched 
with ‘in-house carers’.

The expectation is that all foster carers are provided with an evidenced based training package that 
covers issues such as disorganised attachment, managing challenging behaviour, recovery from 
trauma and similar, with the outcome that there will be a reduced need to use sanctions or any form 
of physical intervention. Where such interventions have been needed, the Permanency Service will 
ensure that foster carers are provided with appropriate support with the aim of making it less likely 
that such responses will be required again. 

The above applies to children and young people placed with prospective adopters but who have not 
yet been formally adopted. Once the child has been adopted, record keeping should be in 
accordance with that in normal family life – i.e. restricted to keeping mementoes and photos of 
activities for later life. 

14.2. Safeguarding
Promoting the safeguarding and wellbeing of children and young people using the Permanency 
Service is of fundamental importance. 

All foster carers and prospective adopters must receive in-depth training on safeguarding issues 
including:

 The provision of appropriate care with clear boundaries;
 Promoting safe use of social media, internet and similar by children and young people in 

placement;
 How to respond to a child or young person who makes a disclosure of abuse;
 Procedures to follow in the event that a child or young person goes missing from the 

placement;
 Recognition of signs that may indicate a young person being at risk of Child Sexual 

Exploitation and procedures to follow;
 Recognition of signs that a young person may be misusing non-prescription substances or 

alcohol, and the procedures to follow;
 Recognition of risks associated with self-harming behaviour.

All staff working in the Permanency Service who have contact with children, their families, or their 
carers, or who supervise those who have such contact, will receive safeguarding training appropriate 
to their role. This training will include access to the Local Safeguarding Children Board training and 
levels of training will be at least in line with minimum standards.

A senior manager within the Permanency Service will be named as being the lead for safeguarding 
issues. This officer will have responsibility for ensuring that the Permanency Service complies with 
the requirements of s.11 of the Children Act 2004. 

The Permanency Service will have in place its own safeguarding procedure that complies with the 
Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board procedures and with Working Together 2015, and any 
subsequent procedures and statutory guidance that come into effect during the period of the 
contract. These procedures will be kept under regular review to ensure that they remain in line with 
best practice. 

210



44

The Permanency Service will have a Whistleblowing procedure in place, and all staff and carers will 
receive training on the main features of the policy.

Where allegations have been made against staff or carers, the Permanency Service will inform the 
Local Authority Designated Officer [LADO]. 

Allegations made against foster carers will be managed in accordance with the requirements of the 
relevant National Minimum Standards for Fostering Services. 

Decisions as to whether children and young people need to be moved from a placement following 
an allegation will be made jointly by the Permanency Service and the Council, with due regard to the 
views of the LADO. Placement moves will be avoided where this is unlikely to be in the best interests 
of the child or young person concerned. Factors to be considered when deciding whether or not a 
placement move should take place will include:

 The nature of the allegation and the identity of the person who has made it;
 The age and circumstances of the child or young person, with due regard to their wishes and 

feelings;
 Consideration of what actions can be taken to reduce or minimise any risks while enquiries 

are made.

The final decision as to whether a child or young person needs to move placement following an 
allegation having been made rests with the applicable Head of Service within the local authority, 
taking into account the advice provided by the LADO. Where the Permanency Service is unhappy 
with this decision and other means of resolving the disagreement have failed, the matter can be 
escalated using the practice escalation process. 

Where the decision relates to a child or young person for whom looked after services have been 
delegated to the Permanency Service, the Permanency Service will consult with the LADO and IRO 
for the child or young person concerned. The Permanency Service will then seek ratification of their 
decision with the Commissioning Lead within Peterborough City Council, having supplied all relevant 
information about the concerns or allegations. 

The Permanency Service will record and report to the Authority the volume of child protection 
incidents in relation to the Service as well as those referred by the Provider [including themes 
identified and action taken]. These detailed records of allegations will be compiled into an annual 
report to the Council which summarise:

 The nature of the allegations;
 Whether allegations have been made about the same carer or member of staff on more 

than one occasion;
 The action taken as a result of the allegation;
 The outcome of any enquiries or investigations;
 The final outcome – i.e. further training, disciplinary action, termination of approval, 

prosecution as relevant. 

All child protection referrals received by the Authority about the Permanency Service, its employees 
and/or the Service will be logged and investigated under the Authority’s Child Protection Procedure. 

To assist the investigation, the Permanency Service will provide the Authority with all required 
information within the requested timescales. 

211



45

‘The Permanency Service has to be value 
driven, not just cost driven’

Comment by member of staff

The Permanency Service will ensure that carers and members of staff attend and contribute to all 
strategy and other meetings related to the safeguarding of individual children and young people as 
required. 

14.3. Children and Young People Missing from Care
The Permanency Service will have in place a Missing from Care procedure, which will be in line with 
the procedures of the local safeguarding children board and the Council. 

The Permanency Service will ensure that all employees and in particular, foster carers, are made 
aware of, understand and receive the appropriate training in relation to absconding and missing 
children and young people and the Permanency Service’s  procedure.

The Permanency Service will ensure that all absences are notified to the Authority in line with the 
Fostering Services [England] Regulations, 2011, and any regulations that come into effect during the 
course of the contract. 

Where a child or young person for whom the Permanency Service has responsibility for the provision 
of a statutory social work service goes missing, the Permanency Service will ensure that appropriate 
risk assessments, including the Child Sexual Exploitation risk assessment where relevant, are 
undertaken and that these are used to update the care plan in order to ensure that risks to the child 
or young person are minimised. 

The Permanency Service will co-operate fully with the need for Return Interviews to be completed 
with any missing young person. These are provided by a Council-commissioned organisation and will 
not incur any additional cost for the Service.

The Permanency Service will ensure that carers and practitioners attend and contribute to all 
strategy and other meetings relating to children and young people who go missing as required. 

15. Finance, budgets and 
reporting arrangements 
It is proposed that all placement related 
budgets will transfer to the Permanency 
Service. These budgets will then have 
savings targets attached to them, which 
will be delivered through increased use of 
Special Guardianship Orders and reduced 
use of IFA and residential placements. In addition to delivering savings targets, investment required 
for new areas of service delivery [as detailed in the relevant sections below] will also be identified 
through the reduced use of more costly placements. 

Staffing budgets for those who transfer to the new service under TUPE will also transfer, along with 
associated budgets covering staff expenses and similar. Details of posts can be found within the 
relevant schedule of the contract.  

Sufficient budget will also transfer to ensure that incidental staffing expenses such as mileage and 
expenses are able to be met by the Permanency Service. 

Business support functions are currently provided by SERCO to the Council under a long term 
contract. Resources sufficient to provide business support functions for the Permanency Service will 
transfer to the new service. 

212



46

The table below sets out the expected year end position for placement budgets as at the end of 
month 10: 

PLACEMENT TYPE BUDGET

16+ ACCOMODATION / SUBSISTANCE £839,829

INDEPENDENT AGENCY FOSTERING £4,014,998

AGENCY RESIDENTIAL [SOCIAL CARE COST] £2,095,852

IN HOUSE FOSTERING £2,274,698

FAMILY AND FRIENDS – CONNECTED CARERS £239,289

ADOPTION ALLOWANCE £720,353

WELFARE SECURE – SOCIAL CARE COST £122,905

ASYLUM SEEKERS £477,656

REMAND £12,314

REMAND CONTRIBUTION -£66,340

NO RECOURSE TO PUBLIC FUNDS £25,025

CLAIM FOR ASYLUM SEEKERS -£477,656

 

TOTAL LAC PLACEMENT BUDGETS £10,278,923

 

NON LAC GENERAL FUND PLACEMENTS

18+ ACCOMMODATION SUBSISTENCE £13,583

LAC EDUCATION £60,000

STAYING PUT £159,338

RESIDENCE ORDER £226,095

SPECIAL GUARDIANSHIP ORDER £727,372

TOTAL NON LAC PLACEMENT PRESSURES £1,186,388

 

TOTAL £11,473,311

The total placement budget allowed for in 2016/17 is £11,666,309, meaning that assuming no 
sustained increase in numbers of children in the system, there should be sufficient budget to meet 
placement costs. 

There is a £10,000 pa contribution to Axiom Housing within the 16+ budget above which provides 
some additional support to enable some higher need young people who are looked after to access 
provision at the Foyer. 

The Dedicated Schools Grant [DSG] funds the educational element only of residential placements 
including welfare secure and remand placements for young people of statutory school age and for 

213



47

any young person up to age 18 who has an Education, Health and Care Plan that identifies that a 
specialist education provision is needed to meet educational need. 

The current pricing split for joint funded residential placements where the funding is split between 
children’s social care and education is 28%/72%. A small number of specialist placements are also 
joint funded with the Clinical Commissioning Group, where there are clear health-related reasons for 
the placement being required. The contribution by the Clinical Commissioning Group is agreed at the 
monthly Peterborough Joint Agency Support Panel [JASP], at which the Permanency Service will be 
required to attend. 

It is not possible for either of these funding sources to transfer to the Permanency Service. The 
Permanency Service will therefore be required to ensure that it has measures in place to ensure that 
the correct sums are received from the Council and Clinical Commissioning Group. The Permanency 
Service will also be responsible for providing information about children and young people where 
such joint funding arrangements are in place as requested, and to facilitate the provision of reports 
from commissioned providers when placements are reviewed within the Council’s panel processes 
and in particular when reviewed by JASP. 

The above funding split reduces the risk to the provider associated with high cost, low volume 
placements such as welfare secure since in most cases, the budget transferred to the provider will 
only be required to cover 28% of the placement cost, with the remainder being met from the DSG. 
Where there is a contribution from the Clinical Commissioning Group, the proportion of the total 
cost borne by the provider may be reduced further. 

The operational elements of the Permanency Service will continue to be delivered from the current 
office locations. For most services, this means Bayard Place, Broadway, Peterborough. The Family 
Group Conference Coordinator is currently located within the Town Hall, Bridge Street, 
Peterborough. There is flexibility as to where this post may most appropriately be located. It is 
recognised that some elements of strategic operation of the service may be located elsewhere but 
the expectation is that all operational and line management functions remain at Bayard Place in 
order to ensure good communication with the services that continue to be delivered by the Council.

There will be no charge made to the provider for the use of the Council’s accommodation at least in 
the foreseeable future. The provider will be required to enter into a license agreement as set out in 
schedule 17 of the terms and conditions. 

Services and facilities including desk space, stationery, IT equipment, printing and so on will continue 
to be provided by the Council. This is so as to enable the Permanency Service to continue to benefit 
from existing large scale contracts with existing providers. 

15.1. Savings to be achieved
The Council requires savings to be applied to the overall cost of providing the service as follows: 

 2016/17: Nil – contract mobilisation period. However, the provider will need to be preparing 
to achieve savings for 2017/18;

 2017/18: £650,000;
 2018/19 – a further £250,000 saving to be applied, meaning that there will be a total budget 

reduction of £900,000 by 2018/19

214



48

Thereafter, the service is expected to be provided at the same cost as for the year 2018/19, save for 
agreements relating to cost increases as set out below. In the event that further savings are realised 
after this financial year, these will be apportioned as set out in Section 15.2 on Transparency below. 

These savings will be achieved by a steady reduction in the use of IFA placements [there were 
around 95 children and young people in such placements as of the end of February 2016] or by 
reduced use of higher cost residential placements. The Permanency Service will also be able to 
reduce costs by encouraging long term foster carers to feel sufficiently confident to apply for Special 
Guardianship Orders where this is in the best interests of the child or young person. 

The Council also requires that the Permanency Service delivers investment in the following areas:

 Improved support to carers of children who have left care as a result of a Child Arrangement 
or Special Guardianship Order so that this is equivalent to the support offered to adopters;

 Increased capacity within the Family Group Conference Service so that it is able to meet 
demand in respect of children and young people subject to child protection plans;

 Investment in improving support for children returning home from care, including through 
development of innovative approaches to utilise the skills of foster carers to offer modelling 
and parenting support to families.

More information about these expectations are set out in the relevant sections elsewhere in this 
specification.  

15.2. Transparency
Developing the Permanency Service will result in the transfer of a significant amount of public 
funding to the new provider. The aim of doing so is to re-energise services in the City with the end 
result that fewer children and young people are placed with for profit fostering agencies. While this 
approach is not just about reducing expenditure - we also want more of our children and young 
people placed with our carers whom we know well and hence we can be more confident about the 
matching of needs of children to fostering households – it would not be acceptable to the local 
community or to the political leadership of the Council for any of the public funds being transferred 
to be used to contribute to private sector profit. 

For this reason, the provider of the Permanency Service will be required to operate under a rule of 
full financial disclosure and open-book accounting. The provider is required to adhere to the 
following requirements:

 Full accounting including the predicted budget position to be provided to the Council on a 
monthly basis: This is also essential as it will enable any developing financial shortfalls to be 
identified early and enable both partners to agree on corrective actions;

 All costs associated with the delivery of central support functions such as Human Resources 
support, staff training, management costs and similar are to be fully and openly detailed 
within the monthly reported budgets. The Council reserves the right to cap any such charges 
where they appear to be applied at a higher level than can be evidenced as reasonable by 
the provider;

 Where the provider is part of a broader organisation that includes ‘for profit’ activities and 
operations, the provider is not permitted to sub-contract any activities to ‘for-profit’ 
operations operated by the same provider except where the provider can evidence that 
these services are being provided on a cost only basis;

215



49

 Any surpluses that are created as a result of the activities of the Permanency Service shall 
not be used towards the payment of any salaries or bonuses. The Joint Governance Board 
will agree on how any surpluses are to be used. In most cases, surpluses will be required to 
contribute to savings that the Council will continue to need to identify, be used to invest in 
service development within the Permanency Service to support children and young people 
in Peterborough or in broader children’s services within Peterborough, or to develop a 
contingency fund to assist the service in meeting increased costs in future financial years, as 
permitted by financial regulations. The likelihood is that any surplus will be used to 
contribute to all areas. 

The provider will be required to make full accounts available to Council Finance Services and to 
auditors as required. These accounts will need to show where any funds have moved from one part 
of the provider organisation to another, and how these funds have been used.

15.3. Managing Cost Pressures
The initial budgets and staffing transferring to the Permanency Service from the Council reflect the 
‘as is’ cost of providing a mixed range of placements for children and young people in care, providing 
adoption, residence order/child arrangement order and special guardianship order allowances, 
assessing the financial means of carers for allowances, providing adoption support services, 
recruiting, assessing and supporting foster carers and adopters, and funding young people aged 18 
and over who have no recourse to public funds. 

The placement budgets together have been sufficient to provide the mix of placements for around 
345-355 children and young people in care; the level at which placement numbers have been for the 
last 12 months. 

Cost pressures are most likely to arise from three main sources: increasing fees and costs associated 
with looking after children and young people because of cost pressures such as salary costs, average 
unit placement costs, the impact of changes in legislation or guidance, and so on, an increase in the 
numbers of children in care in Peterborough, or as a result of an unexpected increase in the number 
of low volume high cost placements.  

Where such pressures arise, the Permanency Service and the Council will work together to identify 
ways in which pressures can be met without the need for additional Council funds being identified. It 
is not in the interests of the Council, the provider, members of staff or children and young people for 
cost pressures to become unsustainable, and additional funds will need to be identified where this is 
unavoidable. 

15.3.1. Managing general cost pressures
The assumption in place where there are any areas of increased costs is that the provider will first 
seek to offset such costs by applying savings elsewhere. 

The principles of open book accounting that are required of the provider mean that the Permanency 
Service is able to demonstrate how increases in costs have been offset elsewhere, and where such 
actions have reached their limit. 

Where the Permanency Service is unable to take further action to offset increased costs, the 
provider will provide a report to the Joint Governance Board, which will consider the level of 
shortfalls and the collective response to addressing this. 

216



50

It will be important for sufficient notice to be provided of any financial risks, as the Council will need 
time to identify the source of any increased funding should this be required. This means that the 
Permanency Service must provide at least 3 months’ notice of any intention to request additional 
Council funds to meet general cost pressures. 

15.3.2. Increased costs arising from an increase in numbers of children & young people in 
care
The Permanency Service cannot directly influence the numbers of children and young people who 
are taken into care by the Council. However decisions about children and young people coming into 
the care system are only one factor contributing to overall numbers in care. Some research indicates 
that it is the throughput of children and young people through the care system and out to hopefully 
successful permanent care through return home, adoption, Special Guardianship Orders and so on 
that has more impact on the overall numbers of children looked after at any one time. These are all 
areas where the new Permanency Service will have impact. 

Indeed, it is by improving services in such areas that the Council hopes not only to secure improved 
outcomes for more children and young people, but to help to continue to offset any long term 
trends towards an increasing number of children and young people coming into the care system as 
national figures have indicated over recent years. 

However, it is recognised that it is increasing numbers of children and young people becoming 
looked after that present the most significant risk in relation to budget pressures. 

The overall number of children and young people in care is not static, and fluctuates across the year. 
The expectation is that the Permanency Service will be able to manage pressures arising from short-
lived peaks in numbers of children and young people in care that are higher than the 345-355 
number, providing that these are offset by comparable periods when numbers are lower. 

It is also the expectation that the increasing recruitment of fostering households in Peterborough, 
particularly households able to meet the needs of children and young people with more complex 
needs, will provide a cushion against which the costs associated with any more general increase in 
overall numbers of children and young people in care can be offset. 

However, should there be any sustained period of high numbers, and particularly should these 
numbers increase above 365 children and young people in care for more than 2 months, it is 
recognised that the Permanency Service may not be able to meet the resulting increasing placement 
costs from savings made elsewhere. 

Overall numbers of children and young people in care is monitored on a weekly basis by the Council 
and will continue to be so. This monitoring provides an early warning of any upward trend in overall 
numbers. 

As in respect of the management of general cost pressures in the section above, the principles of 
open book accounting that will be required of the provider will mean that the Permanency Service 
will be able to demonstrate how increases in costs have been offset elsewhere, and where such 
actions have reached their limit. 

It will be important for sufficient notice to be provided of any financial risks as the Council will need 
time to identify the source of any increased funding should this be required. The Permanency 
Service will therefore need to provide a detailed report outlining the impact of any increased 
numbers of children and young people in care once numbers have been at 365 or above for one 

217



51

month, should this increase be sustained for two months and longer. This report will need to identify 
what actions can be taken to offset costs elsewhere. 

Overall numbers and the impact on placement costs will then be monitored closely by a group of 
senior officers from the provider and the Council as agreed by the Joint Governance Board. This 
group will work to ensure that factors such as thresholds for access to the care system and the 
progress of children through the system remain appropriate, taking action where necessary. 

The impact of such remedial actions will be monitored by the Governance Board, which will meet 
more frequently if this is agreed as appropriate. 

Where overall numbers of children and young people in care in Peterborough continue to result in 
sustained pressures on the budget of the Permanency Service, the Governance Board will support 
approaches to the Council in identifying additional funds, recognising that this may lead to service 
reductions elsewhere. 

15.3.3. Unexpected increased use of ‘Low volume, High cost’ placements
Overall numbers of children and young people in Peterborough in the care system are relatively 
small, meaning that there is a vulnerability to volatility in relation to the numbers of children and 
young people requiring high cost placements that are generally needed by only a very small number 
over the course of the year. An example is the cost of remands to secure accommodation within the 
criminal justice system. 

Although criminal remands are rare in Peterborough, there have been occasions where a number of 
young people have been remanded into custody for considerable periods, often because they have 
been accused of involvement in serious offences as a group. 

For young people of statutory school age, the risk of an exceptional increase in high cost placements 
is offset by the proportion of the overall cost that is chargeable to the Dedicated Schools Grant 
[DSG]. This is an important safeguard in that it is this age group who are more likely to be remanded 
to a secure training centre, where costs are significantly higher than young offender institution [YOI]. 

For older young people, it is not possible to use the DSG to offset costs unless they have an 
Education Health and Care Plan that stipulates a requirement for on-going specialist education post 
16 – which is unlikely. For older young people, the full cost of such remands will need to be met from 
the placement budget, although in most cases, the cost will be reduced as it is more likely that young 
people will be remanded to a YOI unless they have been assessed as having particular vulnerabilities. 

In all cases where young people are remanded into custody, the Youth Offending Service will assess 
risks of re-offending, witness intimidation and failure to surrender to bail and seek to identify 
alternatives to custody that enable young people to be supported within their families or in non-
custodial care placements, which might include a foster placement outside of the immediate area. 
The Permanency Service will respond positively to any request to identify a placement that is an 
alternative to custody and make every effort to identify a suitable alternative. 

The Permanency Service can work to reduce risks of high cost placements being required as a result 
of criminal remands through the recruitment of foster carers able and willing to offer appropriate 
placements to young people involved in offending behaviour, providing such placements with the 
necessary support and training. 

The placement budgets transferred to the Permanency Service includes the grant payable from 
Central Government that is intended to contribute towards the cost of criminal remands. This grant 

218



52

has proved to be more than sufficient to meet costs in the current financial year as there have been 
only very limited remands into custody for short durations. 

The other principal area of risk in relation to high cost and low volume placements is in respect of 
the use of welfare secure. The budget transferred to the Permanency Service assumes that one 
young person of statutory school age will occupy a secure placement at any one time throughout the 
year. The DSG makes a significant contribution to the cost of secure placements for young people of 
this age, again off-setting the risk associated with a higher than expected occupancy of this type of 
accommodation. 

However, there are risks in the event that an older young person requires welfare secure 
accommodation, and risks should a higher number of young people require such accommodation at 
any one time. In recent years, use of welfare secure has mostly been in relation to protecting young 
people from risk of Child Sexual Exploitation, risks that remain present in Peterborough as 
elsewhere. 

Welfare secure will always be used as a last resort; and alternative placements identified wherever 
possible. The Permanency Service will help to reduce risks of the use of welfare secure 
accommodation by recruiting, training and supporting carers to offer fostering placements to young 
people at risk of Child Sexual Exploitation. These activities will also help offset risks of continuing 
high-cost specialist placements that are otherwise often required as step-down placements from 
welfare secure. 

Where there is an increased use of high cost placements, the expectation will be that the 
Permanency Service takes all possible steps to identify savings elsewhere that can offset the 
increased costs involved. 

As in respect of the management of other cost pressures discussed in the sections above, the 
principal of open-book accounting will mean that the provider is able to demonstrate the measures 
taken to offset cost pressures. Where such pressures cannot be contained within the overall budget 
of the Permanency Service, the provider will submit a detailed report to the Joint Governance Board 
outlining the nature and extent of the pressures and the actions taken to mitigate these. 

The Joint Governance Board will agree a joint plan to address the pressures, which may include an 
approach being made to the Council to request additional resources. Such a request may lead to the 
need to reduce services elsewhere. 

15.3.4. General actions to prepare for and avoid in-year cost pressures
The Joint Governance Board will work to ensure that there is a planned response to cost pressures 
as far as this is practicable. This will include:

 Monitoring of changing patterns of demand, including in relation to placement type;
 Targeted recruitment of fostering households to help to meet changing patterns of demand;
 In so far as financial regulations allow, using any surpluses from one financial year to 

develop a contingency that can be used in the event of an increase in, for example, high cost 
low volume placements in a subsequent financial year

 Use of contract variations to meet longer term changes in funding requirements, including 
as a result of increased costs arising from salaries, general inflation and similar issues.

219



53

15.3.5. Accounting and reporting arrangements
The Permanency Service will be required to complete all financial and accounting reporting including 
the provision of returns to various Government Departments in order to claim grants towards the 
costs of operating the services for which it is responsible. Examples of grants to be claimed in this 
way include those relating to the contribution towards the placement costs of unaccompanied 
asylum seeking children and young people. 

Full financial accounts will also be required to be submitted to the Council on an annual basis or as 
requested through the Joint Governance Board. These accounts will identify in detail how Council 
funds have been spent for the year or period in question. 

As noted elsewhere, the provider will also be responsible for managing:

 The payment of fees and allowances to ‘in-house’ foster carers including the provision of 
annual statements detailing fees and allowances paid;

 The payment of staying put allowances;
 The payment of allowances to carers of children eligible to receive adoption, residence/child 

arrangement and special guardianship orders;
 Completion of financial assessments in respect of eligibility for adoption, residence/child 

arrangement and special guardianship orders;
 Payments to commissioned providers including Independent Fostering Agencies.

The provider will be required to have appropriate mechanisms in place to ensure that payments are 
linked to individual children and young people, allowing payments to be amended or to cease when 
individual circumstances of the child or young person change. 

Specific arrangements on how to manage payments to providers of joint funded placements [i.e. 
placements where the cost is met by any combination of funding from the Permanency Service, the 
Dedicated Schools Grant and the Clinical Commissioning Group] will be agreed between the provider 
and the Council post contract award. Placement providers will want to receive payment from one 
source, which will mean that payment arrangements remain with the Council, which will re-charge 
the Permanency Service and the Clinical Commissioning Group as appropriate, or be managed by the 
Permanency Service, which will in turn re-charge the Council for the DSG element and the CCG as 
appropriate. 

16. Governance and Quality Assurance
16.1 Governance Arrangements
The development of the Permanency Service relies on a commissioning arrangement between the 
Council and the successful provider. However, the nature of the services to be provided by the 
Permanency Service, together with the risks associated with the provision of services to vulnerable 
children and young people in care and on the edge of care and the financial risks associated with 
children in care services means that a very close partnership is required between the Provider and 
Council. 

This close partnership will focus on ensuring the success of the Permanency Service; where the 
service becomes under pressure for any reason, the provider and Council will work together to 
resolve the issues. 

220



54

Performance of the Permanency Service will be monitored through a range of qualitative and 
quantitative performance indicators as described in the sections below. Clause 23 and schedule 9 of 
the terms and conditions also describe performance monitoring mechanisms. 

A number of forums will oversee and scrutinise the quality of the service provided by the 
Permanency Service, and provide opportunities to resolve any issues that are impacting on the 
overall outcomes achieved for children and young people. These forums include:

 Council Corporate Parenting Panel and Scrutiny Committees: The Permanency Service will 
be required to present reports detailing performance and identifying any challenge to the 
Corporate Parenting Panel and relevant Scrutiny Committees and any other Member forums 
of the Council as required;

 The Joint Governance Board: This board will meet at least quarterly and will be chaired by 
the Director of Children’s Services and include the Chief Executive Officer of the provider 
organisation, and relevant senior officers from the Council, the Permanency Service and any 
other partners. This group will focus on providing strategic leadership for the Permanency 
Service;

 The Strategic Management Board: This board will meet at least bi-monthly and include the 
Permanency Service’s lead officer and the lead contract/commissioning officers from the 
Council. It will be chaired by the Service Director for Children and Safeguarding. The focus of 
this group will be on the development of the partnership and associated service provision. 
As the Permanency Service becomes established, the work of this group may be subsumed 
into that of the Joint Governance and Operational Management Meeting;

 The Operational Management Group: The group will meet monthly; it will be chaired by the 
Commissioning lead for the Council, and include the relevant managers from the 
Permanency Service as well as key performance management officers, able to interpret the 
key performance information. Key managers from Council Services will also attend this 
meeting.  

The main focus of these boards is as set out in the table below:

221



55

Joint Governance Board Strategic Management Board Operational Management Group

Purpose: 
Contract oversight, 
escalated concerns, 
decisions making forum 
for contract changes, 
budget oversight and sign 
off for data / performance 
targets and indicators

Involving: 
CEO/MD, directors, heads 
of service, commissioning 
and panel chairs

Frequency: 
Quarterly

Agenda:
Performance data: 
exceptions and areas of 
note
Escalated concerns – 
contract and practice
Budget oversight
Contract changes

Purpose: 
Decision making forum for 
service development and design 

Involving: 
Commissioning Lead for the 
Council; Head of Service for 
Permanency Service, other 
managers and partners as 
appropriate

Frequency: 
Bi-Monthly minimum initially 

Agenda:
Performance data                              
Escalated concerns – practice 
issues
Budget oversight
Contract changes

Purpose: 
Scrutiny of performance data, 
challenge and overview

Involving: 
Commissioning Lead for the 
Council; team managers and the 
Permanency Service’s lead officer 
and Council as appropriate and 
performance management 
officers
Frequency: 
Monthly 

Agenda:
Escalated concerns – practice 
issues
Performance data 
Reporting oversight (see below)
Adoption
Fostering
Permanency

The boards will agree specific membership and terms of reference during the contract mobilisation 
period, post contract award. 

A range of other meetings will take place as part of the operational day to day management of the 
Permanency Service, Council services for vulnerable children and young people and to ensure good 
communication across the partnership in the best interests of children and young people. These 
meetings will include: 

 Monthly reconciliation of children on placement or similar orders with agreed likely dates for 
adoption to enable accurate forecasting;

 Leaving Care Services – monthly reconciliation on information regarding rising 18s with brief 
updates on Pathway Planning for all young people likely to be leaving care in the next year;

 Meeting with social work field teams – ongoing programme of visits or attendance at team 
meetings to ensure any issues are raised and addressed in a methodical manner in a climate 
of cooperation;

222



56

 Emergency Duty Service – participation in quarterly service discussions to ensure that out of 
hours placements are being accessed appropriately;

 Performance management service – ongoing communication, but with monthly 
reconciliation of information to ensure veracity of data;

 Finance Section – monthly budget reporting to ensure that live information can replace 
commitment forecasting to ensure accurate budget predictions;

 The Permanency Service will be required to attend meetings focused on ensuring 
preparation for OfSTED and similar inspections as required. 

There will also be a number of other meetings where attendance by appropriate personnel from the 
Permanency Service will be required. These will be focused on the need of individual children and 
will include the following:

 Statutory reviews for children and young people in care;
 Personal Education Plan meetings as appropriate; 
 Permanency planning meetings and any tracking meetings necessary to ensure that 

permanency plans including plans for adoption are being progressed appropriately;
 The Peterborough Access to Support Panel and Joint Access to Support Panel [PASP and 

JASP];
 Secure accommodation panel meetings to assess whether threshold for secure 

accommodation is achieved.

This is not an exhaustive list and will change over time. The key expectation is that the Council and 
Permanency Service will work together openly and proactively to secure the best outcomes for the 
children and young people for whom they share responsibility, ensuring that opportunities for 
communication and partnership working are maximised at all times. 

16.2. Quality Performance Indicators and Performance Reporting
16.2.1. Purpose
In order to ensure a consistent and excellent level of service, the Permanency service will maintain 
specific information exchanges and report live and accurate qualitative and quantitative 
performance data.

Use of Liquid Logic as the recording system for all activities managed by the Permanency Service will 
enable performance reports to be run on a wide range of key performance indicators. 

The Council is currently updating its’ performance reporting software, which will enable the 
Permanency Service, with the support of the Council’s Performance Team, to generate a wide range 
of live performance reports covering all aspects of activity. 

It will be the responsibility of the Permanency Service to ensure that all records on Liquid Logic are 
accurate and that recording [for example of visits to foster carers] are recorded in a timely way, and 
no more than 72 hours after the event. 

16.2.2. Principles
The Permanency Service and the Council’s performance management team will work together to 
ensure that accurate data returns are provided to OfSTED, the Department for Education, the 
Adoption Leadership Board, the Eastern Region of the Association of Directors of Children’s Services, 
and any additional statutory requirements throughout the life of the contract. Prior to submission of 
returns, approval and sign off is required by a designated senior member of staff at the local 

223



57

authority, which will in most cases be the Commissioning Lead but may be another officer as agreed 
within the Joint Governance Board.

The Permanency Service will also be responsible for providing responses to all other legitimate 
requests for information that cover the work of the service, including requests made under Freedom 
of Information legislation. The Council’s Performance Team will again assist with such requests. 

The Permanency Service will operate a performance management system to gather and analyse a 
range of information to chart progress and give an early warning of issues affecting the quality of 
outcomes for children so that corrective action can be taken.

The Permanency Service will operate a quality assurance approach that will engender the delivery of 
high standards of practice, learning, accountability and continual service development. The 
Permanency Service will also work with the Council’s Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service so 
that themed audits on a variety of practice issues and dip samples of case files are undertaken. The 
Permanency Service will use the outcomes of such audits to develop action plans to ensure the 
continuous improvement of practice. 

In addition to locally generated performance data, the Permanency Service will work with the 
Council’s Performance Management Team to review and analyse published data to assess 
performance against statistical neighbours and regional and national benchmarks.  Current sources 
of data include Department for Education statistical releases, the Adoption Scorecard, Adoption 
Leadership Board quarterly statistics, OfSTED Fostering dataset and Eastern Region benchmarking.

An accurate database is key to good data reporting. Therefore the Permanency Service will record 
information using the agreed child, adopter and foster carer case management system, all 
placement information including changes of placements, and specifically placements for adoption, 
without exception.

The Permanency Service should update the case management system within 24 hours of a 
placement change.  In exceptional circumstances (public holidays for example) this period can be 
extended to 72 hours.

The Permanency Service will check the case management system routinely after a weekend to 
ensure placement moves outside of office hours are captured.

Any discrepancies in record keeping of placements will be addressed and corrected without delay.

The majority of monthly performance information and reporting is numerical and data driven, 
however upward and downward trends need to be supported by the appropriate analysis and 
commentary including service user and case level detail. 

It is expected that the Permanency Service will benchmark the service against the good and 
outstanding descriptors set out by OfSTED within their current inspection framework.

The Permanency Service will provide a quarterly staff performance report detailing issues including 
turnover of staff, analysis of exit interviews, disciplinary processes, average caseloads, sickness 
levels, key themes from staff feedback and the percentage of staff receiving timely casework 
supervision. 

The Permanency Service cannot be held accountable for areas of poorer performance inherited from 
services as operated directly by the Council. However, where any such areas of poorer performance 

224



58

exist, it will be an expectation that the Permanency Service focuses attention on delivering sustained 
improvements. 

It should be noted that performance in relation to placement stability as measured by the number of 
children or young people who have three or more placements and on the number of placements 
that last for more than two years in Peterborough is good on both measures. Adoption performance 
is also good in the City. 

16.2.3. Data Platforms
To monitor and evaluate the service provided, the Permanency Service will provide and is required 
to report its performance in various ways.  These can broadly be summarised by 3 key platforms as 
follows:

 Scorecard detailing key performance indicators;
 Qualitative reporting including – service user feedback, auditing activity and external 

scrutiny;
 Detailed performance report detailed data report covering all delivery functions;

The Permanency Service will have the lead responsibility in the production of numerical 
performance reports. The Council’s Performance Team will provide advice and guidance on the 
production of reports and input into the interpretation of the data provided. 

Scorecard

The monthly scorecard performance report will include performance data relating to the following 
activities: 

Adoption 

 The number of children and young people adopted during the year - measured year to date;
 The number of children and young people waiting to be adopted (with a placement order 

but not yet placed) – as at month end;
 The number and percentage of children and young people waiting for longer than 18 months 

(from entering care to being placed for adoption). Percentage as a proportion of all children 
and young people with a placement order – measured year to date;

 The number of approved adopters waiting to be matched with children and young people – 
as at month end.

Fostering  

 The number and percentage of all children and young people in foster placements who are 
placed in an in-house provision. Percentage as a proportion of all children and young people 
in foster placements – as at month end;

 The number and percentage of all children and young people in foster placements who are 
placed in an agency provision. Percentage as a proportion of all children and young people in 
foster placements – as at month end;

 The number of approved fostering households – as at month end; 
 The number of approved fostering places – as at month end;
 The net increase in the number of approved foster places – measured year to date;
 The percentage of In-house fostering places that are vacant as a proportion of the total 

number of approved fostering places – as at month end;

225



59

‘We want a service with the highest 
aspirations for children but that has 
realistic expectations about the support 
that they need…’

‘We want a service that never gives up on 
children…’

Staff description of what they want from a 
Permanency Service

 The number of foster carers who have been assessed as permanent carers for children and 
young people under Child Arrangement or Special Guardianship Orders;

 The number of Family Group Conferences on a quarterly basis, and an analysis of outcomes 
6 months and 12 months post conference. 

Children in care 

 The number of children and young people in care and provided a statutory social work 
service by the permanency service – as at month end;

 The percentage of all children or young people under the age of 16 in foster placements who 
have been looked after continuously for at least 2.5 years who were living in the same 
placement for at least 2 years – measured year to date

 The percentage of all children or young people in care with three or more foster placements 
as a proportion of all children or young people in care – measured year to date;

 The number of children and young people permanently matched with carers at year end;
 Timeliness of completion of Child Arrangement and Special Guardianship Orders in court 

proceedings;
 Percentage of assessments presented to court where recommendations are accepted.  

Leaving care

 The number of care leavers (aged 18 and older) who are supported by the permanency 
service – as at month end.

General

 The annual staff turnover rate for the permanency service – measured rolling twelve 
months.

Budget Reporting

As noted in the finance section of this specification, separate reporting on all areas of budget activity 
will be required on a monthly basis. 

Qualitative Reporting

A key measure of evaluating the 
success of the Permanency Service 
will be thematic audits. The Council’s 
Safeguarding and Quality Assurance 
Service will work with the 
Permanency Service to produce at 
least four thematic practice audits 
over a 12 month period. These audits 
will be designed to surface qualitative 
information about the quality of 
practice and service delivery.  The 
themes of these audits will be 
decided by the Joint Governance Board. 

226



60

In addition to these themed audits, a number of other elements will be in place to provide 
qualitative information about service delivery and the extent to which positive outcomes are 
achieved for children and young people. These include:

 Adoption and fostering panels: These panels are able to report on the quality of the work 
of the Permanency Service [and of the quality of work by the directly operated Council 
social work services]. Panel chairs will be members of the Strategic Management Group and 
will report on any practice issues that require attention. The Council will also be 
represented on each adoption and fostering panel. Regular business meetings will also be 
held between the Permanency Service, the independent panel chairs and the lead 
Commissioner from the Council and these meeting will provide a forum within which any 
day to day matters can be addressed; 

 Independent Chairs and Reviewing Officers: Chairs of statutory reviews for children and 
young people in care have an important role to play in supporting and challenging the work 
of the Council and of the new Permanency Service, particularly in respect of progressing 
plans for permanency and addressing any issues around the quality of the placement. 
Independent chairs will raise any concerns that they may have both informally, via case 
alerts and through the statutory formal dispute mechanism. Any such concerns that are 
raised about services provided by the Permanency Service must be responded to within the 
required timeframes. The Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance will provide a 
summary report of any key themes and issues arising from these processes for discussion 
and action at the Operational Management Group. Issues that cannot be addressed within 
this forum will be escalated to the Strategic Management Group;

 Service user feedback: Service user feedback forms an important measure of the quality of 
overall services. There is extensive information about the extent to which the Permanency 
Service is expected to seek the involvement and participation of service users in the 
planning and delivery of services in general as well as in relation to individual plans. The 
Permanency Service will be required to provide a 6-monthly report analysing key themes 
from service user feedback. The Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service will also 
provide support in identifying themes from service user feedback, through the independent 
chairs and through liaison with the Child in Care Council and via routine feedback activities 
including questionnaires; 

 Response to Complaints: Complaints about services offered by the Permanency Service will 
mostly be required to be considered under the statutory Children Act 1989 complaints 
process. This process includes timescales for the response to complaints depending on the 
stage at which the compliant is being managed. A child-centred and responsive service will 
see and respond to complaints as a positive opportunity to change processes and practices 
in accordance with the voice of users of the service. The Permanency Service will be 
required to demonstrate how it has learned from complaints; this information will feed into 
the annual report provided by the Council’s Complaints Service and as reported to the 
Corporate Parenting Panel and relevant Scrutiny Committees.  

Detailed Performance Reporting: Monthly Management Performance Requirements

The following performance measures will be required on a monthly basis, and are in line with those 
that are currently produced by the services in partnership with the Council’s Performance Team. This 
level of reporting is required in order to identify any early patterns or trends that may require 
corrective action or may be needed in order to inform strategic functions of the Permanency Service, 
including recruitment strategies for adopters and fostering households. 

227



61

Fostering service 

 The number and percentage of all children and young people in foster placements who are 
placed in an in-house provision. Percentage as a proportion of all children and young people 
in foster placements – as at month end

 The number and percentage of all children and young people in foster placements who are 
placed in an agency provision. Percentage as a proportion of all children and young people in 
foster placements – as at month end

 The number of fostering enquiries received – measured year to date
 The number of assessments in progress – as at month end
 The number of approved fostering households – as at month end
 The number of approved fostering places – as at month end
 The number of new foster places approved – measured year to date
 The number of approved foster places terminated – measured year to date
 The net increase in the number of approved foster places – measured year to date
 The proportion of new fostering households from black and minority ethnic communities
 The percentage of In-house fostering places that are vacant as a proportion of the total 

number of approved fostering places – as at month end;
 The number of fostering households at month end [including permanent long-term, short 

term, emergency, family and friend, parent and child placement, remand, short break and 
supported lodgings];

 The number of sibling groups placed together and the percentage of sibling groups placed 
together as a proportion of all sibling groups placed – measured year to date

 The number of individual siblings placed apart due to a resource shortfall – measured year 
to date

 The number of foster carers without an annual review in the preceding 12 months – 
measured year to date

 The number of foster carers not visited by a social worker for a statutory visit within the 
preceding 6 weeks – as at month end

 The number of complaints received – measured year to date
 The number of allegations received against foster carers – measured year to date
 The number of unplanned endings of placements that occurred at the request of the foster 

carer – measured year to date
 The number of unplanned endings of that occurred for any other reason other than at the 

request of the foster carer – measured year to date 
 The number of children in care who have been matched for permanency at panel and the 

percentage of children matched for permanency as a proportion of all children in care – 
measured year to date

 The percentage of all children or young people under the age of 16 in foster placements who 
have been looked after continuously for at least 2.5 years who were living in the same 
placement for at least 2 years – measured year to date

 The percentage of all children or young people in care with three or more foster placements 
as a proportion of all children or young people in care – measured year to date

 The educational progress made by children and young people at KS2 and 4, or equivalent 
measures as these are available – measured annually

 The percentage of annual medical reviews undertaken that are informed by a Strengths and 
Difficulties Questionnaire – measured year to date 

228



62

 The number of children and young people participating in their statutory reviews and the 
percentage as a proportion of all reviews for children in care (aged at least 4 at the time of 
the review) – measured year to date.

Fostering Panel Activity

 The number of new fostering households approved
 The number of reviews heard by panel – measured year to date
 The number of ADM decisions that differ from the fostering panel’s recommendation – 

measured year to date
 The number of panel recommendations to permanently match a child or young person to 

their current placement – measured year to date

Private fostering arrangements

 The number of children currently living under private fostering arrangements – as at month 
end

 The number of private fostering referrals received – measured year to date
 The number of private fostering assessments carried out within require timescales – 

measured year to date
 The proportion of private fostering assessments completed within timescales

Adoption service 
 The number of registrations (enquiries) – measured year to date
 The number of approved adopters – as at month end
 The proportion of new adopters from black and minority ethnic communities
 The number of adoptive families matched to children and young people – as at month end
 The number of adoptive families with children and young people placed with them – as at 

month end
 The number of children and young people adopted during the year - measured year to date
 The number of prospective adopters not yet approved – as at month end
 The number of approved adopters waiting to be matched with children and young people – 

as at month end
 The number of children and young people for whom the permanence decision has changed 

away from adoption – measured year to date
 The number of children and young people waiting to be adopted – as at month end
 The number of children and young people waiting to be adopted (with a placement order 

but not yet placed) – as at month end
 The number and percentage of children and young people waiting for longer than 18 months 

(from entering care to being placed for adoption). Percentage as a proportion of all children 
and young people with a placement order – measured year to date

 The number of agency decisions that adoption is in the child or young person’s best interests 
– measured year to date

 The number of inter-agency placements – measured year to date
 The number of Peterborough adopters matched with children or young people from another 

local authority – as at month end
 The number of adoptions made for children and young people defined as ‘hard to place’ 

(aged 5 or more, sibling group of 2 or more, disability, black and minority ethnic) - measured 
year to date

229



63

 The number of children and young people who are defined as ‘hard to place’ and who are 
currently waiting to be placed – as at month end

 The number of adoption disruptions – measured year to date

Adoption panel activity
 The number of adopters approved – measured year to date
 The number of matches approved – measured year to date

Adoption support service 
 The number of active adoption support referrals – measured year to date
 The number of adoption support referrals waiting to receive a service – as at month end
 The number of access to records request referrals – measured year to date
 The number of post-box contact files – measured year to date
 The number of children and young people placed for adoption without a life story book – as 

at month end
 The number of children and young people adopted without a later life letter – measured 

year to date

Special Guardianship
 The proportion of Special Guardianship Order assessments completed within the initially 

agreed timescale as a percentage of all assessments completed - measured year to date
 The proportion of Special Guardianship Order assessments accepted by the court as a 

percentage of all those presented – measured year to date 
 The proportion of children who left care because a Special Guardianship Order was granted 

as a percentage of all children who left care – measured year to date
 The number of unplanned endings of Special Guardianship Order arrangements – measured 

year to date 
 The number of Special Guardianship Order carers appropriately accessing post order support 

– measured year to date
 The proportion of Special Guardianship Order carers who are kept in touch with as a 

percentage of all Special Guardianship Order carers – measured year to date 

For ‘return home’ support services
 The number of children returning home to family who become looked after again within the 

following 6 months
 The number of children returning home to family who become looked after again within the 

following 12 months

For children and young people permanently matched to ‘in-house’ carers:

 The number of children and young people in care and supported by the permanency service 
(below the age of 18) – as at month end

 The number of children and young people ceasing to be the responsibility of the 
permanency service – measured year to date

 The number of children and young people matched for permanency and newly responsible 
to the permanency service – measured year to date

 The number of statutory visits not completed within timescale and the percentage of these 
as a proportion of all children in care who are the responsibility of the permanency service – 
as at month end

230



64

 The number of childcare reviews not completed within timescale and the percentage of 
these as a proportion of all childcare reviews completed for children in care – measured year 
to date

 The number of children and young people who have been in care for at least 12 months that 
have not had an annual health assessments completed within the previous twelve months – 
as at month end 

 The number of children and young people (aged 3 to 17 years) who have not had a dental 
check within the previous 12 months – as at month end

 The number of children and young people of statutory school age who are not in education – 
as at month end

 The number of children and young people not on target with their personal education plans 
/ educational attainment forecasts – as at month end

 The number of children and young people without a completed Strengths & Difficulties 
Questionnaire (SDQ) – as at month end

 The number of children and young people without an allocated qualified social worker – as 
at month end

For young people leaving care, supported by the Permanency Service:

 The number of care leavers (aged 18 and older) who are supported by the permanency 
service – as at month end

 The number of care leavers supported by the permanency service in staying put 
arrangements – measured year to date

 The proportion of care leavers supported by the permanency service who are not in 
education, employment or training – measured annually

 The proportion of care leavers supported by the permanency service who are in suitable 
accommodation - measured annually

 The proportion of care leavers supported by the permanency service who are not in contact 
with the service – measured annually

 The proportion of care leavers (under the age of 18) supported by the permanency service 
with a pathway plan that has been updated within the last 6 months and the percentage of 
these as a proportion of all care leavers (under the age of 18) supported by the permanency 
service – measured year to date

General
 The annual staff turnover rate for the permanency service – measured rolling twelve months 
 The annual staff turnover rate for social workers – measured rolling twelve months 
 The annual staff turnover rate for support workers – measured rolling twelve months.

These measures should be broken down to show voluntary and non-voluntary turnover figures. 

Amendments to Performance Monitoring post contract award

The areas of performance monitoring noted in this section and the frequency of reporting will be 
subject to further negotiation following the award of the contract and during the mobilisation 
period. This is in order to ensure that the correct balance is achieved in relation to undertaking 
activities that lead to improved outcomes for children and young people and ensuring that these 
activities are taking place. These negotiations will also include the role and contribution of the 
Council’s quality assurance and performance management functions in supporting the Permanency 
Service to report on qualitative and quantitative aspects of performance. 

231



65

17. Decision Making Arrangements & Practice Issues Dispute 
Resolution 
In general terms, the Council will retain decision making in respect of making plans for individual 
children and young people. The Council will make the decision about whether a child should become 
looked after, and must agree to any changes of placement once a child is looked after. The Council 
must also approve any decision for a child or young person to no longer be looked after, except 
where this is a result of the young person concerned achieving the age of 18. 

The decision making processes in respect of children and young people returning to their parents 
must also comply with the Care Planning and Placement Regulations 2013 and the Placement with 
Parent Regulations 2010 as appropriate. 

The Council will retain the Agency Decision Maker functions as these apply to children, and will make 
the final decision that leads to a child being matched with foster for adoption carers and prospective 
adopters. The Council will also make the decision about whether a child’s plan should be for 
adoption. For any relinquished children, following their presentation at adoption panel, the Council 
will also make a final decision on the plan.

Decisions about changes of placement must be agreed by the relevant Head of Service within the 
Council, or the Head of Service providing cover during any period of leave or other absence. 

Decisions relating to the change of any placement of a child or young person for whom the 
Permanency Service has statutory social work responsibility must be agreed by the Head of Service 
for Children in Care or the Commissioning Lead; such a placement change will usually result with 
responsibility for the child or young person transferring back to the local authority in any event. 

Decisions relating to the return home of any child or young person for whom the Permanency 
Service holds statutory social work responsibility need to be agreed by the appropriate Head of 
Service [and comply with any other regulatory requirement that may apply]. The appropriate Head 
of Service will need to agree a transition period where the Permanency Service social worker 
continues to support the child or young person and their family before any on-going family support 
needs are met within the Council’s Family Support service. No child or young person should return 
home without a re-assessment. This reassessment will identify the extent to which the factors that 
led to the child becoming looked after have changed. 

It is inevitable that there will be occasions where there are differences of opinion about the correct 
course of action in respect of individual children and young people. Such circumstances may relate 
to the suitability of placements identified by the Permanency Service for children and young people, 
or the viability of any family plan agreed within a Family Group Conference. 

Key decisions about children and young people will be made in joint forums in most situations – 
PASP and JASP for example – and decisions made in such circumstances will be binding on all parties 
except where there are significant safeguarding concerns or concerns about the wellbeing of a child 
or young person. Where such concerns exist, these should be escalated to the immediate line 
manager of the person who holds the concerns. The line manager will then follow the process 
outlined below. 

The expectation is that all such differences of opinion will be managed at the lowest point in the 
respective hierarchies of the Permanency Service and Council as possible. This means that 

232



66

practitioners should first attempt to discuss any disagreements directly, and should only escalate to 
their line managers where common ground cannot be identified. 

In the event that the relevant immediate line managers are unable to reach agreement, the issue 
should be escalated to the relevant Head of Service in the Council or Service Manager for the 
Permanency Service. The lead Commissioner for the local authority may become involved at this 
point in order to help to facilitate agreement. 

In the unlikely event that disagreements remain, the matter should be escalated to the Assistant 
Director for Children’s Social Care, who will bring interested parties together, listen to all views and 
make what should ordinarily be accepted by all parties as the final decision. 

In the very unlikely event that agreement is still not reached, the CEO of the Provider will be able to 
raise the issue with the Service Director for Children and Safeguarding. In the event that agreement 
can still not be reached, the final decision maker will be the Director of Children’s Services.

Any issues that have required the intervention of the Assistant Director or higher to become 
involved in resolution will be discussed at the next Joint Governance Board in order that any lessons 
can be learned. 

18. Relationships with other Partners and other Agencies
The Permanency Service will be required to develop and maintain positive working relationships 
with key partners within the Council and among the broader network of agencies providing services 
for children and young people in care and/or for whom the Permanency Service has a duty of care.  
Partners and agencies include:

 Children’s Social Care including assessment, care planning functions, independent chairs;
 Early Help Services, particularly in respect of developing sustainable support plans for 

children and young people returning to the care of their parents or carers having been 
looked after;

 The Youth Offending Service, particularly in respect of developing and supporting fostering 
households to meet the needs of young people who have been remanded into local 
authority accommodation;

 The Virtual School and in particular in working together to improve educational outcomes 
for children and young people in care and in preparation for those leaving care to 
permanent arrangements;

 Special educational needs services and in particular in relation to supporting children and 
young people with Education, Health and Care plans to achieve their full potential; 

 Local colleges, schools and services to support young people who may be at risk of being not 
in education, employment or employment;

 Housing services and in particular in respect to developing plans for young people leaving 
care or moving on from Staying Put arrangements for whom the Permanency Service has 
accountability;

 Local providers of supported accommodation for young people aged 16 and 17, including 
The Foyer and contracted semi-independent providers of accommodation;

 Child and adolescent mental health services, currently provided by the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Foundation Trust, and in particular to ensure that children and young people 
in care have access to specialist support for emotional and mental health issues through the 
specially commissioned service for children and young people in care and care leavers;

233



67

 Providers of community and other health services, currently mostly provided by the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Foundation Trust, including ensuring that children and 
young people in care have access to regular reviews of their health needs, including 
emotional and mental health, and that children and young people returning home or leaving 
care for other permanent care arrangements have access to appropriate health care;

 Commissioned advocacy services in order to ensure that children in care are supported to 
make any representations or complaints about the services that they receive;

 The Council’s complaints’ service and including ensuring that complaints are dealt with 
under the appropriate legislation, are progressed within expected timings but are 
investigated thoroughly and any lessons learned are implemented across the service;

 The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board and chair, and in particular to ensure that 
the Board maintains confidence in the safeguarding arrangements in place by the provider in 
respect of the Permanency Service. 

19. Contract Escalation Procedures
This service specification and the contract between the Provider and the Council is built on the 
foundation of trust and mutual determination of the parties to work together to secure the best 
possible outcomes for children and young people, while securing effective use of resources. 

The approach to management of disputes is in line with this ethos. The emphasis is on seeking 
informal means to resolve any disagreements or disputes at the lowest point in the respective 
hierarchies of the Permanency Service and Local Authority as possible. 

The quarterly Joint Governance Board is the principal mechanism for ensuring that any areas of 
potential disagreement or dispute are discussed and resolved, where it has not proved possible to 
do so informally.

In the unlikely event that such approaches are unable to resolve the difficulty, a formal dispute 
resolution meeting will be called. This meeting will include:

 The Chief Executive Officer of the partner providing the Permanency Service 
 The Director of Children’s Services in Peterborough City Council, who will also chair the 

meeting;
 The senior Council contracting officer or equivalent responsible for the performance and 

quality monitoring of the service provided.

Should this formal meeting be unsuccessful in resolving the matter, the parties will refer the matter 
to the Dispute Resolution Procedure set out in Schedule 20 of the Terms and Conditions. 

19.1. In the event of Contract Expiry or Termination
Foster carers and adopters who were either originally recruited by Peterborough City Council before 
the commencement of the contract or who have been recruited as a result of the contract, will 
transfer to Peterborough City Council, assuming that this is in line with their wishes. Where carers 
wish to remain with the partner agency, any children in placement who are in the care of 
Peterborough City Council will remain in placement. Placement costs will be maintained in line with 
the unit placement cost for children and young people in foster care at the time the contract ends, 
and not in line with the fee usually charged by the provider. 

The exit strategy set out in Schedule 15 of the Terms and Conditions describes the detail of these 
arrangements.

234



68

20. Expected Characteristics of a Successful Partner
We are seeking a single partner organisation to operate the full scope of this service specification.  

This service will be responsible for meeting the needs of the most vulnerable children and young 
people in the City. This means that any partner organisation will be required to demonstrate an 
established track record of success in delivering high quality fostering and adoption services, as 
evidenced by demonstrable improved outcomes for children and young people as well as external 
validation through OfSTED inspections. 

Evidence of success in delivering improved outcomes can be provided by measures including:

 Placement stability rates for children placed with foster carers;
 Long-term adoption placement disruption rates;
 Successful recruitment and retention of foster carers;
 Successful recruitment of adopters and in particular, adopters able to provide homes for 

older children, sibling groups and children with complex or uncertain future needs;
 Long term levels of staff turnover. 

Under the 2008 Children and Young Person’s Act, local authority adoption functions can only be 
delegated to a registered adoption society. “Registered adoption society” has the meaning given by 
section 2(2) of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 (c. 38). This is:

(1)The services maintained by local authorities under section 3(1) may be collectively referred to as 
“the Adoption Service”, and a local authority or registered adoption society may be referred to as an 
adoption agency.

(2)In this Act, “registered adoption society” means a voluntary organisation which is an adoption 
society registered under Part 2 of the Care Standards Act 2000 (c. 14); but in relation to the provision 
of any facility of the Adoption Service, references to a registered adoption society or to an adoption 
agency do not include an adoption society which is not registered in respect of that facility.

In addition, the intention to transfer some limited statutory services to individual children and young 
people in care to the new Permanency Service means that the partner agency cannot be a body 
corporate that operates on a for profit basis, as set out in Statutory Instrument 2014, Number 2407. 

21. Possible areas for further post award negotiation
This service specification covers a range of complex areas of service delivery. It is likely that some 
areas of the specification may require further detailed negotiation post contract award and during 
the mobilisation period. These areas will not have a significant impact on the service specification 
and will not have any impact on contract value.  Any such changes will be agreed in line with the 
Change Control Procedure under schedule 15 of the terms and conditions.

Areas where there may be a need for further clarity and negotiation over fine details include:

 Where posts transfer to the new provider, but a small area of the post-holders’ 
responsibility will continue to be required to deliver activities for the Council. This is unlikely 
to affect more than five posts in total;

 As noted elsewhere in this service specification, there may be a need to agree the detail of 
the frequency of performance reporting by the Provider to ensure that the balance is correct 
in terms of assuring compliance and accountability with the effort required to produce the 
data;

235



69

 The mechanism for ensuring the transfer of foster carers to the new provider will depend on 
clarity from the DFE and OfSTED in respect of the detail of the transfer arrangements. The 
aim will be to seek agreement for carers to transfer in line with the annual review 
mechanism;

 Arrangements for managing the payment of jointly funded placements for children and 
young people in care. 

The above is not an exhaustive list and there are likely to be other areas where it will be beneficial to 
enable some further limited negotiation post contract award, where such negotiations do not make 
a substantive difference to the overall value of the contract or the effect of these service 
specifications. 

There will also be freedom to extend the provision of the contract to other areas of related service 
delivery in the event that the service is operating effectively and there is a clear rationale for doing 
so. An example of the way that this contract may be extended in this way may include a decision to 
include more aspects of or all of the Leaving and After Care service. 

22. Intellectual Property Rights – Permanency Service
The Council is the owner of all intellectual property rights in relation to this Permanency Service 
Specification, and in the material published on it. This applies to this current version and all future 
versions of this specification associated with the brand name “Permanency Service”. 

The bidder may print off one copy, and may download extracts, of any page(s) from the Supplier 
Force website for and draw the attention of others within your organisation to material posted on 
this site.

Bidders must not modify the paper or digital copies of any materials printed or downloaded in any 
way, and must not use any illustrations, or any graphics separately from any accompanying text.

The Council’s status (and that of any identified contributors) as the authors of material must always 
be acknowledged.

Bidders must not use any part of this specification for commercial purposes.

If Bidders print off, copy or download any part of the Permanency Service Specification including 
future versions in breach of these terms of use, then the right to use this material will cease 
immediately and Bidders must, at the Council’s option, return or destroy any and all copies of the 
materials.

236



CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING 
INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Agenda Item No. 10

12 SEPTEMBER 2016 Public Report

Report of the Director of Governance

Report Author – Karen S Dunleavy, Democratic Services Officer
Contact Details – 01733 452233 or email karen.dunleavy@peterborough.gov.uk

FORWARD PLAN OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS

1. PURPOSE

1.1 This is a regular report to the Creating Opportunities and Tackling Inequalities Scrutiny 
Committee outlining the content of the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the Commission identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their work programme.

3. BACKGROUND

3.1 The latest version of the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions is attached at Appendix 1. The 
Forward Plan contains those executive decisions, which the Leader of the Council believes that 
the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Member(s) can take and any new key decisions to be taken 
after 19 September 2016.

3.2 The information in the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions provides the Commission with the 
opportunity of considering whether it wishes to seek to influence any of these executive 
decisions, or to request further information.

3.3 If the Commission wished to examine any of the executive decisions, consideration would need 
to be given as to how this could be accommodated within the work programme.

3.4 As the Forward Plan is published fortnightly any version of the Forward Plan published after 
dispatch of this agenda will be tabled at the meeting.

4. CONSULTATION

4.1 Details of any consultation on individual decisions are contained within the Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions.

5. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

None

6. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Forward Plan of Executive Decisions

237



This page is intentionally left blank

238



PETERBOROUGH CITY 
COUNCIL’S FORWARD PLAN 
OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 

PUBLISHED: 19 AUGUST 2016

AP
PE
ND
IX 
1

239



FORWARD PLAN                                                                                                                                     AB
PART 1 – KEY DECISIONS
In the period commencing 28 clear days after the date of publication of this Plan, Peterborough City Council's Executive intends to take 'key decisions' on the issues set out below 
in Part 1.  Key decisions relate to those executive decisions which are likely to result in the Council spending or saving money in excess of £500,000 and/or have a significant 
impact on two or more wards in Peterborough.

If the decision is to be taken by an individual Cabinet Member, the name of the Cabinet Member is shown against the decision, in addition to details of the Councillor’s portfolio. If 
the decision is to be taken by the Cabinet, this too is shown against the decision and its members are as listed below:
Cllr Holdich (Leader); Cllr Fitzgerald (Deputy Leader); Cllr Elsey; Cllr Goodwin; Cllr Hiller, Cllr Lamb; Cllr Smith; Cllr Seaton and Cllr Walsh.

This Plan should be seen as an outline of the proposed decisions for the forthcoming month and it will be updated on a fortnightly basis to reflect new key-decisions.  Each new 
Plan supersedes the previous Plan and items may be carried over into forthcoming Plans.  Any questions on specific issues included on the Plan should be included on the form 
which appears at the back of the Plan and submitted to Gemma George, Democratic Services Manager, Governance Department, Town Hall, Bridge Street, PE1 1HG (fax 08702 
388039). Alternatively, you can submit your views via e-mail to gemma.george@peterborough.gov.uk or by telephone on 01733 452268. For each decision a public report will be 
available from the Governance Team one week before the decision is taken.

PART 2 – NOTICE OF INTENTION TO TAKE DECISION IN PRIVATE
Whilst the majority of the Executive’s business at the Cabinet meetings listed in this Plan will be open to the public and media organisations to attend, there will be some business 
to be considered that contains, for example, confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information.  In these circumstances the meeting may be held in private, and on the 
rare occasion this applies, notice will be given within Part 2 of this document, ‘notice of intention to hold meeting in private’. A further formal notice of the intention to hold the 
meeting, or part of it, in private, will also be given 28 clear days in advance of any private meeting in accordance with The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

The Council invites members of the public to attend any of the meetings at which these decisions will be discussed (unless a notice of intention to hold the meeting in private has 
been given).

PART 3 – NOTIFICATION OF NON-KEY DECISIONS
For complete transparency relating to the work of the Executive, this Plan also includes an overview of non-key decisions to be taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members, 
these decisions are listed at Part 3 and will be updated on a weekly basis.

You are entitled to view any documents listed on the Plan, or obtain extracts from any documents listed or subsequently submitted to the decision maker prior to the decision 
being made, subject to any restrictions on disclosure. There is no charge for viewing the documents, although charges may be made for photocopying or postage.  Documents 
listed on the notice and relevant documents subsequently being submitted can be requested from Gemma George, Democratic Services Manager, Governance Department, 
Town Hall, Bridge Street, PE1 1HG (fax 08702 388038), e-mail to gemma.george@peterborough.gov.uk or by telephone on 01733 452268. 

All decisions will be posted on the Council's website: www.peterborough.gov.uk/executivedeisions. If you wish to make comments or representations regarding the 'key decisions' 
outlined in this Plan, please submit them to the Democratic Services Manager using the form attached.  For your information, the contact details for the Council's various service 
departments are incorporated within this Plan.

240

mailto:gemma.george@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:gemma.george@peterborough.gov.uk
http://www.peterborough.gov.uk/executivedeisions


PART 1 – FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS

KEY DECISIONS FROM 19 SEPTEMBER 2016
KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS /  
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

1. Governance 
Arrangements for 
the Community 
Infrastructure Levy - 
KEY/19SEPT16/01
To approve the 
governance 
arrangements for the 
Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
– IDS 2016.

Cabinet 7 November
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Anne Keogh
Housing and Strategic 
Planning Manager
Tel: 01733 863815
Anne.keogh@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

2. Community 
Supported Living 
Services – 
KEY/19SEPT16/02
To approve the award 
of the contract for 
Community 
Supported Living 
Services for adults 
with complex learning 
disabilities. 

Councillor Wayne 
Fitzgerald
Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet Member for 
Integrated Adult 
Social Care and 
Health

January 
2017

Scrutiny 
Commission 
for Health 
Issues

Engagement with 
service users, 
family members, 
carers and 
current provider.

Nigel Harvey-Whitten
Head of 
Commissioning (Mental 
Health and Integrated 
Learning Disabilities)
Tel: 01733 452509
Nigel.harvey-
whitten@peterborough.
gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

241



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS /  
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

PREVIOUSLY ADVERTISED DECISIONS
3. Delivery of the 

Council's Capital 
Receipt Programme 
through the Sale of 
Dickens Street Car 
Park - KEY/03JUL/11
To authorise the Chief 
Executive, in 
consultation with the 
Solicitor to the Council, 
Corporate Director 
Resources, the 
Corporate Property 
Officer and the Cabinet 
Member Resources, to 
negotiate and conclude 
the sale of Dickens 
Street Car Park. 
For Cabinet to consider 
future options for 
service delivery. 

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member for 
Resources

September 
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Consultation will 
take place with 
the Cabinet 
Member, Ward 
Councillors, 
relevant internal 
departments & 
external 
stakeholders as 
appropriate.

Richard Hodgson
Head of Strategic 
Projects
Tel: 01733 384535
richard.hodgson@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

242



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS /  
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

4. Print Managed 
Services - 
KEY/13JUN14/01
To enable Council 
officers to be able to 
print, copy and scan.

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member for 
Resources

September
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Vicki Palazon
Financial Services 
Manager – Planning 
and Reporting
Tel: 01733 864104
Vicki.palazon@peterbo
rough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

5. Real Time 
Passenger 
Information – 
KEY/10JUL15/02
To approve the 
expansion and 
maintenance 
contract.

Councillor Peter 
Hiller
Cabinet Member for 
Growth, Planning, 
Housing & 
Economic 
Development 

September
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Amy Pickstone
Senior ITS Officer
Tel: 01733 317481
Amy.pickstone@peterb
orough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

6. Delivery of the 
Council’s Capital 
Receipt 
Programme 
through the sale of 
Welland House, 
Dogsthorpe – 
KEY/24JUL15/01
To authorise the 
sale of Welland 
House, Dogsthorpe 
– (non-key)

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member for 
Resources

September
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

David Gray
Capital Projects Officer
Tel: 01733 384531
david.gray@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

243



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS /  
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

7. Sale of the 
Lindens, Lincoln 
Road – 
KEY/24JUL15/04
To authorise the 
Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the 
Solicitor to the 
Council, Corporate 
Director Resources, 
the Corporate 
Property Officer and 
the Cabinet Member 
Resources, to 
negotiate and 
conclude the sale.

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member for 
Resources

September
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Brian Davies
Sales and Acquisitions
Tel: 01733 384547
Brian.davies@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

244



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

8. Sale of Bretton 
Court, Bretton 
North – 
KEY/24JUL15/05
To authorise the 
Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the 
Solicitor to the 
Council, Corporate 
Director Resources, 
the Corporate 
Property Officer and 
the Cabinet Member 
Resources, to 
negotiate and 
conclude the sale.

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member 
for Resources

September
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Brian Davies
Sales and Acquisitions
Tel: 01733 384547
Brian.davies@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

9. Draft Housing 
Strategy – 
KEY/21SEPT15/03
For Cabinet to 
approve the Strategy 
for public 
consultation.

Cabinet 7 November 
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Anne Keogh
Housing and Strategic 
Planning Manager
Anne.keogh1@peterbo
rough.gov.uk
Tel: 01733 863815

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

245



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

10. Passenger 
Transport Services 
AMEY – 
KEY/27NOV15/01
To approve the 
award of six routes 
to Amey under the 
existing contract 
arrangements. 

Councillor John 
Holdich
Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet 
Member for 
Education, Skills 
and University

September
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Sara Thompson
Team Manager, 
Passenger Transport 
Operations
Tel: 01733 317452
Sara.thompson@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an
exempt annexe. By virtue of
paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person
(including the authority 
holding
that information).

11. Intelligent 
Transport Systems 
Infrastructure – 
KEY/11DEC15/01
To introduce the use 
of Variable Message 
Signs (VMS) on the 
road network to 
provide real-time 
driver information.

Councillor Peter 
Hiller
Cabinet Member for 
Growth, Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

September
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Peter Tebb
Network and Traffic 
Manager
Tel: 01733 453519
Peter.tebb@peterborou
gh.gov.uk 

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an
exempt annexe. By virtue of
paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person
(including the authority 
holding
that information).

246



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

12. Direct Payment 
Support Service – 
KEY/11DEC15/02
To approve the 
direct payment 
support service.

Councillor Wayne 
Fitzgerald
Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet Member for 
Integrated Adult 
Social Care and 
Health

October 
2016

Scrutiny 
Commission 
for Health 
Issues

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Richard Redmond
Head of 
Commissioning – Older 
People, Physical 
Disability, Sensory 
Impairment, HIV and 
Carers
Richard.redmond@pet
erborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an
exempt annexe. By virtue of
paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person
(including the authority 
holding
that information).

13. Offtake 
Arrangements for 
Power from the 
Energy Recovery 
Facility – 
KEY/25DEC15/01 
To approve putting 
into place 
arrangements for the 
sale of heat and/or 
electricity from the 
Energy Recovery 
Facility.

Councillor Gavin 
Elsey
Cabinet Member for 
Waste and Street 
Scene

September
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital 

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Richard Pearn
Waste Partnership 
Manager
Tel: 01733 864739
Richard.pearn@peterb
orough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information relating 
to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding 
that information).

247



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

14. Review of 
Emergency 
Stopping Places – 
KEY/25JAN16/02
For Cabinet to 
review existing and 
proposed 
emergency stopping 
places.

Cabinet 7 
November 
2016

Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Belinda Child
Head of Housing and 
Health Improvement
Tel: 01733 863769
Belinda.child@peterbor
ough.gov.uk 

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

15. Provision of Non 
Social Care 
Temporary Agency 
Workers – 
KEY/25JAN16/04
To approve the 
provision of 
temporary agency 
workers.

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member for 
Resources

September
2016

Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

James Fordham
Recruitment and 
Retention Officer
Tel: 01733 864581
James.fordham@peter
borough.gov.uk 

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

16. Provision of 
Permanency 
Services – 
KEY/21MAR16/01
To approve the 
award of the 
Provision of 
Permanency 
Services contract.

Cabinet 26 
September 
2016

Creating 
Opportunities 
and Tackling 
Inequalities

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Lou Williams
Service Director 
Children’s Services and 
Safeguarding
Tel: 01733 864139
Lou.williams@peterbor
ough.gov.uk 

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

248



KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS 
/ REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND REASONS 
FOR EXEMPTION

17. Personal Care and 
Support  (Homecare) 
in Peterborough – 
KEY/02MAY16/01
To approve the 
awarding of a contract 
to an external provider 
following a competitive 
tender exercise.

Councillor 
Wayne 
Fitzgerald
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Integrated Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 

May 2017 Scrutiny 
Commission 
for Health 
Issues

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders

Karen Hodsdon
Senior Category 
Manager
Karen.hodsdon@pete
rborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

18. Independent 
Advocacy Services in 
Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough – 
KEY/02MAY16/02
To approve the 
awarding of a contract 
to an external provider 
following a competitive 
tender exercise.

Councillor 
Wayne 
Fitzgerald
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Integrated Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 

September 
2016

Scrutiny 
Commission 
for Health 
Issues

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Richard Redmond
Head of 
Commissioning – 
Older People, 
Physical Disability, 
Sensory Impairment, 
HIV and Carers
Richard.redmond@pe
terborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

249



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATIO
N

CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND REASONS 
FOR EXEMPTION

19. Peterborough City 
Council 
Construction 
Framework – 
KEY/30MAY16/01
Approval of 
Peterborough City 
Council Construction 
Framework

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member for 
Resources

September 
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant 
internal and 
external 
stakeholders.

Brian Howard
Head of Schools 
Infrastructure
Tel: 01733 863976
Brian.howard@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information relating 
to the financial or business affairs 
of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information).

20. Procurement 
Services – 
KEY/27JUN16/01
To approve updates 
to the Procurement 
Services provided 
by Serco.

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member for 
Resources

September
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant 
internal and 
external 
stakeholders.

Steven Pilsworth
Service Director 
Financial Services 
Tel: 01733 384564
Steven.pilsworth@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

250



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS /  
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND REASONS 
FOR EXEMPTION

21. A1139 Junction 17-
2 Widening 
Scheme – 
KEY/27JUN16/02
To approve the final 
accounts for the 
A1139 Jct 17-2 
widening scheme.

Councillor Peter 
Hiller
Cabinet Member for 
Growth, Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

September 
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Andy Tatt
Head of Peterborough 
Highway Services
Tel: 01733 453469
Andy.tatt@peterboroug
h.gov.uk
Peter Garnham
Highway Service 
Delivery Manager
Tel: 01733 453458
Peter.garnham@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information relating 
to the financial or business affairs 
of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information).

22. Amendment of 
Existing Loan 
Arrangements to 
Empower – 
KEY/05JUL16/01
To agree the 
amendment to 
existing 
arrangements to 
Empower.

Cabinet 26 
September 
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

John Harrison
Corporate Director 
Resources
John.harrison@peterb
orough.gov.uk
Tel: 01733 452520

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

23. Business Advice 
Charging Policy – 
KEY/25JUL16/01
To approve the 
charging policy.

Councillor Irene 
Walsh
Cabinet Member for 
Communities and 
Environment Capital

September 
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Peter Gell
Head of Regulatory 
Services
Tel: 01733 453419
Peter.gell@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

251



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS /  
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND REASONS 
FOR EXEMPTION

24. Market Position 
Statement – 
KEY/08AUG16/01
To approve the 
market position 
statement. 

Councillor Wayne 
Fitzgerald
Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet Member for 
Integrated Social 
Care and Health

September 
2016

Scrutiny 
Commission 
for Health 
Issues

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Oliver Hayward
Assistant Director of 
People Commissioning 
and Commercial 
Operations
Oliver.hayward@peter
borough.gov.uk
Tel: 01733 863708

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

25. Local Plan - 
KEY/22AUG16/01
To approve the Plan 
for public 
consultation in 
December 2016.

Cabinet 7 November 
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Gemma Wildman
Principal Planner
Tel: 01733 863824
Gemma.wildman@pet
erborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

26. Integrated Healthy 
Lifestyles Service - 
KEY/05SEPT/01
To award a contract 
for the Integrated 
Healthy Lifestyles 
Service in 
Peterborough.

Councillor Diane 
Lamb
Cabinet Member for 
Public Health

November 
2016

Scrutiny 
Commission 
for Health 
Issues

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Julian Base
Head of Health 
Strategy
Tel: 01733 207180
Julian.base@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

Oliver Hayward
Assistant Director: 
People Commissioning 
and Commercial 
Operations
Tel: 01733 863910
Oliver.hayward@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

252



KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION MAKER DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS /  
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND REASONS 
FOR EXEMPTION

28. Award of Contract 
for Construction 
and Operation of 
Fengate 
Household 
Recycling Centre – 
KEY/05SEPT16/02
To approve the 
award of contract for 
construction and 
operation of Fengate 
Household 
Recycling Centre.

Councillor Gavin 
Elsey
Cabinet Member for 
Waste and Street 
Scene

February 
2017

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Richard Pearn
Waste Partnership 
Manager
Tel: 01733 864739
Richard.pearn@peterb
orough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information relating 
to the financial or business affairs 
of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information).

 

253



PART 2 – NOTICE OF INTENTION TO TAKE DECISIONS IN PRIVATE

KEY DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN IN PRIVATE 

KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 

1. Potential Energy Joint 
Venture – 
KEY/07MAR16/04
For Cabinet to consider 
and approve a potential 
energy joint venture. 

Cabinet 26 
September 
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Richard Pearn
Waste Partnership 
Manager
Tel: 01733 864739
Richard.pearn@peterb
orough.gov.uk 

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information relating 
to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding 
that information).

254



PART 3 – NOTIFICATION OF NON-KEY DECISIONS

NON-KEY DECISIONS 

DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

1. Opportunity 
Peterborough 
Business Plan 
2016/17 – 
For Cabinet to endorse 
the Opportunity 
Peterborough 2016/17 
business plan.

Cabinet 26 
September 
2016

Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Steve Bowyer
Chief Executive 
Opportunity 
Peterborough
Tel: 01733 317489
Steve.bowyer@opportu
nitypeterborough.co.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

PREVIOUSLY ADVERTISED DECISIONS
2. Request for Public 

Consultation for 
Public Space 
Protection Orders – 
To authorise the 
commencement of 
public consultation for 
public space protection 
orders.

Councillor Irene 
Walsh
Cabinet Member 
for Communities 
and 
Environment 
Capital

August 2016 Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities 

Police, Fire 
Service, internal 
PCC 
departments.

Laura Kelsey
Anti-Social Behaviour 
Co-ordinator
Tel: 01733 453563
Larua.kelsey@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

255



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

3. Section 113 
Agreement for the 
role of Monitoring 
Officer at Rutland 
County Council – To 
approve a Section 113 
agreement with 
Rutland County 
Council, to allow for the 
Director of Governance 
to fulfil the role of 
Acting Monitoring 
Officer at Rutland 
County Council.

Councillor David 
Seaton, Cabinet 
Members for 
Resources

August 2016 Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital 

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Philippa Turvey
Senior Democratic 
Services Officer
Tel: 01733 452560
Philippa.turvey@peterb
orough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

4. Food Safety Service 
Plan – To approve the 
service plan.

Councillor Irene 
Walsh
Cabinet Member 
for Communities 
and 
Environment 
Capital

August 2016 Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Peter Gell
Head of Regulatory 
Services
Tel: 01733 453419
Peter.gell@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

256



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

5. Transforming Care 
Plan – To approve the 
Plan which has been 
produced by the 
Transforming Care 
Partnership and as 
required by DOH by 
July 2016.

Councillor 
Wayne 
Fitzgerald
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Integrated Adult 
Social Care and 
Health

August 2016 Scrutiny 
Commission 
for Health 
Issues 

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Nigel Harvey-Whitten
Interim Head of Mental 
Health and Learning 
Disability 
Commissioning
Tel: 01733 452474
Nigel.harvey-
whitten@peterborough.
gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

6. Child Poverty 
Strategy
To approve the Child 
Poverty Strategy.

Cabinet 26 
September 
2016

Creating 
Opportunities 
and Tackling 
Inequalities

Consultation to 
take place in 
June 2016 with 
voluntary and 
community sector 
partners.

Ian Phillips
Social Inclusion 
Manager
Tel: 01733 863849
Ian.phillips@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

7. To Adopt the 
Highway Asset 
Management Policy 
and Strategy
To approve the 
adoption of the 
Highway Asset 
Management Policy 
and Strategy.

Councillor Peter 
Hiller
Cabinet Member 
for Growth, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

August 2016 Sustainable 
Growth and 
Environment 
Capital

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Lewis Banks, Principal 
Transport Planning 
Officer
Tel: 01733 317465 
Lewis.banks@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

257



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

8. Empty Homes 
Strategy – To approve 
the Empty Homes 
Strategy.

Councillor Irene 
Walsh
Cabinet Member 
for Communities 
and 
Environment 
Capital

September 
2016

Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities 

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Belinda Child
Head of Housing and 
Health Improvement
Tel: 01733 863769
Belinda.child@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

9. Vivacity Funding –
To fund Vivacity £1278
until March 2016 (via
DWP grant funding) to
provide digital support 
for
UC claimants to make
benefit claims online at
Central Library.

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet
Member for
Resources

August
2016

Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Ian Phillips
Social Inclusion 
Manager
Tel: 01733 863849
Ian.phillips@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.258



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

CONSULTATION CONTACT DETAILS / 
REPORT AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

10. Vivacity Premier 
Fitness Invest to Save 
Scheme - 
To authorise 
investment in 
developing Vivacity 
Premier Fitness on an 
invest to save basis

Councillor David 
Seaton
Cabinet Member 
for Resources

August
2016

Strong and 
Supportive 
Communities 

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

John Harrison
Corporate Director 
Resources
Tel: 01733 452520
John.harrison@peterbo
rouh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that 
information).

259



DIRECTORATE RESPONSIBILITIES

RESOURCES DEPARTMENT Corporate Director's Office at Town Hall, Bridge Street, Peterborough, PE1 1HG
City Services and Communications (Markets and Street Trading, City Centre Management including Events, Regulatory Services, Parking Services, Vivacity Contract, CCTV 
and Out of Hours Calls, Marketing and Communications, Tourism and Bus Station, Resilience)
Strategic Finance
Internal Audit
Schools Infrastructure (Assets and School Place Planning)
Waste and Energy
Strategic Client Services (Enterprise Peterborough / Vivacity / SERCO including Customer Services, ICT and Business Support)

PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES DEPARTMENT Corporate Director’s Office at Bayard Place, Broadway, PE1 1FB
Adult Services and Communities (Adult Social Care Operations, Adult Social Care and Quality Assurance, Adult Social Care Commissioning, Early Help – Adults, Children and 
Families, Housing and Health Improvement, Community and Safety Services, Offender Services)
Children’s Services and Safeguarding (Children’s Social Care Operations, Children’s Social Care Quality Assurance, Safeguarding Boards – Adults and Children’s, Child 
Health, Clare Lodge (Operations), Access to Resources)
Education, People Resources and Corporate Property (Special Educational Needs and Inclusion, School Improvement, City College Peterborough, Pupil Referral Units, 
Schools Infrastructure)
Business Management and Commercial Operations (Commissioning, Recruitment and Retention, Clare Lodge (Commercial), Early Years and Quality Improvement)

GOVERNANCE DEPARTMENT Director’s Office at Town Hall, Bridge Street, Peterborough, PE1 1HG
Legal and Democratic Services 
Human Resources (Business Relations, HR Policy and Rewards, Training and Development, Occupational Health and Workforce Development)
Performance and Information (Performance Management, Information Governance, Systems Support Team, Coroner’s Office, Freedom of Information)

GROWTH AND REGENERATION DEPARTMENT Corporate Director’s Office Stuart House, St Johns Street, Peterborough, PE1 5DD
Development and Construction (Development Management, Planning Compliance, Building Control)
Sustainable Growth Strategy (Strategic Planning, Housing Strategy and Affordable Housing, Climate Change and Environment Capital, Natural and Built Environment)
Opportunity Peterborough
Peterborough Highway Services (Network Management, Highways Maintenance, Street Naming and Numbering, Street Lighting, Design and Adoption of Roads, Drainage and 
Flood Risk Management, Transport Policy and Sustainable Transport, Public Transport)
Corporate Property

PUBLIC HEALTH DEPARTMENT Director’s Office at Town Hall, Bridge Street, Peterborough, PE1 1HG
Health Protection, Health Improvements, Healthcare Public Health.

260



THIS PAGE IS LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

261



This page is intentionally left blank

262



CREATING OPPORTUNITIES AND TACKLING INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE                                                              ITEM 11                                  
WORK PROGRAMME 2016/17                                                                                                                                                  Updated 30 August 2016

Meeting Date Item Indicative 
Timings

COMMENTS

Co-opted Member

Contact Officer:  Paulina Ford
School Attendance Including Behaviour and Attendance Panels and 
Pressure on School Places

Contact Officer:  Gary Perkins/Terry Reynolds

Review Of Progress Against Action Plan Following Ofsted Inspection 
Of Children’s Services, 2015

Contact Officer:  Nicola Curley/ Lou Williams
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Transformation Programme

Contact Officer:   Lee Miller
Prevent and work of Channel Panel

Contact Officer: Iain Easton
Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their 
work programme which is relevant to the remit of this Committee.

Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer

18 July 2016

Draft Report 24 June
Final Report  06 July

Review of 2015/16 and Work Programme 2016/17

To review the work undertaken during 2016/17 and to consider the work 
programme of the Committee.

Contact Officer: Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer

263



Meeting Date Item Indicative 
Timings

COMMENTS

Service Director And Portfolio Overview Report: Children & 
Safeguarding, Including An Update On The Ofsted Action Plan

Contact Officer:  Lou Williams

SEND Reforms – Update (Special Education Needs & Disability)

Contact Officer:  Terry Reynolds/Sheelagh Sullivan 

Draft Child Poverty Strategy

Contact Officer:   Hayley Thornhill and Ian Philips 

Annual Report Of The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board   
2015/16

Contact Officer:  Russell Waite

Proposal to Develop a Permanency Service in Peterborough: 
Recommendation to Award Contract

Contact Officer: Simon Green

12 September 2016

Draft Report 18 Aug
Final Report 31 Aug

Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their 
work programme which is relevant to the remit of this Committee.

Contact Officer: Karen S Dunleavy, Democratic Services Officer

Work Programme 2016/2017
To consider the Work Programme for 2016/2017.

264



Meeting Date Item Indicative 
Timings

COMMENTS

Results – Key Stage 1 & Phonics

Contact Officer:  Terry Reynolds/Gary Perkins
Impact of Early Help & update on Troubled or Connecting Families

Contact Officer Karen Moody  

Schools Organisation Plan Update

Contact Officer:  Brian Howard
Neglect Strategy

Contact Officer:  Lou Williams/Nicola Curley
Child Sexual Exploitation & Children Missing including Response & 
Serious Case Review

Contact Officer:   Lou Williams/Nicola Curley
Annual Complaints Report

Contact Officer: Belinda Evans
Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their 
work programme which is relevant to the remit of this Committee.
Contact Officer: Karen S Dunleavy, Democratic Services Officer

14 November 2016
Draft Report 21 Oct
Final Report  2 Nov

Work Programme 2016/2017
To consider the Work Programme for 2016/2017.

265



Meeting Date Item Indicative 
Timings

COMMENTS

16 November 2016
(Joint Meeting of 
the Scrutiny 
Committees and 
Commissions) 

Budget 2017/18 and Medium Term Financial Strategy to 2026/27 Phase 
One
To scrutinise the Executive’s proposals for the Budget 2017/18 and Medium 
Term Financial Plan 2026/27.
Contact Officer:  John Harrison/Steven Pilsworth 

Implications of Education Bill

Contact Officer:  Terry Reynolds

Service Director Report: Children & Safeguarding

Contact Officer:  Ian Williams

Educational Attainment Key Stage 2 Results

Contact Officer:  Terry Reynolds/Gary Perkins

Developing the Healthy Child Programme

Contact Officer:  Ian Williams

Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their 
work programme which is relevant to the remit of this Committee.
Contact Officer: Karen S Dunleavy, Democratic Services Officer

5 January 2017
Draft Report 6 Dec
Final Report 16 Dec

Work Programme 2016/2017
To consider the Work Programme for 2016/2017.

266



Meeting Date Item Indicative 
Timings

COMMENTS

(Joint Meeting of 
the Scrutiny 
Committees and 
Commissions)
8 February 2017

Budget 2017/18 and Medium Term Financial Strategy to 2026/27 
Phase Two
To scrutinise the Executive’s proposals for the Budget 2017/18 and 
Medium Term Financial Plan 2026/27.

1. Contact Officer:  John Harrison/Steven Pilsworth

Educational Attainment Key Stage 4 & Review of Impact of Virtual 
Schools

Contact Officer:  Terry Reynolds/ Gary Perkins

Placement Strategy & Update on Implementation of Permanency 
Services

Contact Officer:  Lou Williams

Apprenticeships, Skills & Impact on Reduction in NEET figures

Contact Officer:   Terry Reynolds/Pat Carrington

Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
That the Committee identifies any relevant items for inclusion within their 
work programme which is relevant to the remit of this Committee.
Contact Officer: Karen S Dunleavy, Democratic Services Officer

13  March 2017
Draft Report 17 Feb
Final Report  1 Mar
 

Work Programme 2016/2017
To consider the Work Programme for 2016/2017.

267



T
his page is intentionally left blank

268


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Service Director and Portfolio Overview Report: Children & Safeguarding, Including an Update on the Ofsted Action Plan
	5 service director children and safeguarding cover report CO&TISC appendix 1

	6 Send Reforms - Update (Special Education Needs & Disability)
	7 Draft Child Poverty Strategy
	7 Child Poverty Needs Data - CO&TISC App 2 vr 2

	8 Annual Report Of The Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board   2015/16
	8 PSB Annual Report 2015-16 CO&TISC App 1

	9 Proposal to Develop a Permanency Service in Peterborough: Recommendation to Award Contract
	9 permanency service final service specifcation - CO&TISC App 1

	10 Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
	10 Appendix 1 - Forward plan of Executive Decisions - 19 September 2016 - CO&TISC

	11 Work Programme



